The fabulous world of GKP codes

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften $(Dr. \ rer. \ nat)$

am Fachbereich Physik der Freien Universität Berlin

vorgelegt von Jonathan Conrad

Berlin, Juli 2024

Erstgutachter/in: Zweitgutachter/in: Prof. Dr. Jens Eisert Prof. Dr. Christiane Koch

Tag der Disputation:

29.11.2024

Abstract

Quantum error correction is an essential ingredient in the development of quantum technologies. Its core subject is to investigate ways to embed quantum Hilbert spaces into a physical system such that this subspace is robust against small imperfections in the physical systems. This task is exceedingly complex: for one, this is due to the vast diversity of possible physical systems with different inherent structure to use. For another, every different physical setting also comes with different types of dominant imperfections that need to be protected against. Bred by the complexity of this technological ambition, research on quantum error correction has developed into a large field of research that ranges from questions about the engineering of small systems with a single photon to the creation of macroscopic topological phases of matter and models of complex emergent physics.

A quintessential tool in quantum error correction is the *stabilizer formalism*, which tames complicated quantum systems by enforcing symmetries. A Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill (GKP) code is a stabilizer code that creates a logical subspace within the infinite dimensional Hilbert space of a collection of quantum harmonic oscillators by endowing it with translational symmetries. While practical approaches to GKP codes consider the infinitude of the Hilbert space, as well as the infinitude of the translational symmetry group as obstacles for implementation, in theory these are precisely the features that make the theory of GKP codes particularly rich, well behaved and well-connected to fascinating topics in mathematics.

The purpose of this thesis is to explore these connections: to understand the coding theoretic- and practical properties of GKP codes, utilizing its rich mathematical foundation, and to provide a foundation for future research. Along this journey we discover – through the looking glass of GKP codes – how quantum error correction in general fits into a fabulous mathematical world and formulate a series of dreams about possible directions of research.

Zusammenfassung

Die Quantenfehlerkorrektur ist ein wesentlicher Bestandteil der Entwicklung von Quantentechnologien. Ihr Ziel ist die Erforschung von Einbettungen von quantenmechanischen Hilbert-Räumen in physikalische Systeme, sodass die so geschaffenen Unterräume robust sind gegenüber kleinen Fehlern, welche im physikalischen System auftreten können. Diese Aufgabe ist äußerst komplex: Zum einen liegt dies an der enormen Vielfalt potentieller physikalischer Systeme mit unterschiedlicher inhärenter Struktur für diese Aufgabe. Zum anderen realisiert jedes physikalische System auch unterschiedliche Formen von Fehlern, gegen welche es sich zu schützen gilt. Aufgrund der komplexen technologischen Ambitionen hat sich die Forschung zur Quantenfehlerkorrektur zu einem weitreichenden Forschungsgebiet entwickelt. Sie behandelt Fragestellungen, welche von Fragen zur Konstruktion und Kontrolle kleiner Systeme mit einem einzigen Photon bis hin zur Schaffung makroskopischer topologischer Phasen der Materie und Modellen komplexer emergenter Physik reichen.

Ein wesentliches Instrument der Quantenfehlerkorrektur ist der stabilizer Formalismus, welcher es erlaubt, komplexen Quantensystemen mithilfe von forcierten Symmetrien eine klare Struktur zu verleihen. Ein Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill (GKP) Code ist ein solcher stabilizer code, der einen logischen Unterraum innerhalb des unendlich dimensionalen Hilbert-Raumes einer Ansammlung von harmonischen Quantenoszillatoren schafft, indem er ihn mit Translationssymmetrien ausstattet. In praktischen Ansätzen zu GKP Codes wird die Unendlichkeit des Hilbert-Raumes, sowie die Unendlichkeit der Translationssymmetriegruppe, oft als Hürde für die Implementation betrachtet. In ihrer Theorie jedoch, sind es genau diese Eigenschaften, die die Theorie der GKP Codes besonders reichhaltig und interessant macht, sowie Brücken zu modernen mathematischen Forschungsthemen baut.

Der Inhalt dieser Arbeit ist es, diese Brücken zu erforschen: die kodierungstheoretischen und praktischen Eigenschaften von GKP Codes zu verstehen und Brückenpfeiler für zukünftige Forschung zu errichten. In diesem Bestreben entdecken wir – aus der Perspektive von GKP Codes – wie die Quantenfehlerkorrektur im Allgemeinen ihren Platz in einer reichen mathematische Welt einnimmt und formulieren eine Reihe von Visionen zu möglichen Forschungsrichtungen, die sich aus den Untersuchungen ergeben.

List of publications

This dissertation builds on the following **publications**, prepared and published during the course of my PhD,

- Terhal, B. M., Conrad, J., Vuillot, C., "Towards Scalable Bosonic Quantum Error Correction", Quantum Science and Technology, vol. 5, no. 4 (2020).
- Conrad, J., "Twirling and Hamiltonian engineering via dynamical decoupling for Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill quantum computing", Phys. Rev. A 103, 022404 (2021).
- Conrad, J., Eisert, J., Arzani, F., "Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill Codes: A Lattice Perspective", Quantum, vol. 6 (2022).
- Conrad, J., Eisert, J., Seifert, J.P., "Good Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill codes from the NTRU cryptosystem", Quantum 8, 1398 (2024).

Also included are the contents of the following preprint,

• Conrad, J., Burchards, A.G., Flammia, S.T., "Lattices, Gates, and Curves: GKP codes as a Rosetta stone", arXiv:2407.03270 (2024).

Acknowledgments

There are many people I have to thank that have influenced and guided me to this point. I am grateful to all my teachers, my colleagues, my dear friends, and my family for continuously supporting and inspiring me; and for helping me to create space to foster and follow my curiosities.

First and foremost I would like to thank Jens Eisert for giving me the opportunity to pursue research in his group and his constant dedication to building a welcoming, supportive and inspiring environment. None of the research presented in this thesis would have been possible without the positive space that Jens has created for me to grow in or without his support which I could always rely on. I am inspired by your pursuit of building bridges between academic fields of research and your consistency in pursuing method- and insight oriented research. Showing that this is possible in a technology-oriented and increasingly competitive field is valuable inspiration that will continue to drive me.

I would like to thank Barbara Terhal for having guided me on my first steps in research and for being a highly influential person in my development. She has not only provided me with many life lessons, shaped my interest and attitude in research and showed overwhelming support for me in my steps into this world, but also guided me into research on Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill codes, which are the topic of this thesis.

I thank Arne Grimsmo for hosting me at the AWS center of quantum computing in Pasadena during the winter of 2022/2023, which ended up becoming a very valuable experience for me and I thank Victor Albert for inviting me to QuICS for an enriching visit and our continuing exchanges.

Pursuing research in this young and dynamic field has also filled my life with friends and inspiring people I am lucky to have gotten the chance to meet. I thank Cica Guistiani for having been a consistent companion to me in the past years and for the chance to have grown up in this field together. I thank Ryan Sweke for being a good friend, a cool- and inspiring guy, and for taking me by the hand into the world of climbing after I arrived in Berlin, which has gifted my much joy in the past years, and thanks to whom I have met my dear friends Basti and Yan. I am eternally grateful to have become close friends, climbing partners, house- and office mates with Julio Carlos Magdalena de la Fuente, whose energy and endless curiosity has continued to help foster mine and I am very proud to have been able to see him become a leading figure in the group and his field of research.

There are many people that I have met along this path, whose presence continues to enrich and influence my life in- and outside of research, which are many more people than I can list here and I aplogize for any omission. I'd like to specially thank Ben Baragiola for his continuous commitment to organize cool conferences and connect people in the field as well as all the interesting discussions on GKP. I thank Rafael Alexander for many interesting discussions on continuous variable error correction, for working on making the dream of GKP a reality and his invitations to visit Xanadu. I thank Franceosco Arzani for our collaborations and the jams, and in particular his initial motivation to study lattice theory in the context of GKP.

I thank Jonas Haferkamp, Yihui Quek, Niko Breuckmann, Armanda Quintavalle and Alessandro Ciani for all the interesting discussions and collaborations and for always helping me with life advice. I would like to thank Steve Flammia for consistently being up for exciting discussions about science and math and in particular for making me feel validated in my random mathematical interests. Thanks also to Jean-Pierre Seifert for the interesting collaborations and for sharing his expertise and curiosity about lattice theory.

I am grateful to all past and present members of our group and their contributions to creating an inspiring and fun research environment. Thanks in particular to Felix Witte and Claudia Thomas for making everything possible and I would also like to thank Alexander Townsend-Teague, Ansgar Burchards and Peter-Jan Derks for carrying our quantum error correction subgroup into an exciting future. Thanks to my office mates Frederik Wilde and Christian Bertoni for being a fun part of my journey. I thank Julio Magdalena and Armanda Quintavalle for valuable feedback on this thesis and in particular Julio for our daily random discussions on everything within and outside of research. I thank Lennart Bittel for teaching me about computational complexity theory, Steve Simons and Julio for many discussions on connections between GKP codes and quantum field theories and Daniel Weigand for dicussions on the implementation of GKP codes as well as on how to control quantum systems.

Being able to fill my life with so many inspiring and supportive people through our shared curiosities has been the greatest privilege on this journey. To all my teachers.

Contents

1	$Th\epsilon$	e world of GKP codes	1
	1.1	From classical to quantum displacements	2
	1.2	Translation invariant functions on phase space	6
	1.3	Outline	9
2	Cor	ntinuous variable basics	11
3	Qua	antum computation and quantum error correction	16
	3.1	How to quantum compute	17
	3.2	How to quantum error correct	18
4	GK	P coding theory	21
	4.1	GKP codes: A lattice perspective	21
	4.2	Bases of GKP codes	28
		4.2.1 The canonical basis and symplectic equivalence	28
		4.2.2 Complex parametrization	31
	4.3	Distance of a GKP code	33
		4.3.1 Tradeoffs and bounds for GKP codes	35
		4.3.2 Symplectic transformations	35
		4.3.3 Good random GKP codes	37
		4.3.4 The euclidean distance in lattice theta functions	42
	4.4	GKP codes: A Rosetta stone	46
		4.4.1 Logical Clifford gates for the GKP code	46
		4.4.2 Generating symplectic automorphisms	50
		4.4.3 GKP codes from compact Riemann surfaces	53
		4.4.4 Moduli space of GKP codes and fiber bundle fault tolerance	60
		4.4.5 Towards fiber bundle fault tolerance	68
	4.5	The Dream	71
5	Cor	astructing GKP codes	72
	5.1	Root systems and root lattices	72
	5.2	Direct sum and product constructions beyond concatenation	75
		5.2.1 Glued codes beyond concatenation	75
		5.2.2 Tensor product codes	77
	5.3	GKP codes from the NTRU cryptosystem	78
		5.3.1 The NTRU cryptosystem	79
		5.3.2 Symplectic ideal and NTRU lattices	80
		5.3.3 Numerical results	85

	5.4	The Dream	87
6	Dec	coding GKP codes	88
	6.1	Decoding is hard	88
	6.2	Maximum likelihood decoding GKP codes	92
		6.2.1 Minimum energy decoding	93
		6.2.2 Decoding NTRU-GKP codes	95
	6.3	Quantum public key communication from NTRU-GKP codes	97
		6.3.1 Quantum cryptography with computational security	99
	6.4	The Dream	101
7	Im	plementation of GKP error correction	103
	7.1	Physical systems for GKP codes	104
		7.1.1 Photonics	104
		7.1.2 Superconducting oscillators	105
		7.1.3 Other notable systems	107
	7.2	GKP stabilizer readout and bottlenecks	108
		7.2.1 Finite squeezing error	108
		7.2.2 Steane error correction circuits	110
		7.2.3 Knill error correction circuits	112
	7.3	Passive error correction	114
		7.3.1 Stabilizer Hamiltonians	114
		7.3.2 GKP Hamiltonians and the Hall effect	117
		7.3.3 Floquet engineering via dynamical decoupling	121
	7.4	The Dream	132
8	An	open door	134
\mathbf{A}	ppen	dix	136
	Ā	Complex theta functions	136
	В	Magic states	137
R	efere	nces	139

List of figures

1.1	High level overview of research areas highlighted in this thesis that are connected to GKP codes.	2
2.1	The Wigner function of a vacuum-, squeezed- and approximate GKP state. These plots were produced using a code base provided in ref. [194].	13
3.1	The magic gate injection protocol. The auxiliary magic state is coupled to the data qubit using a CNOT gate and measured in the Pauli- Z basis. If the outcome is 1 a classical correction with S is applied to the data qubit.	18
4.1	The symplectic lattices \mathbb{Z}^2 (left) and A_2 (right) scaled by $d = 2$ and their respective (dual) unit cells. The logical displacement amplitudes are marked in turquoise and stabilizer displacements are marked in turquoise and stabilizer displacements	97
4.2	Commutative diagram for the structure of nontrivial Cliffords for scaled GKP codes. Note that for $n = 1$ we have the equality	21
4.3	$\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) = \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z})$	48
4.4	label c_3 , which corresponds to a symplectic transvection $t_{f_3+f_4}$. The trefoil knot corresponding to the one dimensional defect of "distance zero GKP codes" in S^3 . A non-trivial link with the trefoil knot given by a $\pi/2$ rotation of the square lattice $\Lambda \mapsto e^{i\phi}\Lambda, \phi \in [0, \pi/2]$ corresponding to a logical Hadamard gates is illustrated. The non-trivial linking is a topological fea- ture of the path that implements the logical Hadamard gate and can be interpreted as the feature that makes the gate implemen- tation fault-tolerant within the fiber bundle framework for fault	50
	tolerance $ 96 $	54

IX

4.5	The chain of correspondences and maps that associate a GKP	
	code to any complex algebraic curve $C \subset \mathbb{CP}^2$	57
4.6	The Iwasawa- (l.) and Bloch-Messiah (r.) decomposition of sym-	
	plectic matrices understood via Möbius transformations.	59
4.7	The hexagonal GKP code given by Λ_{ρ} , $\rho = e^{i2\pi/3}$ and rela-	
	tive level structure $d^{-1}\Lambda_{\rho}$ for $d = 3$. The points $z \mod d^{-1}\Lambda_{\rho}$	
	parametrize the syndrome of the GKP code while the <i>d</i> -torsion	
	points $d^{-1}\Lambda_{\rho}$ in in Λ_{ρ} are interpreted to label logical Pauli oper-	
	ators for the associated GKP code	60
4.8	The fundamental domain \mathcal{F} on is marked in grey on the RHS. We	
	illustrate the effect of a squeezing operation $\tau \mapsto (\lambda \oplus \lambda^{-1}) \cdot \tau =$	
	$\lambda^2 \tau$ and the corresponding transformation on the lattice $\Lambda_{\tau} \mapsto$	
	$\Lambda_{\lambda^2 \tau} / \sqrt{\det(\Lambda_{\lambda^2 \tau})}$.	61
4.9	The Seifert fibration describing a decomposition of $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$	
	into the fundamental domain \mathcal{F} and a rotation label in S^1 for each	
	point in \mathcal{F} . While every lattice has a π -rotation symmetry, there	
	are special (singular) points <i>i</i> and $\rho = e^{i2\pi/3}$ with additional sym-	
	metries under $\pi/2$ and $\pi/3$ rotation. This can be pictured by a	
	smaller circumference rotation index attached to these points in	
	the fibration. In terms of GKP codes, it is these singular points	
	on \mathcal{F} that correspond to GKP codes with orthogonal symplectic	
	lattice automorphisms	64
4.10	A braid on $e_1 = \wp(\omega_1/2), e_2 = \wp(\omega_2/2), e_3 = \wp((\omega_1 + \omega_2)/2)$	
	implemented through a rotation $(\omega_1, \omega_2) \mapsto (\omega_2, -\omega_1)$ (l.) cor-	
	responding to a GKP Hadamard gate and a sheer $(\omega_1, \omega_2) \mapsto$	
	$(\omega_1 + \omega_2, \omega_2)$ (r.) in the case of $d = 2$. Nontrivial braiding of	
	the three roots e_i is induced by smoothly parametrized automor-	CT.
1 1 1	phisms of the underlying lattice	60
4.11	The fundamental region $F(Z) = \Gamma(Z) \setminus \emptyset = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}_2)} \gamma F$ is drawn in red and contains the logical Clifford translates of the funda-	
	In red and contains the logical Official translates of the funda- montal region $E = SL_{2} \mathbb{Z} h$	67
1 19	$F^{\times} \rightarrow M^{\times}$ forms a universal family of CKP codes such that	07
4.12	every family of single mode GKP codes with non-zero syndrome	
	can be obtained as pullback of this family. The manifolds $E^{\times} =$	
	$E^{\times}(d)$ $M^{\times} = M^{\times}(d)$ implicitly depend on the scaling parameter	
	d_{1}	68
4.13	A fiber bundle $\pi: E \to M$. The fibers $F = \pi^{-1}(p)$ are all equiva-	
	lent to each other. In the background the additional structure is	
	indicated that defines a connection, which is a choice of parallel	
	transport through the tangent of the total space $TE = TH \oplus TV$	
	and implies a distinguished horizontal- and vertical component	
	of every element in TE	69
4.14	Illustration of the moduli space of GKP codes M^{\times}	70

5.1	Some notable symplectically integral lattices that yield GKP codes. The lower block indicates the concatenation of single mode $\mathcal{L}_{\Box} = \sqrt{2\mathbb{Z}^2}$ square GKP and $\mathcal{L}_{\odot} = \sqrt{2}A_2$ hexagonal GKP codes with qubit quantum error correcting- or detecting codes. Note that concatenation with \mathcal{L}_{\odot} does not formally produce a Construc- tion A lattice, but is related by a symplectic transformation $S_{\odot}^n = \bigoplus_i^n S_{\odot}, S_{\odot} = M_{A_2}^T$ to the concatenation with the square GKP code generated by $M_{\mathbb{Z}^2} = I_2$, which in fact is Construc- tion A. The symplectically self-dual root lattices listed in this table and their use as GKP codes have previously been identified in ref. [107]. The rescaled L_{NTRU} lattices that we use here to to construct NTRU-GKP codes are indicated between those and the "more genuine" lattices corresponding to concatenated codes. The statements about (symplectic) self-duality are generally up to scaling and rotations. To avoid confusion with the distance d of a qubit QECC here we used q for the scaling parameter for	
	scaled GKP codes.	73
5.2	Notable root systems represented as Dynkin diagrams	73
5.3	Shortest vector lengths computed via full HKZ reduction of a)	
	random cyclic ($\Phi_0 = x^n - 1$) lattices as generated by the hard	
	lattice generator in sagemath, b) random NTRU lattices with $n = 3$ and $d = \lfloor n/3 \rfloor$ and c) random NTRU lattices where h	
	is invertible in R_a for varying $a = 2, \dots, 2048$. In d) we sample	
	NTRU lattices generated with the irreducible quotient $\Phi = x^n + 1$,	
	where n is a power of 2. For each $n \in [2, 24]$ we sample 100 NTRU	
	lattices and compute the shortest vector by computing the HKZ	
	reduced lattice basis. For reference, we plot the expected shortest vector length from the Caussian houristic $\lambda(n) = \sqrt{ng/\pi e}$ in	
	blue and the expected lower bound $\lambda_c(n) = \sqrt{\frac{nq}{ne}}$ in red. In	
	panel d), we have also included a green line at \sqrt{q} , which is the	
	standard deviation of the discrete Gaussian distribution f, g are	
	sampled from and is related to a probabilistic lower bound for	
	$n \geq 8$ a power of 2 on the shortest infinity norm $\lambda_1^{\infty}(L)$ derived	
	in ref. [181]. The sagemath [65] code as well as all numerical	
	functionalities to construct NTRU lattices are partially adapted	
	from ref. [18]	86
6.1	Sketch of a Venn diagram illustrating the relationships between	
	and lattice problems. Note that to be very precise, one should	
	substitute all problems and problem classes with their decision	
	version variants to avoid comparing apples to oranges: Instead of	
	$\#P$ it would be more appropriate to consider the class $P^{\#P}$ of	
	polynomial time decidable problems with access to a $\#P$ oracle	
	and similarly, substitute SVP and CVP by its appropriate decision	
	variants. For clarity of presentation we sweep these details under the corport	00
62	Outline of the private quantum channel established using the	00
5.4	NTRU-GKP code as described in the main text.	98

XI

6.3	A (top) quantum decoder, a (middle) classical MLD decoder and (bottom) a MED decoder for the GKP code. In order to devise a quantum decoder, one usually imposes additional structure by forcing the quantum decoder to perform stabilizer measurements and thus reduces the quantum decoding task to the MLD decod- ing task in the middle	101
		101
7.1	Illustration of a photonic mode in a cavity of length L (left), the energy landscape of a quantum harmonic oscillator (middle) and a superconducting LC-circuit (right)	104
7.2	Generalized stabilizer measurement protocol for a stabilizer given by $D(\boldsymbol{\xi})$. $ \boldsymbol{\varnothing}\rangle$ is the unique code states of a GKP code given by	140
7.3	$\mathcal{L} = \mathbb{Z}^2$, also known as the sensor state [70]	110
	stabilizer sequentially. The Knill circuit (b) can be understood as a logical teleportation circuit, where on the bottom left a log- ical $ \Phi^+\rangle$ Bell state is prepared and on the top right an EPR	
	measurement is performed. The EPR measurement with a fixed outcome (\tilde{q}, \tilde{p}) can also be understood as a displacement followed by a projection onto the EPR state $ \tau_{\infty}\rangle$. The circuits potentially	
	require to be followed up by an additional logical displacement	111
7.4	CV SWAP gate compiled into a sequence of SUM gates and a	111
•••-	π -rotation.	113
7.5	The derivation of the equivalence between the Knill- and the	
	Steane stabilizer measurement circuit. We find that the Knill	
	with a final corrective shift by $\boldsymbol{n} = (-\tilde{a}, \tilde{p})^T / \sqrt{2\pi}, \ldots, \ldots$	113
7.6	Different applications of the group projector in quantum infor-	100
77	Ouantum harmonic oscillator comprising a cavity and a (super-	123
) inductance coupled to a Josephson Junction. In gray a circuit	
	element is indicated to implement displacements on the oscillator	
- 0	via inductive coupling	123
7.8	The characteristic function $h_{JJ}(x;t)$ with $\varphi = \sqrt{2\pi}$ traverses the indicated circle with time. For $\omega t \ge 2\pi$ the rotating points	
	are smeared out over the circle which represents the first order	
	RWA $\overline{h}_{II}^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{x}; t)$. The delta peaks of the characteristic function	
	$h_{GKP}(\boldsymbol{x})$ are indicated in red	125
7.9	(left) probability distribution for $n = 1$ step of the random walk	
	and (right) the kernel functions $\nu_{M^{\perp}}$ for square and hexagonal	190
710	One possible ordering of the control path as given by a Hamilto-	129
0	nian cycle on the control graph. Each vertex is associated with	
	the accumulated control pulse Q_k at time-index $k = k(n, m)$ and	
	each edge with the instantaneous control pulses P_k applied at the	
	respective time step k as indicated by the time labels on the edges.	130

7.11 (a) Wigner functions of the two lowest eigenstates of $H_{av}^{(0)}$ for twirling level N = 1, ..., 15 together with their effective squeezing parameter are shown. (b) Finite squeezing parameters for N = 1..30 and (c) the ten lowest eigenenergies of $H_{av}^{(0)}$ are plotted. The two lowest (degenerate for large $N \ge 4$) eigenenergies approximating the GKP $|\overline{H_{\pm}}\rangle$ states are colored red and are separated by a gap that shrinks with N from the higher levels. The effective squeezing of the two lowest eigenstates becomes symmetric in q, p for $N \ge 8$ and approximately scales with the twirling-level $\Delta_{q/p} \propto N^{-0.185}$. Code that was used to produce this figure can be found in ref. [52]. 131

Chapter 1

The world of GKP codes

Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill (GKP) codes were conceived in the year 2000 by their namesakes in "Encoding a qubit in an oscillator" [95] as a quantum error correcting code. That is, as a specific way to associate logical quantum information represented by a so-called code space $\mathcal{H}_C \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ to a physical quantum system. The hope in the design of quantum error correcting codes is typically to choose the subspace such that

- 1. It is or can be made robust to physically well-motivated noise in some sense and
- 2. Logical gates, that is unitary operations applied to the code space are physically easy to implement and can also be made robust in some sense.

We will see a more explicit formulation of these desiderata in the course of this thesis. Gottesman, Kitaev and Preskill proposed to encode discrete quantum information into a phase-space translation invariant subspace of the infinite Hilbert space attributed to a collection of quantum harmonic oscillator modes. While these quantum error correcting codes appeared to have nice properties, in particular in terms of robustness against errors from a natural error basis in such physical systems and they come with a simple set of robust logical gates, the fine-grained experimental control seemed daunting at the time and, aside from some interesting theoretical observations made early on by Harrington and Preskill [106, 107], only little work had cumulated. Two notable proposals that emerged in a long period of silence are the proposals to implement photonic measurement-based quantum computation using the GKP code by Meniccuci [135] and a proposal by Terhal and Weigand to implement the GKP code in superconducting circuits [184]. Finally, as experimental technology began to catch up, silence broke, and research on the GKP code began to experience a renaissance with the first demonstration of code-state preparation in a trappedion system by Fluehmann et al. in 2018 [78] followed by its implementation in superconducting circuits by Campagne-Ibarcq [42] and Sivak [179] that showed dramatically improved performances. In refs. [5, 147] Albert and Noh showed that, despite not being explicitly designed to deal with such noise, the GKP code demonstrates superior performance in its protection against photon loss, a natural and physically relevant noise source for the physical systems considered. This cumulation of events has lifted quantum error correction with the



Figure 1.1: High level overview of research areas highlighted in this thesis that are connected to GKP codes.

GKP code to a topic of broad interest in recent years, such that even commercial start-ups like *Xanadu* [26] and *Nord Quantique* [121] orient their efforts towards realizing quantum computation using GKP codes.

Despite their relevance for some promising technological developments, the primary focus of this thesis will not be on developing the technology and use of GKP codes. Rather, the goal will be to better our base understanding of GKP codes, its coding theory and its connections to other areas in mathematics, computer science and physics. My hope for this work is to convince the reader that the *looking glass of GKP codes* provides a unique perspective on quantum computation and quantum error correction and may help to form meaningful connections far beyond its own realm. Of course, we point to technological contributions that naturally emerge along this quest.

1.1 From classical to quantum displacements

Before we define GKP codes from a more conventional perspective, we briefly sketch out how their structure emerges quite naturally as "the thing that stays classical in quantization". We remain deliberately vague here to keep things manageable, but I believe that extensions of the following idea could be interesting to further formalize and generalize. There are many different approaches to quantization, which is to provide a clear mathematical structure to pass from classical- to quantum physics, see refs. [24, 68]. Here we softly touch on the framework referred to as geometric quantization [24] for its natural connection

to symplectic geometry.

This picture begins with classical Hamiltonian mechanics of a particle on the line [9]. The state of the particle is described by a position index $q \in \mathbb{R}$ and a canonical momentum index $p \in \mathbb{R}$. The associated configuration space, $\mathbb{R}^2 \ni$ (q, p) that hosts the state of the particle is called *phase space*. A Hamiltonian function H(q, p) determines the energy of the particle in the respective state and dictates how the state of the particle changes in time. We denote the phase space index by $\boldsymbol{x} = (q, p)$ and the gradient by $\nabla = (\partial/\partial q \ \partial/\partial p)^T$. The Hamiltonian evolution of the particle is given by the Hamiltonian equations of motion

$$\frac{d}{dt}\boldsymbol{x} = J_2 \nabla H, \tag{1.1}$$

where we have also defined the symplectic form

$$J_{2n} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ -I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.2)

We will encounter the symplectic form often throughout this thesis and will generally omit the index 2n when the dimensions of the matrix are clear from context.

The Hamilton function is a classical observable, whose evaluated value H(x) outputs information about the state of the system. The time evolution of any other observable f(x) along the trajectories dictated by the Hamiltonian evolution is given by

$$\frac{d}{dt}f = -(\nabla H)^T J \nabla f \tag{1.3}$$

$$= \frac{\partial f}{\partial q} \frac{\partial H}{\partial p} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial p} \frac{\partial H}{\partial q} =: \{f, H\},$$
(1.4)

where in the last line $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ denotes the *Poisson bracket*. The differential operator $X_H := (J\nabla H)^T \nabla$ appearing in eq. (1.3) is the so-called *Hamiltonian vector field* and a formal solution to the corresponding differential equation for the evolution of the observable f is

$$f(\boldsymbol{x}(t)) = e^{tX_H} f(\boldsymbol{x}(t=0)).$$
(1.5)

We have $[X_f, X_g] = X_f X_g - X_g X_f = -X_{\{f,g\}}$, such that the evolutions generated by two Hamiltonian vector fields with Hamiltonians f and g commute when the Poisson bracket of the respective Hamiltonians is constant. Consider the simplest non-trivial Hamiltonians: $H_q(\mathbf{x}) = -vq$ and $H_p(\mathbf{x}) = up$. Per eq. (1.1) these Hamiltonians generate the evolutions

$$H_q: \frac{d}{dt}\boldsymbol{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\v \end{pmatrix}, \qquad H_p: \frac{d}{dt}\boldsymbol{x} = \begin{pmatrix} u\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.6)$$

that is, H_q induces a change of momentum with constant rate q and H_p induces a change of position with constant rate v. The corresponding evolution operators that generate the effective time evolution of observables e^{tX_H} as in eq. (1.5) are given by

$$D_q(ut) = e^{ut\frac{\partial}{\partial p}}, \qquad D_p(vt) = e^{vt\frac{\partial}{\partial q}}. \tag{1.7}$$

These *classical displacement operators* displace phase-space points on classical observables

$$D_q(v)f(q,p) = f(q,p+v),$$
 $D_p(u)f(q+u,p),$ (1.8)

i.e. they effectively implement shifts $(q, p) \mapsto (q + u, p + v)$ in phase space. Since the Poisson bracket $\{q, p\} = 1$ is constant, these classical displacement operators also do,

$$D_q(v)D_p(u) = D_p(u)D_q(v),$$
 (1.9)

and as linear operators that act on observables they naturally preserve each others eigenspaces. In particular all observables invariant under shifts $D_p(u)$: $q \mapsto q + u$ will maintain that invariance relative to any offset in p via $D_q(v)$: $p \mapsto p + v$.

This situation changes distinctively when moving from classical- to quantum mechanics. Instead of describing the state of a particle by deterministic phase space indices q and p, position and momentum are lifted to infinite dimensional operators \hat{q}, \hat{p} acting on a separable Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R})$ of square integrable functions and linearity over \mathbb{C} , in a manner that the classical Poisson bracket gets replaced by the commutator of these operators $\{\cdot, \cdot\} \mapsto -i/\hbar [\cdot, \cdot]$, and we obtain the canonical commutation relations¹

$$[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i\hbar \hat{I}. \tag{1.10}$$

The failure of position- and momentum operators to commute is reflected in Heisenberg's uncertainty-relation, $\operatorname{Var}(q)\operatorname{Var}(p) \geq \frac{\hbar^2}{4}$, so that one cannot be measured without perturbing the potential measurement outcome of the other.

The displacement operators that we have encountered before now have become

$$\hat{D}_q(v) = e^{iv\hat{q}}, \qquad \hat{D}_p(u) = e^{-iu\hat{p}}, \qquad (1.11)$$

which form one-parameter unitary groups and fail to commute as

$$\hat{D}_{q}(v)\hat{D}_{p}(u) = e^{iuv}\hat{D}_{p}(u)\hat{D}_{q}(v).$$
(1.12)

This is the so-called Weyl form of the canonical commutation relations. The Stone-von Neumann theorem [161, 190] guarantees the uniqueness of any pair of such one-parameter groups of unitary operators, which is a cornerstone of quantum mechanics. They form a so-called *Heisenberg(-Weyl)* group *H*. This group is isomorphic to $U(1) \times \mathbb{R}^2$, where the $\mathbb{R}^2 \supset (u, v)$ component refers to the indices we have been using and U(1) attaches a phase to each element in the group.

This group is said to fit into the exact sequence

$$1 \to U(1) \to H \to \mathbb{R}^2 \to 0, \tag{1.13}$$

meaning that each arrow indicates a group homomorphism and the image of one arrow is exactly the kernel of the next. In this example this essentially refers to the fact that the identity element in H corresponds to $(0,0,0) \in U(1) \times \mathbb{R}^2$.

¹Note that this equation is easily misinterpreted to yield nonsense statements. If, e.g., the operators in this equation were treated as finite dimensional objects, taking the trace of this equation would imply the statement "1 = 0". The rigorous way to define this is by instead considering the Weyl form of the commutation relations.

We take away that displacement operators are clearly important in quantum mechanics – we will see many more properties of them in the coming chapters – and comprise in a certain sense the core of this thesis.

The group of displacement operators contains a subset that mimics their classical ancestors: that is the algebra of displacement operators spanned by

$$S_0 = \left\{ \hat{D}_q(v), \hat{D}_p(u) : uv \in 2\pi\mathbb{Z} \right\}$$
(1.14)

maintains the commutation relations of the classical displacement operators in eq. (1.9) and leave the mutual eigenspaces invariant. To phrase it differently, notice that one realization of the operators in S_0 is spanned by the displacement operators generated by $D_q(\sqrt{2\pi}\lambda^{-1}), D_p(\sqrt{2\pi}\lambda)$ for some $\lambda > 0$. These operators commute and their measurements can be interpreted to correspond to measurements of the modular quadratures

$$\hat{q} \mod \sqrt{2\pi\lambda}$$
 and $\hat{p} \mod \sqrt{2\pi\lambda^{-1}}$, (1.15)

which behave as if they were classical observables. This spectacular magic trick is one operational perspective on the essence of the GKP code; it has found a direct implementation in a quantum displacement sensor scheme by Duivenvoorden et al. [70] and GKP stabilizer measurements that we will discuss later.

Before we continue, note that this section has also illustrated the role of the symplectic matrices

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R}) := \left\{ S \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(\mathbb{R}) : S^T J S = J \right\}$$
(1.16)

in classical Hamiltonian dynamics. This is the group of matrices that preserve the symplectic form J and is closed under transposition. From eq. (1.3) we can see that a basis transformation $\boldsymbol{x} \mapsto S\boldsymbol{x} = \boldsymbol{x}' \Leftrightarrow \nabla = S^T \nabla', S \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ preserves the time evolution of observables and here corresponds to our freedom of implementing coordinate transforms that yield the same observable dynamics. Symplectic matrices will accompany us throughout the coming chapters and take a special role in the description of GKP codes.

For the rest of this work, when clear from context and not specifically relevant, we will omit the operator hats $\hat{\cdot}$ on operators and adhere to the convention $\hbar = 1$.

1.2 Translation invariant functions on phase space

What is ... a holomorphic function?

A holomorphic function $f : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a complex function that is complex differentiable on every point of an open subset $U \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ such that the limit

$$f'(z) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{f(z+h) - f(z)}{h}$$
(1.17)

exists $\forall z \in U$.

Every complex number $z = \operatorname{Re}(z) + i \operatorname{Im}(z) \in \mathbb{C} \sim \mathbb{R}^2$ can be labeled by two real numbers $z \mapsto h(z) = \operatorname{Re}(z) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(z)$, and there is a homomorphism

$$h(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Re}(z) & -\operatorname{Im}(z) \\ \operatorname{Im}(z) & \operatorname{Re}(z) \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.18)

that satisfies h(w + z) = h(w) + h(z) and h(wz) = h(w)h(z) for all $w, z \in \mathbb{C}$. The function h(z) is a homomorphism for the additive structure of \mathbb{C} while h(z) also carries a homomorphism for the complex multiplication to the vectors via

$$h(w)\mathbf{h}(z) = \mathbf{h}(wz). \tag{1.19}$$

Notice that $h(1) = I_2$ and $h(i) = -J_2$, that is, the symplectic form J_2 forms a linear representation of the multiplication with the complex unit i and $h(e^{i\phi}) =: R_{\phi} = \cos(\phi)I_2 - \sin(\phi)J_2$ is a rotation of the plane. By identifying the complex function f(z) = f(x + iy) = u(x, y) + iv(x, y) with

By identifying the complex function f(z) = f(x + iy) = u(x, y) + iv(x, y) with a function with domain \mathbb{R}^2 , we can compute

$$\mathbf{h}(df(x+iy)) = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_x u & \partial_y u \\ \partial_x v & \partial_y v \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} dx \\ dy \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.20)

In the definition of the complex derivative in eq. (1.17) it is important that the derivative should be well-defined and independent of the direction ϕ the parameter $h = |h|e^{i\phi}$ approaches 0. Translated into the representation in eq. (1.20) this in particular means that the outcome of eq. (1.20) should be linear in rotations $dx \oplus dy \mapsto R_{\phi}(dx \oplus dy)$ and the complex derivative should satisfy h(f'(z)dz) = h(f'(z))h(dx + idy) with df = f'(z)dz. Altogether, this requirement that the derivative should behave complex linear implies the *Cauchy-Riemann equations*

$$\partial_x u = \partial_y v, \qquad \partial_x v = -\partial_y u.$$
 (1.21)

This behavior endows holomorphic functions with a particular high degree of structure. In particular, holomorphic functions $f : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ are *analytic*, that is, they can be expanded into a power series

$$f(z - z_0) = \sum_{k \ge 0} a_k (z - z_0)^k$$
(1.22)

in the open neighborhood $U \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ of every point $z_0 \in \mathbb{C}$. Another important property is that, via Liouvilles theorem, every bounded holomorphic function $|f(z)| < M, \forall z \in \mathbb{C}$ is constant [145]; which also implies that there are no non-trivial doubly translation invariant holomorphic functions.

In quantum mechanics, the classical phase space we have encountered earlier finds a new meaning: it becomes the domain for wave-functions and (quasi-) probability distributions that determine the statistics of measuring a certain position and momentum. For a single degree of freedom, it is given by indices $(q, p) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ which we can complexify to obtain the more compact labelling $z = q + ip \in \mathbb{C}$. Now the functions that determine the physics of our system are complex functions and since they are supposed to represent physical quantities, it makes sense to require them to be very well-behaved. Concretely, we require them to be *holomorphic* functions and to be normalizable under the scalarproduct induced norm of a Hilbert space they reside in. The relevant scalar product of their Hilbert space is given by

$$\langle f|g\rangle = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\mathbb{C}} dz \ e^{-|z|^2} \overline{f(z)} g(z), \qquad (1.23)$$

which constructs the *Segal-Bargmann representation* of quantum mechanics [12, 43, 170].

In the preceding section we have motivated the relevance of phase space translation-symmetric states. Since phase space has two (real) dimensions we also need to specify to translation axes, one of which we fix with the basis "vector" $1 \in \mathbb{C}$ and the other by $\tau \in \mathbb{C}$, $\operatorname{Im}(\tau) \neq 0$. W.l.o.g. we require $\tau \in \mathfrak{h} = \{z \in C, \operatorname{Im}(z) > 0\}$ to be a vector in the complex upper half plane such that the complex lattice of translational symmetries of our desired functions is given by $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z} + \tau \mathbb{Z}$.

Now we have hit a roadblock. By Liouville's theorem there are no nonconstant holomorphic functions that have a doubly translational symmetry $f(z) = f(z + \lambda) \ \forall \lambda \in \Lambda$. To obtain non-trivial functions with doubly translational symmetries has to either allow for poles, i.e. relax to use meromorphic functions, or relax the requirement on periodicity. The former leads to the theory of so-called *elliptic functions*, which we will encounter later in chapter 4. Here we decide to relax the requirement of periodicity which brings us naturally to the theory of *theta functions*. Jacobi's theta function is defined as [142]

$$\vartheta(\tau, z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{i\pi n^2 \tau + i2\pi nz}.$$
(1.24)

The infinite series converges compactly on $\mathfrak{h} \times \mathbb{C}$ and yields a holomorphic function in $z \in \mathbb{C}$ It is doubly periodic as

$$\vartheta(\tau, z+1) = \theta(\tau, z), \qquad \qquad \vartheta(\tau, z+\tau) = e^{-i\pi\tau - i2\pi z} \vartheta(\tau, z). \tag{1.25}$$

The non-trivial factor on the r.h.s. of this equation establishes its *quasi* periodic behaviour.

Following ref. [142], define the "holomorphic displacement operators" S_a,T_b with $(a,b)\in \mathbb{R}^2$ by

$$S_a f(z) = f(z+a),$$
 $T_b f(z) = e^{i\pi b^2 \tau + i2\pi bz} f(z+b\tau).$ (1.26)

These operators naturally satisfy $S_{a_1}S_{a_2} = S_{a_1+a_2}, T_{b_1}T_{b_2} = T_{b_1+b_2}$ and the commutation relation

$$S_a T_b = e^{i2\pi ab} T_b S_a, (1.27)$$

equivalent to the Weyl form in eq. (1.12) such that, by the Stone-von Neumann theorem, these displacement operators are in fact equivalent to those we have

found before, and we again obtain a representation of the Heisenberg group $H = U(1) \rtimes \mathbb{R}^2$ that acts on holomorphic functions as

$$U_{(\lambda,a,b)}f(z) = \lambda e^{i2\pi ab} e^{i\pi b^2 \tau + i2\pi bz} f(z+a+b\tau).$$
 (1.28)

The theta functions $\vartheta(\tau, z)$ are (up to scalars) the unique functions invariant under the action of the subgroup of the Heisenberg group

$$H_1 = \left\{ (1, a, b), \ (a, b) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \right\} \subset H, \tag{1.29}$$

for which the commutation factor $e^{i2\pi ab} = 1$ is always trivial.

We can obtain even more functions with a similar behavior by scaling the lattice of translational symmetries by an integer factor $d \in \mathbb{N} : \Lambda \to d\Lambda$. The space V_d of holomorphic functions invariant under the group

$$H_d = \{ (1, a, b), \ (a, b) \in d\mathbb{Z}^2 \} \subseteq H_1$$
(1.30)

is in fact dim $(V_d) = d^2$ dimensional. To see this, note that V_d is closed under the operators $S_{1/d}$ and $T_{1/d}$ as these operators commute with the displacements representing H_d . Denote the group generated by these operators with $H_d^{\perp} = r_d \times (\frac{1}{d}\mathbb{Z}_d)^2 \subset H$, where r_d denotes the set of *d*-th roots of unity. This group is called the finite Heisenberg-Weyl group, and similar to the continuous Heisenberg-Weyl group there is an exact sequence

$$1 \to r_{d^2} \to H_d^{\perp} \to \left(\frac{1}{d}\mathbb{Z}_d\right)^2 \to 0, \tag{1.31}$$

where now the action of H_d^{\perp} is trivial under the preimage H_d of $(d\mathbb{Z})^2$.² This construction of a discrete Heisenberg-Weyl group as a subgroup of the continuous one – i.e. the fact that each element in the sequence in eq. (1.31) embeds into the corresponding element in the sequence in (1.13) – is the first example of a GKP-code, which we will discuss more in-depth in the following. The unitary representation of discrete Heisenberg-Weyl algebra is also sometimes referred to as the (generalized) qudit Pauli-group, which plays an important role in quantum computing and quantum error correction.

The discrete Heisenberg-Weyl group has a irreducible action on V_d [142] and defines a basis for V_d given by the theta functions with characteristic $(a, b) \in d^{-1}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}$

$$\vartheta_{a,b}(z) = S_b T_a \vartheta(z). \tag{1.32}$$

It can be shown that for $p, q \in \mathbb{Z}$

$$\vartheta_{a+p,b+q}(z) = e^{i2\pi aq} \vartheta_{a,b}(z), \qquad (1.33)$$

which shows that $\vartheta_{a,b}(z)$, up to a constant, only depends on characteristics $(a,b) \in \frac{1}{d}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}$ and these d^2 theta functions form a basis for V_d .

Theta functions are not going to be in the focus of the upcoming presentations, but nevertheless form important objects that underlie many of the topics and ideas we are about to discuss. Equipped with the following understanding, the relevance of the role of theta functions will hopefully become more clear:

²This discussion has been motivated by the presentation of D. Arapura provided in ref. [8].

- 1. Theta functions with characteristic form a basis for logical GKP states, and
- 2. Theta functions yield a projective embedding of the complex torus $E_{\tau} = \mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z} + \tau \mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{CP}^{d^2-1}$ into complex projective space.

While the first point is going to become clearer very soon, the second point will only be briefly discussed in sec. 4.4. By Chow's theorem [44], it is this embedding that implies that complex tori, which we will learn to interpret as GKP codes, are in fact algebraic curves. I encourage the reader to return to this point after reading the next chapter and hope that at that point it will become less of a mystery and more of a wonder why such mathematical idiosyncrasies appear in a thesis about quantum error correction.

1.3 Outline

This thesis will be arranged in four core chapters. Chapter 4 will focus on the abstract coding theory of GKP codes and the mathematical structure behind fault-tolerant quantum computation with GKP codes. In the first part of that chapter we will open the toolbox of lattice theory to examine GKP codes, derive coding theoretic properties and tradeoffs. By examining the structure of logical Clifford gates for the GKP code, we will discover a route to zoom out further and develop an algebraic geometric perspective on GKP codes, where we classify the structure of "moduli spaces of GKP codes" and build a close link between the theory of moduli spaces of elliptic curves and the theory of fault tolerance for the GKP code. This work on the coding theory of GKP codes will form the centerpiece of this thesis.

In chapter 5, we apply the developed structure to discuss concrete GKP codes with their lattice-theoretic and coding-theoretic properties. This chapter discusses the structure of some GKP codes already found in the literature and also features a class exotic GKP codes with good properties that can be derived from a lattice-based post-quantum cryptosystem called *NTRU*.

For practical implementations, merely knowing the structure and properties of codes is not enough. Concretely, to use a quantum error correcting code, it is paramount to be able to find classical strategies to process how best to correct the errors on the system given partial information extracted from measuring its stabilizers. We discuss the *decoding problem* associated to GKP codes through a complexity theoretic lens in chapter 6 and show how the decoding problem for the NTRU-GKP codes presented in chapter 5 implies a quantum cryptographic scheme. This is done by proposing a private quantum channel that builds on the post-quantum cryptographic properties of the NTRU-GKP codes.

As a strong motivation to examine GKP codes are their technological realization, the fourth chapter 7 will discuss how GKP codes can be implemented. We discuss various ways to implement the GKP code through active error correction that are relevant for photonic- and superconducting circuit architectures and discuss the physics behind passive quantum error correction with the GKP code. A new result presented in this chapter is a "passive" error correction scheme that engineers a Hamiltonian that hosts the GKP code space in its ground state utilizing time-dependent control. Inspired by the AMS "What is...?" column series [198] I include topical "What is...?" boxes to provide very brief introductions to specialized ideas that appear throughout this work. Each chapter closes with a *Dream*, in which I highlight a perspective on interesting follow-up work that extends the work presented in the respective chapter. I hope that the ideas and dreams presented in this thesis will encourage the reader to take interest in the GKP code and its various applications in- and outside quantum computation and stimulate the reader to dive into the dreams presented here.

Chapter 2

Continuous variable basics

A continuous variable (CV) quantum system is one, where states in the corresponding Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ are naturally labelled by continuous degrees of freedom, such as the position- and momentum variables of a particle we have encountered before. In the literature one often also encounters the association to the Hilbert space of a quantum harmonic oscillator (QHO) or the reference to a bosonic system [95, 183]. These nomenclatures refer to the fact that the state space is naturally given by that of a physical collection of nquantum harmonic oscillators with Hamiltonian governing the time evolution

$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\hat{q}_{i}^{2} + \hat{p}_{i}^{2}}{2} = \frac{\hat{x}^{\dagger} \hat{x}}{2}, \qquad \hat{x} = (\hat{q}_{1} \dots \hat{q}_{n} \ \hat{p}_{1} \dots \hat{p}_{n})^{T}, \qquad (2.1)$$

and highlight fact that the relevant quadratures satisfy bosonic commutation $\rm relations^1$

$$[\hat{x}_i, \hat{x}_j] = iJ_{ij}.\tag{2.2}$$

Expressed in annihilation operators $\hat{a}_i = (\hat{q}_i + i\hat{p}_i)/\sqrt{2}$, the Hamiltonian becomes $H = \sum_i^n \hat{n}_i + \frac{n}{2}$, where the number operators are given by $\hat{n}_i = \hat{a}_i^{\dagger} \hat{a}_i$. The number operators have a countably infinite spectrum $n_i \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and eigenbasis given by Fock states $\{|n_i\rangle\}_{n_i=0}^{\infty}$.

Quantum harmonic oscillator systems are ubiquitous in nature. Some systems, such as the electromagnetic field of a propagating photon, the fluxes and charges of a superconducting LC-circuit, a trapped ion, or a very very small mechanical spring are directly equipped with such Hamiltonians and state-spaces. Beyond these, a popular physicists' argument is that every natural potential has local minima, each of which can be well approximated by a quantum harmonic oscillator system. This argument is not truly universally applicable but shall suffice to motivate that quantum harmonic oscillators are both relevant building blocks of nature and "easy" to construct in a controlled environment.

We define displacement operators with amplitude $\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$

$$D(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \exp\left\{-i\sqrt{2\pi}\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right\}.$$
(2.3)

¹See also footnote 1 in the previous chapter.

These displacement operators act linearly on \mathcal{H} to implement shifts of the quadratures

$$D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\xi})\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}D(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} + \sqrt{2\pi}\boldsymbol{\xi}, \qquad (2.4)$$

as can be verified using the well-known identity $e^A B e^{-A} = e^{[A,\cdot]} B$. They are orthonormal with

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\xi})D(\boldsymbol{\eta})\right] = \delta(\boldsymbol{\xi} - \boldsymbol{\eta}), \qquad (2.5)$$

and commute and close as

$$D(\boldsymbol{\xi})D(\boldsymbol{\eta}) = e^{-i\pi\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J\boldsymbol{\eta}}D(\boldsymbol{\xi} + \boldsymbol{\eta}),$$

= $e^{-i2\pi\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J\boldsymbol{\eta}}D(\boldsymbol{\eta})D(\boldsymbol{\xi}).$ (2.6)

In this equation we recognize the Weyl-form of the canonical commutation relations encountered before (set n = 1). The orthonormality of the displacement operators allows to express any (trace-class) operator to be expressed as a continuous linear combination of displacements

$$\hat{A} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} \, c_A(\boldsymbol{x}) D(\boldsymbol{x}), \ c_A(\boldsymbol{x}) = \operatorname{Tr} \Big[D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{x}) \hat{A} \Big], \qquad (2.7)$$

where the function $c_A(x)$ is called the *characteristic function* of \hat{A} . Closely related is the Wigner function of \hat{A} , given by the symplectic Fourier transform

$$W_A(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{\eta} \, e^{-i2\pi \boldsymbol{x}^T J \boldsymbol{\eta}} \, \mathrm{Tr} \Big[D(\boldsymbol{\eta}) \hat{A} \Big].$$
(2.8)

The Wigner function of a state W_{ρ} is a quasi-probability distribution for the state, such that the probability to measure a quadrature along axis e_i is given by marginalizing over the remaining coordinates

$$P(\boldsymbol{e}_{i}^{T}\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\boldsymbol{e}_{i}^{\perp}} d\boldsymbol{x} W_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.9)$$

and with

$$\operatorname{Tr}[AB] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} \, W_{AB}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} \, W_A(\boldsymbol{x}) W_B(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (2.10)$$

it allows to compute expectation values of observables \hat{O} as

$$\langle \hat{O} \rangle = \operatorname{Tr} \left[\rho \hat{O} \right] = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} W_{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x}) W_{\hat{O}}(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
 (2.11)

The Wigner functions of a vacuum-, squeezed- and GKP state are shown in fig. 2.1. The vacuum state $|\mathbf{0}\rangle = |0\rangle^{\otimes n}$ is a so-called Gaussian state, whose Wigner function is given by a Gaussian distribution. Tightly related are the so-called coherent states

$$|\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle = D(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) |\mathbf{0}\rangle,$$
 (2.12)

which are eigenstates of the generalized annihilation operator $\hat{\boldsymbol{a}} = (\hat{a}_1 \dots \hat{a}_n)^T$ with eigenvalues $\sqrt{2\pi \alpha}$. Coherent states are simply Gaussian vacuum states centered at phase space point $\sqrt{2\pi \alpha}$. As operator, they can be decomposed into displacements as



Figure 2.1: The Wigner function of a vacuum-, squeezed- and approximate GKP state. These plots were produced using a code base provided in ref. [194].

$$|\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle\langle\boldsymbol{\alpha}| = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{\beta} \operatorname{Tr} \left[D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\beta}) \, |\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle\langle\boldsymbol{\alpha}| \right] D(\boldsymbol{\beta})$$
(2.13)

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{\beta} \, e^{-\frac{\pi}{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}^T \boldsymbol{\beta} - i2\pi \boldsymbol{\alpha}^T J \boldsymbol{\beta}} D(\boldsymbol{\beta}), \qquad (2.14)$$

such that a resolution of the identity is given by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{\alpha} \, |\boldsymbol{\alpha}\rangle \langle \boldsymbol{\alpha}| = I, \qquad (2.15)$$

and we have

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\beta} | \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle = e^{-\frac{\pi}{2} \left(\| \boldsymbol{\alpha} - \boldsymbol{\beta} \|^2 + i2\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T J \boldsymbol{\beta} \right)}, \tag{2.16}$$

that is, coherent states form a non-orthogonal over-complete basis for operators on phase space.

There also exists a different parametrization of displacement operators labeled by complex indices $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}^n$ given by

$$D_c(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) = \exp\left\{\sqrt{\pi} \left(\boldsymbol{\gamma}^T \hat{\boldsymbol{a}}^{\dagger} - \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{*T} \hat{\boldsymbol{a}}\right)\right\} = D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}), \qquad (2.17)$$

where the equivalent real parameter is $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} = \operatorname{Re}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. In this parametrization the displacement operator acts as

$$D_c(\boldsymbol{\gamma})^{\dagger} \hat{\boldsymbol{a}} D_c(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) = \hat{\boldsymbol{a}} + \sqrt{2\pi} \boldsymbol{\gamma}.$$
(2.18)

and the commutation relation is given by

$$D_c(\boldsymbol{\gamma})D_c(\boldsymbol{\delta}) = e^{-i2\pi\operatorname{Im}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\dagger}\boldsymbol{\delta})}D_c(\boldsymbol{\delta})D_c(\boldsymbol{\gamma}).$$
(2.19)

The symplectic form $\omega(\gamma, \delta) = \operatorname{Im}(\gamma^{\dagger} \delta)$ is a skew-symmetric function inherited from the hermitian form $H(\gamma, \delta) = \gamma^{\dagger} \delta$ as its imaginary part.

The complex parametrization provides the usual notation for coherent states $|\mathbf{\gamma}\rangle = D_c(\mathbf{\gamma}) |\mathbf{0}\rangle$, which is equivalent to the previous definition. Expressed as a function of this index, the function $Q(\mathbf{\gamma}) = \langle \mathbf{\gamma} | \rho | \mathbf{\gamma} \rangle$ is the so-called Husimi-Q function. It is holomorphic in the complex parameter and can also be obtained as a Gaussian-smoothed Wigner-function [40], as can also be computed using

eq. (2.11). One can interpret the Husimi-Q function as the probability distribution for joint position- and momentum measurements (taking into account the Heisenberg uncertainty) and it is connected to representation of states in the Segal-Bargmann (or *stellar*-) representation encountered in the previous section by the correspondence [43]

$$Q(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) = e^{-\pi \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\gamma}} |f(\overline{\boldsymbol{\gamma}})|^2.$$
(2.20)

Note the difference in convention relative to ref. [43] since we have chosen to scale the domain by a factor $\sqrt{2\pi}$ in the real representation. This representation has nice properties: the stellar function, aside from being holomorphic and normalizable under the norm given by eq. (1.23), is not required to immediately represent a physical observable but is allowed to have infinite support. This feature makes it a nice representation for the treatment of GKP states.

Unitary evolution via Hamiltonians strictly quadratic in the quadrature operators implement symplectic transformations, as can again be verified using $e^A B e^{-A} = e^{[A,\cdot]} B$,

$$U_S = e^{-\frac{i}{2}\hat{x}^T C \hat{x}}, \ C = C^T,$$
(2.21)

$$U_S^{\dagger} \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} U_S = S \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}, \ S = e^{CJ}, \tag{2.22}$$

where $S \in \text{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ is a symplectic matrix which follows from unitarity of U_S , and we have

$$U_S D(\boldsymbol{\xi}) U_S^{\dagger} = D(S\boldsymbol{\xi}), \qquad (2.23)$$

such that also

$$W_{U_S\rho U_S^{\dagger}}(\boldsymbol{x}) = W_{\rho}(S\boldsymbol{x}).$$
(2.24)

The symplectic group contains an important subgroup of symplectic orthogonal matrices isomorphic to the unitary group $O_{2n}(\mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R}) = U_n(\mathbb{C})$, where for elements $U \in U_n(\mathbb{C})$ the isomorphism is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Re} U & -\operatorname{Im} U \\ \operatorname{Im} U & \operatorname{Re} U \end{pmatrix} \in O_{2n}(\mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R}).$$
(2.25)

These symplectic orthogonal transformations are those, that can be implemented by purely passive – photon-number preserving – linear optical elements: beamsplitters and phase-shifters, and do not require additional squeezing. For this reason they are considered particularly cheap to implement. This becomes explicit via the Bloch-Messiah decomposition. Every symplectic matrix $S \in \text{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ admits a decomposition into symplectic orthogonal matrices $O_1, O_2 \in O_{2n} \cap \text{Sp}_{2n}$ and a diagonal matrix $D = \text{diag}(\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_n \lambda_1^{-1} \dots \lambda_n^{-1}), \lambda_i > 1$ such that

$$S = O_1 D O_2. \tag{2.26}$$

The diagonal matrix D implements a squeezing of the quadratures $(\hat{q}_i, \hat{p}_i) \mapsto (\lambda_i \hat{q}_i, \lambda_i^{-1} \hat{p}_i)$, of which the maximum $\mathbf{sq}(S) = \sqrt{\lambda_{\max}(S^T S)} = \max_i \lambda_i$ squeezing value yields an indicator for the amount of energy that needs to be pumped into the QHOs to realize U_S .

Unitary operators of the form $U(S, \mathbf{x}) = D(\mathbf{x})U_S$ are so-called *Gaussian* unitaries, as they can be generated by Hamiltonians of maximal quadratic order in the quadratures, and they preserve Gaussianity of the Wigner-functions of states they act on. Due to the simplicity of their generating Hamiltonian, and their simple linear-order action on the quadrature vector, Gaussian unitaries are considered as especially desirable and robust in physical implementation.

This quick overview concludes the basics technical physics background to understand what follows. These tools are part of a larger toolbox typically attributed to the topic of *quantum optics*, and many good textbooks and review articles exist to which we refer the reader for further studies, see e.g. refs. [88, 193] and references therein.

Chapter 3

Quantum computation and quantum error correction

Since the core technological contribution of the GKP is to facilitate quantum computation, in this chapter we very briefly review what quantum computation is about and how quantum error correction is meant to make it possible. The purpose of this brief review is to both provide context for this work, and to understand the technological goalposts of the development of the GKP code. We keep the presentation here to a minimum and refer the reader to excellent resources: See refs. [153, 176] for historical accounts and ref. [146] for a comprehensive overview.

The idea of using a quantum mechanical system to perform computation or to simulate other physical quantum systems traces its roots to Manin, Beninoff and Feynman [14, 77, 129] in the early 1980s. Motivated by classical computing, the typical setup is to consider a computation based on performing unitary operations and measurements on a system of *n*-qubits, each of which are described by a two-dimensional Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_1 = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{|0\rangle, |1\rangle\}$. The evolution of a state thus takes place in dim $(\mathcal{H}_1^{\otimes n}) = 2^n$ dimensional state space. This exponentially large size yields plenty of opportunity to design quantum algorithms to take advantage of the ability to create superpositions of basis states, engineer interferences to amplify correct answers to input problems and to take advantage of state collapse under projective quantum measurements in order to single out individual state evolutions. In the 1990s this toolbox was then exploited by Deutsch, Joza, Shor and Grover [64, 100, 175] to show that quantum algorithms can be designed that may outperform their classical counterparts. Concurrent research into possible physical realizations of quantum computation, see e.g. refs. [50, 125, 126], however, also made it clear that physical realizations of qubits as effective degrees of freedom in a real quantum system will never be perfectly shielded from environmental influences or imperfect separation from other degrees of freedom of its embedding system. In order for the qubit system to be able to carry out the desired computations, it is necessary for the quantum states to maintain superposition for a long time and logical operations on those qubits would need to be packaged into a form to not incur dramatic errors on the state of the computation. This necessity gave rise to the theory of quantum error correction and fault tolerance [94, 174, 182].

Fault-tolerance refers to the rather qualitative idea of physically implementing effective logical channels on encoded quantum information in a manner that is robust (tolerant) towards imperfections (faults) on the physical realization of the channel. There is a large variety in interpretations of this property which is claimed under various different assumptions in the literature on a case-by-case basis tailored to the individual engineering problem. A general quantitative framework and definition for fault tolerance, that is hoped to encapsulate existing ideas, was proposed by Gottesman and Zhang in ref. [96]. This framework will be important for us, and we will spend some time discussing it in chapter 4.

3.1 How to quantum compute

The basic tool for quantum computation are the Pauli operators. Consider a qubit with Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_2 = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{|0\rangle, |1\rangle\}$. The distinguished basis is given by the states $|0\rangle, |1\rangle$ is called the *computational basis*. It is defined as the eigenbasis of the Pauli Z operator and permuted by the Pauli-X operator

$$Z = |0\rangle\langle 0| - |1\rangle\langle 1|, \qquad X = |0\rangle\langle 1| + |1\rangle\langle 0|, \ ZX = -XZ, \qquad (3.1)$$

which together generate the single qubit Pauli group $\mathcal{P}_1 = \langle iI, X, Z \rangle$, which is the unitary representation of the discrete Heisenberg group H'_2 we encountered earlier. Note that everything discussed here can be extended to the case of qudits of dimension d, where $\mathcal{H}_1 = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{|0\rangle, \dots, |d-1\rangle\}$ and the generalized Pauli operators act as

$$Z_d |j\rangle = e^{i\frac{2\pi}{d}} |j\rangle, \qquad X_d |j\rangle = |j+1 \mod d\rangle, \ Z_d X_d = e^{i\frac{2\pi}{d}} X_d Z_d. \tag{3.2}$$

We denote the *n*-qudit pauli group by $\mathcal{P}_n(d) = \langle e^{i\frac{2\pi}{d}}I, X_d, Z_d \rangle$. The *n*-qudit Pauli group $\mathcal{P}_n(d) = \mathcal{P}_1^{\otimes n}(d)$ is normalized by the Clifford group

$$\operatorname{Cl}_{n}(d) = \left\{ U \in \mathcal{U}_{n}(d) : UPU^{\dagger} \in \mathcal{P}_{n} \,\forall P \in \mathcal{P}_{n} \right\}, \tag{3.3}$$

which is the subgroup of the *n*-qudit unitary group $\mathcal{U}_n(d)$ that normalizes the Pauli group. We will mostly stick to d = 2 for convenience and since this is the most important special case. The qubit Clifford group together with a unitary operator outside the Clifford group, such as the magic gate $T = |0\rangle\langle 0| + e^{i\pi/4} |1\rangle\langle 1|$ allows to efficiently approximate any unitary operation on the Hilbert space. Together with the of operations "Initialization of computational basis states" and "measurement of Pauli-Z on qubits in an *n* qubit register" these resources hence constitute a complete set of building blocks to realize any quantum computation. Clifford gates are typically implemented through a sequence of gates from a generating set given by the phase *S* and Hadamard *H* gates satisfying

$$SXS^{\dagger} = iXZ, SZS^{\dagger} = Z, HXH^{\dagger} = Z, \tag{3.4}$$

as well as the controlled NOT gate

$$CNOT_{ab}X_{a}CNOT_{ab}^{\dagger} = X_{a}X_{b}, \qquad CNOT_{ab}Z_{b}CNOT_{ab}^{\dagger} = Z_{a}Z_{b}, \quad (3.5)$$
$$CNOT_{ab}Z_{a}CNOT_{ab}^{\dagger} = Z_{a}, \qquad CNOT_{ab}X_{b}CNOT_{ab}^{\dagger} = X_{b}. \quad (3.6)$$



Figure 3.1: The magic gate injection protocol. The auxiliary magic state is coupled to the data qubit using a CNOT gate and measured in the Pauli-Z basis. If the outcome is 1 a classical correction with S is applied to the data qubit.

The "magic" T gates are typically implemented using a magic resource state $|T\rangle = T |+\rangle$ through a protocol called magic gate injection [31, 95] pictured in fig. 3.1, since this is one of the simplest fault-tolerant ways to implement this gate building on the fault-tolerant implementations of the CNOT gate, the Pauli measurement as well as the faithful preparation of the magic state.

The important feature to notice in this section is the close similarity between the behavior of the (generalized) Pauli operators and the displacement operators encountered before. This is not a coincidence as they both form a realization of the Heisenberg-Weyl group in either the discrete or continuous setting, and in the previous section we have even seen how the discrete Heisenberg-Weyl operators arise as discrete subgroup of the continuous one when acting on the subspace V_d . Similarly, the Clifford group, as the unitary normalizer of the Pauli group, is strictly analogous to the group of Gaussian unitary operators, which form the normalizer of the displacement operators (see eq. (2.23)). This close analogy strongly suggest that the embedding of the discrete Heisenberg-Weyl groups into displacement operators would yield a natural way to implement quantum computation using discrete degrees of freedom on a continuous variable system. Such an embedding would be realized through an irreducible representation of the discrete Heisenberg-Weyl group, which is provided by a subspace of the form V_d defined in chap. 1.

3.2 How to quantum error correct

The core idea of quantum error correction (QEC) is to encode logical information into a subspace \mathcal{H}_C of a physical Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , which we refer to as code space. To keep things simple, let's assume that the physical Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_2^{\otimes n}$ is made up of a collection of n qubits (generalization to qudits is straightforward) and acted upon by the Pauli group \mathcal{P}_n . Like displacement operators, Pauli operators form a complete basis for operators acting on Hilbert space and every operator can be decomposed into a linear combination of Pauli operators $P_{\alpha}, \alpha = 0 \dots 4^n - 1$

$$E = \sum_{\alpha=0}^{4^n - 1} c_\alpha P_\alpha \tag{3.7}$$

and two Pauli operators either commute or anticommute. The most prominent way to distinguish this code space is via the *stabilizer formalism* [97], where a subspace of the physical Hilbert space is distinguished by a so-called *stabilizer group*, generated by r independent commuting Pauli operators $\mathcal{G} =$ $\{g_1,\ldots,g_r\} \subset \mathcal{P}_n$. The stabilizer group

$$S = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle - \{-I, \pm iI\}$$
(3.8)

is an Abelian group and as a subgroup of the Pauli group, each element has order 2 and Eigenvalues ± 1 . The stabilizer group carries this name as it acts as the stabilizer of the code space, which has dimension $\dim(\mathcal{H}_C) = 2^{n-r} =: 2^k$, such that it encodes k logical qubits. A distinguished subgroup with irreducible action on code space is given by the logical Pauli operators, which need to commute with the stabilizer group and hence are contained in its centeralizer $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{S}) \subseteq \mathcal{P}_n$ within the Pauli operators. The stabilizer group $\mathcal{S} \subseteq \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{S})$ is Abelian if and only if it is a subgroup of its own centralizer, and we obtain representatives for logical Pauli operators as elements in the quotient group $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{S})/\mathcal{S}$, which has order 4^k up to phases. The logical Pauli group forms the basis to analyse the implementation of logical operators for a stabilizer code. The size of the smallest non-trivial logical operator

$$d(\mathcal{S}) = \min_{x \in \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{S}) - \mathcal{S}} \|x\|_{H}$$
(3.9)

is called the *distance* of the code, where $\|\cdot\|_{H}$ denotes the Hamming norm, and quantifies the minimum number of single-qubit error that need to happen to make up a logical error. A different way to capture this definition is through the quantum error correction conditions. Let $\Pi_{C} = 2^{-r} \sum_{s \in S} s$ denote the projector on \mathcal{H}_{C} and let $\{E_k\}$ constitute a set of relevant Kraus operators that capture physical error processes on \mathcal{H} . The QEC conditions read

$$\Pi_C E_k^{\dagger} E_{k'} \Pi_C = c_{kk'} \Pi_C, \qquad (3.10)$$

with Hermitian matrix $c = c^{\dagger}$. This condition captures the requirement that physical errors maintain orthogonality of code states in \mathcal{H}_C and do not leak information about the code state to the environment. Fulfilling the condition for an error channel relative to a code guarantees the possibility to recover the logical information from its corruption [146]. In this language, the distance becomes the Hamming weight of the smallest operator $P = E_k^{\dagger} E_{k'} \in \mathcal{P}_n$ that violates the quantum error correction conditions. A quantum error correcting code that encodes k logical qubits into n physical qubits with a distance d is also denoted by [n, k, d].

Operationally, quantum error correction proceeds as follows. A code state $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_C$ undergoes a physical noise channel \mathcal{N} , which probabilistically applies an error

$$E = \sum_{\alpha=0}^{4^n - 1} c_{\alpha} P_{\alpha} \tag{3.11}$$

to the input state with probability p(E). Upon measurement of the generators of the stabilizer group $\mathcal{G} = \{g_1, \ldots, g_r\} \subset \mathcal{P}_n$, the state collapses onto a state with a definite syndrome s, which is stabilized by

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathbf{s}) = \langle (-1)^{s_1} g_1, (-1)^{s_2} g_2, \dots, (-1)^{s_r} g_r \rangle - \{ -I, \pm iI \}.$$
(3.12)

The vector s of stabilizer generators eigenvalues measured reflects the subspace that the state has collapsed onto. This process – the measurement collapse

- is the central ingredient to facilitate active quantum error correction. By collapsing the state onto a fixed syndrome, the structure of the effective error that has been applied to the state is significantly simplified and behaves almost like a pure Pauli error. Now to return to code space, one applies a corrective Pauli operator

$$P_{r(\boldsymbol{s})}: P_{r(\boldsymbol{s})}\mathcal{S}(\boldsymbol{0})P_{r(\boldsymbol{s})}^{\dagger} = \mathcal{S}(\boldsymbol{s}), \qquad (3.13)$$

which produces the same syndrome as we have measured. Since the syndrome, by design, contains no information about the logical state, the correction leaves open the possibility for a logical error to have happened either through the noise channel or via a bad choice of correction r(s). In order to minimize this effect one hence needs to choose r(s) such that the probability of a remaining logical error is minimized. For a Pauli error model (i.e. one for which each Kraus operator is of Pauli-type) the optimal strategy is to amend a generic choice of correction r(s) through a classical optimization called maximum likelihood decoding(MLD), where a logical post-correction is found by solving

$$\mathrm{MLD}(P_{r(\boldsymbol{s})}) = \max_{L \in \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{S})/\mathcal{S}} \sum_{S \in \mathcal{S}} p(P_{r(\boldsymbol{s})}LS).$$
(3.14)

To see why this works, note that every Pauli operator $E = P_{r(s)}LS$ can be decomposed as a product of a *pure error/destabilizer*, which is a generic Pauli operator that reproduces the correct syndrome according to eq. (3.13), a logical representative $L \in C(S)/S$ and a stabilizer $s \in S$. Solving this optimization maximizes the probability that the error correction process returns the state to the correct code state, taking into account the degeneracy provided by stabilizer operations. Since this optimal process requires a rather costly computation of the cost function (note e.g. that $|S| = 2^{n-k}$ grows exponentially with the number physical qubits), in practice one often resorts to more computationally efficient methods, such as simply optimizing

$$MLE(s) = \max_{P:PS(\mathbf{0})P^{\dagger} = S(s)} p(P), \qquad (3.15)$$

dubbed maximum energy decoding [191]. Alternatively, one may also use tensor network methods to approximate the sum in eq. (3.14) [32, 46] or one of many other approximations found throughout the literature. An interesting viewpoint, proposed by Dennis et al. in ref. [63], is that the structure of the MLD decoder in eq. (3.14) may also be interpreted as the partition function of a classical statistical mechanical model, providing an interesting connection between quantum error correction and condensed matter theory (see also refs. [47, 191]). In this identification *thresholds* of quantum error correcting codes, i.e. error parameters below which an increase in the size of the code n leads to an exponential suppression of the remainder logical error probability, are understood as phase-transitions of the corresponding statistical mechanical model. This understanding provides an argument for the existence of thresholds [63, 191], and, reversely, suggests the possibility to simulate physical phenomena in condensed matter theory through the implementation of quantum error correction. This fascinating correspondence is only one of the many interesting connections quantum error correction offers to foundational topics in physics and provides example for how the theory of quantum error correction, albeit motivated as a means to facilitate technology, has the potential to become an integral tool to the basic sciences.

Chapter 4

GKP coding theory

In this chapter, we will build a abstract foundation for the theory of GKP codes. We begin by discussing a lattice theoretic perspective theory on GKP codes, which extends the lattice theoretic formulation already present in the original work [95] and refs. [106, 107]. The presentation here will mostly be guided by my work in ref. [57], but it is worth mentioning that around the time ref. [57] appeared, two independent lattice theoretic investigations into the GKP code were also published in refs. [163, 167], which are valuable complementary resources. In sec. 4.4.1 we investigate the structure of Clifford gates for the GKP code. Their understanding will naturally lead to a algebraic geometric perspective on GKP codes, which yields a classification of the space of GKP codes. We will show how this perspective naturally yields a description of fault-tolerant quantum computation with the GKP code in Gottesman and Zhangs framework for fiber-bundle fault tolerance.

4.1 GKP codes: A lattice perspective

A $GKP \ code \ [95]$ is a stabilizer code acting on the Hilbert space of n bosonic modes, where stabilizers are given by displacement operators.

Definition 1 (GKP stabilizer group [95]). The stabilizer group of a GKP code is given by a set of displacements

$$\mathcal{S} := \langle D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_1), \dots, D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n}) \rangle, \tag{4.1}$$

where $\{\boldsymbol{\xi}_i\}_{i=1}^{2n}$ are linearly independent and we have $\boldsymbol{\xi}_i^T J \boldsymbol{\xi}_j \in \mathbb{Z} \forall i, j$.

The content of this chapter is oriented along the publications ref. [57] and ref. [55]. In particular the content of secs. 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 are adapted from ref. [57] and the content of secs. 4.4.1 and 4.4 are adapted from ref. [55].
What is ... a lattice?

There are different definitions of lattices in the literature. A very general definition is to define a lattice $L \subset G$ as a discrete subgroup of *topological group*, i.e. a topological space with a product operation between its elements that satisfy the group axioms [140], such that $\Gamma \setminus G^{-1}$ has a finite volume relative to the constant (Haar) measure on G.

The most common type of lattices we will consider here are discrete additive subgroups of \mathbb{R}^n , which are always isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^m for some $m \leq n$, such that $L = M^T \mathbb{Z}^n \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ for some $m \times n$ matrix M^T . If m = n the lattice is called *full-rank* and else *degenerate*.

The definition is such that other topological groups can also give rise to lattices. Important examples are $G = \mathrm{SL}_n(\mathbb{R})$ and $G = \mathrm{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$, where the discrete subgroups $SL_n(\mathbb{Z})$, respectively $\mathrm{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z})$ form lattices in $\mathrm{SL}_n(\mathbb{R})$ and $\mathrm{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ [140, 150].

Exploiting the structure of the displacement operators, the GKP construction defines a stabilizer group isomorphic to a *lattice* with generator matrix

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\xi}_1^T \\ \vdots \\ \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n}^T \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.2}$$

which is simply the set of integer linear combinations of basis elements

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(M) = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} \middle| \, \boldsymbol{\xi}^T = \boldsymbol{a}^T M, \, \boldsymbol{a} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2n \times 2n} \right\}.$$
(4.3)

We follow the convention of ref. [95], where the basis vectors of the lattice \mathcal{L} constitute the *rows* of the generator matrix, which is the convention common in coding theory; lattice theory more conventionally uses a column convention, but we will mostly stick to the row convention and specially indicate when we do deviate from it. A lattice is a \mathbb{Z} module: It behaves almost like a vector space in terms of addition of elements and closure under multiplication by elements in \mathbb{Z} , but since the set of integers \mathbb{Z} does not contain a multiplicative inverse for every element², the lattice formally is a module (a vector space requires to be built on top of a *field*; see also the "what is ..." box 5.3).

For S to constitute a stabilizer group, it needs to be (1.) a group and (2.) Abelian. By construction in definition 1, S is a group and by means of eq. (2.6) it can be observed that S is Abelian if and only if the *symplectic Gram matrix* associated with *any* generator M of the lattice

$$A := MJM^T \tag{4.4}$$

has only integer entries. We then say that the lattice $\mathcal{L}(M)$ is symplectically integral.

Lemma 1. Each element of the stabilizer group S can be written as

$$\prod_{i=1}^{2n} D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i)^{a_i} = e^{i\pi \boldsymbol{a}^T A \mathbf{k} \boldsymbol{a}} D((\boldsymbol{a}^T M)^T),$$
(4.5)

¹Throughout this work, we will use the backslash $\cdot \cdot$ for left-quotients, while the usual set exclusion will be denoted by a minus – sign.

²It is a *Ring*.

where $A_{\mathbf{k}}$: $(A_{\mathbf{k}})_{i,j} = A_{i,j} \forall i > j$ is the lower triangular matrix of A.

Proof. This is verified as follows. Let $a_{[i]}$ denote the vector $a = a_{[2n]}$ with all entries $a_j = 0 \forall j > i$ and let ϕ_i denote the cumulative global phase when simplifying the product (row vector convention in D() here)

$$\prod_{i=1}^{2n} D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i)^{a_i} = \prod_{i=1}^{2n} D(a_i \boldsymbol{\xi}_i)$$
(4.6)

$$= \left[\prod_{i=1}^{2n-1} D(a_i \boldsymbol{\xi}_i)\right] D(a_{2n} \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n})$$

$$(4.7)$$

$$= e^{i\phi_{2n-1}} D\Big(\boldsymbol{a}_{[2n-1]}^T M\Big) D(a_{2n}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n})$$
(4.8)

$$=e^{i\phi_{2n-1}}e^{-i\pi\boldsymbol{a}_{[2n-1]}^TMJ(a_{2n}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n})}D(\boldsymbol{a}_{[2n]}^TM).$$
(4.9)

We combined the displacements using eq. (2.6), from where we can already see that $e^{i\phi_j} = \pm 1 \forall j$ when A is integer. The expression above allows us to write down the recursion

$$\phi_1 = 0 \tag{4.10}$$

$$\phi_i = \phi_{i-1} - \pi \boldsymbol{a}_{[i-1]}^T M J(a_i \boldsymbol{\xi}_i) \tag{4.11}$$

$$=\phi_{i-1} + \pi \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} a_i A_{i,j} a_j.$$
(4.12)

Computing the recursion, we observe that

$$\phi_{2n} = \pi \sum_{i>j} a_i A_{i,j} a_j = \pi \boldsymbol{a}^T A_{\blacktriangle} \boldsymbol{a}, \qquad (4.13)$$

where $A_{\mathbf{k}}$: $(A_{\mathbf{k}})_{i,j} = A_{i,j} \forall i > j$ is the lower triangular matrix of A.

The stabilizer group ${\mathcal S}$ is hence given by

$$\mathcal{S} = \left\{ e^{i\phi_M(\boldsymbol{\xi})} D(\boldsymbol{\xi}) | \boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L} \right\},$$
(4.14)

where

$$\phi_M(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \pi \boldsymbol{a}^T A_{\boldsymbol{k}} \boldsymbol{a}, \ \boldsymbol{a}^T = \boldsymbol{\xi}^T M^{-1}$$
(4.15)

determines the phases attached to each lattice displacement relative to the *pivot* basis M, i.e. the set of basis vectors for which each associated displacement operator is fixed to eigenvalue +1 by definition 1. We will also use the notation (M, ϕ_M) to specify GKP stabilizer groups from its generator M when the phase-sector is relevant. The pair (M, ϕ_N) specifies that the generator for the stabilizer group $D(M_i^T)$ is fixed by eigenvalue $e^{i\phi_N(M_i^T)}$ in code space. Consistently, we have $(M, \phi_M) = (M, 0)$.

When \mathcal{L} is symplectically integral, we have $e^{i\phi_M(\boldsymbol{\xi})} = \pm 1 \forall \boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L}$, and $e^{i\phi_M(\boldsymbol{\xi})} = 1$ holds when $A \in (2\mathbb{Z})^{2n \times 2n}$ is *even*. While these additional phases have no effect on the projective Hilbert space, they determine the eigenvalue of the corresponding displacement operator in the codespace determined by

 $(M, \phi_M) = (M, 0)$ These phases are e.g. non-trivial for the sensor state [71] with stabilizer group

$$S_{\text{sensor}} = \langle D(\boldsymbol{e}_1), \, D(\boldsymbol{e}_2) \rangle = \{ (-1)^{mn} D(m\boldsymbol{e}_1 + n\boldsymbol{e}_2), \, (m,n) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \}, \quad (4.16)$$

where \mathbf{e}_j are canonical basis vectors, so that code-states should have eigenvalue -1 on displacement for which mn is odd if they have eigenvalue +1 on each generator $D(\mathbf{e}_1)$, $D(\mathbf{e}_2)$. In an alternative definition, used in ref. [95], with $\mathcal{S}' = \{D(\boldsymbol{\xi}), \boldsymbol{\xi} \in \boldsymbol{\mathcal{L}}\}, D(\mathbf{e}_1)D(\mathbf{e}_2) = (-1)D(\mathbf{e}_1 + \mathbf{e}_2)$ would formally not be included in the stabilizer group.

To encode discrete quantum information, such as a qubit, the continuous state space needs to be fully "discretized" by introducing suitable constraints. This is done by choosing a generating set for the stabilizer group with 2n linearly independent generators. Each linearly independent generator can be seen as quantizing one direction in phase space. This is the reason why we require the lattice \mathcal{L} to be *full rank*, i.e., M has full row-rank. It is possible to specify a lattice in \mathbb{R}^{2n} using more than 2n basis vectors, but they can always be reduced to 2n linearly independent vectors, a process for which a number of (efficient) algorithms are known [137]. Note also that non-full rank (or *degenerate*) lattices had recently been explored to define effective GKP codes [111, 149]. The code space of such codes retains continuous quadratures which allows to encode and perform error correction on encoded CV states. In this work we focus on encoding qubits or qudits defined via full-rank lattices and refer to refs. [53, 149] for discussions on encoding continuous information using the GKP code.

While a lattice $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(M)$ is unique as a geometric object, different generator matrices M, M' can generate the same lattice if and only if there exists an unimodular matrix $U \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}), |\det(U)| = 1$ such that

$$M' = UM. \tag{4.17}$$

Such transformation also transforms

$$A \mapsto A' = UAU^T, \tag{4.18}$$

which has even entries if and only if A does. Due to the phases appearing in eq. (4.14), when a different basis M' is used to fix the stabilizer group as in definition 1, the generating set for the stabilizer group needs to be chosen as

$$(M', \phi_M) \tag{4.19}$$

to yield the same stabilizer group and the same code-space.

The symplectic Gram matrix is invariant under a symplectic transformation

$$M \mapsto MS^T = \begin{pmatrix} (S\boldsymbol{\xi}_1)^T \\ \vdots \\ (S\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n})^T \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.20)$$

which generally change the lattice $\mathcal{L} \mapsto S\mathcal{L}$ but leave the symplectic Gram matrix invariant. Comparing to the discussion in the introduction, see eq. (1.3), one can also understand the symplectic transformation as a transformation on the basis or ambient space which preserves symplectic inner products.

A sublattice $\mathcal{L}' \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ is a subset of \mathcal{L} that is itself a lattice. Any $d \leq 2n$ dimensional sublattice of \mathcal{L} can be specified by the basis

$$S = BM, \tag{4.21}$$

where $B \in \mathbb{Z}^{d \times 2n}$ is an integer matrix of full row rank. The symplectic dual (simply "dual" in the following) of a lattice \mathcal{L} is the lattice \mathcal{L}^{\perp} that consists of all vectors that have integer symplectic inner product with any vector from \mathcal{L}

$$\mathcal{L}^{\perp} = \left\{ \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} \mid \left(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \right)^{T} J \boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathbb{Z} \; \forall \boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L} \right\}.$$
(4.22)

Within the GKP code construction vectors $\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ correspond to the displacement amplitudes associated to the centralizer of the stabilizers within the set of displacement operators. A canonical choice of basis M^{\perp} for the symplectic dual is specified by fixing M^{\perp} to satisfy

$$M^{\perp}JM^T = I. \tag{4.23}$$

Since we will focus on full rank lattices, for which M is non-singular, we obtain the canonical dual basis as

$$M^{\perp} = (JM^T)^{-1} = M^{-T}J^T.$$
(4.24)

Together with the definition of A it can be shown that

$$M = AM^{\perp}, \tag{4.25}$$

that is, the symplectic Gram-matrix A describes how the sublattice $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(M) \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp} = \mathcal{L}(M^{\perp})$ associated to stabilizer operators embeds into the lattice associated to its centralizer. The *dual quotient* of \mathcal{L} ,

$$\mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L} \sim \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{S})/\mathcal{S},$$
 (4.26)

thus lists the logically distinct displacements admitted by the GKP code \mathcal{S} . These displacements form the effective logical Pauli group.

Finally, the number of logically distinct centralizer elements associated to ${\mathcal S}$ is

$$\dim(\mathcal{H}_C)^2 = |\mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}| = |\det(M)|/|\det(M^{\perp})| = |\det A| = |\det(M)|^2.$$
(4.27)

One can verify this formula geometrically by imagining the partition of unit cells of \mathcal{L} with patches unit cells of \mathcal{L}^{\perp} , see fig. 4.1. Under basis transformation of the direct lattice $M \mapsto UM$ the canonical dual basis transforms as

$$M^{\perp} \mapsto U^{-T} M^{\perp}, \tag{4.28}$$

and under symplectic transformations $M \mapsto MS^T$ we obtain $M^{\perp} \mapsto M^{\perp}S^T$ The symplectic Gram matrix of the dual lattice can be shown to satisfy

$$A^{\perp} := M^{\perp} J (M^{\perp})^{T} = -A^{-1}.$$
(4.29)

It is similarly common to define the *euclidean* dual of a lattice \mathcal{L} which we shall denote by \mathcal{L}^* . This is the lattice in \mathbb{R}^{2n} consisting of all vectors with integer *euclidean* inner product with every vector in \mathcal{L} .

The euclidean dual is more common than the symplectic one in the lattice theory literature, and hence often simply called dual. Similar to the symplectic case, a canonical basis M^* for the dual lattice can be fixed to satisfy $M^*M^T = I$. Since $J \in O(2n)$ is an orthogonal matrix, we can observe that the symplectic dual is equivalent to the euclidean dual up to an orthogonal rotation. In particular, the distribution of lengths of vectors in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} is equal to the distribution of lengths of vectors in \mathcal{L}^* . We will take advantage of this fact when analyzing the code distance of GKP codes in section 4.3.

We close this section by introducing the two most studied classes of GKP codes, which we will use for illustrations throughout this manuscript. The first class, which we will refer to as *scaled codes*, have been thoroughly examined in ref. [107] and build on symplectic *self-dual* lattices. A symplectic self-dual lattice \mathcal{L}_0 is a symplectically integral lattice for which $|\det(M_0)| = |\det(A_0)| = 1$ and, consequently, $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}$ and $A_0 = J$: The generator matrix $M_0 \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ is (up to a basis transformation equivalent to a) symplectic matrix and the associated code-space is one-dimensional. GKP codes associated to a symplectically self-dual lattice are analogous to so-called *stabilizer states* known in quantum information and the sensor state in eq. (4.16) already presented one such example.

Scaled GKP codes.

Definition 2. A scaled GKP code is obtained by rescaling a symplectically selfdual lattice $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ to $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{d}\mathcal{L}_0$ with an integer $d \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let M_0 be a generator matrix for \mathcal{L}_0 . We will see shortly that one can always choose a basis such that $M_0 J M_0^T = J$ is itself a symplectic matrix.

The symplectic Gram matrix associated to the scaled GKP code becomes A = dJ and the dimension of the code-space is $\dim(\mathcal{H}_C) = |\sqrt{\det(dJ)}| = d^n$. By choosing d = 2 this yields a code with $k = n \log_2(\dim(\mathcal{H}_C)) = n$ encoded qubits. Let

$$\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_0) := \min\{ \| \boldsymbol{x} \|, \, \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}_0 - \{ 0 \} \}$$
(4.30)

be the length of the shortest vector in $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}$. Note that throughout this manuscript $\|\cdot\| = \|\cdot\|_2$ denotes the euclidean 2-norm. The rescaling implies $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}) = d^{\frac{1}{2}}\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) = d^{-\frac{1}{2}}\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_0)$. For d > 1 the symplectic dual vector corresponding to $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})$ cannot be in \mathcal{L} and hence constitutes the shortest logically non-trivial displacement, the length of which decreases with the number of logical dimensions that are squeezed into the code. Prominent examples of scaled GKP codes that have already been discussed in ref. [95] are generated by

$$\sqrt{2}M_{\mathbb{Z}^2} = \sqrt{2}I_2,$$
 (4.31)

also known as the square GKP code, that encodes k = 1 qubit into n = 1 oscillator and

$$\sqrt{2}M_{A_2} = 3^{-\frac{1}{4}} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0\\ 1 & \sqrt{3} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.32}$$

which is known as the hexagonal GKP code, similarly with parameter k = n = 1but with a different lattice geometry that requires a slightly larger displacement amplitude to implement a logical operator. The hexagonal GKP code is labeled by the symbol A_2 , which we will explain in chapter 5. Here we have $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) =$



Figure 4.1: The symplectic lattices \mathbb{Z}^2 (left) and A_2 (right) scaled by d = 2 and their respective (dual) unit cells. The logical displacement amplitudes are marked in turquoise and stabilizer displacements are marked in red.

 $3^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ compared to $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) = 2^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ for the square GKP code. The simplest \mathbb{Z}^2 and A_2 scaled GKP codes with d = 2 are illustrated in fig. 4.1. Further symplectic self-dual lattices with larger $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_0)$ and a numerical procedure to find symplectic self-dual lattices are detailed in ref. [107] and discussed in chapter 5.

Scaled GKP codes are important as every GKP code can be understood as an extended version of a scaled GKP code. We discuss this relationship in the next section.

Concatenated square GKP codes.

The second relevant class of GKP codes that of concatenated codes built from the square GKP code and a qubit quantum-error correcting code. Let $Q \subset \mathbb{Z}_2^{2n}$ be a set of binary symplectic vectors³ such that

$$S_Q = \left\{ Z_1^{q_1} Z_2^{q_2} \dots X_{n+1}^{q_{n+1}} \dots X_{2n}^{q_{2n}} \middle| \forall \boldsymbol{q} \in Q \right\}$$
(4.33)

describes the stabilizer group of an [n, k, d] qubit quantum error correcting code. We can embed binary vectors in \mathbb{R}^{2n} in the trivial way. The lattice associated to the concatenated GKP code will be given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \Lambda(Q) := \left\{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} | \sqrt{2}\boldsymbol{x} \mod 2 \in Q \right\}$$
(4.34)

and equally describes an encoding of k logical qubits into n modes. Such lattices are known in the literature as *Construction A* lattices [61]. Given r = n - ksymplectic vectors associated to a set of generators for S_Q that we stack rowwise into a generator $B_Q \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{r \times 2n}$, we can write down the generator for the concatenated code as

$$M_{\rm conc} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{B_Q}{2I_{2n}} \right). \tag{4.35}$$

This generator defines an overcomplete basis and can be row-reduced to only consist of 2n generators. In slightly greater generality, a concatenated GKP

³That is $q^T J q' = 0 \mod 2$ for all $q, q' \in Q$ (considering addition over reals or in \mathbb{Z}_2 does not make any difference).

code can be understood as a GKP code where the lattice \mathcal{L} contains a sublattice corresponding to the union of the single mode GKP codes. We summarize this as definition

Definition 3. A GKP code described by lattice $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ is concatenated, if it contains a sublattice

$$\sqrt{d}\mathcal{L}_0^{\oplus n} \subset \mathcal{L},\tag{4.36}$$

where $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and each local sublattice, $\mathcal{L}_{loc} = \sqrt{d}\mathcal{L}_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}$, corresponds to a single-mode GKP code. When $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathbb{Z}^2$, we call the GKP code square concatenated.

This definition is flexible enough to allow for arbitrary choices of single-mode GKP codes and dimensionalities of the effective local logical qudits. It however constrains each local GKP code to be the same. An even more flexible structure is defined by *glueing*, a construction further discussed in chapter 5.

4.2 Bases of GKP codes

4.2.1 The canonical basis and symplectic equivalence

A core feature of symplectically integral lattices $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ is that there always exists a choice of basis that partitions the vectors in to symplectically conjugate pairs. This is the content of the following lemma due to Frobenius [13, 27, 95], which we adapt from the presentation in refs. [13] and [27].

Lemma 2 (Frobenius Lemma [13, 27]). Let L be a free finitely generated \mathbb{Z} module and $E : L \times L \to \mathbb{Z}$ a skew-symmetric, non-degenerate form. There
exists positive integers $d_1|d_2|\ldots|d_n$ and a basis $(e_1, \ldots, e_n, f_1, \ldots, f_n)^T$ of L,
such that the matrix A of E becomes $A = J_2 \otimes D$, with $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$ and the ideals $d_i\mathbb{Z}, i = 1 \ldots n$ are uniquely determined.

Proof. (from [13]) Let d_1 be the minimum of the numbers $E(\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b})$ for $\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b} \in L$, $E(\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b}) > 0$; choose $\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{f}_1 \in L$ such that $E(\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{f}_1) = d_1$. For any $\boldsymbol{z} \in L$, $E(\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{z})$ is divisible by d_1 – otherwise, using Euclidean division, we would find \boldsymbol{z} with $0 < E(\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{z}) < d_1$. Likewise, $E(\boldsymbol{f}_1 \boldsymbol{z})$ is divisible by d_1 . Set $U = \mathbb{Z}\boldsymbol{e}_1 + \mathbb{Z}\boldsymbol{f}_1$ such that we have $L = U \oplus U^{\perp}$. This holds as for any $\boldsymbol{z} \in L$ we have

$$\boldsymbol{z} = \frac{E(\boldsymbol{z}, \boldsymbol{f}_1)}{d_1} \boldsymbol{e}_1 + \frac{E(\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{z})}{d_1} \boldsymbol{f}_1 + \left(\boldsymbol{z} - \frac{E(\boldsymbol{z}, \boldsymbol{f}_1)}{d_1} \boldsymbol{e}_1 - \frac{E(\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{z})}{d_1} \boldsymbol{f}_1\right). \quad (4.37)$$

Reasoning by induction on the rank of L, we find that $L = U_1 \oplus U_2 \oplus \ldots U_n$ decomposes in n 2- dimensional subspaces $U_i = \mathbb{Z} \boldsymbol{e}_i + \mathbb{Z} \boldsymbol{f}_i$, $E(\boldsymbol{e}_i, \boldsymbol{f}_i) = d_i$ and $d_2 | \ldots | d_n$. Using Euclidean division it can again be shown that if d_1 does not divide d_2 one can find $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $E(\boldsymbol{e}_1 + \boldsymbol{e}_2, k \boldsymbol{f}_1 + \boldsymbol{f}_2) < d_1$, which is a contradiction. Finally, we show that the ideals $d_i\mathbb{Z}$ are uniquely determined. To show this, note that there exist a canonical isomorphism $L \to L^{\vee} : \boldsymbol{x} \mapsto \boldsymbol{x}(\cdot) =$ $\boldsymbol{x}^T J(\cdot)$. Applying this to the basis elements $\boldsymbol{e}_i, \boldsymbol{f}_i$ determines functionals into the ideals $L \to d_i\mathbb{Z}$. The Frobenius lemma immediately implies a standard form for symplectic Gram matrices of GKP codes.

Corollary 1 (Normal form for GKP Codes). Let $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ be a GKP code with symplectic gram matrix $A \in \mathbb{Z}^{2n \times 2n}$. There exists a unimodular transformation $U \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z})$, such that

$$UAU^T = J_2 \otimes D \tag{4.38}$$

with positive integer diagonal matrix $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$ and unique integers $d_1|d_2| \ldots |d_n$.

Proof. We use the result of lemma 2. The Lattice $\mathcal{L} = M^T \mathbb{Z}^{2n}$ is a free finitely generated \mathbb{Z} -module and $E : \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L} \to \mathbb{Z}$, $E(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}) = \boldsymbol{x}^T J \boldsymbol{y}$ is the trivial skew-symmetric non-degenerate form. By lemma 2 there exists a basis $(\boldsymbol{e}_1, \ldots, \boldsymbol{e}_n, \boldsymbol{f}_1, \ldots, \boldsymbol{f}_n)^T$ of \mathcal{L} , such that the symplectic Gram matrix A takes the form $A = J_2 \otimes D$ with $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$. Since all bases of a lattice are unimodularily equivalent, there is a unimodular matrix U with $UAU^T = J_2 \otimes D$. Per lemma 2 the principal ideals $d_i\mathbb{Z}$ are unique. Since two principal ideals $n\mathbb{Z} = m\mathbb{Z}$ are equal exactly when $n = \pm m$, and we have chosen $d_i > 0$, the matrix D is unique. \Box

We call D – either as matrix or as vector $(d_1, \ldots, d_n)^T$ depending on the context – the *type* of the GKP code. The corresponding basis $M = (\boldsymbol{\xi}_1 \ldots \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n})^T$ is called the canonical basis, and we refer to the corresponding symplectic Gram matrix $A = J_2 \otimes D$ as the *standard form*. We have shown that the canonical basis is given by symplectically conjugate pairs of vectors

$$(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i+n}) : \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^T J \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i+n} = d_i \quad \forall i \in \{1, \dots, n\}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^T J \boldsymbol{\xi}_j = 0 \quad \forall j \neq i+n \quad \forall i \in \{1, \dots, n\},$$

$$(4.39)$$

and similarly, the dual basis $M^{\perp} = (\boldsymbol{\xi}_1^{\perp} \dots \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n}^{\perp})^T$ can be arranged into pairs of vectors $(\boldsymbol{e}_i, \boldsymbol{f}_i) = (\boldsymbol{\xi}_i^{\perp}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i+n}^{\perp})$ with

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{i}^{T} J \boldsymbol{f}_{i} = \frac{1}{d_{i}} \quad \forall i \in \{1, \dots, n\},$$
$$\boldsymbol{e}_{i}^{T} J \boldsymbol{f}_{j} = 0 \quad \forall j \neq i \in \{1, \dots, n\}.$$
(4.40)

These vectors constitute precisely the canonical representatives for the logical generalized Pauli operators of the GKP code and satisfy the rules of the desired Heisenberg-Weyl algebra

$$X_{i} := D(\boldsymbol{e}_{i}), \ Z_{i} := D(\boldsymbol{f}_{i}): \qquad Z_{i}X_{i} = e^{i\frac{2\pi}{d_{i}}}X_{i}Z_{i}, \tag{4.41}$$

$$X_i^{d_i}, Z_i^{d_i} \in \mathcal{S}, \tag{4.42}$$

$$[X_i, Z_j] = 0 \ \forall i \neq j. \tag{4.43}$$

Remark. The structure of this Heisenberg-Weyl algebra also lends itself to an alternative interpretation for GKP codes: Given a physical Hilbert space, we can imagine to first pick Heisenberg-Weyl operators $X_i, Z_i : e^{i\frac{2\pi}{d_i}}X_iZ_i$ and then to simply define the codespace to be the subspace $\mathcal{H}_C \subset \mathcal{H}$ in which $X_i^{d_i}$ and $Z_i^{d_i}$ act as identity.

As already pointed to in the construction of scaled GKP codes, there is a close connection between general GKP codes described by a symplectically integral (or *weakly symplectically self-dual*) lattice $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ with integral symplectic Gram matrix $A = J_2 \otimes D$ and symplectic self dual lattices with $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}$ and A = J. Note that for scaled GKP codes $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{d}\mathcal{L}_0$, the type is $D = (d)^{\oplus n}$ and we additionally have d = 1 for symplectic self-dual lattices.

We can reinterpret a general GKP code as follows. Take the symplectic conjugate pairs of vectors $(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i+n}) : \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^T J \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i+n} = d_i$ that make up basis M and define rescaled pairs

$$\left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{i}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i+n}^{\prime}\right) = \left(d_{i}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{i}, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i+n}\right) : \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i}^{\prime T} J \boldsymbol{\xi}_{i+n}^{\prime} = 1.$$
(4.44)

The rescaled pairs of vectors now define a symplectically self-dual lattice with basis $M_0 = (\boldsymbol{\xi}'_1 \dots \boldsymbol{\xi}'_{2n})^T$, such that

$$M := (D \oplus I_n) M_0. \tag{4.45}$$

This decomposition implies two ways to interpret the type D GKP code given by basis M. First of all, it implies that the lattice associated to the GKP code \mathcal{L} can be understood as a *sublattice* of the symplectic lattice \mathcal{L}_0 where \mathcal{L} is embedded into \mathcal{L}_0 by a $D \oplus I_n$ linear combination of the basis vectors in M_0 . Secondly, by comparing to eq. (4.20), one may also interpret it as a GKP code with lattice basis $D \oplus I_n$ that underwent a symplectic transformation via the symplectic matrix $S = M_0^T$.

In particular, this duality also immediately implies

Theorem 1 (Symplectic equivalence). Let $M, N \in \mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n}$ be generators of full rank lattices that each satisfy $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$. Without loss of generality, assume the bases M, N are chosen such that $A_M = MJM^T = J_2 \otimes D_M$ and $A_N = NJN^T = J_2 \otimes D_N$ are in standard form. Then $M = NS^T$ for some symplectic matrix S if and only if $D_N = D_M =: D$.

Proof. We have already shown that there exist symplectic matrices M_0, N_0 such that

$$M = (D \oplus I_n)M_0, \tag{4.46}$$

$$N = (D \oplus I_n)N_0. \tag{4.47}$$

Choosing $S = N_0^{-1} M_0$ yields the desired relationship $M = NS^T$. Reversely, since symplectic transformations $S \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfy $S^T J S = J$, the symplectic relation $M = NS^T$ immediately implies $A_M = A_N$.

Further applying a squeezing transformation $S = D^{-\frac{1}{2}} \oplus D^{\frac{1}{2}} \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ to the GKP code with lattice basis $(D \oplus I_n)$ shows that these codes are in fact simply squeezed square GKP codes. This observation implies that every GKP code can be obtained by symplectically transforming a square GKP code with the correct dimensionalities.

Corollary 2 (Normal form of generators). Let $M \in \mathbb{R}^{2n \times 2n}$ describe the basis of a full rank lattice $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$. W.l.o.g. assume M is chosen such that $A = J_2 \otimes D$ is in standard form. The code specified by the generator

$$N_{\Box} = \oplus_{j=1}^{n} \sqrt{d_i I_2} \tag{4.48}$$

is symplectically equivalent to the one specified by M.

Proof. We have already seen earlier that we can write $M = (D \oplus I_n)M_0$ with M_0 symplectic. Applying the symplectic transformation $D^{-\frac{1}{2}} \oplus D^{\frac{1}{2}}M_0^{-T}$ yields

$$M \mapsto \sqrt{D} \oplus \sqrt{D}, \tag{4.49}$$

which is a trivial collection of n single mode square with local scaling dimension d_i .

Note that, to highlight the local structure of the code we have used the indexing of quadratures $(\hat{q}_1, \hat{p}_1, \hat{q}_2, \hat{p}_2, \ldots)$ where the symplectic form takes the form $J'_{2n} = I_n \otimes J_2$ which looks different from the usual representation with $J_{2n} = J_2 \otimes I_n$ but constitutes an equivalent choice. In the statement of this corollary, the matrix N_{\Box} is diagonal, such that its stabilizers each act on a single quadrature at a time. Since N_{\Box} decomposes into a direct sum over each mode, we can always prepare a code state of M by locally preparing a code state of N_{\Box} and apply the corresponding symplectic transformation.

The same symplectically equivalent local decomposition can also be stated using the hexagonal GKP code on each local mode and since $A_{\Box} = A_{\odot} = dJ_2$. Similarly, any other scaled GKP code can also be used to provide a similar decomposition. This is an example of *Gaussian code switching* which is always possible between two GKP codes $\mathcal{L}(M)$ and $\mathcal{L}(N)$ on the same number of modes whenever $D_N = D_M$ in their respective standard bases.

Based on the preceding observations, we can also deduce the following corollary.

Corollary 3 (Normal form in prime dimensions). For $d = |\det(M)|$ prime, the lattice $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ is symplectically equivalent to a code specified by

$$N' = \sqrt{d}I_2 \oplus I_2^{\oplus(n-1)},\tag{4.50}$$

Proof. For a basis of \mathcal{L} in standard form, we have

$$d = \prod_{j=1}^{n} d_j. \tag{4.51}$$

Since D is a positive integer diagonal matrix, if d is prime, the eigenvalues of D are uniquely specified by D = diag(d, 1, 1, ...) up to permutations. Hence by theorem 1 we have that \mathcal{L} is symplectically equivalent to the code specified by eq. (4.50).

From the proof above observe that the number of symplectically inequivalent classes of codes with given logical dimension d corresponds to the number of different factorizations of d. For example, for two modes encoding two qubits there are two inequivalent choices: D = diag(4,1) or D = diag(2,2), corresponding to two symplectically inequivalent classes of codes.

4.2.2 Complex parametrization

Before we proceed, it is interesting to also write down a complex representation of symplectic lattices in $\mathbb{C}^n \sim \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, which represents the displacement amplitudes of GKP codes when the complex representation of displacement operators from eq. (2.17) is used. To this end we can map $C : (\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y})^T \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} \mapsto \boldsymbol{x} + i\boldsymbol{y} \in \mathbb{C}^n$, with reverse map $\boldsymbol{\xi}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} = \operatorname{Re}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(\boldsymbol{\gamma})$. Under this map the linear operation J^T on \mathbb{R}^{2n} is one-to-one with the scalar multiplication by the complex unit *i* on \mathbb{C}^n such that euclidean and symplectic inner products become encoded in the Hermitian inner product

$$\gamma^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\delta} = \boldsymbol{\xi}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}^T \boldsymbol{\xi}_{\boldsymbol{\delta}} + i \boldsymbol{\xi}_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}^T J \boldsymbol{\xi}_{\boldsymbol{\delta}}. \tag{4.52}$$

We have already seen the appearance of the symplectic inner product in terms of the imaginary part of a Hermitian inner product before when discussing the complex parametrization of displacement operators in eq. (2.17).

Denote the complexification of the lattice \mathcal{L} by Λ . We have seen earlier that in its real parametrization, every lattice $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ can be written in a basis such that their generators are related by $M = AM^{\perp}$, where $A = MJM^T$ was the symplectic Gram matrix. Similarly, we can construct a complex matrix $\Pi \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times 2n}$, such that its *columns* represent a basis for Λ , this matrix is sometimes also called the matrix of *periods*, and we will only later discuss why. For now, let Π, Π^{\perp} be the complexifications of M, M^{\perp} . The above relation simply translates into

$$\Pi = \Pi^{\perp} A^T. \tag{4.53}$$

In this section we have established that every symplectically integral lattice \mathcal{L} can be written as a sublattice of a symplectic lattice provided by the decomposition of bases $M = (D \oplus I_n)M_0$. Lets denote with

$$M_0^T = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \gamma \\ \beta & \delta \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.54}$$

the generator matrix for the symplectic lattice $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}$. A complex basis for \mathcal{L}_0 is then given by

$$\Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha + i\beta & \gamma + i\delta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I & \Omega \end{pmatrix} (\alpha + i\beta), \tag{4.55}$$

where we have set $\Omega = (\gamma + i\delta)(\alpha + i\beta)^{-1}$, which is an element of Siegel upper half space [79]

$$\mathfrak{H}_n = \left\{ Z = Z^T \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}, \ \mathrm{Im}(Z) > 0 \right\}.$$
(4.56)

Generally, we can always choose a basis such that the period matrix takes the form (by aligning the axes of our coordinate system with the first n columns of Π_0)

$$\Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} I & \Omega \end{pmatrix}, \ \Omega \in \mathfrak{H}_n. \tag{4.57}$$

We have from eq. (4.52)

$$\Pi_0^{\dagger}\Pi_0 = M_0 M_0^T + i M_0 J M_0^T = M_0 M_0^T + i J, \qquad (4.58)$$

such that $\operatorname{Im}(\Pi^{\dagger}\Pi) = A_0$ reproduces the symplectic Gram matrix of \mathcal{L}_0 . When the lattice is equipped with a non-trivial type D, one can instead choose the basis to take the form

$$\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} D & \Omega \end{pmatrix}, \ \Omega \in \mathfrak{H}_n, \tag{4.59}$$

which satisfies

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(\Pi^{\dagger}\operatorname{Im}(\Omega)^{-1}\Pi\right) = J_2 \otimes D.$$
(4.60)

In this form the Hermitian inner product with Kernel $\operatorname{Im}(\Omega)^{-1}$ yields a positive definite form whose imaginary part reproduces the symplectic Gram matrix. In fact, one can see that every symplectic matrix can be associated to an element $\Omega \in \mathfrak{H}_n$ by defining the *Möbius* or *modular* action for a symplectic matrix $S = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}$ by $S.Z = (AZ + B)(CZ + B)^{-1}$ which can be shown to preserve the Siegel upper half space \mathfrak{H}_n and acts transitively on it [79].

These fun facts are not very relevant for now, but we will see later how they come into play when we establish a geometric picture to classify the spaces of GKP codes. What the above relation tells us is that when D (and implicitly also n) is fixed, the degrees of freedom in choosing a GKP code are fully characterized by the choice of the matrix $\Omega \in \mathfrak{H}_n$ as every symplectic lattice can be described by such an $\Omega \in \mathfrak{H}_n$. This summarizes the key takeaway of this section: After fixing the type D, every GKP code is equivalent up to symplectic transformations.

4.3 Distance of a GKP code

In reality, we need a benchmark to assess how well the logical content of a GKP state is protected from noise. In qubit codes, a simple standard assumption is that noise is stochastic i.i.d. for each physical qubit, such that the likelihood of an error decreases exponentially with its support or weight. This assumption makes the definition of a code distance as weight of the shortest non-trivial logical operator meaningful. But this model no longer makes sense in the bosonic setting. Here, a more reasonable assumption about the underlying error model is that weak coupling to the environment results in effectively small displacements. Concrete examples for realistic models of relevant noise are loss, thermal noise [147], and to a limited extent, finite squeezing errors [93, 183, 187]. For simplicity, we assume a stochastic displacement noise model where small displacements are more likely than large displacements. One such noise channel is provided by the Gaussian displacement noise model

$$\mathcal{N}(\rho) = \int d\boldsymbol{x} \ P_{\tilde{\sigma}}(\boldsymbol{x}) D(\boldsymbol{x}) \rho D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (4.61)$$

which will be analyzed more in-depth later, where the probability to displace the state by an amount \boldsymbol{x} is determined by a centered Gaussian distribution with variance $\tilde{\sigma}^2$,

$$P_{\tilde{\sigma}}(\boldsymbol{x}) = G[0, \tilde{\sigma}^2 I_{2n}](\boldsymbol{x}) \propto e^{-\frac{\|\boldsymbol{x}\|^2}{2\tilde{\sigma}^2}}.$$
(4.62)

Although this error model is widely used in the analysis of GKP codes [105, 148, 192] for its simplicity, one needs to be careful to note that in real implementations of GKP error correction, this is not a physically accurate model [53, 183] in general, but only reproduces the correct measurement statistics in specific cases, such as when the finite squeezing error is applied to a perfect GKP state and interpreted as channel or when GKP states undergo a 0-photon loss event. The concrete details of the noise models are not very relevant for now and an in-depth discussion can be found in refs. [95, 183]. The distance measure that we introduce merely assumes that larger phase-space displacements are more likely than smaller ones, which is a natural choice and is sufficiently meaningful to indicate the robustness of the code with respect to realistic noise sources. **Definition 4** (Euclidean distance of a GKP code). The (euclidean) distance Δ of a GKP code given by lattice \mathcal{L} is the euclidean length of the shortest non-trivial logical operator, i.e.,

$$\Delta = \Delta(\mathcal{L}) := \min_{0 \neq \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} - \mathcal{L}} \|\boldsymbol{x}\|.$$
(4.63)

For GKP codes with the special decomposition $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_q \oplus \mathcal{L}_p$, which one may call *CSS* type in reference to the analogous situation for qubit-based quantum error correcting codes, we can further distinguish

$$\Delta_q := \min_{0 \neq \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}_p^* - \mathcal{L}_q} \| \boldsymbol{x} \|, \tag{4.64}$$

$$\Delta_p := \min_{0 \neq \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}_q^* - \mathcal{L}_p} \| \boldsymbol{x} \|.$$
(4.65)

Lemma 3 (Distance bound). Let $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})$ denote the shortest non-zero vector in the dual lattice. We have

$$\Delta \ge \lambda_1 \left(\mathcal{L}^\perp \right). \tag{4.66}$$

Proof. Because the lattice vector $0 \neq \mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}$ for which $||\mathbf{x}||$ is minimal is also in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} this holds trivially.

We have already seen in the previous section that for GKP codes obtained from scaling a symplectically self-dual lattice \mathcal{L}_0 to $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{d}\mathcal{L}_0$ we have

$$\Delta_{\text{scaled}} = \lambda_1 \left(\mathcal{L}^\perp \right) = d^{-\frac{1}{2}} \lambda_1 (\mathcal{L}_0), \qquad (4.67)$$

so the distance decreases while the size of the stabilizers and number of encoded logical dimensions increases. In order to find scaled GKP codes with both growing encoded dimension *distance* it hence turns out to be sensible to keep the scaling parameter *d* fixed and consider families of lattices of growing shortest lattice vectors $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_0)$. We will see in section 4.3.3 how such lattice families can arise via random constructions.

For the concatenation of a single mode GKP code into a [n, k, d] qubit quantum error correcting code, we have, due to the conversion between Hamming $\|\cdot\|_0$ norm and Euclidean norm, the following bound.

Lemma 4. The euclidean distance of a concatenated GKP code satisfies

$$\Delta_{\rm conc} \ge \sqrt{d\Delta_{\rm loc}},\tag{4.68}$$

where Δ_{loc} is the distance of the local single mode GKP code.

Proof. Eq. (4.68) is verified by decomposing a shortest representative non-trivial logical vector $\boldsymbol{L} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{l}_i$ into n local sub-blocks, where \boldsymbol{l}_i is a logical operator of the respective local code, such that we have $\|\boldsymbol{L}\|^2 \ge d\Delta_{\text{loc}}^2$.

The local distance is of typical magnitude $\Delta_{\Box} = 2^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ for the square GKP code or $\Delta_{\odot} = 3^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ for the hexagonal GKP code. Equality in eq. (4.68) holds when the code we consider is CSS or the local code is the hexagonal GKP code (such that all shortest non-trivial logical vectors have the same distance).

The distance of a concatenated code is typically strictly larger than $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})$, because the shortest dual vectors would typically correspond to stabilizer displacements.

The length of the shortest vector in a lattice $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L})$ is the first of 2n successive minima of the lattice. Generally, the *i*th successive minimum $\lambda_i(\mathcal{L}), i \leq 2n$ is defined to be the smallest r > 0, such that \mathcal{L} contains *i* linearly independent vectors of length at most *r*. It holds that $\mu(\mathcal{L}) \geq \lambda_{2n}(\mathcal{L})/2$, where $\mu(\mathcal{L})$ is the *covering radius* of the lattice \mathcal{L} , i.e., the minimum radius μ , such that the union of closed balls $\mathcal{B}_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}$ centred around each lattice point of \mathcal{L} cover the entire space \mathbb{R}^{2n} . A related quantity is the *packing radius* of the lattice $\rho(\mathcal{L}) = \lambda_1(\mathcal{L})/2$.

4.3.1 Tradeoffs and bounds for GKP codes

Successive minima of the direct and dual lattice \mathcal{L}^* are related by so-called transference theorems, in particular we have [10]

$$1 \le \lambda_1(\mathcal{L})\lambda_{2n}(\mathcal{L}^*) \le 2n. \tag{4.69}$$

The symplectic- and euclidean dual lattices \mathcal{L}^{\perp} and \mathcal{L}^* differ only by an orthogonal transformation, therefore it holds that

$$\lambda_i(\mathcal{L}^\perp) = \lambda_i(\mathcal{L}^*) \tag{4.70}$$

and we can apply eq. (4.69) to relate the distance to the length of stabilizer vectors.

Theorem 2 (Distance bound). For a GKP code with lattice \mathcal{L} , distance Δ and maximal length C of basis vectors for a fixed basis M we have

$$\Delta \ge \lambda_1 \left(\mathcal{L}^\perp \right) \ge \lambda_{2n}^{-1} \left(\mathcal{L} \right) \ge C^{-1}, \tag{4.71}$$

as well as

$$\Delta \le \lambda_{2n} \left(\mathcal{L}^{\perp} \right) \le \frac{2n}{\lambda_1(\mathcal{L})}.$$
(4.72)

Proof. The first bound follows immediately from lemma 3 and eq. (4.69) by swapping the roles of \mathcal{L}^{\perp} and \mathcal{L} , which is possible because $(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})^{\perp} = \mathcal{L}$ and further from $C \geq \lambda_{2n}(\mathcal{L})$. Similar for the second bound.

These bounds indicate an intimate relation between the lengths of the stabilizers in \mathcal{L} and the distance of the GKP code, which we will expand on further below.

4.3.2 Symplectic transformations

It is interesting to study how symplectic transformations change the code distance. In particular, since we have seen in theorem 1 that GKP codes with equal standard form are symplectically equivalent, it is possible that for specific noise models a symplectic transformation of the stabilizers $M \mapsto MS^T$ can be used to improve the code's resilience to noise. Clearly, orthogonal (symplectic) transformations S satisfying $S^T S = I$ leave the distance invariant.

This is not the case for squeezing. In particular if we consider a uniform squeeze

$$S = \eta I_n \oplus \eta^{-1} I_n, \quad \eta \in (0, \infty)$$
(4.73)

applied to a CSS code, we have

$$\Delta_q \mapsto \Delta_{q,\eta} = \eta^{-1} \Delta_q, \qquad \Delta_p \mapsto \Delta_{p,\eta} = \eta \Delta_p. \tag{4.74}$$

Squeezing a code allows to account for potential bias in the noise, e.g. when the stochastic displacement noise channel is governed by

$$P(\boldsymbol{x}) = G[0, \tilde{\sigma}^2 (\eta^{-1} I_n \oplus \eta I_n)](\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (4.75)$$

it allows to change the effective bias experienced by the code. For concatenated CSS GKP codes, we generally have

$$\Delta_q = \sqrt{d_Z} \Delta_{q,\text{loc}}, \qquad \Delta_p = \sqrt{d_X} \Delta_{p,\text{loc}}, \qquad (4.76)$$

such that squeezing the local codes by η is equivalent to increasing (decreasing) the upper level X/Z- distances $d_{X/Z}$ by a factor of η^2 . On the other hand, for natively unbiased noise it is also possible to squeeze the local code and employ a qubit quantum error correcting codes tailored towards biased noise such that $\Delta_q = \Delta_p$ remains constant. Although such a setup leaves the distance invariant, it can still lead to improvements in the error correction procedure when dedicated decoders for the qubit error correcting codes are used, as was recently demonstrated in ref. [105].

Corollary 3 can also be used to derive an upper bound on the distance of a given code from symplectic equivalence as follows. Let us first consider a code \mathcal{L} with generator M, encoding a single qubit within n modes. Suppose M is in canonical form with

$$A = MJM^T = J_2 \otimes D$$
 with $D = \text{diag}\{2, 1, \dots, 1\}.$ (4.77)

The corollary implies that there exists a symplectic matrix S with $M = N_{\Box}S^{T}$ and N_{\Box} is the generator of the code with logical dimension two. Since N_{\Box} is diagonal, the corresponding lattice \mathcal{L}_{\Box} is trivially orthogonal, and so is the dual $\mathcal{L}_{\Box}^{\perp}$. The shortest non-trivial logical operators are thus immediately found as $\eta_{\Box,1}^{T} = (1/\sqrt{2}, \mathbf{0}_{2n-1}^{T})$ and $\eta_{\Box,2}^{T} = (0, -1/\sqrt{2}, \mathbf{0}_{n-2}^{T})$. We can now recall that commutation relations for the displacements are related to symplectic products of the corresponding phase space vectors and that S preserves symplectic products. Hence, the transformation S maps all points in $\mathcal{L}_{\Box}^{\perp}$ that correspond to stabilizers, $\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{L}_{\Box} \subset \mathcal{L}_{\Box}^{\perp}$, to direct lattice points $S\mathbf{x} \in \mathcal{L}$, which are stabilizers of \mathcal{L} , and all non-trivial logical operators to non-trivial logical operators. Therefore, we can readily write down two logical operators, $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} \setminus \mathcal{L}$, as $\eta_j = S\eta_{\Box,j}$ whose lengths are

$$||\boldsymbol{\eta}_j|| = \left| \left| S \boldsymbol{\eta}_{\Box,j} \right| \right| \ge \Delta. \tag{4.78}$$

One can further relate the distance to the squeezing contained in S. Applying the Bloch-Messiah [29] we can write $S = O_2 K O_1$ with O_j symplectic orthogonal matrices and $K = \text{diag}\{k_1, \ldots, k_n, 1/k_1, \ldots, 1/k_n\}$ with $k_l \in (0, \infty)$ denoting an effective squeezing operation. Similar to ref. [111], we denote by $\operatorname{sq}(S) = \sqrt{\lambda_{max}(S^TS)}$ the root of the largest eigenvalue of S^TS , or equivalently, the largest squeezing factor in the Bloch-Messiah decomposition of the associated symplectic matrix. Taking everything together, we obtain

$$\Delta \le \|S\boldsymbol{\eta}_{\Box,j}\| \le \|K\|\|\boldsymbol{\eta}_{\Box,j}\| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \mathbf{sq}(S).$$
(4.79)

The bound presented above generalizes straightforwardly to codes with higher logical dimension, and we obtain the following summarized statement.

Theorem 3 (Squeezing bound to the distance). Let $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}(M)$ specify a GKP code with symplectic Gram matrix $A = J_2 \otimes D$ in its canonical form. Further, let S denote the symplectic matrix that transforms between M and the generator N_{\Box} as specified in corollary 3. We have

$$\Delta \le \sqrt{\max_j d_j}^{-1} \operatorname{sq}(S). \tag{4.80}$$

This bounds a benchmark for error correcting capabilities of a code by the squeezing measure of the Gaussian unitary necessary to prepare the code state from a collection of square GKP codes.

4.3.3 Good random GKP codes

As already remarked earlier, an especially interesting family of GKP codes is called *good*.

Definition 5 (Good GKP codes). A GKP code family $\mathcal{L}_n \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ parametrized by lattice dimension 2n with asymptotically non-vanishing rate

$$\log \det(\mathcal{L}_n) = \Omega(n) \tag{4.81}$$

and distance scaling

$$\Delta^2 = \Omega(n) \tag{4.82}$$

is good.

In particular, we obtain good scaled GKP codes if a family of symplectic self-dual lattices $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ can be found such that $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_0) \propto \sqrt{n}$, i.e. the shortest lattice vector grows as the square root with the dimension of the lattice.

The proof of existence of *good* GKP codes provided by ref. [106] can essentially be formulated using a Haar average over the (moduli) space of all symplectic lattices [166]. The analogous heuristic to lower bound the shortest vector in a general lattice is given by the Gaussian heuristic.

Gaussian Heuristic (GH) 1. Let $L \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a sufficiently random full rank lattice with large n, then we expect the smallest non-zero vector in the lattice will satisfy

$$\lambda_1(L) \approx \sqrt{\frac{n}{2\pi e}} \det(L)^{\frac{1}{n}}.$$
(4.83)

Argument [7, 177]: The moduli space of full rank lattices in \mathbb{R}^n with unit covolume is given by $\mathcal{L}_n = \mathrm{SL}_n(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \mathrm{SL}_n(\mathbb{R})$, where the left⁴ quotient $\mathrm{SL}_n(\mathbb{Z})$ indicates the equivalence up to changes of basis. There is a Haar measure μ_n over \mathcal{L}_n , normalized to $\mu_n(\mathcal{L}_n) = 1$, such that for Lebesque-integrable functions $f : \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto \mathbb{R}$, we have that [128]

 $^{^4\}mathrm{We}$ write the left quotient because of the row-convention used in the definition of lattice bases. In the literature one more commonly uses a right-quotient associated to a column-convention.

$$\langle f(L-\{0\})\rangle := \int_{L\in\mathcal{L}_n} \sum_{\boldsymbol{x}\in L-\{0\}} f(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\mu_n = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(\boldsymbol{x}) \, d\boldsymbol{x}. \tag{4.84}$$

Let $f(\boldsymbol{x}) = \theta(\|\boldsymbol{x}\| \le R)$, where θ is the Heaviside function. Equation (4.84) yields

$$\left\langle \#\{\boldsymbol{x}\in L: \|\boldsymbol{x}\|\leq R, \; \boldsymbol{x}\neq 0\} \right\rangle_{L\in\mathcal{L}_n} = V_n(R),$$
 (4.85)

where

$$V_n(R) = \frac{\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2}+1\right)} R^n \tag{4.86}$$

is the volume of the centered n-ball $B_n(R) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$.

We hence have that if lattices L are sampled from a random distribution close to μ_n in the moduli space of all lattices with $\det(L) = 1$, the average number of non-zero lattice points of length at most R is given by the volume of the *n*-ball, $V_n(R)$. Similarly, it is reasonable to expect that the average number of nonzero lattice points of length at most R, when the lattice has $\det(L) \neq 1$ and is sampled from an approximation to the Haar measure is given by $V_n(R)/\det(L)$.

Using Stirling's approximation, the smallest R for which this number becomes non-zero is given by $R \approx \sqrt{n/2\pi e} \det(L)^{\frac{1}{n}}$.

The Gaussian Heuristic is a statement accepted to be generally true in lattice theory and post-quantum cryptography. In the above argument the "heuristic" enters in the assumption that the design property eq. (4.84) still holds for measures that only approximate the Haar measure on the space of lattices and that it moreover also still holds when the lattices are not of $det(\mathcal{L}) = 1$.

The Gaussian heuristic motivates that lattices with $\lambda_1 = \Omega(\sqrt{n})$ can be found amongst sufficiently random sets of lattices. Buser and Sarnak [166] showed that there is also a Haar measure over the moduli space of *symplectic* lattices, using which Harrington and Preskill identified the existence of good GKP codes by a similar calculation as presented above [106]. In fact, we can make an even stronger statement here by considering a subset of symplectic lattices which still retains the goodness property. We construct this class using symmetric matrices $X = X^T \in \mathbb{Z}^{n \times n}$ matrices to define the generator

$$M[X] = \begin{pmatrix} I & X \\ 0 & qI_n \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.87)

Matrices of this form are is q-symplectic, that is, they are such that

$$M[X]JM^{T}[X] = qJ (4.88)$$

and we can rescale $M_0[X] = q^{-\frac{1}{2}}M[X]$ to obtain a symplectic matrix.

The GKP code produced by this lattice basis is square concatenated: The lattice L generated by M[X] contains a sublattice $q\mathbb{Z}^{2n}$ and the rescaled lattice $q^{-\frac{1}{2}}L$ contains a sublattice $\sqrt{q}\mathbb{Z}^{2n}$. The top block of M[X] can be interpreted as the so-called reduced row-echelon form (I X) of a classical linear q-ary code in \mathbb{F}_q^{2n} .

Following the technique used in ref. [166], we can show the subsequent statements. Theorem 4. Let

$$U_q := \left\{ X = X^T \in \left\{ -\frac{q}{2}, \dots, \frac{q}{2} \right\}^{n \times n} \right\}$$
(4.89)

be the set of symmetric matrices in \mathbb{Z}_q and let $f : \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function with compact support. We have

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \left\langle \sum_{\boldsymbol{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2n} - \{0\}} f\left(M_0^T[X]\boldsymbol{k}\right) \right\rangle_{X \in U_q} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \tag{4.90}$$

where the expectation value on the LHS is taken uniformly over U_q .

Proof. We start from the definition

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \left\langle F(X) \right\rangle_{X \in U_q} = \lim_{q \to \infty} q^{-1} \sum_{X_{1,1} = -q/2}^{q/2} q^{-1} \sum_{X_{1,2} = -q/2}^{q/2} \dots F(X) \qquad (4.91)$$
$$= \int_{-1/2}^{1/2} dX_{1,1} dX_{1,2} dX_{1,3} \dots F(qX).$$

We have for $\boldsymbol{k} = \boldsymbol{m} \oplus \boldsymbol{n}$

$$M_0^T[X]\boldsymbol{k} = q^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{m} \\ qX\boldsymbol{m} + q\boldsymbol{n} \end{pmatrix}$$

such that we can compute analogously to the argument presented in ref. [166]

$$I(q) = \int_{-1/2}^{1/2} dX_{1,1} dX_{1,2} dX_{1,3} \dots \sum_{\boldsymbol{m}, \boldsymbol{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^n - \{0\}} f\left(q^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{m} \\ qX\boldsymbol{m} + q\boldsymbol{n} \end{pmatrix}\right) \quad (4.92)$$
$$= \int_{-1/2}^{1/2} dX_{1,1} dX_{1,2} dX_{1,3} \dots \left\{ \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n, \\ m_1 \neq 0 \\ m_1 \neq 0 \\ m_2 \neq 0 \\ m_3 \neq 0$$

$$\times \sum_{\boldsymbol{n}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} f\left(q^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{m} \\ qX\boldsymbol{m} + q\boldsymbol{n} \end{pmatrix}\right) + \sum_{\boldsymbol{n}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} f\left(\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{0} \\ \sqrt{q}\boldsymbol{n} \end{pmatrix}\right)$$
(4.94)

In eq. (4.94), we consider each summation over m separately. In the first term with the constraint $m_1 \neq 0$ we rewrite

$$qX\boldsymbol{m} + q\boldsymbol{n} = \begin{pmatrix} qm_1 \left(X_{1,1} + \frac{n_1}{m_1} + m_1^{-1} \sum_{k>1} X_{1,k} m_k \right) \\ qm_1 \left(X_{2,1} + \frac{n_2}{m_1} + m_1^{-1} \sum_{k>1} X_{2,k} m_k \right) \\ qm_1 \left(X_{3,1} + \frac{n_3}{m_1} + m_1^{-1} \sum_{k>1} X_{3,k} m_k \right) \\ \vdots \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.95)

We write for each $n_i = \lfloor \frac{n_i}{m_1} \rfloor m_1 + (n_i \mod m_1)$ and split the summation

$$\sum_{n_i \in \mathbb{Z}} g\left(\frac{n_i}{m_1}\right) = \sum_{j_i \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{n_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{m_1}} g\left(j_i + \frac{n_i}{m_1}\right).$$
(4.96)

This way, each summation over the integer divisors of n_i with m_1 can be combined with the integral over $X_{i,1} \in [-1/2, 1/2]$ to an integral of $X_{i,1} \in \mathbb{R}$ over the real numbers. To perform this trick, start with $X_{1,1} + j_1$ in the first row of eq. (4.95) and realize that all subsequent rows are independent of $X_{1,1}$. After converting the integration in the first row, all remaining summand of that row can be absorbed into a shift of the $X_{1,1}$ integral. Now the first row is also independent of $X_{2,1} = X_{1,2}$, such that we can repeat this trick, converting the integral over $X_{2,1}$ and summation over j_2 into integration of $X_{2,1}$ over \mathbb{R} which again gets rid of the dependency on $X_{k,2}, k > 1$ in this row. Similarly, the summations over the terms $\frac{n_i}{m_1}$ also becomes trivial and provides a factor of m_1 . In total, after substitution $t_i = qm_1 X_{i,1}$

$$\int_{-1/2}^{1/2} dX_{1,1} dX_{1,2} dX_{1,3} \dots \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n, \\ m_1 \neq 0}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} f\left(q^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{m} \\ qX\boldsymbol{m} + q\boldsymbol{n} \end{pmatrix}\right)$$
(4.97)
$$= \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n, \\ m_1 \neq 0}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, q^{-n} f\left(q^{-\frac{1}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{m} \\ \boldsymbol{t} \end{pmatrix}\right)$$
$$= q^{-n/2} \sum_{\substack{\boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n, \\ m_1 \neq 0}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \, f\left(\begin{pmatrix} q^{-\frac{1}{2}}\boldsymbol{m} \\ \boldsymbol{t} \end{pmatrix}\right).$$

In the second term with constraint $m_1 = 0$, $m_2 \neq 0$ we repeat the above procedure by pulling out a factor of qm_2 , $qXm + qn = qm_2(qXm/m_2 + n/m_2)$. Begin with the integration over $X_{2,2}$, together with the sum over n_2 this again extends the domain of integration of $X_{2,2}$ to \mathbb{R} . Substituting the remaining summands in the corresponding row renders the rest of qXm + qn independent of $X_{2,i}$, i > 2 such that in each other row we can combine the $X_{2,i}$ integration with the sum over n_i to extend the domains of integration. Repeat this procedure using each $m_i \neq 0$ in eq. (4.94) and finally use that f has compact support, such that in the limit $q \to \infty$ eq. (4.92) becomes

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} I(q) = \lim_{q \to \infty} q^{-n/2} \sum_{\boldsymbol{m} \in Z^n - \{0\}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\boldsymbol{t} f\left(\binom{q^{-\frac{1}{2}}\boldsymbol{m}}{\boldsymbol{t}}\right).$$
(4.98)

In the limit, we again use the definition of the Riemann integral to finally obtain

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} I(q) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\boldsymbol{x}) d\boldsymbol{x}.$$
(4.99)

The proof technique used above was adapted from a similar proof in ref. [166]. It is quite remarkable that it is possible to explicitly compute the expectation value of functions over the space of random lattice using standard tricks from calculus. Comparing the derived statement to the proof of the Gaussian Heuristic 1, this immediately implies

Corollary 4. Under the same assumptions as in theorem 4, Lattices $L_{q,X}$ generated by uniformly random over

$$U_q := \left\{ X = X^T \in \left\{ -\frac{q}{2}, \dots, \frac{q}{2} \right\}^{n \times n} \right\}$$
(4.100)

have expected shortest vector length $\overline{\lambda_1(L_q, X)} \approx \sqrt{n/2\pi e}$. In particular, for large q, there always exists $X \in U_q$ such that

$$\lambda_1(L_{q,X}) \ge \sqrt{n/2\pi e}.\tag{4.101}$$

Proof. Let $L_{q,X} = L(M_0[X])$ be a lattice generated by the basis $M_0[X]$ as before. Theorem 4 asserts that for any compact function $f : \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{R}$, it holds that

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \left\langle f(L - \{0\}) \right\rangle_{X \in U_q} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} f(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
(4.102)

Now, same as in the proof of the Gaussian Heuristic 1, set $f(\mathbf{x}) = \theta(||\mathbf{x}|| \le R)$ with the Heaviside theta function θ . We obtain

$$\lim_{q \to \infty} \left\langle \# \{ \boldsymbol{x} \in L_{q,X} : \| \boldsymbol{x} \| \le R, \; \boldsymbol{x} \ne 0 \} \right\rangle_{X \in U_q} = V_n(R), \tag{4.103}$$

where again

$$V_n(R) = \frac{\pi^{\frac{n}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{n}{2}+1)} R^n$$
(4.104)

is the volume of the centered n-ball $B_n(R) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ which describes the average number of lattice points of $L_{q,X}$ in a Ball of radius R for large q. Using Stirling's approximation, we see that this number is non-zero when we have at least $R \approx \sqrt{n/2\pi e}$. The average property implies the existence of instances $L_{q,X}$ with shortest vector length at least $\sqrt{n/2\pi e}$.

Scaled GKP codes given by $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{dL_{q,X}}$ in the limit $q \to \infty$ are hence good: They encode logical dimension $\dim(\mathcal{H}_C) = d^n$ and have distance scaling $\Delta \propto \sqrt{n/d}$. We will later find that even a further refinement of GKP codes of this form, derived from a lattice cryptosystem, will maintain this goodness property. This will be the topic of sec. 5.3. For now, the core message of this section is, informally,

Corollary 5. Good families of GKP codes exist.

For more flexibility in choosing logical dimensionalities, one can even show the final statement of this section.

Corollary 6. ⁵ For any type $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$, there exists a GKP code with lattice $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ and distance

$$\Delta(\mathcal{L}) \ge \frac{1}{\operatorname{lcm}(D)} \sqrt{\frac{n}{\pi e}},\tag{4.105}$$

where $\operatorname{lcm}(D)$ is the least common multiple of the factors in D, $\operatorname{lcm}(D) := \operatorname{lcm}(d_1, \ldots, d_n) \leq \det(D)$.

 $^{^5\}mathrm{I}$ since rely thank Jerry Zheng for asking the question that lead to the derivation of this statement.

Proof. We use the fact that every type D GKP code can be understood as a $(D \oplus I)$ sublattice \mathcal{L} of such a symplectic lattice. We have bases M, M_0 for the lattices \mathcal{L} , \mathcal{L}_0 respectively such that

$$M = (D \oplus I_n)M_0. \tag{4.106}$$

By associating the canonical dual to each of these bases demanding $M^{\perp}JM^{T} = I$, we find

$$M^{\perp} = (D^{-1} \oplus I_n) M_0^{\perp}.$$
(4.107)

Note that in this equation, the lattice spanned by M^{\perp} cannot be interpreted as a sublattice of the lattice spanned by M_0^{\perp} unless D^{-1} is integer (i.e. $D = I_n$). However, we can multiply both sides of the equation by the least common multiple of the factors in D, $\operatorname{lcm}(D) := \operatorname{lcm}(d_1, \ldots, d_n) \leq \operatorname{det}(D)$ such that $B = \operatorname{lcm}(D) (D^{-1} \oplus I_n)$ is an integer matrix. This shows that $\operatorname{lcm}(D)\mathcal{L}^{\perp} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_0$ is a sublattice of the symplectic lattice as well, such that we obtain

$$\Delta(\mathcal{L}) \ge \lambda_1 \left(\mathcal{L}^{\perp} \right) \ge \frac{1}{\operatorname{lcm}(D)} \lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_0), \qquad (4.108)$$

where we have used that if $L' \subseteq L$ is a sublattice, it also holds that $\lambda_1(L') \geq \lambda_1(L)$. Now using the fact that symplectically self dual lattice $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ with $\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}_0) \geq \sqrt{\frac{n}{\pi e}}$ exist yields the final result.

We end this section on a conjecture.

Conjecture 1. There exists a Haar measure over all symplectically integral lattices $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ with type D.

This conjecture is motivated by the fact that every type D symplectically integral lattice $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ is simply provided by the $D \oplus I_n$ sublattice of the 2ndimensional symplectic lattices, for which a Haar measure $\mu_{2n}(\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R}))$ is already known to exist.

4.3.4 The euclidean distance in lattice theta functions

The relevant information of a lattice that captures its distance is contained in its so-called lattice theta function, which is the generator function for its distance distribution – i.e. the numbers N_d of lattice vectors $x \in \mathcal{L}$ of square length $x^T x = d$. The theta function is simply defined by summing over all vector in a lattice \mathcal{L} ,

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}(\tau) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}} q^{\boldsymbol{x}^T \boldsymbol{x}} = \sum_{\delta \in \mathcal{D}} N_{\delta} q^{\delta}, \qquad (4.109)$$

where $q = e^{i2\pi\tau}, \tau \in \mathfrak{h}$ and $\mathcal{D} = \{ \|\boldsymbol{x}\|_2^2, \, \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L} \}$ is the set of squared distances of \mathcal{L} . We have also introduced the number of lattice vectors of a given length

$$N_{\delta} = \# \{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L} : \, \boldsymbol{x}^T \boldsymbol{x} = \delta \}.$$

$$(4.110)$$

For integral lattices, i.e., when the corresponding (euclidean) Gram matrix satisfies $G = MM^T \in \mathbb{Z}^{2n \times 2n}$, we can set $\mathcal{D} = \mathbb{N}$ and N_m is given by the number of integer solutions $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2n}$ to the equation $\mathbf{n}^T G \mathbf{n} = m$, which is an example of a Diophantine equation. We call the pair $(\mathcal{D}, N_{\delta})$ the distance distribution of the lattice \mathcal{L} . The theta function converges and is holomorphic for $\text{Im}(\tau) > 0$. The first summands are given by

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}(\tau) = 1 + \kappa q^{\lambda_1} + \dots, \qquad (4.111)$$

where $\lambda_1 = \lambda_1(\mathcal{L})$ is the length of the shortest vector of the lattice and κ is known as the *kissing number*, the number of minimal-length vectors of \mathcal{L} . It is known that the theta function for the (euclidean) dual of a lattice $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ is given by

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}^*}(\tau) = \det(\mathcal{L})\left(\frac{i}{\tau}\right)^n \Theta_{\mathcal{L}}\left(-\frac{1}{\tau}\right),\tag{4.112}$$

which follows from the Poisson summation formula. Since this is a very useful formula, we briefly write down the Poisson formulas for sums over lattices relevant for GKP codes.

Lemma 5 (Dirac comb representation). Let $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a lattice with generator M with symplectic dual \mathcal{L}^{\perp} , we have

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}\in\mathcal{L}} e^{i2\pi\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J\boldsymbol{z}} = \frac{1}{\det(\mathcal{L})} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^\perp\in\mathcal{L}^\perp} \delta^{2n} (\boldsymbol{z} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^\perp).$$
(4.113)

 ${\it Proof.}$ We compute straightforwardly using one dimensional Poisson resummation

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}\in\mathcal{L}}e^{i2\pi\boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}J\boldsymbol{z}} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{a}\in\mathbb{Z}^{2n}}e^{i2\pi\boldsymbol{a}^{T}MJ\boldsymbol{z}}$$
(4.114)

$$=\prod_{j}\sum_{a_{j}\in\mathbb{Z}}e^{i2\pi a_{j}(MJ\boldsymbol{z})_{j}}$$
(4.115)

$$=\prod_{j}\sum_{b_{j}\in\mathbb{Z}}\delta\Big((MJ\boldsymbol{z})_{j}-b_{j}\Big)$$
(4.116)

$$= \frac{1}{\det(\mathcal{L})} \sum_{\boldsymbol{b} \in \mathbb{Z}^{2n}} \delta^{2n} \left(\boldsymbol{z} - \left(\boldsymbol{b}^T M^{\perp} \right)^T \right)$$
(4.117)

$$= \frac{1}{\det(\mathcal{L})} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}} \delta^{2n} (\boldsymbol{z} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}).$$
(4.118)

Lemma 6 (Poisson resummation). Let $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ be a lattice with symplectic dual \mathcal{L}^{\perp} , we have for all Schwartz functions $f : \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{C}$,

$$\sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}\in\mathcal{L}} f(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \frac{1}{\det(\mathcal{L})} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}\in\mathcal{L}^{\perp}} \hat{f}(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}), \qquad (4.119)$$

where

$$\hat{f}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{y} f(\boldsymbol{y}) e^{i2\pi \boldsymbol{y}^T J \boldsymbol{x}}$$
(4.120)

is the symplectic Fourier transform of f.

Proof. We proof this fact following the analogous proof using the usual Fourier transform provided in ref. [75]. First define

$$F(\boldsymbol{z}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L}} f(\boldsymbol{z} + \boldsymbol{\xi}).$$
(4.121)

This function is invariant under transformations $z \mapsto z + \mathcal{L}$, such that it descends to a function on $\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}$ and has Fourier expansion

$$F(\boldsymbol{z}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{y} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}} \hat{F}(\boldsymbol{y}) e^{i2\pi \boldsymbol{y}^T J \boldsymbol{z}}, \qquad (4.122)$$

where

$$\hat{F}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{1}{\det(\mathcal{L})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}} d\boldsymbol{x} F(\boldsymbol{x}) e^{i2\pi \boldsymbol{x}^T J \boldsymbol{y}}.$$
(4.123)

Using lemma 5 the correctness of the Fourier expansion can be straightforwardly verified. Let $\mathcal{P} = \mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}$ be a fundamental domain of \mathcal{L} . We compute for $\boldsymbol{y} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ (such that $e^{i2\pi\boldsymbol{x}^T J \boldsymbol{y}}$ is well-defined on $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}$)

$$\det(\mathcal{L})\hat{F}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}\in\mathcal{L}} \int_{\boldsymbol{x}\in\mathcal{P}} d\boldsymbol{x} f(\boldsymbol{x}+\boldsymbol{\xi}) e^{i2\pi\boldsymbol{x}^T J \boldsymbol{y}}$$
(4.124)

$$=\sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}\in\mathcal{L}}\int_{\boldsymbol{x}\in\mathcal{P}-\boldsymbol{\xi}}d\boldsymbol{x}\,f(\boldsymbol{x})e^{i2\pi\boldsymbol{x}^{T}J\boldsymbol{y}}$$
(4.125)

$$=\hat{f}(\boldsymbol{y}),\tag{4.126}$$

such that we have

$$F(\boldsymbol{z}) = \frac{1}{\det(\mathcal{L})} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}} \hat{f}(\boldsymbol{y}) e^{i2\pi \boldsymbol{y}^{T} J \boldsymbol{z}}.$$
(4.127)

Taking z = 0 completes the proof.

Using these tools it is now easy game to verify eq. (4.112), which we leave as
exercise to the reader. Note that in the definition of the lattice theta function the
parameter
$$\tau$$
 takes the place of a variance-like factor, which is known to become
inverted when the corresponding Gaussian function is Fourier transformed.

Since we have seen that \mathcal{L}^* and \mathcal{L}^{\perp} only differ by an orthogonal transformation, which does not change the length of lattice vectors, and hence the theta function, we also have

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}}(\tau) = \Theta_{\mathcal{L}^{*}}(\tau), \qquad (4.128)$$

such that we can immediately obtain the theta function of \mathcal{L}^{\perp} whenever the theta function of the direct lattice $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}(\tau)$ is known. By definition of the theta function, the distance of a GKP code specified by \mathcal{L} is given by the smallest non-zero power of q in

$$Q_{\mathcal{L}}(\tau) := \Theta_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}}(\tau) - \Theta_{\mathcal{L}}(\tau) = N_{\Delta^2} q^{\Delta^2} + \dots, \qquad (4.129)$$

and furthermore since we have that $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}}(\tau)$ is uniquely determined by the distance distribution $(\mathcal{D}, N_{\delta})$ of \mathcal{L} , which by eq. (4.112) also fully specifies $\Theta_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}}(\tau)$. Note that $Q_{\mathcal{L}}(\tau) > 0$ since $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$. We arrive at the following insight. **Theorem 5** (Code distance is specified by the distance distribution). The distance of a GKP code specified by \mathcal{L} is uniquely determined by its distance distribution $(\mathcal{D}, N_{\delta})$.

The theta function of a scaled lattice is

$$\Theta_{\sqrt{d}\mathcal{L}_0}(\tau) = \Theta_{\mathcal{L}_0}(d\tau). \tag{4.130}$$

Many expressions of theta functions of symplectically self dual lattices, in particular those that also correspond to euclidean self-dual lattices are known in the literature [61] such that their corresponding distances can e.g. be estimated from a logarithmic fit for small $q \ll 1$ of eq. (4.129), or by expressing Q in a basis for which the distance distribution is known.

For concatenated (square) GKP codes, where $\mathcal{L} = \Lambda(Q)$ is given by a Construction A lattice, we can express the theta function using the *weight enumerator*. We first introduce the *weight distribution* of a linear code Q, which is given by the numbers $\{A_i\}_{i=0}^{2n}$ of codewords q in $Q \subset \mathbb{Z}_2^{2n}$ with Hamming weight $\operatorname{wt}(q) = i$. Crucially, the weight distribution $\{A_i\}_{i=0}^{2n}$ here refers to the Hamming-weight distribution of the symplectic representation of the qubit stabilizers. The weight enumerator is given by

$$W_Q(x,y) = \sum_{q \in Q} x^{2n - \mathrm{wt}(q)} y^{\mathrm{wt}(q)} = \sum_{i=0}^{2n} A_i x^{2n-i} y^i.$$
(4.131)

Using this definition, we can express the theta function of a construction A lattice [61] by straightforward computation

$$\Theta_{\Lambda(Q)}(\tau) = W_Q(\theta_3(2\tau), \theta_2(2\tau)), \qquad (4.132)$$

where

$$\theta_3(\tau) = \Theta_{\mathbb{Z}}(\tau) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{m^2}, \qquad (4.133)$$

$$\theta_2(\tau) = \Theta_{\mathbb{Z} + \frac{1}{2}}(\tau) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} q^{\left(m + \frac{1}{2}\right)^2}.$$
(4.134)

Since we see that we can find the theta function of a Construction A lattice corresponding to a concatenated code by means of the (Hamming) weight distribution of its (qubit) stabilizer group, we obtain similar to theorem 5 and by eq. (4.68) the final corollary.

Corollary 7 (Distance of CSS qubit stabilizer code from weight distribution). The distance d of a CSS qubit stabilizer code is fully determined by the weight distribution $\{A_i\}_{i=0}^{2n}$ of its stabilizers.

We note that this corollary also follows from a symplectic version of the weight enumerators defined by Shor and Laflamme [173] and Rains [154], which through their immediate relationship to the quantum error correction conditions [116] impose strong restrictions on possible quantum error correcting codes.

4.4 GKP codes: A Rosetta stone

In this section we explore the structure of logical Clifford gates for the GKP code, which leads to an algebraic geometric perspective on GKP codes and will allow us to quantify the *moduli space of GKP codes* to relate the fault-tolerance of logical gates for the GKP codes to a concept introduced by Gottesman and Zhang in ref. [96] termed *fiber bundle fault tolerance*. On a high level, GKP Clifford gates are given by lattice automorphisms of the GKP codes. The title of this section stems from the motivation that we connect something discrete and hard-to-tame (fault tolerance) to something geometric and beautiful (compact Riemann surfaces) via an understanding of the related symmetries (lattice automorphisms). This explains the *Rosetta stone* reference in the title of this section. ⁶

4.4.1 Logical Clifford gates for the GKP code

The set of GKP *Clifford gates* form a special and important set of gates that act on the logical space of a GKP code. GKP Clifford gates for a GKP code of type D are given by the symplectic automorphism group

$$\operatorname{Cliff}(D) \equiv \operatorname{Aut}_{\infty}^{S}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) = \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) \ltimes \mathcal{L}^{\perp}, \qquad (4.135)$$

such that every logical Clifford gate can be described by the combination of a displacement by a vector in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} – a so-called *trivial* Clifford gate, since it only conjugates Pauli operators (displacements in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}) to an additional phase factor – and a symplectic automorphism of the lattice \mathcal{L}^{\perp} that sends logical Pauli operators to logical Pauli operators but preserves the 0 element. Symplectic automorphisms transform vectors constituting the lattice basis M in a way that only implements a symplectic change of basis while leaving the lattice as a geometric object invariant,

$$\operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}) \coloneqq \{g \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R}) | \exists U \in \operatorname{SL}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}) : UM = Mg^{T}\},$$
(4.136)

and we refer to the basis transformation $U \in SL_{2n}(\mathbb{Z})$ as the *integral representation* of the corresponding element. An important subgroup is the group of symplectic orthogonal automorphisms $\operatorname{Aut}^{SO}(\mathcal{L}) = \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}) \cap O_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$ which is significant due to its interpretation as GKP Clifford operations realizable via passive linear optics without squeezing.

For GKP codes specified by a lattice $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$, each element of the symplectic automorphism group is uniquely specified by its integral representation given by the group

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}^{D}(\mathbb{Z}) = \{ U \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}) : UA_{D}U^{T} = A_{D} \}.$$
(4.137)

These transformations preserve the symplectic form in its canonical basis $A_D = J_2 \otimes D$ [22] and yield the so-called integral representation of the symplectic automorphisms.

⁶This is an ambitious attribution to the famous *Rosetta stone for Mathematics* due to H. Weil [197], who proposed a bridge between number theory and the geometry of Riemann surfaces.

Lemma 7. Given a weakly symplectically self dual lattice $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ with symplectic Gram matrix (symplectic form) $A = J_2 \otimes D$, $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$, we have that $\text{Aut}^S(\mathcal{L})$ is equivalently specified by the integral representation

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}^{D}(\mathbb{Z}) = \{ U \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}) : UAU^{T} = A \}.$$

$$(4.138)$$

Proof. Since $M_D = D \oplus I$ is invertible, it holds that the unique S_U for which $UM_D = M_D S_U^T$ is symplectic. Since any basis for a GKP code of type D can be given by $M_D S_0^T$ for some $S_0 \in \operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$, it follows that the elements of $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}^D(\mathbb{Z})$ are integral representations for symplectic automorphisms of \mathcal{L} . Conversely, from $UM = MS^T$ it can also be shown that $A = MS^T JSM^T = UMJM^TU^T = UAU^T$ every integral representation for a symplectic automorphism needs to admit the defining relation of eq. (4.137).

In fact, we also have

Corollary 8.

$$\operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}) = \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) \tag{4.139}$$

Proof. In the canonical basis, we have $M = AM^{\perp}$ where, by lemma 7, a symplectic automorphism $S \in \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L})$ is specified by a unimodular matrix $U, UAU^{T} = A$. Combining these statements one finds $M^{\perp}S^{T} = A^{-1}UAM^{\perp} = U^{-T}M^{\perp}$. Since inverses and transposes preserve the unimodularity of $V = U^{-T}$, we have $S \in \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})$ and thus $\operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}) \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})$. Conversely, we have that $A^{-1} = -M^{\perp}J(M^{\perp})^{T}$, such that for a given $S \in \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})$ the relation $VM^{\perp} = M^{\perp}S^{T}$ for unimodular V implies that the integral representation satisfies $VA^{-1}V^{T} = A^{-1}$. With $M^{\perp} = A^{-1}M$ this yields $MS^{T} = AVA^{-1}M = V^{-T}M$, such that unimodularity of V implies $S \in \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L})$ and thus $\operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L})$. \Box

A similar statement can be shown to hold for the orthogonal automorphism group, whose integral representation is given by matrices $U \in \operatorname{GL}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z})$ that preserve the euclidean Gram matrix $G = MM^T$. In the special case of scaled GKPcodes (see ref. [57]), i.e. GKP codes with D = qI we have $\operatorname{Aut}^S(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) = \operatorname{Aut}^S(\mathcal{L})$, such that every automorphism in $\operatorname{Aut}^S(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})$ also descends to an automorphism in $\mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}$ by reducing the outcome modulo \mathcal{L} .

The integral representation of the automorphisms in eq. (4.137) can be understood to represent the *logical* action of the (non-trivial) Clifford group on the Heisenberg-Weyl operators in eq. (4.41). A logical Heisenberg-Weyl operator $O(l) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} X_i^{l_i} Z_i^{l_{i+n}}$ with X_i, Z_i from eq. (4.41) is specified ⁷ by a vector $l \in \mathbb{Z}_D^{2n}$, where \mathbb{Z}_D^{2n} denotes \mathbb{Z}^{2n} with the element-wise reduction modulo $I_2 \otimes D$, such that vectors are considered equivalent if they differ only by stabilizers. The action of a non-trivial Clifford operation is then given by $l \mapsto g_I l \mod D \oplus D$ and g_I denotes the integral representation of the corresponding $g \in \operatorname{Aut}^S(\mathcal{L})$. The reduction modulo $I_2 \otimes D$ therefore implements the equivalence relation given by the stabilizers as translations by elements in \mathcal{L} and can be understood as the map $\operatorname{Aut}^S(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) \to \operatorname{Aut}^S(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L})$.

Henceforth, we focus on scaled GKP codes, where $D = dI_n$, such that $\mathcal{L} = d\mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ are proportional. From the definition of symplectic automorphisms in

 $^{^7\}mathrm{That}$ is, up to phases, as we usually care about the action of these operators on a projective Hilbert space.



Figure 4.2: Commutative diagram for the structure of nontrivial Cliffords for scaled GKP codes. Note that for n = 1 we have the equality $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) = Sp_2(\mathbb{Z})$.

eq. (4.136) observe that $\operatorname{Aut}^{S}(\mathcal{L})$ is one-to-one with its integral representation given by $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z})$. The relationships between the integral and real representations of symplectic automorphisms for scaled GKP codes and their logical actions are illustrated in fig. 4.2. It can also be seen that the action of the symplectic automorphism group on the quotient $\mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}$ is equivalent to that of $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d)$, the usual symplectic representation of the non-trivial Clifford group on qudits.

A special class of symplectic lattices is given by symplectic lattices that are also euclidean self-dual. Such lattices can be shown to fulfil the property

Lemma 8 ([166]). A euclidean self-dual lattice $L = L^* \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ is symplectic self-dual if and only if J is a lattice automorphism.

Proof. A basis $M : G = MM^T \in \mathbb{Z}^{2n \times 2n}$ of a euclidean lattice has a canonical dual lattice L^* generated by the matrix M^{-T} similarly to a symplectic self dual lattice, for which any basis has the canonical symplectic dual given by $M^{\perp} = M^{-T}J^T$. From these relations we see that a euclidean self-dual lattice with basis $M = UM^{-T}$ for an unimodular matrix U also satisfies

$$MJ^{T} = UM^{-T}J^{T} = UM^{\perp}.$$
(4.140)

Hence, if J is an automorphism of the lattice spanned by M, it holds that $\mathcal{L} \sim \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ and the lattice is symplectic self-dual. Conversely, a symplectic self-dual lattice satisfies $M = VM^{-T}J^{T}$ for some unimodular U. If it is also euclidean self-dual, there is some unimodular W, such that $WM = M^{-T}$, such that

$$M = V W M J^T. ag{4.141}$$

Since VW is also unimodular this shows that the lattice $\mathcal{L} = J\mathcal{L}$ spanned by matrix M has an automorphism given by J.

This statement can be used to prove symplectic self-duality for the E_8 lattice, which was the strategy presented in ref. [166].

The symplectic automorphism groups discussed here can be generated by a set of symplectic transvections, given by matrices t_{α} , $\alpha \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$,

$$t_{\alpha} = I + \alpha \alpha^T J \,, \tag{4.142}$$

which are implemented via the Gaussian unitaries

$$U_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} = e^{-\frac{i}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} \right)^2} \tag{4.143}$$

with squeezing value bounded by $sq(t_{\alpha}) := ||t_{\alpha}||_2 \le 1 + ||\alpha||$.

The symplectic transvection adds multiples of $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ to an input vector \boldsymbol{x} according to the symplectic inner product $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T J \boldsymbol{x}$, from which it is easy to see that symplectic lattices \mathcal{L}_0 are preserved under transvections by vectors in \mathcal{L}_0 . For elements of a scaled GKP code $\mathcal{L}^{\perp} = \sqrt{d}^{-1} \mathcal{L}_0$, a symplectic transvection by one of the canonical basis vectors acts non-trivially on its partner,

$$t_{\sqrt{d}\boldsymbol{e}_i}\boldsymbol{f}_i = \boldsymbol{f}_i + \boldsymbol{e}_i\,,\qquad(4.144)$$

and trivially on every other canonical basis vector. In particular using $t_{\alpha}t_{\beta}t_{\alpha}^{-1} = t_{t_{\alpha}(\beta)}$ one observes that for symplectic canonical form basis vectors of the lattice α, β , the commutation of the corresponding transvections is determined by whether or not the vectors have a non-trivial symplectic inner product.

In fact, symplectic transvections are known as representations of *Dehn twists* on compact genus n surfaces S_n [150], while the group $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z})$ of integral representations of symplectic automorphisms for a symplectic lattice \mathcal{L}_0 forms a representation of their mapping class group $\operatorname{Mod}(S_n)$ [76] which we now understand to be generated by Dehn-twists. As homeomorphisms of the surface S_n , Dehn-twists preserve the intersection numbers of loops, which is also reflected in the preservation of commutativity of the corresponding symplectic transvections

$$t_{\gamma}[t_{\alpha}, t_{\beta}]t_{\gamma}^{-1} = \left[t_{t_{\gamma}(\alpha)}, t_{t_{\gamma}(\beta)}\right].$$
(4.145)

In fig. 4.3 we depict such a generating set (known as the *Lickorish* generators [76]), where each Dehn twist label associates to a corresponding lattice vector given either by a canonical basis element e_i, f_i or a linear combination of such.

Example: the square lattice, $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{2}\mathbb{Z}^2$. For the single-mode square GKP code we can choose bases such that $M = 2M^{\perp} = \sqrt{2}I$. Relative to this choice the first row of M^{\perp} represents the logical X-type Pauli operator $\hat{X} = e^{-i\sqrt{\pi}\hat{p}}$ while the second represents $\hat{Z} = e^{i\sqrt{\pi}\hat{q}}$.

Via eq. (4.136) we can identify a symplectic transformation g that implements a non-trivial Clifford gates with its integral representation via $U = g^T$. It is convenient to introduce the S and T matrices

It is convenient to introduce the S and T matrices,

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.146}$$

which generate $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) = \langle S, T \rangle$.

In the integral representation, the S-matrix just introduced can be seen to implement a logical Hadamard gate $U_H = S$, while the logical phase gate \hat{P} can be obtained from $U_P := T^T$ (the transpose of T). The S-matrix is orthogonal, just as the associated symplectic transformation on the lattice and thus the logical Hadamard can be implemented by a mere passive linear optical element with a representative Gaussian unitary $\hat{U}_H = e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}\hat{n}}$ corresponding to a $\pi/2$ rotation in phase space. The T-matrix however is not orthogonal and since the vectors in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} corresponding to Pauli-Y operators are generically of a different length than corresponding Pauli-X or -Z representatives, the logical phase gate does not admit an orthogonal implementation [163].



Figure 4.3: A visualization of the surface S_n , where logical operators for the GKP code are represented as elements of the first homology group indicated by the elements (e_i, f_i) . Logical Clifford transformations are represented by sequences of Dehn-twists of the torus in this representation, and we depict how two such transformations act on these generators going from the top to the bottom figures. On the left-most handle, we show how a Dehn-twist about f_1 , a.k.a. a symplectic transvection t_{f_1} , implements a logical phase gate by mapping $e_1 \mapsto e_1 + f_1$. On the right-most handle, a logical CZ gate is realized via a Dehn twist about the loop with label c_3 , which corresponds to a symplectic transvection $t_{f_3+f_4}$.

Example: the hexagonal lattice, $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{2}A_2$. For the hexagonal GKP code we have $M^{\perp} = M_{A_2}/\sqrt{2}$. As a root lattice, orthogonal automorphisms are given by reflections

$$r_{\alpha} = I - 2 \frac{\alpha \alpha^T}{\alpha^T \alpha} \tag{4.147}$$

along the so-called root α , β contained in the rows of M_{A_2} in eq. (4.32). Reflections are involutions with a -1 determinant, and hence are not symplectic. We can thus identify the subset of symplectic orthogonal automorphisms to lie within the even subgroup of the Weyl group $W(A_2)$ which is generated by the product of the two reflections

$$R_{\frac{2\pi}{3}} = r_{\beta} r_{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\frac{2\pi}{3} & -\sin\frac{2\pi}{3} \\ \sin\frac{2\pi}{3} & \cos\frac{2\pi}{3} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.148)

Solving $UM_{A_2} = M_{A_2}R_{\frac{2\pi}{\alpha}}^T$ yields the integral representation

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.149}$$

By probing its effect on the standard basis, we find that this matrix implements the transformation on logical Pauli operators $X \mapsto Z \mapsto Y \mapsto \ldots$ which realizes a logical $(\hat{P}\hat{H})^{\dagger}$ gate [99].

4.4.2 Generating symplectic automorphisms

Due to the one-to-one relationship between symplectic automorphisms stated in lemma 7, a generating set for their integral representation immediately also yields a generating set for the symplectic matrices that need to be implemented to generate and logical Clifford group element. In lemma 7 we have identified the integral representation for symplectic automorphisms with the group $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}, D)$ where the group action on vectors representing logical Pauli operators is defined mod D. We focus on the case of scaled GKP codes, with $D = dI_n$, such that the group of symplectic automorphisms in their integral representation is given by $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d)$. In the following we define a generating set for $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d)$ and proof that every element in $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d)$ can be generated by at most $O(dn^2)$ elements in this generating set. This group can also be understood as known as the nontrivial Clifford group for a qudit, such that we will borrow from the lingo of Clifford gates on qudits to explain the action of its generators.

Block matrices

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{Z}_d^{2n \times 2n} \tag{4.150}$$

are symplectic if $A^T C = C^T A$, $B^T D = D^T B$ as well as $A^T D - C^T B = I$. In particular, we have that for B = C = 0 the matrix is symplectic if $D = A^{-T}$ such that $S = A \oplus A^{-T}$. If A = D = I and C = 0 (B = 0) it becomes necessary that $B = B^T$ is symmetric (C is symmetric). Matrices of these constrained types have particularly simple structure and follow simple multiplication rules

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_1 & 0\\ 0 & A_1^{-T} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A_2 & 0\\ 0 & A_2^{-T} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 A_2 & 0\\ 0 & (A_1 A_2)^{-T} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.151)

$$\begin{pmatrix} I & B_1 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I & B_2 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I & B_1 + B_2 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.152)

$$\begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ C_1 & I \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ C_2 & I \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ C_1 + C_2 & I \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.153)

In this section we show, building on previous work on qubits [3, 152], how for prime dimension d, symplectic matrices in $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d)$ can be synthesized from an elementary gate set $S = \{J_i, P_i, C_{i \to j}\}$ of such constrained block matrices consisting of the following matrices in block form, where $\pi_i = e_i e_i^T$ and $e_{ij} = e_i e_j^T$:

• The quantum Fourier transform on qudit \boldsymbol{i}

$$J_i = \begin{pmatrix} I - \pi_i & \pi_i \\ -\pi_i & I - \pi_i \end{pmatrix}, i \in [1, n]$$

$$(4.154)$$

with $J_i^2 = -I$, mapping $X_i \mapsto Z_i^{-1}, \, Z_i \mapsto X_i,$

• the phase gate

$$P_i = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ \pi_i & I \end{pmatrix}, i \in [1, n], \tag{4.155}$$

mapping $X_i \mapsto X_i Z_i$ and

• the CNOT gate

$$C_{i \to j} = \begin{pmatrix} I + e_{ji} & 0\\ 0 & I - e_{ij} \end{pmatrix}, i \neq j \in [1, n]$$
(4.156)

that maps $X_i \mapsto X_i X_j$.

• The CNOT gate is of block diagonal form, and it can be shown by performing the matrix multiplication that the upper triangular elementary block matrix

$$B_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} I & e_{ij} + e_{ji} \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} = J_j^{-1} C_{j \to i} J_j$$

$$(4.157)$$

mapping $Z_i \mapsto X_j Z_i$ and $Z_j \mapsto X_i Z_j$ can be obtained by conjugating the CNOT with a Hadamard type gate. This generating set has |S| = 2n + n(n-1) elements, where the contribution n(n-1) comes from the fact that we assume all-to-all connectivity for the CNOTs in use. This set can be reduced down to a set of 3n - 1 generators with CNOTs only between a linear number of pairs analogous to the Lickorish generators for the Dehn-twists mentioned before, which however would come at the cost of needing to mediate CNOTs not included in the set via a O(n) number of those that are.

Denote sequences generated by a finite product from S as

$$S^{k} := \{ g_{1}g_{2}\dots g_{k}, g_{i} \in S \}.$$
(4.158)

Similar to previous work on generating $\text{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_2)$ we show here that for

Lemma 9. Let d be prime. For the generating set $S = J_i, P_i, C_{i \rightarrow j}$ defined above, we have

$$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d) \subseteq S^k \tag{4.159}$$

for $k = O(dn^2)$.

That is, sequences of $O(dn^2)$ of gates from S suffice to generate all elements in $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d)$.

Proof. It has been shown in ref. [69] that every symplectic matrix $S \in \text{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d)$, d prime admits a decomposition into symplectic matrices

$$S = Q \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ C & I \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & A^{-T} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I & B \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.160)

where $A \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z}_d)$ is invertible and $C \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z}_d)$ and $B \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z}_d)$ are symmetric and Q is an O(n) length product of the matrices J_i we have defined above. Ref. [69] in fact showed this for the field of complex numbers \mathbb{C} , but the proof carries over to any number field, such as \mathbb{Z}_d for d prime. Using this decomposition, it suffices to check how each individual block matrix can be compiled from the generating set above. Using that

$$J\begin{pmatrix} I & B\\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} J^T = \begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ -B & I \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.161)

together with $J = \prod_{i=1}^{n} J_i$ we have that the every upper block triangular matrix can be converted to a lower block triangular one with O(n) overhead and that every block upper triangular matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} I & B \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.162}$$

with $B = B^T$ can be obtained from an $O(dn^2)$ fold product of matrices of type $J_i P_i J_i^T$ and B_{ij} for their simple multiplication structure. It remains to bound the complexity of compiling the block diagonal part $A \oplus A^{-T}$. Note that due to the simple multiplication structure of these matrices this problem is equivalent to bounding the complexity of compiling the blocks A as generated by elements $I + e_{ji}$. This is bounded using the same argument as in ref. [3], which employed a result from Patel et al. [152], who showed that for underlying field \mathbb{Z}_2 an achievable lower bound is given by $O(n^2/\log_2(n))$. As was already noticed in ref. [152], their technique generalizes for any finite field with order d, where it yields a bound $O(n^2/\log_d(n))$. In total, we hence obtain a bound $O(dn^2)$ for the length of the product from S to generate any element in $\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}_d)$.

What is ... a Riemann surface?

A Riemann surface C is a one complex-dimensional complex manifold, i.e. it is a two real-dimensional manifold covered by open sets $\{U_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}, \cup_{\alpha} U_{\alpha} = C$, such that there is atlas defining coordinate charts $\mathcal{A} = \{(U_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha}$ where

$$z_{\alpha}: U_{\alpha} \to V_{\alpha} \subseteq \mathbb{C} \tag{4.163}$$

is a homeomorphism to a subset of \mathbb{C} . The transition functions

$$f_{\alpha,\beta} = z_{\beta} \circ z_{\alpha}^{-1} : \ z_{\beta}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}) \to z_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta})$$

$$(4.164)$$

are required to be holomorphic and two atlases are equivalent if they only differ locally by holomorphic functions.

Trivially \mathbb{C} is a Riemann surface, same as the Riemann sphere $\hat{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \cup \mathbb{C}$. A mapping between Riemann surfaces $f: C \to D$ is a holomorphic if for every coordinate chart (U, z) on C and every coordinate chart (V, w) on D with $U \cap f^{-1}(V)$ the map

$$w \circ f \circ z^{-1} : z(U \cap f^{-1}(V)) \to w(V)$$
 (4.165)

is holomorphic. In particular, a holomorphic mapping into \mathbb{C} is a holomorphic function and a holomorphic mapping into $\hat{\mathbb{C}}$ is a *meromorphic* function. See [25] for a more in-depth discussion on complex differential geometry.

4.4.3 GKP codes from compact Riemann surfaces

The connection between the symplectic automorphism group of the 2n-dimensional symplectic lattice and that of the mapping class group of a compact (2-dimensional!) genus n surface S_n is in fact not a coincidence, but hints at a deeper connection between symplectic lattices and the compact surface S_n . As elaborated below, this connection leads to a way of viewing GKP codes as *Jacobians* of algebraic curves. We begin by first discussing the relation between logical operators of GKP codes and the homology of compact surfaces.

The identification of symplectic lattice automorphisms with transformations generated by Dehn twists encountered earlier (or simply elements of $\text{Sp}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z})$), which are *intersection number preserving* homeomorphisms of genus g surfaces, suggests a more intuitive understanding of the topological nature of scaled GKP codes. One way to understand this connection is to realize that the homology



Figure 4.4: The trefoil knot corresponding to the one dimensional defect of "distance zero GKP codes" in S^3 . A non-trivial link with the trefoil knot given by a $\pi/2$ rotation of the square lattice $\Lambda \mapsto e^{i\phi}\Lambda$, $\phi \in [0, \pi/2]$ corresponding to a logical Hadamard gates is illustrated. The non-trivial linking is a topological feature of the path that implements the logical Hadamard gate and can be interpreted as the feature that makes the gate implementation fault-tolerant within the fiber bundle framework for fault tolerance [96].

groups

$$H_1(\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}^\perp,\mathbb{Z}) \sim H_1(S_n,\mathbb{Z}) \tag{4.166}$$

are isomorphic, and that the symplectic inner product between \mathbb{Z} -valued vectors representing elements in $H_1(\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}^{\perp},\mathbb{Z})$ is identical with the algebraic intersection number defined for elements in $H_1(S_n,\mathbb{Z})$. Since we have $\mathcal{L} = d\mathcal{L}^{\perp}$, the torus $\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}$ is a d^2 -fold cover of $\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}^{\perp}$, such that, when regarding elements in $\mathcal{L} = H_1(\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L},\mathbb{Z})$ as logically trivial elements, the representation of logical operators on $H_1(\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}^{\perp},\mathbb{Z})$ descends to one on $H_1(\mathbb{R}^{2n}/\mathcal{L}^{\perp},\mathbb{Z}_d)$. By eq. (4.166) we can thus regard elements in $H_1(S_n,\mathbb{Z}_d)$ as representations of logical operators. A *d*-fold wind representing a stabilizer group element is corresponds to a trivial logical operator and the intersection number of these loops modulo *d* determines the commutative phase of the associated displacement operators.

Jacobians and compact Riemann surfaces

The Jacobian of a curve or compact Riemann surface can be thought of as a first-order approximation of a compact Riemann surface, which contains the information about the first homology group of the surface and the intersection between its elements. We now briefly discuss the essential steps of the construction of the Jacobian and its associated symplectic lattice from a compact Riemann surface; for more detailed treatments see refs. [16, 22, 166].

Let C be a compact Riemann surface of genus $n = \dim H^0(\omega_C)$, given by the dimension of the space of holomorphic differentials on C. As a *n*-handled torus, this Riemann surface has a canonical basis that generates its first homology group $\langle \gamma_1 \dots \gamma_{2n} \rangle = H_1(C, \mathbb{Z})$, where the intersection number between two basis elements $(\gamma_i \cdot \gamma_j) = -J_{ij}$ is determined by the symplectic form we have encountered earlier. Choosing a basis $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n$ for $H^0(\omega_C)$ yields a linear map

$$p: H_1(C, \mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{C}^n: \ \gamma \mapsto \left(\int_{\gamma} \omega_1, \dots, \int_{\gamma} \omega_n\right)^T$$
 (4.167)

defined from the set of 2n generators of $H_1(C,\mathbb{Z})$ to 2n vectors in \mathbb{C}^n . The $n \times 2n$ matrix

$$\Pi = \left(p(\gamma_1) \dots p(\gamma_{2n}) \right) \tag{4.168}$$

is known as the *period matrix*.

The period matrix admits a standard form. In particular, we can always choose a basis and normalization such that Π takes the canonical form $\Pi = (I_n \ \Omega)$ where Ω is symmetric and Im $\Omega > 0$ [22].

Consider the lattice Λ spanned by the columns of Π , $\Lambda = \Pi \mathbb{Z}^{2n}$. The complex torus $T_{\Lambda} = \mathbb{C}^n / \Lambda$ obtained from the quotient by Λ is known as the *Jacobian* variety J(C) of C. We can map Λ into real space lattice L_{Λ} by associating with each vector $\Lambda \ni \boldsymbol{v} \mapsto (\operatorname{Re} \boldsymbol{v}^T, \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{v}^T)^T$; this is known as the real representation. Writing $\Omega = X + iY$, L_{Λ} is generated by the rows of the matrix M defined by

$$M^T = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & X\\ 0 & Y \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.169}$$

and satisfies

$$M(J_2 \otimes Y^{-1})M^T = J.$$
 (4.170)

Since Y > 0, we can define the rescaled generator matrix

$$M_C = M(I_2 \otimes Y^{-\frac{1}{2}}), \tag{4.171}$$

which, by eq. (4.170), is symplectic and generates a symplectic lattice, such that it can be scaled to yield a GKP code as discussed earlier.

Eq. (4.171) also allows for an interpretation of the lattice generated by M, it is simply a stretched version of the symplectic lattice spanned by M_C with "stretching" $Y^{\frac{1}{2}} \oplus Y^{\frac{1}{2}}$. In the simple case where $Y = dI_n$, this becomes equivalent to the lattice present in a scaled GKP code of type $D = dI_n$.

The lattice spanned by the rows of Π , can directly be seen to carry the symplectic structure using Riemann's bilinear relations, which tells us that two rows of the period matrix and its conjugate a_i, b_j given by the period integrals over the forms $\omega_i, \overline{\omega}_j$ have symplectic inner product given by

$$\int_{C} \omega_i \wedge \overline{\omega}_j = \boldsymbol{a}_i^T J \boldsymbol{b}_j, \qquad (4.172)$$

which is always real and non-negative for i = j. In general, we have that

$$i \int_{C} \omega_{i} \wedge \overline{\omega}_{j} = i \left(\Pi J^{T} \overline{\Pi} \right)_{ij} \tag{4.173}$$

yields a positive definite matrix; for more details, see ref. [22]. It is this relation that explains the connection between the Jacobian and symplectic lattices.

In general, a complex torus \mathbb{C}^n/Λ obtained from a symplectic lattice is also known as a *principally polarized Abelian variety* [22, 166], where "polarized Abelian variety" refers to the fact that there is a Hermitian inner product $H(x, y) = x^{\dagger}Y^{-1}y, Y > 0$ on this torus with the property that $\operatorname{Im} H(\Lambda, \Lambda) \in \mathbb{Z}$. In the real representation, $\operatorname{Im} H(x, y) = x^T (J_2 \otimes Y^{-1})y$ is precisely the product appearing in eq. (4.170). The adjective "principal" applies to the special case $Y = I_n$, such that L_{Λ} as defined above automatically is a symplectic lattice [16, 22, 166] which we have seen to arise above under the appropriate transformation.

Rather than to refer to compact Riemann surfaces, one typically refers to the Jacobian associated to a projective complex algebraic *curve*. This underlies a deep connection between algebra and geometry: projective complex algebraic curves can be understood as "explicit parametrizations" of compact Riemann surfaces. This connection is outlined in the box below, and I refer the reader for a more detailed treatment to refs. [25, 98].

The point is that these connections allow us to construct (scaled) GKP codes from complex curves via their Jacobians. The chain of correspondences illustrating the chain of maps that map from curves to GKP codes via the construction of the Jacobian is pictured in figure 4.5.

Complex algebraic curves and compact Riemann surfaces

A complex algebraic curve

$$C = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{C}^2, \ P(x, y) = 0\} \subset \mathbb{C}^2$$
(4.174)

is the set of roots of a polynomial equation in 2 variables with maximal degree d and is equivalent to its homogenization

$$C_h = \{(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{C}^3, P_h(x, y, z) = 0\} \subset \mathbb{CP}^2,$$
 (4.175)

given by the constant degree polynomial $P_h(x, y, z) = z^d P(x/z, y/z)$ whose set of roots in C_h satisfy the equivalence relation $(\lambda x, \lambda y, \lambda z) \sim (x, y, z), \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ and $C \subset \mathbb{CP}^2$ is typically viewed as a projective curve. There are finitely many singular points

$$S = \{ (x_0, y_0) \in C : \partial_x P(x_0, y_0) = \partial_y P(x_0, y_0) = 0 \},$$
(4.176)

away from which the curve can always be parameterized by points of the form $(x, y(x)) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ or $(x(y), y) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ such that either $\partial_x y(x) = -\partial_y P(x, y)/\partial_x P(x, y)$ or $\partial_y x(y) = -\partial_x P(x, y)/\partial_y P(x, y)$ are well-defined and the projection $(x, y) \to y$ resp. $(x, y) \to x$ yields local coordinates in \mathbb{C} . The normalization theorem [98] effectively smoothens out the singular points and guarantees the existence of a compactification of the curve $C^* = C \setminus S$ to obtain a compact Riemann surface \widehat{C} that covers C. Reversely, Riemann showed that all compact Riemann surfaces can be described as compactifications of algebraic curves. While these arguments show the one-to-one correspondence between compact Riemann surfaces and algebraic curves, they are unwieldy in the explicit computation of the period integrals to construct Jacobians associated to curves.

Compact Riemann surface
$$\widehat{C} \xleftarrow{\text{normalization theorem [98]}}$$

Riemann existence theorem [98]
 \downarrow period mapping eqs. (4.167), (4.168)
Jacobian $J(C) \xrightarrow{\text{eq. (4.171)}}$ symplectic lattice $L_{\Lambda} \xleftarrow{\text{eq. (4.45)}}$ scaled GKP code \mathcal{L}_{Λ}

Figure 4.5: The chain of correspondences and maps that associate a GKP code to any complex algebraic curve $C \subset \mathbb{CP}^2$.

In the special case of hyperelliptic curves given by polynomials of the form $P(x,y) = y^2 - f(x), \qquad f(x) = \prod_{i=1}^{N} (x - \lambda_i), \ \lambda_i \neq \lambda_j \ \forall i \neq j \quad (4.177)$

the identification of the homology basis of the corresponding compact Riemann surface and construction of the homolorphic forms becomes more simple: Solutions to the curve are of the form $y = \sqrt{f(x)}$ where a homology basis with 2n generators is derived from the branch cuts of the complex square root spanned between the roots λ_i (see also ref. [178, p. 160]). A basis of for the holomorphic differentials is then given by $\omega_i = x^{i-1} \frac{dx}{\sqrt{f(x)}}$ for $i = 1 \dots n$ [22].

The fact that GKP codes may be obtained from compact Riemann surfaces has some interesting implications. For example, one may expect that representations of quantum states in code space obtained from pulling back phase-space representations (such as the stellar representation [43]) to be constrained by the topology of the Riemann surface. However, the more interesting immediate question is whether every GKP code can be understood as a curve. Unfortunately, the answer to this is negative: there are symplectic lattices, such as the E_8 lattice, that do not arise as the Jacobian of curves [16, 166]. The general question of "which principally polarized Abelian varieties arise as Jacobians of curves" is a long-standing mathematical quest known as the *Schottky problem* [101, 166].

Single-mode GKP codes from elliptic curves

In the previous section we have established a connection between complex curves and GKP codes which we now make more concrete for the case of a single mode n = 1. An *elliptic curve* is a complex torus [102, 178]

$$E = (\mathbb{C}/\Lambda, z), \ z \in \mathbb{C}/\Lambda, \tag{4.178}$$

where $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{C}$ is a complex, non-degenerate lattice and $z \in \mathbb{C}/\Lambda$ is a point on the torus [102]. The point $z \in \mathbb{C}/\Lambda$ can be thought of as the choice of 0-point on the torus (since the torus forms an additive group under addition in \mathbb{C} modulo Λ we need to fix an identity element).

This definition of an elliptic curve is one-to-one with an algebraic definition
in the following sense. The curve

$$C_{g_2(\Lambda),g_3(\Lambda)} = \{(x,y) \in \mathbb{C}^2, \ y^2 = 4x^3 - g_2(\Lambda)x - g_3(\Lambda)\},$$
(4.179)

specified by two complex numbers g_2, g_3 that are the image of a lattice under the functions defined below, is parameterized by the Weierstrass \wp function

$$\wp(z,\Lambda) := \frac{1}{z^2} + \sum_{\omega \in \Lambda \setminus \{0\}} \left(\frac{1}{(z-\omega)^2} - \frac{1}{\omega^2} \right), \tag{4.180}$$

where the invariance under translations by lattice vectors $\wp(z+\Lambda) = \wp(z)$ shows that this is a well-defined function on the complex torus \mathbb{C}/Λ with poles of order 2 on each lattice point. Therefore, distinct lattices Λ , Λ' are distinguished by their \wp functions.

The Weierstrass function \wp also provides an alternative parametrization of the elliptic curve $C_{g_2(\Lambda),g_3(\Lambda)}$, which can be seen as follows. Introduce the (normalized) Eisenstein series of weight k

$$G_k(\Lambda) = \sum_{\omega \in \Lambda \setminus \{0\}} \omega^{-k}, \tag{4.181}$$

and

$$g_2(\Lambda) = 60G_4(\Lambda), \ g_3(\Lambda) = 140G_6(\Lambda).$$
 (4.182)

Then the equation for the elliptic curve is given by

$$\wp'^2 = 4\wp^3 - g_2\wp - g_3. \tag{4.183}$$

The elliptic curve is non-singular, i.e. it has no cusps or self-intersections, when the discriminant of the right-hand side

$$\Delta(\Lambda) = g_2^3 - 27g_3^2 \tag{4.184}$$

is nonzero, which holds whenever Λ is full-rank in \mathbb{C} .

Let ω_1, ω_2 form a basis for the lattice $\Lambda = \omega_1 \mathbb{Z} \oplus \omega_2 \mathbb{Z}$, which is full-rank if $\operatorname{Im}(\omega_2/\omega_1) \neq 0$. One can fix an orientation of the basis elements by choosing a basis with $\operatorname{Im}(\omega_2/\omega_1) > 0$, corresponding to a positive intersection of the homology element ω_2 with ω_1 on the torus \mathbb{C}/Λ such that, up to an overall factor of rescaling and rotation ω_1 , the lattice $\Lambda_{\tau} = \mathbb{Z} \oplus \tau \mathbb{Z}$ is parameterized by $\tau \in \mathfrak{h} := \{z \in \mathbb{C}, \operatorname{Im}(z) > 0\}$ in the complex upper half plane. As a function of τ , the Eisenstein series defined above $g_k(\tau) = g_k(\Lambda_{\tau})$ are modular forms of degree 2k [199], implying that they satisfy the transformation rule $f(\gamma.\tau) = (c\tau+d)^k f(\tau) \,\forall \gamma \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, where we have introduced the Möbius transformation

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \cdot \tau = \frac{a\tau + b}{c\tau + d} \,.$$
 (4.185)



Figure 4.6: The Iwasawa- (l.) and Bloch-Messiah (r.) decomposition of symplectic matrices understood via Möbius transformations.

Möbius acrobatics

To further illustrate the behavior of the Möbius action on the upper half plane we discuss how it can be used to derive the Iwasawa- and Bloch-Messiah decomposition, depicted in fig. 4.6. Our presentation is guided by the example presented in ref. [59]. The main ingredient to this understanding it the transitivity of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ on the upper half space $\mathfrak{h} = SL_2(\mathbb{R})/SO_2(\mathbb{R}).i$

To derive the Iwasawa decomposition, recognize that an arbitrary $z \in \mathfrak{h}$ can be written as

$$z = x + iy = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{y} & 0 \\ 0 & 1/\sqrt{y} \end{pmatrix} .i,$$
(4.186)

where the squeeze "pushes" the point $z_0 = i$ upwards to z = iy and the final shear moves it horizontally to z = x + iy. Since every point $z \in \mathfrak{h}$ can be described by this sequence of Möbius transformations and the upper half plane is one-to-one with elements of $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ up to a right- rotation, we can deduce that every matrix $S \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ can be written as S = NAK, where N and A are shears and squeezes as above and $K \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{SO}_2(\mathbb{R})$ is a rotation. Similarly, every point z can also be expressed by a squeeze and rotation acting on $z_0 = i$, which leads to the Bloch-Messiah decomposition $S = K_1AK_2$, where A is again a squeeze and $O_1, O_2 \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{SO}_2(\mathbb{R})$. The steps are geometrically sketched in fig. 4.6.

As a function of τ , the discriminant modular form $\Delta(\tau) = \Delta(\Lambda_{\tau})$ is a modular cusp form of weight 12 that vanishes at $i\infty$. Möbius transformations with elements $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ can be understood as basis transformation of the corresponding lattice via the map

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\ \tau \end{pmatrix} \mapsto X\gamma X \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ \tau \end{pmatrix} = (c\tau + d) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ \gamma.\tau \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.187}$$

where $X = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $X\gamma X \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. For a fixed volume det Λ_{τ} , the lattice Λ can always be recovered via appropriate rescaling up to a global rotation.

To associate a single-mode GKP code to an elliptic curve, note that the Möbius transformation defines a transitive action on the upper half plane \mathfrak{h} . For symplectic orthogonal matrices $K \in \mathrm{SO}_2(\mathbb{R}) = \mathrm{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R}) \cap O_2(\mathbb{R})$, we have that *i* is a fixed point, i = K.i. Therefore, every point in the upper half plane



Figure 4.7: The hexagonal GKP code given by Λ_{ρ} , $\rho = e^{i2\pi/3}$ and relative level structure $d^{-1}\Lambda_{\rho}$ for d = 3. The points $z \mod d^{-1}\Lambda_{\rho}$ parametrize the syndrome of the GKP code while the *d*-torsion points $d^{-1}\Lambda_{\rho}$ in in Λ_{ρ} are interpreted to label logical Pauli operators for the associated GKP code.

 $\tau = S.i \in \mathfrak{h}$ is one-to-one with a symplectic matrix $S \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})/\operatorname{SO}_2(\mathbb{R})$ up to a rotation. We associate with the symplectically self-dual lattice \mathbb{Z}^2 the square GKP code encoding a qudit with dimension d by rescaling the lattice $\tau \mapsto \sqrt{d/\det(\Lambda_{\tau})}\Lambda_{\tau}$. Since this rescaling can always be done, it suffices to identify Λ_{τ} , equivalently the torus $\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$, with the corresponding qudit GKP code.

In fact, this procedure allows to obtain *all* single-mode GKP codes as the orbit $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R}).i$. We can hence identify single-mode GKP codes with elliptic curves $E = (\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}, z), \ z \in \mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$. First we interpret Λ_{τ} as the lattice associated to the stabilizer group of a GKP code. Then z, which labels a point in \mathbb{C} up to a displacement by a (stabilizer) element in Λ_{τ} , is interpreted as the sum of a syndrome $z \mod \frac{1}{d}\Lambda_{\tau}$ and a representative logical displacement label $\overline{z} \in \frac{1}{d}\Lambda_{\tau}$. See the discussion in Sec. 4.4.1.

A level-*d* structure [102] on an elliptic curve is given by an oriented basis $\left(\frac{1}{d}, \frac{\tau}{d}\right)$ of $H_1(E, \mathbb{Z}_d)$ – the so-called *d*-torsion points on E – where the intersection number modulo *d* of the basis elements is 1 such that the intersection pairing $H_1(E, \mathbb{Z}_d) \times H_1(E, \mathbb{Z}_d) \to \mathbb{Z}_d$ again defines the desired Heisenberg-Weyl commutation phase of the associated displacement operators (see eq. (4.41)). The level structure defines a finer structure on the elliptic curve. Under the above mapping from elliptic curves to GKP codes, it can be understood as the algebra of logical operators (the symplectic dual lattice to \mathcal{L}_Λ), relative to which z becomes associated with the syndrome of the GKP code.

4.4.4 Moduli space of GKP codes and fiber bundle fault tolerance

GKP distance and modular discriminant

In this section, we discuss a connection between the space of all single-mode GKP codes with a nonzero distance and a complex parameterization in terms of the modular discriminant.

To understand the space of GKP codes, lets focus on the space of symplectic lattices in 2-dimensions (equivalently, we focus on the space of elliptic curves ignoring the choice of z). We have already seen in the previous section that every point $\tau \in \mathfrak{h}$ parametrizes a symplectic lattice up to an overall rotation. Since lattices – as geometric objects – are defined independent of the choice of



Figure 4.8: The fundamental domain \mathcal{F} on is marked in grey on the RHS. We illustrate the effect of a squeezing operation $\tau \mapsto (\lambda \oplus \lambda^{-1}).\tau = \lambda^2 \tau$ and the corresponding transformation on the lattice $\Lambda_{\tau} \mapsto \Lambda_{\lambda^2 \tau} / \sqrt{\det(\Lambda_{\lambda^2 \tau})}$.

representing basis, the set of symplectic lattices up to basis transformation is given by the left quotient $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ (remember that $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) = \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$). $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ has a transitive action on the upper half plane \mathfrak{h} , which is trivial for the elements $\{\pm I\}$. We can hence equally parametrize the space of all symplectic lattices by the quotient

$$M_1 = \mathrm{PSp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \backslash \mathfrak{h}, \tag{4.188}$$

where $PSp_2(\mathbb{Z}) = Sp_2(\mathbb{Z})/\{\pm I\}$ has an *effective* action on \mathfrak{h} .

Points of M_1 corresponds to isomorphism classes of elliptic curves (GKP codes)[102] and, in fact, M_1 again is a Riemann surface, where a holomorphic map to \mathbb{C} is given by the j function

$$j(\tau) = 1728 \frac{g_2^3(\tau)}{\Delta(\tau)},$$
(4.189)

which is a modular form of weight 0.

We can represent M_1 via the fundamental domain

$$\mathcal{F} = \left\{ \tau \in \mathfrak{h} : |\operatorname{Re}(\tau)| \le \frac{1}{2}, |\tau| \ge 1 \right\},$$
(4.190)

shown in fig. 4.8.

It is important to note that the space M_1 fails to be a quotient manifold in for which every point $\tau \in M_1$ has isomorphic orbits under $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ action. At fault is the existence of fix-points in \mathfrak{h} such that the $PSp_2(\mathbb{Z})$ action is not free. On the upper half plane, the S and T matrices that generate $\text{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ have Möbius actions S.z = -1/z, T.z = z + 1, such that the points $\tau = i$ and $\tau = \rho := e^{i2\pi/3}$ are fixed points under S and ST^{-1} . It is quickly verified that $\tau = i$ corresponds to the GKP code built from the square lattice \mathbb{Z}^2 , where the S matrix can be understood as the logical Hadamard gate \hat{H} in its integral representation and similarly, $\tau = \rho$ corresponds to the GKP code built from the hexagonal lattice (A_2) which has a logical $\hat{H}\hat{P}^{\dagger}$ Hadamard times phase gate corresponding to the ST^{-1} matrix. The existence of automorphisms is hence both a blessing and a curse. They show the existence and characterize possible logical Clifford gates, but also equip our classifying space M_1 with the structure of an orbifold – meaning that rather than being locally isomorphic to \mathbb{C} , it behaves locally like a quotient space of \mathbb{C} modulo a local group action by a group that varies from point to point [39, 102]. In fact, as a consequence of our choice of representation, these fixpoints are stabilized by elements in $SO_2(\mathbb{R})$, i.e. they are associated to GKP codes with logical Clifford gates implementable through passive linear optical elements. Later we will construct a moduli space of GKP codes where these points are effectively removed by a choice of additional constraints, such that the moduli space can be fully treated as a complex manifold, and we will leave an investigation of spaces of GKP codes that incorporates the orbifold structure to future work. We begin by investigating the connection between the topology of M_1 and the coding theoretic properties of the associated codes.

The j function diverges in the limit $\tau \to i\infty$. Using $q = e^{i2\pi\tau}$, we can write

$$j(\tau) = q^{-1} + 744 + 19884q + \dots, \tag{4.191}$$

$$\Delta(\tau) = (2\pi)^{12} q \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1-q^k) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tau(n) q^n, \qquad (4.192)$$

$$g_2(\tau) = \frac{4\pi^4}{3} \left(1 + 240 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_3(n) q^n \right), \tag{4.193}$$

where we have the Ramanujan $\tau(n)$ function and the divisor sum $\sigma_3(n) = \sum_{d|n} d^3$ function, we recognize that the source of this divergence is the simple root of $\Delta(\tau)$ in the limit $\tau \to i\infty$. Comparing to the discussion in the previous chapter, this corresponds to the limit where the lattice Λ_{τ} is not full rank anymore. To understand this point better, write $\tau = x + iy = M.i$, with

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{y} & x/\sqrt{y} \\ 0 & 1/\sqrt{y} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.194)

The shortest vector in the lattice L(M) spanned by the rows of M satisfies

$$\lambda_1^2(L(M)) = \min_{\substack{(0,0)\neq(n,m)\in\mathbb{Z}^2}} \|n^2y + (nx+m)^2/y\|^2$$
$$\leq \left\{y + \frac{x^2}{y}, \frac{1}{y}\right\},\tag{4.195}$$

such that in particular we have $\operatorname{Im}(\tau) \leq \lambda_1^{-2}(L(M))$. That is, representing the lattice basis in \mathfrak{h} , demanding that the lattice (the corresponding GKP code) has finite non-zero distance $\lambda_1 \geq const.$, yields an upper bound on the imaginary part of its representation in \mathfrak{h} . Similarly, one can show that the squeezing value associated to M, that is the squeezing necessary to prepare a code state associated to M starting at the canonical square GKP code bounds $\operatorname{sq}(M) = \|M^T\|_2 \geq \operatorname{Im}(\tau)$. We illustrate the intuition behind the limit $\tau \to i\infty$ being associated to a zero distance GKP code in fig. 4.8, where, starting at a square GKP code, a squeezing deformation maps $\tau = i \mapsto \lambda^2 i$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. While one of the lattice basis vectors gets increasingly longer, due to the volume-preserving nature of $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ the other shrinks until it converges to 0 in the infinite squeezing limit.

We show that the finiteness of the distance of the GKP code $\lambda_1 \geq const.$ also lower bounds the discriminant function $\Delta(\tau)$. With $\text{Im}(\tau) \leq \lambda_1^{-2}$, for large $\text{Im}(\tau)$ we also have

$$|j(\tau)| \le e^{2\pi/\lambda_1^2} + O(1). \tag{4.196}$$

Using eq. (4.189) this bounds

$$|\Delta(\tau)| \ge e^{-2\pi/\lambda_1^2} |g_2(\tau)|^3 + O(|g_2(\tau)|^3).$$
(4.197)

Since all the zeros of the Eisenstein series lie on the unit circle $|\tau| = 1$ [155], $|\Delta(\tau)|$ will be lower-bounded by const. $\times e^{-2\pi/\lambda_1^2}$ away from $|\tau| = 1$. Together with the fact that the discriminant modular form is non-zero for any finite value in \mathfrak{h} , in particular on the circle $|\tau| = 1$, this shows that any finite distance GKP code with $\lambda_1 \propto \Delta_{\text{GKP}} > 0$ will also have a non-zero modular discriminant.

We have arrived at the main result of this subsection: the space of bounded distance $\Delta_{\text{GKP}}(\mathcal{L}) > \text{const.}$ single-mode GKP codes can be parametrized by $\tau \in \mathfrak{h}$ with bounded $|\Delta(\tau)| > \text{const.}$

Topological interpretation: the trefoil defect

We can understand this space topologically via an interpretation presented in refs. [89, 138]. As we have argued above, every lattice $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{C}$, through its association to a defining equation for an elliptic curve eq. (4.183), is equivalently parametrized by the two parameters $(g_2, g_3) \in \mathbb{C}^2$. Since for any $c \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ we have $g_2(c\Lambda) = c^{-4}g_2(\Lambda), g_3(c\Lambda) = c^{-6}g_3(\Lambda)$, one can always rescale the lattice so that $|g_2|^2 + |g_3|^2 = 1$ which is the parametrization of a 3-sphere S^3 . The space of zero-distance GKP codes is given by $0 = \Delta = g_2^3 - 27g_3^2$. In terms of the two complex parameters this equation defines a *trefoil knot*

$$K = \{ (g_2, g_3) \in \mathbb{C}^2, \ g_2^3 - 27g_3^2 = 0, \ |g_2|^2 + |g_3|^2 = 1 \}.$$
(4.198)

We can therefore understand the space of single-mode GKP codes as the knot complement $S^3 - K \sim \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$. The trefoil knot is illustrated in fig. 4.4 and the reader is referred to refs. [89, 90] for further reference.

Any smooth implementation of a Clifford gate on a GKP code naturally traverses a continuous closed loop in the space of lattices $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ while implementing a basis transformation. The topological defect in this space carved out by the trefoil knot illustrates that such loops are in general homotopically non-trivial. One way to understand this is through the equivalence $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R}) / \operatorname{SO}_2(\mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \mathfrak{h} = \mathcal{F}$. The space of lattices, up to a rotation, is labeled by an element in the fundamental domain such that each lattice - including a rotation label - can be labeled by a point in the fundamental domain \mathcal{F} together with a rotation label in S^1 (which my vary across points in \mathcal{F}). In order for a smooth transformation on the space of lattices to return to the same point in the fundamental domain with the same rotation label, it must either map to a $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ equivalent point in \mathfrak{h} , or perform a full rotation in S^1 . This decomposition of $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ is the so-called *Seifert fibration* [171], which is illustrated in fig. 4.9. In fact, the fundamental group of this space $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ which we now understand as the homotopy group of the know complement $\pi_1(S^3 - K) = B_3 = SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ is the braid group of three strands [86]. To see this in generality, lets return to label the lattice $\Lambda = \omega_1 \mathbb{Z} + \omega_2 \mathbb{Z}$ by the complex basis (ω_1, ω_2) for a minute. Since \mathbb{C} is algebraically closed, the defining equation of the elliptic curve takes the form [178]

$$\wp'^2 = (\wp - e_1)(\wp - e_3)(\wp - e_3), \tag{4.199}$$

$$\Delta = 16(e_1 - e_2)^2 (e_2 - e_3)^2 (e_1 - e_3)^2 \neq 0, \qquad (4.200)$$

where $e_1 = \wp(\omega_1/2), e_2 = \wp(\omega_2/2)$ and $e_3 = \wp((\omega_1 + \omega_2)/2)$ with $e_1 + e_2 + e_3 = 0$ form the three distinct roots of the equation $\wp' = 0$. Since $\wp(z + \Lambda) = \wp(z)$ is



Figure 4.9: The Seifert fibration describing a decomposition of $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ into the fundamental domain \mathcal{F} and a rotation label in S^1 for each point in \mathcal{F} . While every lattice has a π -rotation symmetry, there are special (singular) points *i* and $\rho = e^{i2\pi/3}$ with additional symmetries under $\pi/2$ and $\pi/3$ rotation. This can be pictured by a smaller circumference rotation index attached to these points in the fibration. In terms of GKP codes, it is these singular points on \mathcal{F} that correspond to GKP codes with orthogonal symplectic lattice automorphisms.

defined modulo the lattice and the coefficients g_2, g_3 as well as the lattice are uniquely determined by the roots e_1, e_2, e_3 , any smoothly parametrized basis transformation can also be identified by the evolution $t : [0, 1] \rightarrow e_1(t), e_2(t), e_3(t)$, which smoothly implements a permutation of the three roots. Away from the trefoil defect $\Delta = 0$, the position of these roots on \mathbb{C}/Λ remain distinct along the path, such that every non-trivial basis transformation implemented in this fashion can be identified with a non-trivial element in the braid group of three strands B_3 which has a representation in $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) = \langle T, T^{-T} \rangle$ [86].

This shows that every smoothly parametrized logical non-trivial Clifford gate for the single mode GKP code – given by a closed loop in the knot complement $S^3 - K$ – necessarily implements a homotopically non-trivial element in this space, i.e. it implements a nontrivial link with the cut-out trefoil knot as it avoids the "zero-distance defect" provided by the knot along the path. The braids induced by a rotation and a sheer on the square lattice – corresponding to a logical Hadamard- and phase gate for the square GKP code with d = 2– are pictured in fig. 4.10. Note that the reverse is not generally true; there are nontrivial basis transformations of GKP lattices that implement a *trivial* Clifford element, such as the double application of the Hadamard gate for a d = 2 square GKP code (compare to fig. 4.10).

In fact, one can define a linking number with the trefoil knot for paths in $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ which correspond to GKP logical Cliffords. This is done by realizing that one can define a discriminant function $\tilde{\Delta} : \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2 \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ which provides an isomorphism of the homology groups $H_1(\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2 \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{Z}) \sim H_1(\mathbb{C}^{\times}, \mathbb{Z})$ [72, 131], such that closed loops in the space of symplectic lattices map to closed loops in \mathbb{C}^{\times} . The discriminant function $\tilde{\Delta}$ is an invariant of the associated lattice, independent of the choice of basis (i.e. it is a weight-0 modular form),



Figure 4.10: A braid on $e_1 = \wp(\omega_1/2), e_2 = \wp(\omega_2/2), e_3 = \wp((\omega_1 + \omega_2)/2)$ implemented through a rotation $(\omega_1, \omega_2) \mapsto (\omega_2, -\omega_1)$ (l.) corresponding to a GKP Hadamard gate and a sheer $(\omega_1, \omega_2) \mapsto (\omega_1 + \omega_2, \omega_2)$ (r.) in the case of d = 2. Nontrivial braiding of the three roots e_i is induced by smoothly parametrized automorphisms of the underlying lattice.

defined for $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ as

$$\hat{\Delta}(\gamma) = j_{12}(\gamma, i)\Delta(\gamma, i), \qquad (4.201)$$

where we have defined the factor of automorphy $j_{12}(\gamma, z) = (cz + d)^{-12}$. Now let $\gamma_A(t) : [0,1] \to \operatorname{Sp}_2 \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous curve with $g_A(0) \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and $g_A(1) = Ag_A(0) A \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z})$. The linking number is defined by

$$\operatorname{link}(\gamma_A, K) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\gamma_A} \frac{\mathrm{d}\tilde{\Delta}}{\tilde{\Delta}} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\gamma_A} \frac{\mathrm{d}\Delta}{\Delta} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\gamma_A} \frac{\mathrm{d}j_{12}}{j_{12}}$$
(4.202)

and is a topological invariant of the path [72, 131]. From the modular transformation behavior $\Delta(c\Lambda) = c^{-12}\Delta(\Lambda)$ it can be shown that rotations of the lattices $\Lambda \to e^{i\phi}\Lambda$, $\phi \in [0, \frac{\pi}{k}]$ yield linking numbers link $(\gamma_A, K) = -\frac{6}{k}$, such that the lattice automorphism of the square lattice given by a $\pi/2$ rotation is associated with linking number link $(\gamma_S, K) = -3$, while the $\pi/3$ rotation symmetry of the hexagonal lattice associates with a linking number link $(\gamma_S, K) = -2$.

In a seminal paper, Ghys [89] showed that for hyperbolic elements $A \in \text{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ (i.e. those with |Tr[A]| > 2) which are implemented via a symplectic squeezing operation

$$M \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R}) \mapsto M(\lambda \oplus \lambda^{-1}) = AM, \ \lambda > 1,$$
 (4.203)

the corresponding unique modular geodesic γ_A has linking number link(γ_A , K) = $\psi(A)$ with the trefoil knot, where $\psi(A)$ is the well-known *Rademacher function*, which can be computed by compiling A into a product of integer powers of matrices R = T, with T as in eq. (4.146), $L = T^T$, such that $A = \prod_{i=1}^{N} R^{r_i} L^{l_i}$. Under this expansion,

$$\psi(A) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} r_i - l_i \tag{4.204}$$

is given by the difference of their number of appearances in the product expansion. The Rademacher symbol is a class invariant for $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, that is for all $g \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and $A \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ it holds that $\psi(gAg^{-1}) = \psi(A)$. In fact, using

$$R^{r_i} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{r_i} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & r_i \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ L^{l_i} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{l_i} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ l_i & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.205)

the Rademacher symbol also descends to a class invariant on $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_d)$ for A: det $(A \mod d) = 1$ and $|\operatorname{Tr}[A] \mod d| > 2$, with

$$\psi(A) \mod d = \psi(A \mod d). \tag{4.206}$$

The Rademacher function in particular yields a meaningful invariant for symplectic lattice automorphisms provided by a symmetric symplectic matrix. In this case, the Bloch-Messiah decomposition provides a decomposition $S = O^T DO$ of the symplectic matrix into orthogonal symplectic parts O and a squeezing matrix D, such that a smoothly parametrized implementation of Scan be obtained by concatenating paths in $\text{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ that implement O, O^T and D, respectively. The automorphism $S\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}$ descends to a squeezing automorphism D on the rotated lattice $O\mathcal{L}$ for which the Rademacher function measures the linking number.

The garden of GKP codes

So far we have identified scaled single-mode GKP codes with elliptic curves with level-d structure and identified the topological defect in the space of all lattices corresponding to such codes with the limit of GKP codes with distance $\Delta_{\text{GKP}} = 0$ and we have shown how logical Clifford gates quantified by their lattice automorphisms modulo d can be classified according to their linking number with this defect. Similar to the case of generic elliptic curves, isomorphism classes of elliptic curves with level structure are classified by the quotient space $\mathcal{M}_1[d] = \Gamma(d) \backslash \mathfrak{h}$, where we define the congruence subgroup by

$$\Gamma(d) = \{ A \in \operatorname{PSp}_2(\mathbb{Z}), A \mod d = I \}$$

$$(4.207)$$

$$\subseteq \Gamma(1) := \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z}). \tag{4.208}$$

Note that here we have defined $\Gamma(d)$ as subgroup of $PSp_2(\mathbb{Z}) = SL_2(\mathbb{Z})/\{\pm I\}$ so that $\Gamma(d)$ is torsion free for all d > 1 and has an effective action on \mathfrak{h} .

Define the action of $(m, n) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ on (τ, z) as $(\tau, z + m + n\tau)$, such that the quotient $\mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus (\tau, z)$ is translation symmetric under translations of z by elements in Λ_{τ} and define the $\Gamma(d)$ action as

$$\gamma: \ (\tau, z) \mapsto (\gamma.\tau, z/(c\tau + d)) \tag{4.209}$$

for $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma(d)$. See ref. [102] for further background.

Action of elements in $\Gamma(d)$ preserve the level-*d* structure $d^{-1}\Lambda_{\tau}$ sitting inside of $\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$ and hence represent logically trivial basis transformations of the GKP code.

We assemble the full space of elliptic curves with level-d structure (single-mode GKP codes) as

$$E(d) = \left(\Gamma(d) \ltimes \mathbb{Z}^2\right) \backslash \mathfrak{h} \times \mathbb{C}. \tag{4.210}$$



Figure 4.11: The fundamental region $F(2) = \Gamma(2) \setminus \mathfrak{h} = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}_2)} \gamma F$ is drawn in red and contains the logical Clifford translates of the fundamental region $F = \operatorname{SL}_2\mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathfrak{h}.$

Understood as GKP codes, this space labels all possible lattices associated with GKP stabilizer groups, i.e. that are sublattices to its own symplectic dual (given by its rescaling by d), and for each lattice there the element z labels all possible syndromes and logical displacements. With our definition, $\Gamma(d)$ is torsion free for $d \geq 2$ such that $\Gamma(d) \setminus \mathfrak{h}$ obtains the structure of a Riemann surface [102].

Finally, we define

$$E^{\times}(q) = \left(\Gamma(d) \ltimes \mathbb{Z}^2\right) \backslash \mathfrak{h} \times_{\tau} \mathbb{C}_d^{\times}, \tag{4.211}$$

where $\mathfrak{h} \times_{\tau} \mathbb{C}_d^{\times}$ is such that for each point $\tau \in \mathfrak{h}$, the points $d^{-1}\Lambda_{\tau}$ are removed from the \mathbb{C} factor. We define the covering for $d \geq 2$

$$E^{\times}(d) \xrightarrow{\pi} M^{\times} = \left(\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}_d) \ltimes \left(\frac{1}{d}\mathbb{Z}_d\right)^2 \right) \setminus E^{\times}(d) \,.$$
 (4.212)

The spaces $E^{\times}(d)$ and M^{\times} both have the structure of complex manifolds since the covering group $G = \left(\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}_d) \ltimes \left(\frac{1}{d}\mathbb{Z}_d\right)^2\right)$ acts freely and properly discontinuously on $E^{\times}(d)$. $E^{\times}(d) \xrightarrow{\pi} M^{\times}$ is a *G*-covering of complex manifolds with the discrete structure group *G*. In this construction, we have chosen to exclude the zero section z = 0 from the space of elliptic curves and its quotients since otherwise

 M^{\times} would not inherit the structure of a complex manifold – our construction considers only *GKP codes with non-zero syndrome*. If we had not excluded these sections, the existence of non-trivial fixed points of the Sp₂(\mathbb{Z}) action on \mathfrak{h} would prevent the quotients under group action in eqs. (4.211), (4.212) to retain manifold structure but allows different points on these spaces to retain indeterminacy up to local symmetry groups (in particular M^{\times} would have the structure of an orbifold, which are locally isomorphic to a quotient of a euclidean space with a group which does not have to be constant [39, 102]). The family of GKP codes with non-zero syndrome in eq. (4.212) is *universal* [102], such that every family of GKP codes $E^{\times} \to M^{\times}$ with non-zero syndrome parametrized over a complex manifold *B* can be obtained as the pullback of the holomorphic function $\Phi : M^{\times} \to B$ [102] that describes the embedding of *B* in M^{\times} . We summarize this property in fig. 4.12.



Figure 4.12: $E^{\times} \to M^{\times}$ forms a universal family of GKP codes, such that every family of single mode GKP codes with non-zero syndrome can be obtained as pullback of this family. The manifolds $E^{\times} = E^{\times}(d)$, $M^{\times} = M^{\times}(d)$ implicitly depend on the scaling parameter d.

4.4.5 Towards fiber bundle fault tolerance

What is... a fiber bundle?

A fundamentally important concept in math and physics is that of a fiber bundle, which we briefly sketch while we have already seen many examples throughout this thesis. A fiber bundle is a manifold that locally looks like a product space. Formally, this is provided by a projection from a *total space* down to the *base space*

$$\pi: E \to M, \tag{4.213}$$

which is such that for every open neighborhood $U\subseteq M$ the preimage of the projection admits a $local\ trivialization$

$$\phi: \pi^{-1}(U) \to U \times F, \tag{4.214}$$

provided by a homeomorphism ϕ .

One example for a fiber bundle is for instance the *tangent bundle* given by the union of all tangent spaces to a base manifold M,

$$TM = \bigcup_{x \in M} T_x M. \tag{4.215}$$

Tangent bundles are ubiquitous in physics: in general relativity, space-time has the structure of a tangent bundle, where (away from extremely dense masses) locally space-time looks like Minkowski space-time. The surface of the sphere, locally looks like its euclidean tangent space and the tangent bundle describes all of these local perspectives. Another example it that of the *cotangent bundle*

$$TM^* = \bigcup_{x \in M} T^*_x M, \tag{4.216}$$

which is simply the union of all linear maps from tangent spaces to numbers, e.g. \mathbb{R} . While the velocity of points moving along trajectories on a given manifold M is always a tangent vector $\dot{q} \in T_x M$, the canonical momentum $\partial_{\dot{q}} \mathcal{L}(q, \dot{q}, t)$ derived from a Lagrangian is an element of its cotangent space, such that the classical phase space encountered in the introduction obtains the structure of a cotangent bundle. For a more formal treatment see e.g. ref. [143]



Figure 4.13: A fiber bundle $\pi : E \to M$. The fibers $F = \pi^{-1}(p)$ are all equivalent to each other. In the background the additional structure is indicated that defines a connection, which is a choice of parallel transport through the tangent of the total space $TE = TH \oplus TV$ and implies a distinguished horizontal- and vertical component of every element in TE.

What is... a connection?

As a manifold itself, the total space for a given fiber bundle possesses its own tangent bundle TE. A connection on a fiber bundle is a choice of local decomposition of that tangent space into a horizontal and vertical component, which is tangent to the fiber F. This decomposition allows to compare vectors in $TE = TH \oplus TV$ when pushed around over paths in M. For example, in geometric quantization the base manifold is the classical phase space $\mathbb{R}^2,$ and we construct a complex line bundle with $F \sim \mathbb{C}$ over phase space given by functions representing elements in the quantum Hilbert space where the connection determines how the phase changes when the state is pushed around phase space. As displacement operators do not commute, we know that transporting a state around a loop $D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\xi})D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\eta})D(\boldsymbol{\xi})D(\boldsymbol{\eta})$ yields a phase factor $e^{-i2\pi\boldsymbol{\xi}^{T}J\boldsymbol{\eta}}$ on the fibers. This phase factor arises as *curvature* of the line bundle due to a non-trivial connection. We say a connection is *flat*, if the only way that a non-trivial vertical component is realized by transporting an element around a loop in base space is that this loop is homotopically non-trivial. Again this description has only been very superficial, and I advise the reader to familiarize themselves with more extensive literature, e.g. ref. [143], to obtain a clearer picture.

A geometric framework for fault-tolerant gates was proposed by Gottesmann and Zhang, which we discuss very briefly while referring the interested reader to their detailed treatment in ref. [96]. This framework considers as fundamental



Figure 4.14: Illustration of the moduli space of GKP codes M^{\times} .

object the Grassmanian $\operatorname{Gr}(K, N)$, the manifold of K-dimensional subspaces of an N-dimensional Hilbert space. Fault-tolerant gates for a code \mathcal{C} then correspond to homotopically non-trivial loops on a submanifold $\mathcal{M} \subset \operatorname{Gr}(K, N)$ based at $\mathcal{C} \in \mathcal{M}$. The manifold \mathcal{M} is constructed such that every subspace contained within it is an error correction code and thus has some robustness to errors. More concretely one can construct a *vector bundle* over any submanifold of the Grassmanian, whose fiber over a point is the respective codespace. A set of unitary operators is then called fault-tolerant if its left action induces a flat projective connection on this vector bundle. A fault-tolerant logical gate implemented by a loop based at the code \mathcal{C} is then determined by the parallel transport of the connection along the path. The connection's flatness implies that non-trivial logical transformations are necessarily only implemented by loops on \mathcal{M} with non-trivial homotopy.

The covering space structure of the family of GKP codes discussed above has a similar structure. Taking the place of \mathcal{M} in Gottesman and Zhang's construction, we consider the set of subspaces of GKP codes of a quantum harmonic oscillator and the fibers are given by logical Clifford orbits of the local codes and choices of syndrome sector. Since these fibers are by construction discrete, paths on the base space have unique lifts to the total space while any smooth path on $E^{\times}(d)$ that implements a non-trivial logical Clifford gate necessarily corresponds to a homotopically non-trivial loop on the base space M^{\times} . This base space inherits the topology of the knot complement $S^3 - K$ together with that of a torus at each point of the knot-complement. To connect this space M^{\times} to a more elementary decomposition of the space of possible lattices, note that $\mathcal{F} = \mathrm{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \mathfrak{h}$ is one-to-one with $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R}) / \operatorname{SO}_2(\mathbb{R})$, the space of 2-dimensional lattices up to a rotation, and one can think of the phase of the argument $z \neq 0$ as the label for the corresponding rotation. More concretely, $z \in S_{1,1}$ lives in a punctured torus, which has homotopy group $\pi_1(S_{1,1}) = \pi_1(S^1) \times \pi_1(S_1)$, equivalent to that of a circle and a torus which captures non-trivial rotations of elements in M^{\times} as non-trivial elements in $\pi_1(S_{1,1})$.

The bundle obtained via the forgetful map $M^{\times} \ni (\tau, z) \to \tau$ can thus be topologically understood as the so-called Seifert fibration [171], that associates to each element in $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \setminus \operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ an element in $\mathcal{F} \times S^1$. From the previous discussions we see that the fundamental group of this space has a homomorphism to the single mode GKP Clifford group. It is in this sense, that our construction presented here provides an example of fiber-bundle fault tolerance for the GKP code.

4.5 The Dream

In this chapter we have extensively developed the coding theory of GKP codes, ranging from basic coding theoretic properties of GKP codes and parameter tradeoffs, over proofs of existence of good GKP codes via randomized constructions to the development of an algebraic geometric formulation of the space of (single mode) GKP codes that we have shown to capture fault-tolerance properties in the still underdeveloped, but potentially extremely powerful, fiber bundle framework for fault tolerance by Gottesman and Zhang [96]. There are very many dreams that one could formulate building on the work presented in this chapter. The arguable grandest of those would be to extend the analysis of the moduli space of GKP codes to include GKP codes beyond a single mode. As GKP codes, via concatenation, allow to embed any qubit-based quantum error correcting code into a lattice in continuous space, it would be very interesting to understand the geometry of the moduli space of those lattices and how exactly relevant code properties like the LDPC property - the characteristic of codes for which there exists a generating set in which stabilizer generators only act on a bounded number of qubits and every qubit is only acted upon by a bounded number of stabilizers – and the distance of the qubit-based code appear. It is expected that again those spaces can be described by the moduli spaces of complex Abelian varieties [22] but now may carry a topological defect of higher dimension. Understanding this structure, whether a non-trivial systole exists there and whether such characteristics can be related to fault-tolerance properties and, in general, the development of the theory of fiber bundle fault tolerance for arbitrary qubit-based stabilizer codes through the lens of the GKP code is an exciting question to be tackled.

Chapter 5

Constructing GKP codes

Now that the coding theory of GKP codes is understood, we move to discuss constructions of GKP codes by identifying interesting symplectically integral lattices. A list of known symplectically integral lattices is displayed in fig. 5.1, which features symplectically self-dual lattices originally identified by Harrington in ref. [107], GKP codes obtained by concatenation with qubit-based quantum error correcting codes and a new class of GKP codes, dubbed NTRU-GKP codes, that we will discuss in the course of this chapter. In general, the go-to references for lattice theory and general constructions is ref. [61], which I refer to for general inspiration and an overview of many important lattice families and properties not explained here.

5.1 Root systems and root lattices

Many of the symplectic self-dual lattices listed in fig. 5.1 are so-called *root lattices*, which have an interesting structure and are of fundamental relevance throughout physics and mathematics, which is why they deserve extra attention. Root lattices play an important role in Coexters classification of reflection groups – which also has application in the construction of quantum error correcting codes based in regular tesselation of hyperbolic surfaces [34, 37, 56] – and by Witt's classification theorem any integral lattice generated by vectors of norm 1 or 2 is an orthogonal sum of lattices isometric to \mathbb{Z} , elements of the infinite families A_n, D_n or the exceptional lattices E_6, E_7, E_8 [130], which are pictured in fig. 5.2

A root lattice $L \in \mathbb{R}^n$ has a basis given by a *root system*, which is a set of vectors $\Phi \subset \mathbb{R}^n = \operatorname{span}(\Phi)$ closed under the reflections

$$r_{\alpha}\boldsymbol{x} = \left(I - 2\frac{\boldsymbol{\alpha}\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{T}}{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{T}\boldsymbol{\alpha}}\right)\boldsymbol{x},\tag{5.1}$$

and for any two roots $\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\beta} \in \Phi, 2\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \boldsymbol{\beta} / \boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z}$ is an integer.

Root lattices are typically denoted using Dynkin diagrams, which are such that every root is marked by a node and two nodes are connected if they are sep-

The content of this chapter is oriented along the publications ref. [57] and ref. [58]. In particular sec. 5.2 is largely adapted from ref. [57] and the content of sec. 5.3 is adapted from ref. [58].

n	$\dim(\mathcal{L}_0)(\mathcal{L})$	\mathcal{L}_0	$(\lambda_1(\mathcal{L}))^2$	Symp. self-dual	Eucl. self-dual	Concatenated (trivial sublattice)
1	2	\mathbb{Z}^2	1	√	√	
1	2	A_2	$\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}$	✓	√	-
2	4	D_4	$\sqrt{2}$	√[107]	~	$\mathcal{L}_{triv} \sim \mathbb{Z}^4 \text{ w/ repetition code [163]}$
4	8	E_8	2	✓	√	$\mathcal{L}_{triv} \sim 2\mathbb{Z}^8 \text{ w/ Hamming code [61] } \mathcal{H}_8 = [8, 4, 4]$
6	12	K_{12}	$\frac{4}{\sqrt{3}}$ [107]	√[107]	√	$\mathcal{L}_{triv} \sim A_2^6$ [60]
12	24	Λ_{24}	4 [61]	√[166]	√	$\mathcal{L}_{triv} \sim 2\mathbb{Z}^8 \text{ w/ Golay code}^*$ [61] $\mathcal{C}_{24} = [24, 12, 8]$
n	2n	$\sqrt{\lambda/q}L_{\rm NTRU}$	$\Delta \sim O\left(\sqrt{n/\lambda}\right)$	~	√	$\mathcal{L}_{ ext{triv}} \sim \sqrt{\lambda q} \mathbb{Z}^{2n}$
N	2N	$\Lambda_{\Box}(Q)$	$\Delta \ge \sqrt{d/2}$	x	x	$Q = \llbracket N, k, d \rrbracket$
N	2N	$\Lambda_{\circ}(Q)$	$\Delta = \sqrt{d/\sqrt{3}}$	x	x	$Q = \llbracket N, k, d \rrbracket$

Figure 5.1: Some notable symplectically integral lattices that yield GKP codes. The lower block indicates the concatenation of single mode $\mathcal{L}_{\Box} = \sqrt{2}\mathbb{Z}^2$ square GKP and $\mathcal{L}_{\bigcirc} = \sqrt{2}A_2$ hexagonal GKP codes with qubit quantum error correcting- or detecting codes. Note that concatenation with \mathcal{L}_{\bigcirc} does not formally produce a Construction A lattice, but is related by a symplectic transformation $S_{\bigcirc}^n = \bigoplus_i^n S_{\bigcirc}, S_{\bigcirc} = M_{A_2}^T$ to the concatenation with the square GKP code generated by $M_{\mathbb{Z}^2} = I_2$, which in fact is Construction A. The symplectically self-dual root lattices listed in this table and their use as GKP codes have previously been identified in ref. [107]. The rescaled $L_{\rm NTRU}$ lattices that we use here to to construct NTRU-GKP codes are indicated between those and the "more genuine" lattices corresponding to concatenated codes. The statements about (symplectic) self-duality are generally up to scaling and rotations. To avoid confusion with the distance d of a qubit QECC here we used q for the scaling parameter for scaled GKP codes.



Figure 5.2: Notable root systems represented as Dynkin diagrams.

arated by an angle of $\phi = 2\pi/3$. Nodes are not connected if they are orthogonal. In the simple case where we consider roots normalized to length $\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}\|^2 = 2$, this means that two roots $\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\beta}$ share an edge if they have inner product $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \boldsymbol{\beta} = -1$.

The A_n lattices

The family of (alternating) lattices A_n is given by the integer vectors $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n+1}$ that satisfy $\mathbf{1}^T \boldsymbol{x} = \sum_i x_i = 0$, i.e. the integers on the plane orthogonal to the all-1 vector $\mathbf{1} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$. For n = 2 we have already seen the basis for the hexagonal lattice, A_2 in eq. (4.32), which is obtained by rotating the integers \mathbb{Z}^3 into a coordinate system where $\mathbf{1} = \boldsymbol{e}_z$, identifying the points on the xy plane, and rescaling to fix $|\det(M_{A_2})| = 1$. Without the rescaling, the A_n lattices have determinant $\det(A_n) = \sqrt{n+1}$ and shortest vector length $\lambda_1^2(A_n) = 2$ (for $n \geq 2$).

The D_n lattices

The D_n lattices are defined by vectors $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, such that $\mathbf{1}^T \boldsymbol{x} = 0 \mod 2$, i.e. the coefficients have an even sum. Again (for $n \ge 3$) the shortest vector length is $\lambda_1^2(D_n) = 2$ and det $(D_n) = 2$. A basis for the D_4 lattice can be given by

$$M'_{D_4} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.2)

This matrix however has determinant $|\det(M'_{D_4})| = 2$. By performing a basis transformation using the unimodular matrix (obtained via Gaussian elimination)

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ -1 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (5.3)

this basis is symplectically diagonalized to yield a symplectic Gram matrix $A = J_2 \otimes \text{diag}(1,2)$ and hence naturally encodes a qubit into a collection of 2 oscillators without rescaling. This observation has also been made in ref. [163]. Refs. [38, 107] also noted that by performing a suitable rotation, the D_4 lattice can also be brought into a symplectically self-dual form.

The Gosset E_8 lattice

The E_8 lattice is notably one of the most interesting lattices in math and physics. It yields the provably densest lattice packing of spheres in 8 dimensions [189] and has many interesting algebraic properties [87]. It is also the smallest even self-dual lattice, which can only exist in dimensions $2n = 0 \mod 8$ [75]. It has shortest vector length $\lambda_1(E_8) = \sqrt{2}$ and det $(E_8) = 1$. The standard basis M_{E_8} , which can be read off from the corresponding Dynkin diagram is given below and can be transformed into a symplectic basis with A = J via the unimodular transformation U,

$$M_{E_8} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 3 & 2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 3 & 2 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, B_{\mathcal{H}_8} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(5.5)$$

The E_8 lattice can also be obtained by applying Construction A to the extended Hamming code which is defined by the basis $B_{\mathcal{H}_8}$ for the corresponding binary code [61]. The group of orthogonal automorphisms of the E_8 lattice [61] is given by the Weyl group $W(E_8) = \langle r_{\alpha_1} \dots r_{\alpha_8} \rangle$, generated by all permutations and sign changes of the coordinates together with the (symplectic) matrix $H_4 \oplus H_4$ [61], where

The full Weyl group is of order $|W(E_8)| = 4!6!8!$ and is claimed to contain a subgroup of symplectic orthogonal automorphisms of order 46080 in ref. [38].

5.2 Direct sum and product constructions beyond concatenation

In this section we discuss two constructions of GKP codes that go beyond the scaled and concatenated GKP codes that are based on lattice glueing and the lattice tensor product. The following constructions are adapted from the discussion of glued (euclidean) lattices and the lattice tensor product in refs. [61, 85].

5.2.1 Glued codes beyond concatenation

We can understand concatenated GKP codes as GKP codes built on certain types of *glued lattices*, which include those obtained through Construction A. This discussion leans on the description in ref. [61]. We begin by dissecting a (glued) symplectic lattice with symplectic sublattice in a top-down approach to understand its structure and then move to a bottom-up approach to construct a glued lattice from a base lattice by appending an appropriate glue group. Let us assume that we have a 2n-dimensional symplectic lattice \mathcal{L} that has a (symplectic) sublattice \mathcal{L}_0 with direct sum structure

$$\mathcal{L}_0 = \bigoplus_{i=1}^k \mathcal{L}_i. \tag{5.7}$$

Vectors $\boldsymbol{v} \in \mathcal{L}$ can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{v} = \sum_{i} \boldsymbol{v}_i, \tag{5.8}$$

where $\mathbf{v}_i \in \mathbb{R} \otimes \mathcal{L}_i$. The symplectic inner product of any \mathbf{v}_i with any vector of \mathcal{L}_i is integer, such that it can be concluded that $\mathbf{v}_i \in \mathcal{L}_i^{\perp}$. Moreover we can add to any \mathbf{v}_i a vector from \mathcal{L}_i without changing the fact that \mathbf{v} has integer symplectic inner product with any other vector of \mathcal{L} . It hence suffices to demand $\mathbf{v}_i \in \mathcal{L}_i^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_i$. Such vectors are called *glue vectors* for \mathcal{L}_i , which in the coding language correspond to logical representatives of a local code. $\mathcal{L}_i^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_i$ is also known as the (symplectic) dual quotient or *glue group* for \mathcal{L}_i . We can thus obtain symplectic lattices from a *base lattice* $\mathcal{L}_0 = \bigoplus_{i=1}^k \mathcal{L}_i$ by adding vectors \mathbf{v} of the form in eq. (5.8), where each $\mathbf{v}_i \in \mathcal{L}_i^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_i$. We also refer to the set of extra vectors \mathbf{v} as the *glue group* G. Let $\mathcal{L} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^k \mathcal{L}_i \cup G$ be a glued lattice of this form. it also holds that $\mathcal{L}^{\perp} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^k \mathcal{L}_i^{\perp} \cap G^{\perp}$. Generally, whenever we have *saturated* sublattices $\mathcal{L}_0 \subset \mathcal{L}$, i.e., $\mathbb{R} \otimes \mathcal{L}_0 =$

Generally, whenever we have saturated sublattices $\mathcal{L}_0 \subset \mathcal{L}$, i.e., $\mathbb{R} \otimes \mathcal{L}_0 = \mathbb{R} \otimes \mathcal{L}$, we have $|\mathcal{L}_0|/|\mathcal{L}| \in \mathbb{Z}$. For $g \in \mathcal{L}$ we consider the glue classes $[g] = g + \mathcal{L}_0$, which form additive groups that we denote by

$$G = \langle g_1, \dots, g_r \rangle. \tag{5.9}$$

The glue group contains the vectors added to \mathcal{L}_0 in order to obtain the glued lattice. Conversely, in a bottom-up approach, a glued lattice \mathcal{L} can be constructed by considering a general glue group $G \subseteq \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_0$ and by forming $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_0[G] = \mathcal{L}_0 \cup G$. *G* is cyclic and isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}_{n_1} \times .. \times \mathbb{Z}_{n_r}$, where \mathbb{Z}_n is the cyclic group of order *n*, and each n_i is the order of the corresponding generator g_i , i.e the smallest positive integer such that $n_i g_i \in \mathcal{L}_0$. The determinant of the glued lattice $\mathcal{L}_0[G]$ can be computed as [85]

$$|\mathcal{L}_0[G]| = |\mathcal{L}_0| / |G| = |\mathcal{L}_0| / (\prod_{i=1}^r n_i).$$
(5.10)

To construct a symplectic glued lattice from a symplectic base lattice \mathcal{L}_0 , it is important to take care that every g_i has integer symplectic inner product with every other g_j – i.e., G is itself a finite symplectic group and that each G has integer symplectic inner product with each $x \in \mathcal{L}_0$, i.e., $G \subset \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}$. It is easy to see that the earlier considerations are reproduced for $\mathcal{L}_0 = \bigoplus_{i=1}^k \mathcal{L}_i$. Using eq. (5.10) we can obtain the logical dimension of GKP codes associated to glued lattices $\mathcal{L}_0[G]$. E.g. for a concatenated GKP-qubit code, $G \subset \mathcal{L}_0^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_0$ is identified with the outer code with, say, r lineary independent generators, each with order $n_i = 2$ in \mathcal{L}_0 . $\mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}(\sqrt{2I_{2n}})$, such that we compute $|\mathcal{L}_0[G]| = 2^{n-r} = 2^k$, consistent with what one would expect. The GKP code distance corresponding to a code obtained from a glued lattice is however expected to be hard to compute for the same reason that determining the distance of a qubit (qudit) quantum error correcting code is in general hard (see the next chapter for a more in-depth discussion).

5.2.2 Tensor product codes

Aside from the glueing construction, it is also possible to obtain new codes by taking outer products of lattices. The idea behind this construction is akin to product constructions known for qubit quantum error correcting codes, namely the *hypergraph product codes* by Tillich and Zemor [185], where the defining structure of the code is a hypergraph, and Homological product codes by Bravyi and Hastings [30], where the code is defined via a cell complex. For GKP codes, the defining structure of the codes is given by a lattices, such that the tensor product for lattices serves as an immediate candidate for a similar construction.

Let $\mathcal{L}_1 = \mathcal{L}(M_1) \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be a symplectic lattice with symplectic Gram matrix $A_1 = M_1 J_2 M_1^T$ and $\mathcal{L}_2 = \mathcal{L}(M_2) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ an integral lattice with euclidean Gram matrix $G_2 = M_2 M_2^T$. The tensor product lattice is defined as $\mathcal{L}_{\otimes} = \mathcal{L}(M_1 \otimes M_2) = \mathcal{L}_1 \otimes \mathcal{L}_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, i.e., a basis for \mathcal{L}_{\otimes} is given by $\{(M_1)_i \otimes (M_2)_j, i = 1, 2, j = 1, \ldots, n\}$. \mathcal{L}_{\otimes} is a symplectic lattice due to the decomposition $J_{2n} = J_2 \otimes I_n$, and its symplectic Gram matrix reads

$$A_{\otimes} = (M_1 \otimes M_2) J_{2n} (M_1 \otimes M_2)^T = A_1 \otimes G_2,$$
 (5.11)

which is integral by construction. The canonical dual basis is given by

$$M_{\otimes}^{\perp} = (J_{2n}M_{\otimes}^{T})^{-1} = M_{\otimes}^{-T}J_{2n}^{T} = M_{1}^{-T}J_{2}^{T} \otimes M_{2}^{-T} = M_{1}^{\perp} \otimes M_{2}^{*}, \qquad (5.12)$$

which forms a basis for the symplectically dual lattice $\mathcal{L}_{\otimes}^{\perp} = \mathcal{L}_{1}^{\perp} \otimes \mathcal{L}_{2}^{*}$. We have

$$|A_1 \otimes G_2| = |A_1|^n |G_2|^2, \tag{5.13}$$

$$k_{\otimes} = \frac{1}{2}\log_2|A_1 \otimes G_2| = \frac{n}{2}\log_2|A_1| + \log_2|G_2|.$$
 (5.14)

Theorem 6 (Distance of tensor product codes). The distance of the tensor product code

$$\Delta_{\otimes} = \min_{0 \neq x \in \mathcal{L}_{\otimes}^{\perp} / \mathcal{L}_{\otimes}} \|x\|$$

obeys

$$\max\left\{\frac{\Delta_1}{\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_2)}, \frac{\Delta_2}{\lambda_2(\mathcal{L}_1)}\right\} \le \Delta_{\otimes} \le \Delta_1 \Delta_2, \tag{5.15}$$

where

$$\Delta_1 = \min_{0 \neq x \in \mathcal{L}_1^\perp / \mathcal{L}_1} \|x\|, \qquad \Delta_2 = \min_{0 \neq x \in \mathcal{L}_2^* / \mathcal{L}_2} \|x\|.$$
(5.16)

Proof. The proof is analogous to that of Lemma 2 in ref. [30]. To prove the upper bound, let $x \in \mathcal{L}_1^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_1$, $y \in \mathcal{L}_2^*/\mathcal{L}_2$, be minimal non-trivial logical representatives of each component codes. It is clear that $x \otimes y \in \mathcal{L}_{\otimes}^{\perp}$. Further we have $x \otimes y \notin \mathcal{L}_{\otimes}$ because we can pick $a \in \mathcal{L}_1^{\perp}$, $b \in \mathcal{L}_2^*$ such that $a^T J_2 x \in \mathbb{Q}_1$, $b^T y \in \mathbb{Q}_1$, where $\mathbb{Q}_1 = \mathbb{Q} \cap (0, 1)$, yielding $(a \otimes b)^T J_{2n}(x \otimes y) \notin \mathbb{Z}$

(note that the symplectic inner product sets the commutation phase for the associated displacement operators). As such, we have obtained a non-trivial logical operator $x \otimes y \in \mathcal{L}_{\otimes}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_{\otimes}$ and $\Delta_{\otimes} \leq ||x \otimes y|| = \Delta_1 \Delta_2$. Let $0 \neq \psi \in \mathcal{L}_{\otimes}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_{\otimes}$ be a minimal length non-trivial vector. We can always choose $0 \neq c \in \mathcal{L}_1^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_1$ and $d \in \mathcal{L}_2$ such that

$$(c \otimes d)^T (J_2 \otimes I_n) \psi \notin \mathbb{Z}.$$
(5.17)

Let $\operatorname{vec}^{-1}(\psi)$ be the un-vectorization of ψ , i.e., if $\psi = \sum_i x_i \otimes y_i$, $x_i \in \mathcal{L}_1^{\perp}$, $y_i \in \mathcal{L}_2^*$ we have $\operatorname{vec}^{-1}(\psi) = \sum_i x_i y_i^T$. It holds that $\operatorname{vec}^{-1}(\psi) d \in \mathcal{L}_1^{\perp}$ and $\operatorname{vec}^{-1}(\psi) d \notin \mathcal{L}_1$ since otherwise $(c \otimes d)^T (J_2 \otimes I_n) \psi = c^T J_2 \operatorname{vec}^{-1}(\psi) d \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all choices of c, d, such that ψ is logically trivial, which is not the case by assumption. Hence, $\operatorname{vec}^{-1}(\psi)d$ is a non-trivial representative of $\mathcal{L}_1^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_1$. Using Cauchy-Schwartz we have $\|\psi\|\|d\| = \|\operatorname{vec}^{-1}(\psi)\|_F \|d\| \geq \|\operatorname{vec}^{-1}(\psi)d\| \geq \Delta_1$, where $\|\cdot\|_F$ is the Frobenius norm.

We can always choose $d \in \mathcal{L}_2$ with length at most the covering radius $\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_2)$ that satisfies eq. (5.17). This is because any $d \in \mathcal{L}_2$ can be written in a basis

$$d = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \xi_i, \quad a_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad \xi_i \in \mathcal{L}_2 : \|\xi_i\| \le \lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_2).$$
(5.18)

When d satisfies eq. (5.17), we have

$$\mathbb{Z} \not\supseteq \sum_{i=1}^{n} (c \otimes d)^{T} (J_{2} \otimes I_{n}) \psi = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} (c \otimes \xi_{i})^{T} (J_{2} \otimes I_{n}) \psi.$$
(5.19)

There must be at least one summand i = x, for which $a_x(c \otimes \xi_x)^T (J_2 \otimes I_n) \psi \notin \mathbb{Z}$. Since $a_x \in \mathbb{Z}$, it must hold that $(c \otimes \xi_x)^T (J_2 \otimes I_n) \psi \notin \mathbb{Z}$. Finally, we obtain

$$\|\psi\| \ge \frac{\Delta_1}{\lambda_n(\mathcal{L}_2)}.\tag{5.20}$$

Following the same procedure, we choose $c \in \mathcal{L}_1, d \in \mathcal{L}_2^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}_2$ such that eq. (5.17) is satisfied to show that $\|\psi\| \|c\| \ge \Delta_2$.

5.3 GKP codes from the NTRU cryptosystem

In sec. 4.3.3 we have seen how good GKP codes with average distance scaling $\Delta \propto \sqrt{n}$ and constant encoding rate $\log(\det(\mathcal{L})) \propto n$ can be derived from (close-to) uniformly random distributed full rank lattices $L \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$.

The construction of random lattices plays a prominent role in classical- and post-quantum cryptography due to the computational hardness of the associated lattice problems – even for quantum computers– in the worst-case, as well as due to the feature of worst-case to average-case reductions for such problems [4]. It is hence natural to consider random lattices that arise in lattice cryptography as candidates for explicit random families of GKP codes.

In this section we introduce the NTRU cryptosystem and show that random *NTRU lattices* obtained from variations of the NTRU cryptosystem are in fact symplectic, such that they allow to construct GKP codes as scaled GKP codes. We discuss scenarios where NTRU lattices are sufficiently random to follow the

Gaussian heuristic or, at least, can be shown to admit a lower bound $\lambda_1 \geq O(\sqrt{n})$ with high probability.

The so-derived GKP codes share characteristics of both scaled- and concatenated GKP codes. These NTRU lattices have been originally formulated in the cryptanalysis of attacks on the NTRU cryptosystem [62, 109, 132, 133] and their symplecticity has been motivation to further the study of lattice reduction algorithms for symplectic lattices [81]. As GKP codes, these lattices are particularly interesting as they can be understood as certain generalization of *cyclic* quantum error correcting codes such as the well known XZZX - [[5, 1, 3]]quantum error correcting code [15] or the repetition code..

What are polynomial rings, ideals and modules?

A polynomial ring is a set of polynomials R in one or more variables x, which is closed under addition and multiplication

$$+: R \times R \to R, \qquad \cdot: R \times R \to R, \tag{5.21}$$

every element $f \in R$ also possesses an additive inverse $-f \in R$ and there exist additive and multiplicative identities 0, 1. A quick way to say this is that a ring behaves like a additive group and a multiplicative monoid and a polynomial ring is simply a ring where the elements are formal polynomials in some variable x. An ideal $I \subset R$ is a subset of a ring that still forms an additive group, but now also closed under multiplications by elements in R. Good examples are e.g. the ring $R = \mathbb{Z}$ (not every integer has an integer multiplicative inverse) which has (prime) ideals $p\mathbb{Z}$ for primes $p \in \mathbb{Z}$. Integer multiples of p remain integer multiples of p when multiplied by another integer. *Modules* are to rings what vector spaces are to number fields. These are spaces of "vectors" with coefficients in R and carry a linear structure over R. In contrast to vector spaces, the elements in a module generally are allowed to lack the ability to divide by elements in R.

5.3.1 The NTRU cryptosystem

In the following we discuss the NTRU cryptosystem¹ to the degree necessary to understand the structure of the corresponding lattices and GKP codes constructed here. The presentation here is largely derived from the presentations in refs. [19, 104, 109, 132, 133, 181].

The NTRU cryptosystem is formulated using polynomial rings $R = \mathbb{Z}[x]/\Phi$, where the quotient $\Phi = x^n + \phi_{n-1}x^{n-1} + \ldots + \phi_0$ will mostly be taken as $\Phi = \Phi_0 := x^n - 1$ which is also the setup used in the original description of the NTRU cryptosystem [109]. We will keep Φ general whenever possible to be able to discuss the provably secure version of the NTRU cryptosystem [181] with irreducible $\Phi = x^n + 1$ later. We denote $R_q = R/qR$ with a typically large modulus parameter q and $R_p = R/pR$ with a typically small p coprime with q. Whenever we take the modulus, mod q or mod p, we refer to the (coefficientwise) reduction into the centered fundamental domains $\left[-\frac{q}{2}, \frac{q}{2}\right]$ resp. $\left[-\frac{p}{2}, \frac{p}{2}\right]$.

wise) reduction into the centered fundamental domains $\left[-\frac{q}{2}, \frac{q}{2}\right]$ resp. $\left[-\frac{p}{2}, \frac{p}{2}\right]$. Multiplication in R is denoted as $fg \mod \Phi$, $f, g \in R$, where the reduction mod Φ ($\mod q/p$) is implicit by specifying the image, and we use a bold $\boldsymbol{f} =$

¹It is pretty hard to find reference to what these letters "NTRU" actually stand for. Rumor says that it is meant as an abbreviation for Number Theorists are Us.

coeff(f) to refer to the coefficient vector $\mathbf{f} = (f_0, f_1, \dots, f_{n-1})$ of $f \in \mathbb{R}$ (note that any polynomial in \mathbb{R} can be represented with n-1 coefficients, for that every power x^n can be replaced by $x^n - \Phi$ when working over mod Φ .

Denote the uniform distribution of polynomials $p \in R_q$ with d_1 coefficients +1, d_2 coefficients -1 and $n - (d_1 + d_2)$ coefficients 0 as $D(d_1, d_2)$. Further, denote the set of invertible elements in R_q , i.e., elements f for which $f^{-1} \in R_q$ exists, as R_q^{\times} .

The NTRU cryptosystem, specified by parameters (n, Φ, d, q, p) operates as follows:

- 1. Key generation: Sample $\tilde{f} \leftrightarrow D(d, d)$ until $f = 1 + p\tilde{f} \in R_q^{\times}$, sample $\tilde{g} \leftrightarrow D(d, d)$ to obtain $g = p\tilde{g}$. Return the secret key pair (f, g), and the public key $h = gf^{-1} \in R_q$.
- 2. Encryption: Given the public key $h \in R_q$ and a message $m \in R_p$, sample a random polynomial $r \in R_p$ and compute the ciphertext $c = hr + m \in R_q$.
- 3. **Decryption**: Given the ciphertext c and secret key f, compute cf mod qmod $p = gr + fm \mod q \mod p = m \in R_p$.

The secret key polynomials $(f,g) \in R_q^{\times} \times R_q$ are by construction such that $f \mod p = 1$ and $g \mod p = 0$. Decryption is guaranteed to be successful whenever all the coefficients involved are sufficiently small, such that cf = gr + fm holds as equality in R, and not just merely in R_q [177].

5.3.2 Symplectic ideal and NTRU lattices

The security assumption underlying this cryptosystem as the inretrievability of the secret key is the hardness of the polynomial factorization problem in R_q and secret key retrieval attacks have been formulated already in early analyses of the NTRU cryptosystem [62, 109, 132].

Assumption 1 (Polynomial factorization problem [132]). Given a polynomial $h = f^{-1}g \in R_q$ where the coefficients are small compared to q. For suitable parameter settings it is intractable to find small polynomials $f', g' \in R_q$ such that $f'h = g' \in R_q$.

Under the premise that the coefficient vectors of the secret key (f, g) are short, a typical attack is formulated as the task of finding short polynomials $(f', g') \in R_q^2$ such that $fh = g \in R_q$, where the length of the polynomial pair is defined as the norm of their joined coefficient vectors $||(f', g')||_l = ||(f'^T, g'^T)||_l$. We will use the l = 2 norm unless specified otherwise. The attack is carried out by defining the NTRU lattice as an *R*-module $L_R \subseteq R^2$, which admits a basis in its Hermite normal form

$$H_R = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & h \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix}. \tag{5.22}$$

Elements of the R-lattice are of the form

$$(f' u)H_R = (f' u) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & h \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix}$$

= $(f' f'h + uq)$
= $(f', f'h + uq), (f', u) \in R^2,$ (5.23)

each of which represent admissible solutions to the equation $f'h = g' \in R_q$, such that short vectors in L_R are expected to correspond to the NTRU secret key pair. In a more general classification, one can view the R-lattice $L_R = L_R(h)$ as an rank-2 ideal lattice [127], corresponding to the principal ideal $I = \langle h \rangle \subseteq R$. H_R is, in fact, also a q-symplectic matrix in $R^{2\times 2}$, with respect to the sym-

plectic form

$$J_R = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in R^{2 \times 2}, \tag{5.24}$$

with

$$H_R J_R H_R^T = \begin{pmatrix} h^T - h & q \\ -q & 0 \end{pmatrix} = q J_R \in R^{2 \times 2}$$
(5.25)

because h is a scalar in R.

We can define a homomorphism that maps the rank-2 *R*-lattice L_R to a rank-2*n* \mathbb{Z} -lattice $L \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^{2n \times 2n}$ by defining a map onto a $\mathbb{Z}^{n \times n}$ matrix

$$C_{\Phi}: \ R \to \mathbb{Z}^{n \times n} \tag{5.26}$$

$$f \mapsto C_{\Phi}(f), \tag{5.27}$$

$$(C_{\phi}(f))_{i,j} = (T_{\Phi}^{i} f)_{j}, \, i, j = 0, \dots, n-1,$$
(5.28)

where the rows are given by the vectors $T_{\Phi} \boldsymbol{f}$ and

$$T_{\Phi} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0}^T & -\phi_0\\ I_{n-1} & -\phi_{1:n-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.29)

implements the map $f \mapsto xf \mod \Phi \in R$ on the coefficient vector f of f by left multiplication.

 C_{Φ} is linear over \mathbb{Z} , such that we can express the homomorphism on every polynomial $f \in R$ as

$$C_{\Phi}(f) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} f_i C_{\Phi}(x^i)$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} f_i C_{\Phi}(1) (T_{\Phi}^T)^i,$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} f_i (T_{\Phi}^T)^i,$$
(5.30)

where we have used that $C_{\Phi}(1) = I_n \ \forall \Phi$. In this representation, it is evident that $C_{\Phi}(f)$ acts via right action

$$\operatorname{coeff}(fg \mod \Phi) = \boldsymbol{f}^T C_{\Phi}(g) = \boldsymbol{g}^T C_{\Phi}(f)$$
(5.31)

and that

$$C_{\Phi}(fg \mod \Phi) = C_{\Phi}(f)C_{\Phi}(g) \tag{5.32}$$

indeed represents a homomorphism. When $\Phi = \Phi_0 = x^n - 1$, $C_{\Phi}(f)$ is simply the (row) circulant matrix of the coefficient vector f. Circulant matrices are not symmetric, but have a mirror symmetry along the anti-diagonal, $R_n C_{\Phi_0}^T(f) R_n =$ $C_{\Phi_0}(f)$, where R_n is the anti-diagonal matrix $(R_n)_{i,j} = \delta_{i,n-1-j}$, $i, j = 0, \ldots, n-1$. We also define a related map

$$A_{\Phi}: \ R \to \mathbb{Z}^{n \times n},\tag{5.33}$$

$$f \mapsto A_{\Phi}(f), \tag{5.34}$$

$$(A_{\phi}(f))_{i,j} = (T_{\Phi}^{-i} f)_j, \, i, j = 0, \dots, n-1,$$
(5.35)

where $T_{\Phi}^{-i} = (T_{\Phi}^{-1})^i$ and for $\Phi = \Phi_0 = x^n - 1$ this is the symmetric anticirculant matrix of the coefficient vector $\boldsymbol{f}, A_{\Phi_0}^T(f) = A_{\Phi_0}(f)$. Since A_{Φ} is also \mathbb{Z} -linear, here we have

$$A_{\Phi}(f) = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} f_i A_{\Phi}(x^i)$$
(5.36)
= $A_{\Phi}(1)C_{\Phi}(f),$

where, for $\Phi = \Phi_0 = x^n - 1$, we have that $A_{\Phi}(1) = 1 \oplus \overline{I}_{n-1} =: \sigma$ is the orthogonal coefficient mirror $\sigma = \sigma^T$ that maps the coefficient vector $f(x) \in R$ to that of $f(x^{-1}) = f(x^{n-1}) \in R$ [132].

The so-defined maps allow us to map the earlier defined *R*-lattice L_R onto a lattice $L = L(h) \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^{2n}$ by applying the corresponding homomorphism on the entries of the basis

$$H_R = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & h \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix} \mapsto H_{\mathbb{Z}} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & C_{\Phi}(h) \\ 0 & qI_n \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.37)

It can be checked that the lattice spanned by the basis contains all secret key pairs $(\mathbf{f'}^T \ \mathbf{g'}^T)$ corresponding to solutions $fh = g \in R_q$. It is however not symplectic yet. To obtain a symplectic matrix, notice that for $\Phi = \Phi_0$,

$$H^{cs} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & A_{\Phi_0}(h) \\ 0 & qI_n \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & \sigma C_{\Phi_0}(h) \\ 0 & qI_n \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.38)

is indeed symplectic and corresponds to a rotation of the lattice L,

$$(\sigma \oplus I_n)H^{cs} = H_{\mathbb{Z}}(\sigma^T \oplus I_n), \tag{5.39}$$

since $(\sigma \oplus I_n)$ is unimodular. This is the basis used by Coppersmith and Shamir in their attack on the NTRU cryptosystem [62, 132]. We generalize this observation to the following statement.

Lemma 10. An NTRU lattice $L \subseteq \mathbb{Z}^{2n} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ given by generator

$$H_{\mathbb{Z}} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & C_{\Phi}(h) \\ 0 & qI_n \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.40)

is equivalent to a q-symplectic lattice $L' \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ for all h if there exists a signed permutation matrix $\sigma_{\Phi} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n \times n} \cap O(n)$ such that

$$(\sigma_{\Phi}C_{\Phi}(h))^{T} = \sigma_{\Phi}C_{\Phi}(h)$$
(5.41)

is symmetric.

Proof. A lattice generated by M is equivalent to a lattice generated by M', such that det $M = \det M'$ if and only if there exists an unimodular matrix U and an orthogonal matrix O such that M' = UMO [61]. Take $O = (\sigma_{\Phi}^T \oplus I_n)$ and $U = (\sigma_{\Phi} \oplus I_n)$.

Corollary 9. NTRU lattices over $\Phi = \Phi_0$ and $\Phi = x^n + 1$ are equivalent to *q*-symplectic lattices

Proof. For $\Phi = \Phi_0$ we already saw earlier that $\sigma_{\Phi_0} = \sigma$ provides a symmetric matrix $\sigma C_{\Phi}(h)$ for all h. For $\Phi = x^n + 1$ this is also the case, with

$$\sigma_{\Phi} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathbf{0}^T \\ \mathbf{0} & -\overline{I}_{n-1} \end{pmatrix} = A_{\Phi}(1)$$
(5.42)

and $A_{\Phi}(1)C_{\Phi}(h) = A_{\Phi}(h)$ is such that the first row is h^T and every other row is generated by permuting the first element around the "periodic boundary" on the right to the left while adding a -1 factor. This matrix is clearly symmetric and σ, σ_{Φ} are signed permutations.

Finally, the fact that these NTRU lattices L corresponds to ideals $I = \langle h \rangle \subseteq R$ equips them with the symmetry $L = (T_{\Phi} \oplus T_{\Phi})L$. When $\Phi = \Phi_0$ we have that the symmetry is *n*-fold, $T_{\Phi_0}^n = I$ and similarly for $\Phi = x^n + 1$ we have $T_{\Phi}^n = -I$.

Henceforth, we will default to $\Phi = \Phi_0$ unless specified otherwise and omit the corresponding Φ_0 index from C_{Φ_0} and A_{Φ_0} . The anti-circulant matrix $A(h) = \sigma C(h)$ implements a homomorphism from R with respect to a modified matrix multiplication

$$A(f)\sigma A(h) = \sigma C(f)C(f) = A(fg).$$
(5.43)

We denote $A(f)\sigma =: A^{\sigma}(f)$, such that $A^{\sigma}(f)A(g) = A(f)$.

On \mathbb{Z}^n , ciphertexts produced by the NTRU encryption with secret key pair (f, g) and public key h take the form

$$\boldsymbol{c}^{T} = \boldsymbol{m}^{T} + \boldsymbol{r}^{T} \boldsymbol{C}(h) \mod q$$

$$= \boldsymbol{m}^{T} + (\sigma \boldsymbol{r})^{T} \sigma \boldsymbol{C}(h) \mod q$$
(5.44)

and decryption is carried out by left-multiplying with $A^{\sigma}(f)$ and reducing mod q and mod p.

The corresponding q-symplectic generator of the underlying lattice is given by

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & A(h) \\ 0 & qI_n \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.45}$$

which is already a q-symplectic basis for the symplectically integral L.

We use this lattice as starting point to define a scaled GKP-code by taking $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{(d/q)}L$ with generator $M = \sqrt{(d/q)}H$. Notice that these lattice generators form a subclass of those considered in theorem4 for which we have already shown the expected average $\lambda_1 \sim \sqrt{n}$ scaling.

Similar to the discussion earlier, the GKP code built this way will encode $D = d^n$ logical dimensions with symplectic dual

$$\mathcal{L}^{\perp} = L/\sqrt{dq} \tag{5.46}$$

and distance

$$\Delta = \lambda_1(L) / \sqrt{dq}. \tag{5.47}$$

For randomly chosen $f, g \in \mathcal{R}$, the Gaussian Heuristic 1 and them. 4 hence suggest that a *good* parameter scaling

$$D = d^n, (5.48)$$

$$\Delta \ge \sqrt{\frac{n}{d\pi e}},\tag{5.49}$$

is possible.

However, the Gaussian heuristic does not always hold for NTRU lattices with arbitrary parameters. Due to the sub-lattice structure $q\mathbb{Z}^{2n} \subset L$ there always exist trivial vectors $q\mathbf{e}_i$, $i \in [1, 2n]$ of length q in L which yield logically non-trival vectors of length $\sqrt{q/d}$. A shortest vector length $\lambda_1(L)$ growing with \sqrt{n} can however be maintained by choosing suitably large q scaling with n. Furthermore, NTRU lattices (with Φ_0) are constrained by 1. being *cyclic* lattices and 2. having an existing inverse of $f \in R_q$ and 3. having a fixed number 2d of non-zero coefficients in the vector corresponding to the secret key $(\sigma(\mathbf{f})^T, \mathbf{g}^T)^T \in L$, which on the one hand make it not immediately clear if they would be sufficiently random for the Gaussian heuristic to hold, and on the other hand already present short vectors of length $\leq O(\sqrt{d})$. These points have been addressed in refs. [20, 21], where the authors show the following statement.

Corollary 10 ([20, 21, Corollary 3]). If $d = \lfloor n/3 \rfloor$, then with probability greater than $1 - 2^{-0.1n}$ the shortest vector in a random NTRU lattice has length greater than $\sqrt{0.28n}$.

This statement gives us confidence to claim that random NTRU lattice based GKP codes as constructed above can be expected to be *good* when the parameters are chosen properly, as summarized by the following.

Theorem 7 (Good codes from NTRU lattices). A GKP code with $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{(2/q)}L$, where L is the NTRU lattice over Φ_0 specified in the basis eq. (5.38) with $d = \lfloor n/3 \rfloor$ encodes

$$k = n \tag{5.50}$$

qubits and has with probability greater than $1 - 2^{-0.1n}$ a distance given by

$$\Delta = \min\left\{\sqrt{\frac{0.14n}{q}}, \sqrt{\frac{q}{2}}\right\}.$$
(5.51)

For sufficiently large constant q and $n \leq q^2/0.28$ this defines a randomized family of good GKP codes.

Proof. Follows immediately from corollary 10 and the GKP-code construction laid out in the main text. \Box

5.3.3 Numerical results

In fig. 5.3 are plotted the shortest vector lengths for $N_{\text{sample}} = 100$ randomly sampled NTRU lattices for varying q and n with p = 3. In the figures, we compare samples over NTRU-like random cyclic lattices, where h is sampled randomly from R_q in row a) with NTRU lattices over $\Phi = x^n - 1$ with finvertible in R_q and bounded non-zero entries $d = \lfloor n/3 \rfloor$ (in row b)). We also compare the average length of shortest vectors for even more constrained NTRU lattices where the public key h is also required to be invertible in R_q in row c. In this case we obtain g from the amended distribution $g \sim pD(d+1,d)$ since otherwise g – and thus h – would have a trivial root g(1) = 0 rendering the polynomial non-invertible. Finally, in row d), the experiment is carried out using the setup of ref. [181], where the quotient $\Phi = x^n + 1$ is chosen to be irreducible and n is a power of 2.

In these statistics we observe that random cyclic lattices (row a)) appear to agree well with the Gaussian heuristic, while the growth of the shortest vector length of the NTRU lattices in row b) and c) degrades with increasing q, consistent with the bound given in corollary 10. The numerical results suggest that simply picking a random polynomial $h \in R_q$ is very likely to yield the $\lambda_1 \sim \sqrt{n}$ scaling. This is summarized as the following conjecture.

Conjecture 2 (Good GKP codes). A GKP code with $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{d/qL}$, where L is specified by the basis in (5.38) and h is selected at random from $R_q = \mathbb{Z}_q[x]/\langle x^n - 1 \rangle$, is likely a good code with k = n and

$$\Delta \ge \min\left\{\sqrt{\frac{n}{d\pi e}}, \sqrt{\frac{q}{d}}\right\}.$$
(5.52)

Note that the present conjecture is a somewhat stronger statement than what is implied by theorem 4. Theorem 4 requires uniform randomization over symmetric upper right blocks of the corresponding generator matrices $X = X^T$, which still maintains n(n-1)/2 free parameters. Here, the (quasi-) circular structure of the blocks already reduces the number of independent parameters to n, which is only a small subset of the space of all lattices generated with upper right block $X = X^T$. The numerical findings and the conjecture predict that this small subset is large enough and sufficiently well-distributed within the space of all lattices to maintain the λ_1 scaling.

Finally, in row d), one observes a good agreement of the shortest vector lengths with the scaling proposed by the Gaussian heuristic. In ref. [181] a probabilistic lower bound on the smallest infinity norm $\lambda_1^{\infty}(L)$ has been proven, which is included in the figure. As we'll discuss later, GKP codes derived from this particular NTRU- setup are of cryptographic relevance and based on these numerical observations we can also conjecture that such GKP codes are likely good.

Conjecture 3 (Good GKP codes). A GKP code with $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{d/qL}$, where L with det $L = q^n$ is equivalent to NTRU lattice specified by the basis in (5.38) and $h = g/f \leftarrow f, g$ are sampled at random from a Gaussian distribution with variance $\sigma^2 = q$ in $R_q = \mathbb{Z}_q[x]/\langle x^n + 1 \rangle, q \ge \text{poly}(n)$ and $n \ge 8$ a power of 2 is likely a good code with k = n and

$$\Delta \ge \sqrt{\frac{n}{d\pi e}}.\tag{5.53}$$



Figure 5.3: Shortest vector lengths computed via full HKZ reduction of a) random cyclic ($\Phi_0 = x^n - 1$) lattices as generated by the hard lattice generator in sagemath, b) random NTRU lattices with p = 3 and $d = \lfloor n/3 \rfloor$ and c) random NTRU lattices where h is invertible in R_q for varying $q = 2, \ldots, 2048$. In d) we sample NTRU lattices generated with the irreducible quotient $\Phi = x^n + 1$, where n is a power of 2. For each $n \in [2, 24]$ we sample 100 NTRU lattices and compute the shortest vector by computing the HKZ reduced lattice basis. For reference, we plot the expected shortest vector length from the Gaussian heuristic $\lambda(n) = \sqrt{nq/\pi e}$ in blue and the expected lower bound $\lambda_0(n) = \sqrt{0.28n}$ in red. In panel d), we have also included a green line at \sqrt{q} , which is the standard deviation of the discrete Gaussian distribution f, g are sampled from and is related to a probabilistic lower bound for $n \ge 8$ a power of 2 on the shortest infinity norm $\lambda_1^{\infty}(L)$ derived in ref. [181]. The sagemath [65] code as well as all numerical data presented here is available under ref. [51]. The sagemath functionalities to construct NTRU lattices are partially adapted from ref. [18].

In contrast to the previous statement in proposition 7, these distance bounds do not suffer from choosing larger modulus q, but we can pick q arbitrarily large to obtain high distances.

The trivial sub-lattice $L_q = q\mathbb{Z}^{2n} \subseteq L$ which enforces the q modularity in the cryptographic setup is analogue to the structure of concatenated (hypercubic) GKP codes $\mathcal{L}_{\text{triv}} = \sqrt{dq}\mathbb{Z}^{2n} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$, such that the lattices \mathcal{L} defined above may be interpreted as a concatenated (qudit) GKP code where $\mathcal{L}_{\text{triv}}$ defines the underlying single mode qudit code with D = dq. It is interesting that this class of NTRU-GKP codes thus shares characteristics of both *scaled*- as well as *concatenated* GKP codes.

5.4 The Dream

In this chapter we have discussed ways to implement GKP codes by means of scaling known symplectically self-dual lattices derived from root systems and introduced a novel class of GKP codes constructed upon instances of the NTRU cryptosystem, which is also shown to yield a family of random good GKP codes. On both these fronts there is more to explore. Root lattices carry the defining feature of having (orthogonal) automorphisms generated by phase-space reflections through hypersurfaces normal to the roots. This is a natural starting point to search for symplectic orthogonal automorphisms – i.e. logical Clifford gates – within those groups. For instance, as has been pointed out in ref. [38], the E_8 lattice possesses 46080 different symplectic automorphisms, which naturally translates into a meaningful fraction of the logical Clifford group to be implementable through relatively simple physical operations provided by *pas*sive linear optical elements. Furthermore, the existence of such automorphisms also implies the ability for GKP codes built on those lattices to distill magic states from the Gaussian vacuum state. We discuss this relation in appendix B more in depth. A concrete challenge here would be to systematically identify the subgroup of symplectic automorphism group within the reflection (Weyl) groups of symplectic root lattices.

A more pertinent question is to explore how the weight of an optimal generating set for GKP lattices influences possible distances in the following sense. In chapter 4, relationships between the euclidean $\|\cdot\|_2$ norm of lattice basis vectors and the distance Δ of GKP codes have already been discussed through transcendence theorems and theta functions. A physically more meaningful setting would be to constrain the $\|\cdot\|_0$ norm of the rows and columns of the lattice generator and ask what euclidean distances are possible, as this constraint quantifies the physical connectivity between different quadratures and modes necessary to measure the associated stabilizers. For qubit-based quantum error correcting codes, it was recently shown that families of so-called good Low-Density-Parity-Check (LDPC) code exist [35, 36, 151]. When concatenated with single mode GKP codes such codes imply the desired $\Delta \propto \sqrt{n}$ scaling while retaining short basis vectors for the lattice in $\|\cdot\|_0$ norm. The fact that the bounds in chap. 4 are derived using the euclidean $\|\cdot\|_2$ norm, however, suggests that there is room to adjust the scaling factor for the distance by allowing to vary the euclidean length of the shortest $\|\cdot\|_0$ norm lattice vectors. Conversely, given a lattice and searching for optimal (short) bases relative to the $\|\cdot\|_0$ norm is a relevant problem to examine.

Chapter 6

Decoding GKP codes

6.1 Decoding is hard



Figure 6.1: Sketch of a Venn diagram illustrating the relationships between relevant complexity classes and the categorization of decoding- and lattice problems. Note that to be very precise, one should substitute all problems and problem classes with their decision version variants to avoid comparing apples to oranges: Instead of #P it would be more appropriate to consider the class $P^{\#P}$ of polynomial time decidable problems with access to a #P oracle and similarly, substitute SVP and CVP by its appropriate decision variants. For clarity of presentation we sweep these details under the carpet.

What is... complexity?

Computational complexity theory is the categorization of computational problems into their solvability relative to the size of the input of an individual instance. Most commonly, one focuses on *decision problems*, which are questions formulated on length n bitstrings b that are answered by a simple Yes or No, that is they evaluate a function $p: \mathbb{Z}_2^n \to \mathbb{Z}_2$.

- The class P is the class of all problems answerable within O(poly(n)) elementary computational steps, one also says *polynomial time*.
- The class NP is the class of all *non-deterministic polynomial* time problems. I.e. the questions doesn't necessarily be answerable in polynomial time, but there exists an O(poly(n)) time algorithm that decides whether a given answer was correct or not.
- The class BQP, termed bounded-error quantum polynomial, captures the class of problems decidable by executing a quantum computation within a polynomial number of steps: preparing initial states, applying gates and measurements with high probability. As quantum measurements are non-deterministic in general, it is necessary to relax definition to only require to obtain the right answer with probability bounded away from $p \ge 0.5 + c, c > 0$. The success probability can then be arbitrarily amplified by repeating the experiment and taking the majority.
- The class #P is not a decision problem but counts the number of Yes answers to a problem in NP. Given access to a #P solver, one can also find out whether the answer to a problem is Yes by simply querying whether there is a non-zero number of Yes answers. One specifies this by defining the class $P^{\#P}$, the class of polynomial time algorithms that have black-box access to a #P solver.

We say that a problem f can be *reduced* to a problem g, or $f \leq g$, if there exists a polynomial time algorithm that can solve f given access to an oracle that solves g. A problem is called C - hard if all problems in C can be reduced to it, i.e. it is at least as hard as all problems in C; if it is contained in C itself too, we call it C - complete.

See fig. 6.1 for an overview of the relationship between these classes and how some relevant problems fall into them. Further reference is found in ref. [1].

Decoding classical error correction

The decoding problem is one of the cornerstones of computational complexity theory. In classical error correction, where the code space is a space of bitstrings $C \in \mathbb{Z}_2^n$, we have access to the *parity check matrix* $H \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{r \times n}$, which is such that ker(H) = C, and one can compute the *syndrome* of codewords $c \in C$ that are perturbed by an error $e \in \mathbb{Z}_2^n$,

$$\boldsymbol{s} = H(\boldsymbol{c} + \boldsymbol{e}) \mod 2 = H\boldsymbol{e} \mod 2. \tag{6.1}$$

In practice, one assumes small errors to happen more likely than large errors, such that the decoding problem becomes the task of solving the optimization problem

$$Dec(s; C) = \underset{\substack{e \in \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{n}, \\ He=s \mod 2}}{\arg \min} \|e\|,$$
(6.2)

where $\|\cdot\|$ is typically taken as the Hamming norm $\|\cdot\|_0$ but since we are working over binary strings other norms $\|\cdot\|_0 = \|\cdot\|_1 = \|\cdot\|_2^{1/2}$ only differ by a power.

One can turn this into a decision problem

$$\mathsf{Dec}^{w}(\boldsymbol{s}; C) = \exists \boldsymbol{e} \in \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{n} : H\boldsymbol{e} = \boldsymbol{s} \mod 2, \ \|\boldsymbol{e}\| \le w, \tag{6.3}$$

such that the corresponding optimization problem can be solved by varying $w \in \{1, \ldots, \lfloor d_C/2 \rfloor\}$ up to the half distance of the code, which is defined as the norm of the smallest codeword,

$$d_C = \min_{\boldsymbol{c} \in C\boldsymbol{c} \neq 0} \|\boldsymbol{c}\|_0. \tag{6.4}$$

This is an example of a reduction of an optimization problem to a corresponding decision problem. The classical decoding problem was proven to be NP - hard in ref. [17] - which makes the decision version NP - complete - and, similarly, ref. [188] proved that the problem of computing the distance is NP - hard with accompanying NP - complete decision version

$$\text{Dist}^{w}(C) = \exists c \in C : \|c\|_{0} \le w.$$
(6.5)

The hardness of decoding classical error correcting codes has been an important ingredient in the design of cryptographic protocols [19, 134]. The basic idea in such protocols is to devise a way to draw error correcting codes at random in a way that allows the user of the protocol to keep a *secret key*, which allows to convert the error correcting code together with its syndromes back into a form that is easy to decode. This idea is vastly powerful and lies at the basis of many modern cryptographic protocols: see e.g. ref. [19] and references therein.

Decoding quantum error correction

We have already looked at the decoding problem of quantum error correcting codes in chapter 3, which we briefly review. For simplicity, we consider only qubit-based quantum error correcting codes with Pauli-type stabilizers. We label each Pauli operator by a binary string $l \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{2n}$

$$P(\boldsymbol{l}) = X_1^{l_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes X_n^{l_n} \otimes Z_1^{l_{n+1}} \otimes \ldots \otimes Z_n^{l_{2n}},$$
(6.6)

such that two Pauli operators commute as

$$P(\boldsymbol{l})P(\boldsymbol{l'}) = (-1)^{\boldsymbol{l^T}J\boldsymbol{l'}}P(\boldsymbol{l'})P(\boldsymbol{l}), \qquad (6.7)$$

where the commutation phase is determined by the symplectic inner product $l^T J l' \mod 2$. The generating set of a quantum error correcting code $\mathcal{G} = \{P(\boldsymbol{g}_1), \ldots, P(\boldsymbol{g}_r)\} \subset \mathcal{P}$ with r = n - k independent generators can hence be summarized by the parity check matrix $H = (\boldsymbol{g}_1, \ldots, \boldsymbol{g}_r)^T$ and the stabilizer group is given by its row-span $S = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(H)$. Logical Pauli operators live in the commutant of the stabilizer group with labels $L = S^{\perp}$ relative to the symplectic inner product mod 2, such that the quotient group L/S yields a set of representatives of the 4^k logical Pauli operators.

The syndrome measured upon applying a Pauli error P(e) to a code state is hence

$$\boldsymbol{s} = H\boldsymbol{e} \mod 2,\tag{6.8}$$

which is analogous to the situation in classical error correction, except for the additional requirement that the stabilizer generators labeled in the rows of H commute, i.e. $HH^T = 0 \mod 2$.

Let's assume that we are given a probability distribution over Pauli errors p(e) and measure a syndrome $s = He \mod 2$. The first step in decoding is to find a generic error $d \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{2n}$ that yields the same syndrome. Applying this correction returns the state to code space and what remains is to find a logical post-correction by computing the probability that this correction has returned us to the wrong element in code space. This computational task, known as maximum likelihood decoding, is to evaluate

$$MLD(\boldsymbol{s}) = \operatorname*{arg\,max}_{\boldsymbol{l} \in L/S} \sum_{\boldsymbol{s} \in S} p(\boldsymbol{d} + \boldsymbol{l} + \boldsymbol{s}), \tag{6.9}$$

which finds the most likely logical error incurred by applying correction d up to stabilizer equivalences. The generic difficulty in this problem stems from the fact that there may be many error configurations that are of low probability by themselves, but add up to a high probability configuration due to a combinatorial factor when added up over stabilizer-equivalent configurations. This difficulty was made concrete in ref. [112], who showed that MLD decoding quantum error correcting codes is generally #P-complete.

When the probability for errors are low and sufficiently well-behaved, such that the most likely error coset d + l is expected to also be given by the most likely individual configuration, the quantum decoding problem simply reduces to the problem

$$\mathsf{Dec}(s;Q) = \underset{\substack{e \in \mathbb{Z}_2^n, \\ He=s \mod 2}}{\arg \min} \|e\|, \tag{6.10}$$

where $Q = \ker(H)$. For quantum error correcting codes this problem has been shown to be NP-hard in ref. [110]. This mode of decoding has also been dubbed *minimum energy decoding* (MED) in ref. [192], due to the interpretation of the failure probability of the MLD decoder in eq. (6.9) as the free energy of a certain statistical mechanical model [63, 192], whose energy – i.e. without the combinatorial entropic contribution – is minimized by solving this problem.

Lattice problems

Another presumably hard class of problems is formulated on lattices. Given a lattice $L \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and an arbitrary vector $t \in \mathbb{R}^n$ the analogues of the distance-computation and decoding problems are the *shortest*- and *closest vector problem*.

$$\begin{split} \mathtt{SVP}(L) &= \mathop{\arg\min}_{0 \neq \boldsymbol{x} \in L} \|\boldsymbol{x}\|_2, \\ \mathtt{CVP}(\boldsymbol{t};L) &= \mathop{\arg\min}_{\boldsymbol{x} \in L} \|\boldsymbol{t} - \boldsymbol{x}\|_2. \end{split}$$

These problems are in fact so hard, that even approximations are hard to obtain. To quantify this, define the approximate problems with approximation parameter γ and let $\lambda_1(L) = \|\text{SVP}(L)\|_2$, $\text{dist}(t, L) = \|\text{CVP}(t; L)\|$ denote the length of the shortest vector, resp. the minimal distance between t and the lattice. Approximate versions of the shortest- and closest vector problem can then be defined as

$$\mathtt{SVP}_{\gamma}(L) = \mathtt{return} \ \boldsymbol{x} \in L - \{0\} : \ \|\boldsymbol{x}\| \leq \gamma \ \lambda_1(L),$$

 $\mathtt{CVP}_{\gamma}(\boldsymbol{t}; L) = \mathtt{return} \ \boldsymbol{x} \in L : \ \|\boldsymbol{t} - \boldsymbol{x}\| \leq \gamma \ \mathrm{dist}(\boldsymbol{t}, L).$

It was proven in ref. [67] that these problems are hard even for approximation factors $\gamma = n^{c/\log\log(n)}$. On the contrary, if the approximation factor is allowed to be exponentially large, $\gamma = 2^{n(\log\log n)^2/\log n}$, the Lenstra-Lenstra-Lovász algorithm solves them efficiently [123, 159, 168].

It is somewhat unintuitive to see the hardness of the above problems in the simple case of two-dimensional lattices. The generic hardness of these problems stems from the fact that the computationally efficient way to represent a lattice is through its generator matrix $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$, which may contain arbitrarily long non-orthogonal vectors, and there are $|\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{Z})| = \infty$ possible bases to pick from. If one is lucky to possess a "good" basis for a lattice, which e.g. contains the shortest lattice vector, or even better: which is such that the basis vectors represent the *n* successive minima, it obviously helps to solve the SVP problem. By presenting a very fine-grained resolution of the lattice, a good basis of similar type then also helps in solving the CVP problem as it allows to represent any lattice vector in a relatively minimal linear combination of its basis vectors [168].

6.2 Maximum likelihood decoding GKP codes

To derive the decoding problem for GKP codes, assume a stochastic Gaussian displacement noise channel as specified in eq. (4.61) with variance $\tilde{\sigma}^2$. For comparison with the literature, when the displacement operators are defined by a more "standard" convention without the overall constant $\sqrt{2\pi}$, this corresponds to a physical variance of $\sigma^2 = 2\pi\tilde{\sigma}^2$. Upon sampling an error e and measuring the stabilizers, a syndrome vector of the form

$$\boldsymbol{s}(\boldsymbol{e}) = MJ\boldsymbol{e} \mod 1 \tag{6.11}$$

is obtained as the phases of the eigenvalues of the stabilizer generators $\{D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i)\}_{i=1}^{2n}$ when acting on a code state vector $|\psi\rangle$ displaced by an error vector \boldsymbol{e} ,

$$D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i)D(\boldsymbol{e}) |\psi\rangle = e^{i2\pi\boldsymbol{\xi}_i J \boldsymbol{e}} D(\boldsymbol{e}) |\psi\rangle, \qquad (6.12)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\xi}_i^T = M_i$ is the i'th row of M.

Since we are dealing with full rank lattices, given the syndrome, we can assign a pure error

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) = (MJ)^{-1}\boldsymbol{s} \tag{6.13}$$

that has the same syndrome s as e as initial guess for the correction.

To find the appropriate logical post-correction, for every $\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}$ we evaluate the probabilities that, given syndrome \boldsymbol{s} , the actual error is stabilizer equivalent to $\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}$, which is given by

$$P([\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}] | \boldsymbol{s}) = P^{-1}(\boldsymbol{s}) \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L}} P_{\tilde{\sigma}}(\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} + \boldsymbol{\xi}), \qquad (6.14)$$

where $[x] = \{x + \xi, \xi \in \mathcal{L}\}$ and $P_{\tilde{\sigma}}$ is as specified in eq. (4.61). This can be rewritten as

$$P([\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}] | \boldsymbol{s}) = P^{-1}(\boldsymbol{s}) \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L} + \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}} P_{\tilde{\sigma}}(\boldsymbol{\xi})$$
(6.15)

$$=\sqrt{2\pi\tilde{\sigma}^{2n}}^{-1}P^{-1}(\boldsymbol{s})\Theta_{\mathcal{L}+\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s})+\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}}\left(\frac{i}{2\pi\tilde{\sigma}^{2}}\right),\tag{6.16}$$

proportional to the theta series of the *packing* $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{L} + \eta(s) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}$ evaluated in $z = \frac{i}{2\pi\tilde{\sigma}^2} \,^1$. Let $\left(\tilde{\mathcal{D}}, N_{\tilde{\delta}}\right)$ denote the distance distribution of \mathcal{P} , that is,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{D}} = \{ \|\boldsymbol{\xi} + \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \|^2, \ \boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L} \}$$
(6.17)

is the set of possible lengths in the shifted lattice and $N_{\tilde{\delta}}$ counts the multiplicity of these lengths in the shifted lattice. We can thus write the coset probabilities above in a *small error* or "low temperature expansion",

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}+\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s})+\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}}\left(\frac{i}{2\pi\tilde{\sigma}^{2}}\right) = \sum_{\tilde{\delta}\in\tilde{\mathcal{D}}} N_{\tilde{\delta}} q^{\tilde{\delta}}.$$
(6.18)

evaluated at $q = \exp(-1/2\tilde{\sigma}^2)$. MLD decoding is implemented by applying the total correction

$$\overline{\boldsymbol{\eta}} = \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) + \underset{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}}{\arg \max} P([\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) + \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}] | \boldsymbol{s}).$$
(6.19)

6.2.1 Minimum energy decoding

In the limit $\tilde{\sigma}, q \to 0$, the sum (6.18) becomes sharply distributed around solutions with minimal $\tilde{\delta}$. That is, the bulk of the sum (6.18) is determined by

$$\underset{\boldsymbol{\xi}\in\mathcal{L}}{\arg\min}\|\boldsymbol{\xi}+\boldsymbol{\eta}(s)+\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}\|,\tag{6.20}$$

such that the logical post-correction becomes

$$\overline{\boldsymbol{\eta}} = \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) - \operatorname*{arg\,min}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}} \| \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) - \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \|$$
(6.21)

$$= \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}) - \mathtt{CVP}(\boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{s}), \mathcal{L}^{\perp}).$$
(6.22)

 $^{{}^1\}mathcal{P}$ as the translate of a lattice $\mathcal L$ is formally not a lattice, in particular $\mathcal P$ may not contain the origin.
For small error rates $\overline{\sigma} \to 0$, the most likely coset as computed in MLD is given by the most likely individual error consistent with the syndrome. In this limit MLD reduces to CVP.

As already noted, this is a classical computationally hard problem. In the following we show that 1. for GKP codes, MLD decoding is at least as hard as MED decoding and 2. MED decoding a concatenated (qubit-) GKP code implies a decoder for the corresponding qubit-code.

Lemma 11. (eMLD \geq MED) Given an oracle that evaluates

$$\mathrm{eMLD}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp},\mathcal{L},\overline{\sigma}) = \Theta_{\mathcal{L}+\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}+\boldsymbol{x}}\bigg(\frac{i}{2\pi\overline{\sigma}^2}\bigg),$$

 $CVP(\boldsymbol{x}, \mathcal{L}^{\perp})$ can be solved efficiently.

Proof. Denote by $\text{DecCVP}(\boldsymbol{x}, \mathcal{L}, r)$ the decisional CVP problem that outputs True if $\text{dist}(\boldsymbol{x}, \mathcal{L}) \leq r$. This is polynomially equivalent to the optimizationand search variants of CVP [157]. First notice that we generally have

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}+\boldsymbol{x}}\left(\frac{i}{2\pi\overline{\sigma}^{2}}\right) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}\in\mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}}\Theta_{\mathcal{L}+\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}+\boldsymbol{x}}\left(\frac{i}{2\pi\overline{\sigma}^{2}}\right)$$
$$\geq e^{-\frac{1}{2\sigma^{2}}\operatorname{dist}\left(\boldsymbol{x},\mathcal{L}^{\perp}\right)^{2}}.$$
(6.23)

If $DecCVP(x, \mathcal{L}, r)$ is true, then we further have

$$e^{-\frac{1}{2\overline{\sigma}^2}\operatorname{dist}(\boldsymbol{x},\mathcal{L}^{\perp})^2} \ge e^{-\frac{r^2}{2\overline{\sigma}^2}} \tag{6.24}$$

for all $\overline{\sigma} \in \mathbb{R}$, and hence we can solve $\text{DecCVP}(x, \mathcal{L}^{\perp}, r)$ by checking if above condition is true for sufficiently small $\overline{\sigma} < r$. Alternatively, w.l.o.g. assume that $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $x \in \mathbb{Z}$. Given access to

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}+\boldsymbol{x}}(z) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{N}} a_m e^{i\pi zm},$$

we can compute

$$2a_m = e^{m\pi\tau} \int_{-1}^1 dt \, e^{-it\pi m} \Theta_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp} + x}(t + i\tau)$$
 (6.25)

to evaluate $\{a_m\}$ for $m = 1, \ldots, M$, where M can be bounded by Mikowski's convex body theorem, to find the smallest non-zero coefficient a_m . This solves optimization-CVP which is polynomially equivalent to its search version.

Note that here we did not show that the full MLD problem

$$\mathsf{MLD}(\boldsymbol{x},\mathcal{L},\overline{\sigma}) = \operatorname*{arg\,max}_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}} \Theta_{\mathcal{L}+\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}+\boldsymbol{x}} \left(\frac{i}{2\pi\overline{\sigma}^2}\right)$$
(6.26)

is hard.

An important class of GKP codes are concatenated codes, which we have learned to correspond to construction A lattices in chapter 4. Lattices corresponding to concatenated GKP codes have the special structure of containing a trivial sublattice $\sqrt{2}\mathcal{L}_{n\Box} = 2\mathbb{Z}^{2n} \subseteq \sqrt{2}\mathcal{L}$, such that $\mathcal{L}^{\perp} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{N\Box}^{\perp}$ is a sublattice of the dual-trivial lattice. One can hence build a decoder by first applying a correction that takes an error $e \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ back onto the dual sublattice $\mathcal{L}_{N\Box}^{\perp}$, which is always exact and efficient due to its orthogonal structure, and then use the applied shift to inform a secondary correction, that takes the error back to \mathcal{L}^{\perp} . Pictorially, we implement a sequence

$$\mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathcal{L}_{N\square}^{\perp} \xrightarrow{\text{CVP}(\mu)} \mathcal{L}^{\perp}.$$
(6.27)

In fact, in ref. [61, p. 450], it has (constructively) been shown that given a soft decoder for a binary code C, this procedure is always exact.

Lemma 12 ([61], p. 450).

$$CVP(\cdot, \Lambda(C)) = Decode(C).$$
(6.28)

Proof. C is embedded in \mathbb{Z}^n by identifying the (scaled and shifted) Construction A lattice $\Lambda(C) = 1 - 2C + 4\mathbb{Z}^n$, where every bit string $\mathbf{b} \in C$ is mapped to $1 - 2\mathbf{b} \in \{-1, 1\}^n$. In this representation we consecutively solve $CVP(\cdot, 4\mathbb{Z}^n)$ and then apply the soft decoder for C, which finds the closest transformed code word $\mathbf{c} \in 1 - 2C \in \{-1, 1\}^n$ to input $\mathbf{x}' \in \mathbb{R}^n$. As both decoders are exact, with a little care (see ref. [61, p. 450]), this solves CVP exactly. Note that the reverse direction is trivially true via the embedding of C into \mathbb{R}^n provided by Construction A and taking modulo $4\mathbb{Z}^n$. A hard decoder, that solves

$$\underset{\boldsymbol{c}\in C}{\arg\min} d_H(\boldsymbol{c}_b, \boldsymbol{x}_b) \tag{6.29}$$

on binary input $\boldsymbol{x} \in \{-1, 1\}^n$ is also derived from a soft decoder by noticing that $\|\boldsymbol{c} - \boldsymbol{x}\|_2^2 = 4d_H(\boldsymbol{c}_b, \boldsymbol{x}_b)$, where \boldsymbol{x}_b represents the binary $\{0, 1\}$ representation of \boldsymbol{x} and d_H is the Hamming distance.

6.2.2 Decoding NTRU-GKP codes

We review the decoding problem for the NTRU-GKP code discussed in section 5.3. Remember that the NTRU-GKP code had a natural concatenated structure, that is there is a trivial sublattice structure $\mathcal{L}_{triv} = \sqrt{dq}\mathbb{Z}^{2n} \subset \mathcal{L}$ associated to the lattices describing NTRU-GKP codes, such that it is natural to split the decoding into two steps: 1. the correction of the error back onto one living on $\mathcal{L}_{triv}^{\perp}$ and, 2. correct back from $\mathcal{L}_{triv}^{\perp}$ to \mathcal{L}^{\perp} .

A code state that (either through a natural error process or by deliberate modification) undergoes a displacement by

$$e = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \tag{6.30}$$

gives rise to trivial syndrome

$$s_{\text{triv}} = \sqrt{dq} e \mod 1.$$
 (6.31)

Due to the simple orthogonal structure of $\mathcal{L}_{\text{triv}}$ a first step of the correction is easily carried out by applying the correction $\eta = -s_{\text{triv}}/\sqrt{dq}$. After correcting

for the trivial syndrome (associated to the underlying hypercubic GKP code) the remaining error is the unknown, but likely short, vector

$$e' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{dq}} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{triv}}^{\perp}, \ u, v \in \mathbb{Z}^n.$$
 (6.32)

The residual error can be considered as living on the scaled q-ary "lattice"²

$$\mathcal{L}_q = \frac{1}{\sqrt{dq}} \mathbb{Z}_q^{2n} \tag{6.33}$$

dual to the trivial stabilizer lattice and has a probability distribution induced by the trivial syndrome and correction

$$P(\boldsymbol{e}') \propto \sum_{\boldsymbol{t} \in \mathcal{L}_{\text{triv}}} e^{-\frac{(\boldsymbol{e}' + \boldsymbol{s}_{\text{triv}} + \boldsymbol{t})^2}{2\overline{\sigma}^2}}.$$
(6.34)

The remaining syndrome is

$$s = MJe' \mod 1$$

= $\frac{1}{q} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{v} - A(h)\boldsymbol{u} \mod q \\ 0 \mod 1 \end{pmatrix}$. (6.35)

We recognize that the first block of the syndrome $qs_1 = v - A(h)u \mod q$ syndrome takes the same form as the ciphertext of the NTRU cryptosystem (compare to section 5.3). The position of the message is now taken by m = vand the random vector is replaced by $r = -\sigma(u)$. Following the standard NTRU decryption process now allows to obtain $v \mod q \mod p$ as well as

$$\boldsymbol{u} = qA^{\sigma}(h^{-1})(\boldsymbol{v} - q\boldsymbol{s}_1) \mod q \tag{6.36}$$

We can also decompose the remaining syndrome as

$$q\boldsymbol{s} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{v} \\ -\boldsymbol{u} \end{pmatrix} + \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} -A(h)\boldsymbol{u} \\ \boldsymbol{u} \end{pmatrix}}_{\in \mathcal{L}_{cs}^J}, \tag{6.37}$$

where the vector on the RHS is element of the flipped NTRU lattice generated by the public basis

$$H^{J} = \begin{pmatrix} qI & 0\\ -A(h) & I \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.38)

Equation (6.37) shows that a likely, i.e., small, error vector $\begin{pmatrix} v \\ -u \end{pmatrix}$ can indeed be obtained by solving $CVP(\mathcal{L}^J, qs)$, which can be expected to be at least as hard as finding the shortest lattice vectors in \mathcal{L}_{cs} if not given the secret key to the corresponding instance of the NTRU cryptosystem.

 $^{^2 {\}rm strictly}$ speaking, this is not a lattice but a finite subgroup of one when lattices are considered as infinite Abelian groups.

6.3 Quantum public key communication from NTRU-GKP codes

The fact that *decoding* the NTRU-GKP code essentially is equivalent to *decrypt-ing* the corresponding instance of the NTRU cryptosystem creates an interesting situation. Given access to the secret key of the NTRU instance, one can devise decoders built on the NTRU decryption mechanism. Different strategies to this end were numerically investigated in ref. [58], to which the interested reader is referred.

More interesting is the fact that without access to the secret key, we can also expect that decoding the GKP code becomes as hard as breaking the corresponding instance of the cryptosystem. This suggests that the NTRU-GKP codes presented here may be used for both, quantum error correction and a new kind of quantum public key communication scheme at the same time. One may interpret NTRU-GKP codes as trapdoor decodable quantum error correcting codes. That is, while stabilizer measurements can be performed and code states prepared using only access to the public key h, knowledge of the corresponding secret keys (f, g) of the NTRU cryptosystem is necessary for reliable and efficient decoding.

This observation naturally leads to the idea of trying to build a *private* quantum channel [6] using the NTRU-GKP code.

The setup is that two parties, Alice and Bob (see figure 6.2), would like to communicate a quantum state over a public channel, where a potential evesdropper, Eve, could evesdrop on their message. If Alice and Bob were able to also exchange classical information over a classical secret channel inaccessible to Eve, e.g. if they met up at some point very far in the past and interchanged this information if ever needed, there is a simple strategy that allows them to also setup a private quantum channel using the (quantum-) one-time-pad [141]. For every message – an n-qubit quantum state $|\psi_m\rangle$ – that Bob wants to send to Alice, Alice simply draws a 2n-bit random bitstring $\mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{2n}$ and secretly communicates it to Bob, who transmits $P(\mathbf{r}) |\psi_m\rangle$ to Alice. That is, Bob perturbs the quantum state by a Pauli operator corresponding to the bitstring before sending it over to Alice. Knowing what she told Bob, Alice can then simply undo the Pauli operator by applying $P^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r})$ to her inbox to decrypt the quantum message.

This strategy is secure for the following reason. The eavesdropper Eve does not know r. Hence, to Eve, the transmitted state looks like the message state with a *random* Pauli operator applied to it. It is easy to show (see also the "what is..." box 7.3.3, where this becomes an example of a *state-twirl*) that this completely scrambles the quantum message and all that Eve is able to see is random gibberish. This strategy is known as the *quantum one-time-pad* (quantum OTP) [141] and is amongst the most fundamental ideas in quantum cryptography.

The protocol proposed to set up a private quantum channel is similar to the quantum OTP and uses that the syndrome of the random displacement error encodes a ciphertext of the NTRU scheme. The idea is that Alice draws a random instance of the NTRU cryptosystem by sampling a secret key pair (f,g) and tells Bob via a public classical channel the public key h, which we have seen earlier to fully specify the corresponding GKP code (they fix all other



Figure 6.2: Outline of the private quantum channel established using the NTRU-GKP code as described in the main text.

parameters n, d, q, Φ beforehand). When Bob now perturbs the state by a small error, Alice can measure stabilizers and decode with the help of the secret key. An evesdropper without the knowledge of the secret key, however, cannot.

The public key protocol, also described in fig. 6.2 is sketched as follows:

- 1. Alice samples a secret key pair (f, g) and computes the public key h, which is communicated to Bob.
- 2. Bob produces a code state described by the GKP code using the basis $\sqrt{d/q}H(h)$ and samples an error corresponding to a random message $e_0 = (-r, m)/\sqrt{\lambda q}$, according to the specifications of the NTRU cryptosystem, by which he displaces the state. He transmits the state to Alice.
- 3. Alice measures the stabilizers and decodes the state, e.g., via the NTRU decryption routine or by employing Babai's algorithm as outlined before using the secret key pair (f, g). She has hence received the to her unknown state from Bob through the error corrected private quantum channel.

The security of this scheme under the assumption that classically decoding a quantum error correcting code – i.e., finding small errors that are consistent with the syndrome – is *necessary* to retrieve its logical content is then immediately inherited from the corresponding classical NTRU cryptosystem. While we are not presenting a rigorous proof of the security of this scheme, supporting points are as follows.

Necessity to decode.

In order to unambiguously obtain the logical code state, it is necessary to find a correction e' consistent with the syndrome such that $||e_0 + e'|| \leq \Delta/2$. Since $||e_0||_{\infty} \leq 1/\sqrt{dq}$ and the smallest element in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} is of length Δ , this amounts to decrypting the NTRU ciphertext in the syndrome to identify e_0 . A first cryptanalysis goes as follows. Let $|\overline{\psi}\rangle$ be a logical code state vector specified by a GKP-NTRU code with lattice \mathcal{L} . We examine the eigenvalue of logical Pauli observables obtained when the initial code state is encrypted by applying the random displacement $D(\mathbf{e}_0)$, a syndrome $\mathbf{s}(e_0) = MJ\mathbf{e}_0 \mod 1$ is obtained and a generic correction via $\boldsymbol{\eta} = (MJ)^{-1}\mathbf{s}(\mathbf{e}_0)$ is applied. With

$$M^{-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{dq}} \begin{pmatrix} qI & -A_{\Phi}(h) \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.39}$$

this yields a generic correction

$$\boldsymbol{\eta} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{dq}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \boldsymbol{c}, \end{pmatrix} \tag{6.40}$$

where $\boldsymbol{c} = \boldsymbol{m} + A_{\Phi}(h)\boldsymbol{r} \mod q$ is the associated NTRU ciphertext. The total remaining error after correction thus is

$$\boldsymbol{e}_0 - \boldsymbol{\eta} = \frac{-1}{\sqrt{dq}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{r} \\ \boldsymbol{c} - \boldsymbol{m} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{r} \\ A_{\Phi}(h)\boldsymbol{r} \mod q \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.41)

We compute

$$M^{\perp}J(\boldsymbol{e}_0 - \boldsymbol{\eta}) = \frac{1}{d} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \boldsymbol{r} \end{pmatrix} \mod q/d, \tag{6.42}$$

which shows that for an input code state vector $|\psi\rangle$, after encoding and generic correction, the eigenvalues of logical Pauli operators corresponding to rows $i = n+1,\ldots,2n$ in M^{\perp} obtain a random phase $e^{i\frac{2\pi}{d}r_{i-n}}$. This observation suggests that, for d = 2, without access to the random string r embedded in the NTRU ciphertext in every instance, the quantum state is effectively projected onto a state that is diagonal in the logical Pauli-Z basis and quantum superpositions are washed out. This situation is similar to that of half a quantum OTP, where only one type (either X or Z) of Pauli operators is used in the encryption.

Orthogonality.

For a fixed quantum state vector $|\overline{\psi}\rangle$, different error realizations $D(e_0)$ where $||e_0|| < \Delta/2$ map the state to mutually orthogonal states (sectors of the QECC). This is guaranteed by the quantum error correction conditions. Without applying suitable corrections, separate encodings of the same logical quantum state vector $D(e_i) |\overline{\psi}\rangle$ are expected to appear uncorrelated.

6.3.1 Quantum cryptography with computational security

The design of the NTRU-GKP codes in sec. 5.3 is flexible enough to allow the use of versions of the NTRU-cryptosystems that are secure from quantum attacks under the computational assumption that SVP is hard on a quantum computer [158, 181], such that the protocol proposed here exemplifies the idea of designing quantum cryptographic protocols using *computational* assumptions. This idea stands in contrast to usual designs of quantum cryptographic protocols, which are typically designed to be *information theoretically secure*, such as the quantum OTP. The upshot of this approach is that computational security may suffice for many tasks considered in practice and escapes known no-go theorems for information theoretically secure protocols. Typical quantum cryptographic communication protocols, such as quantum key distribution (QKD) [74], require Alice and Bob to share some a priori entangled state which also needs to be distributed securely somehow. The protocol presented here is a promising approach towards resolving this requirement.

Are quantum decoders more powerful than classical decoders?

The core of proving security for the private quantum channel outlined above is summarized by the question of whether the classical decoding problem fully reduces to the quantum decoding problem. If that was the case, then solving the quantum decoding problem would always allow to break the corresponding instance of the NTRU cryptosystem. From the arguments presented so far this seems very likely the case, but it will be necessary to treat this question more rigorously nevertheless to make strong security claims. It makes sense to define these decoding problems as follows

Definition 6 (Quantum decoding problem). Let $C \subset \mathcal{H}$ be the code space associated to a stabilizer group $S = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle$ which is finitely generated by the set \mathcal{G} and let

$$\mathcal{N}(\cdot) = \sum_{E \in \mathcal{E}} p(E)E \cdot E^{\dagger} \tag{6.43}$$

be a noise channel with error operators $E \in \mathcal{E}$ and probability distribution $p : \mathcal{E} \to [0,1]$. Let $|\overline{\psi}\rangle \in \mathcal{C}$ be a code state and $\overline{\rho} = |\overline{\psi}\rangle \langle \overline{\psi}|$. The quantum decoding problem is solved by black box with the following in- and outputs.

- Input: $\mathcal{N}(\overline{\rho})$, \mathcal{E} , p.
- Ouput: $\arg \max_{|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{C}} \mathcal{F}(|\psi\rangle \langle \psi|, \overline{\rho})$,

where $\mathcal{F}(X, Y)$ is the fidelity in \mathcal{C} .

Definition 7 (Classical decoding problem). Let $C \subset \mathcal{H}$ be the code space associated to a stabilizer group $S = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle$ which is finitely generated by the set \mathcal{G} and centralizer C(S). Let

$$\mathcal{N}(\cdot) = \sum_{E \in \mathcal{E}} p(E)E \cdot E^{\dagger} \tag{6.44}$$

be a noise channel with error operators $E \in \mathcal{E}$ and probability distribution $p : \mathcal{E} \to [0,1]$. Further assume that every element $E \in \mathcal{E}$ is such that

$$g_k^{\dagger} E^{\dagger} g_k E = e^{i s_k(E)} I \ \forall k = 1 \dots |\mathcal{G}| \tag{6.45}$$

for a function $s : \mathcal{E} \to \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $|\overline{\psi}\rangle \in \mathcal{C}$ be a code state and let $\eta : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathcal{E}$ be an arbitrary but fixed inverse to s. The classical decoding problem is solved by black box with the following in- and outputs.

- Input: s, \mathcal{E}, p .
- Ouput: $\arg \max_{L \in \mathcal{C}(S)/S} \sum_{S \in S} p(\eta(s) + S + L).$

By design, we already know the opposite inclusion.

Lemma 13. Under the noise assumptions of the classical decoding problem, the quantum decoding problem reduces to the classical decoding problem.

Proof. Measure the stabilizer generators in \mathcal{G} . This collapses the state $\mathcal{N}(\overline{\rho})$ to a mixture of terms with a fixed syndrome s corresponding to the measurement outcome. Applying the classical MLD decoder in def. 7 yields the optimal fidelity by definition.



Figure 6.3: A (top) quantum decoder, a (middle) classical MLD decoder and (bottom) a MED decoder for the GKP code. In order to devise a quantum decoder, one usually imposes additional structure by forcing the quantum decoder to perform stabilizer measurements and thus reduces the quantum decoding task to the MLD decoding task in the middle.

In fact, the above statement can be made even stronger. When the actual noise model does not adhere to eq. (6.45) but contains coherent noise processes that are linear combinations of elements in an error basis that does satisfy eq. (6.45), the measurement collapse will "diagonalize" the noise channel into one that can be handled by the classical decoder, albeit with a potential adaption on the prior distribution p, which can be computed. The different versions of the decoding problem (specialized to the case of GKP codes) are sketched in fig. 6.3.

Interestingly, the converse statement is not so straightforward and remains an open problem. The difficulty in proving the converse stems from the fact that the quantum decoder in the way defined above does not output any information about *which* correction was applied. To infer this, a smarter strategy needs to be employed, such as quantum process tomography [45, 113]. We do not attempt such an analysis here but leave this as an interesting open question.

6.4 The Dream

In this chapter we have extensively discussed the decoding problem for quantum error correcting codes and found that the decoding problem for NTRU-GKP codes proposed in section 5.3 possesses an intimate link to the decryption of corresponding instances of the NTRU cryptosystem. We discussed a potential use of this link to build a quantum cryptographic protocol, a private quantum channel, which bases its security on computational assumptions where it is presumed to be hard for an adversary without a secret key to perform quantum error correction. This idea is in principle very similar to the seminal idea of McElies [134], where a classical error correcting code is drawn by applying a permutation to Goppa codes such that inverting the permutation becomes necessary for decrypting (i.e. decoding an "error"), but becomes more profound when applied to quantum error correction.

My dream along this line of research would be to devise a so-called *blind* delegated quantum computation protocol, where a (classical) client attempts to run universal quantum computations on a quantum server but can only communicate with the server through a classical channel. It is known that this task is very unlikely to be possible [2] when information theoretic security is required. Whether a softer demand of security under computational assumptions is possible, however, remains unclear to the best of my knowledge. The broad idea is, similar to our setup of the private quantum channel, to let the client sample a random quantum error correcting code which the server is instructed to use, but let the client retain a secret key that renders the computationally difficult decoding problem easy. Upon termination of the algorithm run by the server, the server measures the syndromes as well as the computational output, which are both communicated to the client. Under possession of the secret key, the client now can decode and obtain the error corrected outcome to her computation. There are many challenges that come along with the design of such a protocol, a suitable class of codes needs to be identified and computational steps that the server is supposed to run need to be communicated to the server in an encoded fashion such that the server cannot tell what computation exactly is executed. And finally, security needs to be proven rigorously.

This is an exciting challenge, and worthwhile to dream about.

Chapter 7

Implementation of GKP error correction

In this chapter we are going to discuss implementation of GKP codes. In contrast to the previous chapters, this is going to place a stronger emphasis on the physics of the relevant quantum systems and how it interplays with the structure of the GKP code. To implement the GKP code, the requirements to a physical system are, roughly,

- 1. It has a configuration space isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n , and an associated quantum phase space described by \mathbb{R}^{2n} .
- 2. There is a mechanism to measure stabilizers, given by displacement operators $D(\pmb{\xi})$,
- 3. There is a mechanism to measure logical operators $D(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp})$,
- 4. there is a mechanism to implement Gaussian unitary operations.

This is of course only a very crude sketch of sensible desiderata. Depending on the concrete ambition – whether one wants to implement a long-lived quantum memory, perform some quick computations or aims at using the GKP code for communication [147, 149] or metrology [70] these should be adapted. Notably, this list does not include preparation of GKP states, i.e. code states of the GKP code. The reason is that stabilizer measurements and GKP state preparation enjoy a circular relationship. Provided the ability to perform stabilizer measurements, one can prepare code states of the GKP code by simply measuring stabilizers and applying corrective shifts. Similarly, as we will see in sec. 7.2.2, the ability to prepare code states allows to implement GKP stabilizer measurements when combined with certain Gaussian unitary operations and homodyne measurements, i.e. measurements of \hat{q} and \hat{p} . We begin this chapter by reviewing some basics of photonic and superconducting systems to identify the physics behind the phase-space variables and discuss some basic tools needed to implement the GKP code in these systems.

Sections 7.2.1 and 7.2.2 are extensions of work presented in ref. [183]. Sec. 7.3.3 presents content published in and is adapted from ref. [53] while the general perspective on twirling presented there is part of work in preparation in ref. [54].



Figure 7.1: Illustration of a photonic mode in a cavity of length L (left), the energy landscape of a quantum harmonic oscillator (middle) and a superconducting LC-circuit (right).

7.1 Physical systems for GKP codes

The most popular systems considered for the implementation of the GKP code are photonic systems, associated to optical photons propagating in either optical fibers or free space [120], or superconducting circuits [42]. These two platforms are distinctive: photonic systems can in principle operate at room temperature, only requiring more intricate cooled down components for state generation, and are equipped with a natural means to perform homodyne detection – that is, direct measurement of the quadratures \hat{q} and \hat{p} of the encoded modes. In contrast to what is possible in superconducting architectures, however, optical photonphoton interactions are difficult to engineer. Non-linear unitary evolutions of the quadratures are very difficult to generate, and it becomes necessary to compartmentalize any circuit to shift as many non-Gaussian resources as possible into the state-preparation part, where in particular non-Gaussian measurements help in the generation of the states. Superconducting circuits, through the existence of the Josephson junction, naturally possess the means to implement strongly non-linear Hamiltonian evolutions, but require a high level of cooling and homodyne measurement of the quadratures are slow and costly. We briefly discuss the physics and identification of quadratures for these systems, where we follow the discussion in ref. [88] for basic quantum optics and ref. [49, 91] for our discussion on superconducting circuits. See fig. 7.1 for an illustration of these platforms.

7.1.1 Photonics

The dynamics of a single mode of an electromagnetic field confined in a one dimensional cavity of length L (see fig. 7.1) is classically described by Maxwells equations [88]

$$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{E} = -\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t}, \qquad \nabla \times \boldsymbol{B} = \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{E}}{\partial t}, \qquad (7.1)$$

$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{E} = 0, \qquad \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{B} = 0. \tag{7.2}$$

Assuming a polarization $E||\hat{e}_x$, solutions to these equations are given by the standing waves

$$E_x(z,t) = \sqrt{\frac{2\omega^2}{V\epsilon_0}}q(t)\sin(kz), \qquad (7.3)$$

$$B_y(z,t) = \frac{1}{c^2 k} \sqrt{\frac{2\omega^2}{V\epsilon_0}} \dot{q}(t) \cos(kz), \qquad (7.4)$$

with frequency $\omega = kc$ and the classical Hamiltonian of the system can be derived as [88]

$$H(q,p) = \frac{p^2 + \omega^2 q^2}{2}, \ \omega \in \frac{c\pi}{L} \mathbb{Z}.$$
(7.5)

In the process of this derivation, we can determine the canonical position operator with q(t), the time-dependent component of the electric field and the canonical momentum $p(t) = \dot{q}(t)$ is identified with the time dependent component of the magnetic field. Canonical quantization lifts these quadrature variables to operators on an infinite dimensional Hilbert space with commutation $[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i\hbar$. We hence find that the quantum quadratures of a photonic mode with fixed ω are simply provided by its electric- and magnetic field components at a fixed point in space.

The implementation of the GKP in photonic systems typically proceeds by implementing an intricate system of single-photon sources and photon counters to produce so-called cat states, which are non-Gaussian states and then processed to GKP states through a breeding protocol [195] that successively builds up GKP states by interlacing them with cat states using beam splitters and performs homodyne measurements on one of the output legs. Due to the lack of strong non-linear Hamiltonian elements to process existing photonic states, efforts to implement quantum computing in photonic systems are typically concentrated around the engineering of powerful GKP resource states such that the actual steps of the computation are carried out using sequences of (classically) adaptive measurements on such states. This is a computational model called *measurement based quantum computation* (MBQC) [26].

7.1.2 Superconducting oscillators

An electric LC system (on the right in fig. 7.1) is a classical example of a harmonic oscillator system. Electrons loaded on the capacitor C establish a voltage drop across the system and incur a current flowing through the inductor L, which in turn generates an inductive voltage pointing in the reverse direction. The dynamics of this system is naturally described by a harmonic oscillating behavior of the flux Φ across the branches of the system (set the flux of the ground to $\Phi_{\text{ground}} = 0$). Kirchoff's laws imply that the sum of branch fluxes around a closed loop equals the total magnetic flux piercing the loop, which we for now assume to be zero. The canonically conjugate variable to Φ is the charge Q that loads the capacitor and the dynamics of the system is described by the classical Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{Q^2}{2C} + \frac{\Phi^2}{2L},$$
 (7.6)

which oscillates with natural frequency $\omega = \sqrt{LC}^{-1}$

Modern experimental techniques allow to engineer superconducting LC oscillators on microscopic scales $O(100\mu m)$ with capacitances O(1pF) and inductances O(10nH), large enough that the wavelength associated with the frequency exceeds the dimensions of the circuit [66]. When the system is of high quality and sufficiently cooled O(20mK), thermal fluctuations become smaller than the energy gaps $k_B T \ll \hbar \omega$, warranting a quantum mechanical treatment of these systems. Canonical quantization lifts the variable Φ, Q to the corresponding operators with canonical commutation relation $\left[\hat{\Phi}, \hat{Q}\right] = i\hbar$ and the Hamiltonian in eq. (7.6) ascends to that of a quantum harmonic oscillator

$$H = \frac{\hat{Q}^2}{2C} + \frac{\hat{\Phi}^2}{2L} = \hbar\omega \left(\hat{n} + \frac{1}{2}\right)$$
(7.7)

with a suitably chosen annihilation operator $\hat{a} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L\hbar\omega}}\hat{\Phi} + \frac{i}{\sqrt{2C\hbar\omega}}\hat{Q}$ and Fock number operator $\hat{n} = \hat{a}^{\dagger}\hat{a}$.

A special element that can be engineered in superconducting systems is the so-called Josephson Junction (JJ), which comprises of two superconductors separated by a thin oxide layer. Although the superconducting materials are isolated from each other, Cooper pairs may still tunnel through the barrier to give rise to a current

$$I(t) = I_0 \sin\left(\frac{2e}{\hbar}\Phi(t)\right),\tag{7.8}$$

where Φ is the flux across the junction, which can be described by a (quantum) Hamiltonian contribution

$$H_{JJ} = -E_J \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{\Phi_0}\hat{\Phi}\right),\tag{7.9}$$

with $\Phi_0 = \frac{h}{2e} = 2eR_Q$ the flux quantum and R_Q the resistance quantum. The Josephson junction may be thought of as a non-linear inductance: performing a Taylor expansion allows to write $H_{JJ} = \frac{\hat{\Phi}^2}{2L'} + \epsilon \hat{\Phi}^4 + O(\hat{\Phi}^6)$. When the inductance in the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian in eq. (7.7) is replaced by such a junction, we obtain a system that for large capacitances C behaves very similar to a quantum harmonic oscillator, but with a non-uniform energy separation $\Delta E_{12} > \Delta E_{01}$. This is the typical mechanism used to engineer a superconducting qubit [117]: by creating a large energy gap between levels n = 1 and n = 2, one effectively isolates the two level system $\{|n = 0\rangle, |n = 1\rangle\}$, which is then treated as the logical qubit in the "trivial encoding". This encoding is somewhat wasteful: we have started with an infinite dimensional Hilbert space and used the perturbative anharmonicity of the Joshephson junction to "throw away" infinite but two levels of the system to derive a qubit.

Implementations of the GKP code in superconducting architectures typically take advantage of the strong non-linearity differently. A typical strategy is to use the trivially encoded superconducting qubits together with controlled displacement operation $cD(2^k \boldsymbol{\xi}) = |0\rangle \langle 0|_q \otimes I + |1\rangle \langle 1|_q \otimes D(2^k \boldsymbol{\xi}), k = 1...K$ between the qubit and the oscillator to perform quantum phase-estimation on the displacement operators [183, 184] so to measure the corresponding GKP stabilizer operators $D(\boldsymbol{\xi})$. Since the eigenvalues of GKP stabilizers $D(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ are continuous, in this approach one would need to implement phase estimation to infinite order $K \to \infty$ to obtain a strong measurement of the stabilizer operator and collapse the input state to a (shifted) GKP state. This is of course not possible and existing experiments [42, 179] focus on implementing only very low levels (i.e. K = 1) of phase estimation for the preparation and stabilization of GKP states, which has already demonstrated impressive performances with logical qubit lifetimes of $\approx 1 - 2ms$ [179].

In section 7.3.3 we will see how one uses the fact that the cosine term

$$\cos\left(\sqrt{2\pi}\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right) = \frac{1}{2}D(\boldsymbol{\xi}) + h.c., \qquad (7.10)$$

the Hermitian part of GKP stabilizers, emerges naturally from the structure of the Josephson junction and how this structure can be used to engineer a GKP-encoded superconducting qubit that takes advantage of the infinitude of the Hilbert space more efficiently.

Interesting passive implementations of the GKP code on superconducting systems not further discussed here can also be derived via the use of a nonreciprocal Gyrator element that allows to engineer a system mimiking physics present in the quantum Hall effect [165] or by advantage of reservoir engineering [121]. We refer to the cited references for more insight on these approaches.

7.1.3 Other notable systems

Since quantum harmonic oscillators are somewhat omnipresent in physics, it is no surprise that implementations of the GKP code are not solely limited to photonics and superconducting systems. The first experimental demonstration of preparation of GKP code states was in fact carried out on a mechanical oscillator [78], where the physical vibration of a magnetically trapped ion represents the motion of the quantum harmonic oscillator and, under application of a strong laser, internal degrees of freedom of the ion couple to its motion and allow the implementation of a displacement operator conditioned on its internal state. On a high level, this again allows the implementation of a mechanism similar to the controlled-displacement based phase estimation process to project onto motional states onto eigenstates of the displacement operator.

In a similar spirit, it was also proposed to implement the GKP code on a nanomechanical oscillators [196]. Here, a nanomechanical oscillator couples to the electromagnetic (EM) field of a photon via photon pressure, resulting in an interaction Hamiltonian of the form $H_I = \gamma \hat{n}_{\rm EM} \hat{q}_{\rm osc}$. Under unitary evolution, the phase of the EM field is rotated by an angle $\phi \mapsto \phi + \gamma t q_{\rm osc}$ given by the position of the oscillator. By implementing a measurement of the phase accumulation on the oscillator relative to an initial auxiliary state with a fixed phase, one is then able to measure $\gamma t q_{\rm osc} \mod 2\pi$, which is a modular measurement of the quadrature of the oscillator.

This is only a short excerpt of a very long list of interesting implementations of the GKP code, which is notably extended by the identification of GKP code states with states present in the quantum Hall effect [82, 95, 165]. In the realm of solid state physics it is no surprise that the translation invariant GKP states are realized in the physics of solid state systems, which typically are assumed with natural lattice-like translational invariances. It becomes an interesting quest to relate properties of the GKP code with more traditional physical quantities in the hope of either finding new implementations of the GKP code or with hope to use the GKP code to simulate those intricate physical systems.

7.2 GKP stabilizer readout and bottlenecks

The task of GKP stabilizer measurements is that of implementing either direct projective of the displacement operators $D(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = e^{-i\sqrt{2\pi}\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}}$ or equivalently, any measurement of the physical quadratures $\hat{x} \mod \sqrt{2\pi} \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ that do not reveal information about the absolute quadratures or that distinguish between shifts via vectors in the dual lattice \mathcal{L}^{\perp} . The first way, via phase estimation, has been outlined above and we have identified the infeasibility to implement full projective stabilizer measurements from the simple inability to measure the continuous eigenvalue of the displacement operator to perfect precision. The second way, that was also historically first analysed in refs. [93, 95], "copies" the information of a selected quadrature onto an auxiliary GKP state, which already possesses a translation invariance along the selected quadrature to obfuscate the copied down absolute quadrature information such that neither the absolute quadrature value nor potential logical information can be measured upon homodyne measurement of the auxiliary mode. This trick carries the name Steane error correction, following ref. [180], and is a generally applicable method to measure stabilizers for quantum error correcting codes by implementing a logical CNOT gate coupling the storage system to an auxiliary code block initialized in a state that hides the copied down logical information from being read out.

Steane error correction for the GKP code is closely related to a strategy dubbed *Knill error correction* after refs. [114, 115], which implements a quantum teleportation circuit using a logically encoded Bell state and a decoded logical bell-measurement, such that errors are essentially "filtered out" in the teleportation process. It turns out that the implementations of Steane- and Knill error correction for the GKP code are effectively equivalent on the full CV level once the choice of correction in Steane error correction is fixed suitably; this is shown in sec. 7.2.3.

7.2.1 Finite squeezing error

The bottleneck in Steane- and Knill error correction is presented by the need of high-quality auxiliary GKP states to facilitate the measurement. This is a suitable point to address the elephant in the room: GKP code states, i.e. quantum states that are translation invariant under a full rank generating set of displacement operators, do not actually exists. Throughout this work we have acted as if they existed, ignoring the fact that translation invariant states would also necessarily come with infinitely extended support, occupy infinite photon number states and would fail to be normalizable within a $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ Hilbert space.¹ In practice, one is ever only able to produce approximations to GKP code states relative to a regularizing parameter such as the order of phase estimation used to distil the state from a reference state like the vacuum, or by regularizing via

¹The better way to treat them would be to use the Segal-Bargmann representation, which has a different normalization condition and doesn't interpret the representing functions as immediate physical quantities.

a photon-number cut-off that can be chosen as smooth or hard. The analytical strategy is then to treat this regularization as an "error" applied to an exact code state [95, 183, 187].²

A good example for this approach is given for n = 1 modes by the unique stabilizer state of $\mathcal{L} = \mathbb{Z}^2$, ³

$$|\varnothing\rangle = \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} |\sqrt{2\pi}n\rangle_q \,. \tag{7.11}$$

This state is an infinite sum of improper states, $|\sqrt{2\pi}n\rangle_q$ that evaluate to Dirac deltas $\delta(q - \sqrt{2\pi}n)$ in their position representations. As it fails to be normalizable and has a physically impossible photon occupation $\langle \emptyset | \hat{n} | \emptyset \rangle = \infty$, this is hardly a physical state. To obtain a physical state, a sensible approximation is provided by

$$\tilde{\varnothing}\rangle = N_{\beta} e^{-\beta \hat{n}} \left| \varnothing \right\rangle, \tag{7.12}$$

where N_{β} is a normalization parameter. The regularization operator $e^{-\beta \hat{n}}$ implements an exponential damping of the state along the Fock basis, which by writing $\hat{n} = \frac{\hat{p}^2 + \hat{q}^2 - 1}{2}$, can also be realized as a Gaussian envelope applied to the state in phase space. Using a result of ref. [41] and adapting to our conventions, it can be shown that

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{x})e^{-\beta\hat{n}}\right] = \frac{1}{1 - e^{-\beta}}e^{-\frac{\pi}{2\tanh(\beta/2)}\|\boldsymbol{x}\|^{2}},\tag{7.13}$$

such that the regularization operator can be written as coherent superposition over Gaussian distributed displacements

$$e^{-\beta\hat{n}} = \frac{1}{1 - e^{-\beta}} \int d\boldsymbol{x} \, e^{-\frac{\pi ||\boldsymbol{x}||^2}{\Delta^2}} D(\boldsymbol{x}), \tag{7.14}$$

where $\Delta^2 = 2 \tanh(\beta/2)$ is the variance of the coherent "displacement error" incurred by this process [95].

The wave function of the resulting state is then

$$\begin{aligned} \beta_{\Delta}(q) &= \langle q | \varnothing_{\Delta} \rangle \\ &= N_{\Delta} e^{-\frac{\Delta^2}{2}q^2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-\frac{1}{2\Delta^2}(q - \sqrt{2\pi})^2} \\ &= N_{\Delta}' e^{-\frac{\Delta^2}{2}q^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \, g_{\Delta}(x) \amalg_{\sqrt{2\pi}}(q - x), \\ &= N_{\Delta}'' g_{\Delta^{-1}}(q) (g_{\Delta} * \amalg_{\sqrt{2\pi}})(q), \end{aligned}$$
(7.15)

where $\operatorname{III}_{c}(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \delta(x - nc)$ is the Dirac comb, $g_{\Delta}(x) = (2\pi\Delta^{2})^{-1/2}e^{-x^{2}/2\Delta^{2}}$ the Gaussian distribution with variance Δ^{2} and $N_{\Delta}^{(\cdot)}$ are normalization parameters. The \mathbb{Z}^{2} lattice is $\pi/2$ rotation symmetric, which implies a rotation symmetry by $e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}\hat{n}}$ of the states $|\emptyset\rangle$ and $|\tilde{\emptyset}\rangle$. Since this $\pi/2$ rotation is equally

²Which is not actually a *state* in terms of a typical use of quantum mechanics. This "error" also violates the quantum error correction conditions as it renders previously orthogonal logical states non-orthogonal. The breakdown of the quantum error correction conditions is however manageably small in the regularization parameter, such that one can regard the realistic version of the GKP code as an approximate quantum error correcting code [169, 187].

³Also regarded as the sensor- [70] or "qunaught" state [136].



Figure 7.2: Generalized stabilizer measurement protocol for a stabilizer given by $D(\boldsymbol{\xi})$. $|\varnothing\rangle$ is the unique code states of a GKP code given by $\mathcal{L} = \mathbb{Z}^2$, also known as the sensor state [70].

understood as a change of basis between the position- and momentum representation of the state (i.e. a Fourier transform), it follows that $\langle p | \mathscr{Q}_{\Delta} \rangle = \beta_{\Delta}(p)$, resolved along the momentum axis, has exactly the same wave function.

The presentation above shows that the approximate GKP wave function is composed of two contributions: the $\sqrt{2\pi}$ translation invariant part, which is rendered "fuzzy" by the convolution with a Gaussian distribution of variance Δ^2 and a Gaussian part with variance Δ^{-2} , that weakly biases the weight towards the center q = 0. In the limit $\Delta \to 0$ this state expresses the unique joint eigenstate of the commuting displacements $S_p = e^{-i\sqrt{2\pi}\hat{p}}$, $S_q = e^{i\sqrt{2\pi}\hat{q}}$ and the dependency on small deviations of Δ away from this limit has an interesting interpretation. Along the p-quadrature, the variance Δ^{-2} of the envelope contribution is Fourier dual to the variance of the individual peaks of the fuzzy comb along the q-quadrature and has the interpretation that the weak localization of the global observable \hat{p} is in correspondence with the disturbance of the localization of the modular observable $\hat{q} \mod \sqrt{2\pi}$ via the Heisenberg uncertainty relation.

7.2.2 Steane error correction circuits

A quadrature-controlled displacement between two GKP codes on a set of data modes (d) and a single *auxiliary mode* (a) can facilitate a stabilizer measurement via a process called *Steane error correction*. GKP stabilizers are measured by preparing an auxiliary mode (a) in a logical stabilizer state, entangle the data modes with the auxiliary mode and perform homodyne measurement on the auxiliary mode. One can for instance always measure a GKP stabilizer $D(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ on a collection of data modes by coupling via the generalized sum gate

$$\mathsf{gSUM}_{ad}(\boldsymbol{e}_1, \boldsymbol{\xi}; 1) = e^{-i\hat{p}_a \otimes \boldsymbol{\xi}^\top J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_d}$$
(7.16)

to an auxiliary mode $|\emptyset\rangle$ and performing homodyne measurements on the \hat{q} quadrature of the auxiliary state. We sketch this protocol in fig. 7.2, where, the syndrome s of a stabilizer $D(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ is obtained from the measurement outcome \tilde{q} as

$$\tilde{q}/\sqrt{2\pi} \mod 1 = s \mod 1. \tag{7.17}$$

We can evaluate the action of the circuit in fig. 7.2 on the target mode. To this end write

$$\left|\mathscr{O}_{\Delta}\right\rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dq \,\beta_{\Delta}(\hat{q}) \left|q\right\rangle = \beta_{\Delta}(\hat{q}) \left|0\right\rangle_{p}, \qquad (7.18)$$



Figure 7.3: (a) Steane- and (b) Knill stabilizer measurement circuits for a singlemode GKP code with $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{2}\mathbb{Z}^2$. In (a) individual segments realize measurements of the $S_p = e^{-i2\sqrt{\pi}\hat{p}}$ and $S_q = e^{i2\sqrt{\pi}\hat{q}}$ stabilizer sequentially. The Knill circuit (b) can be understood as a logical teleportation circuit, where on the bottom left a logical $|\Phi^+\rangle$ Bell state is prepared and on the top right an EPR measurement is performed. The EPR measurement with a fixed outcome (\tilde{q}, \tilde{p}) can also be understood as a displacement followed by a projection onto the EPR state $|\tau_{\infty}\rangle$. The circuits potentially require to be followed up by an additional logical displacement correction.

with the infinitely squeezed state $|0\rangle_p$ such that

$$\begin{split} \langle \tilde{q} |_{a} \, \mathsf{gSUM}_{ad}(\boldsymbol{e}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi};1) \, | \boldsymbol{\varnothing}_{\Delta} \rangle_{a} \, | \psi \rangle_{d} &= \langle \tilde{q} |_{a} \, \beta_{\Delta}(\hat{q}_{a} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T} J \boldsymbol{\hat{x}}_{d}) \mathsf{gSUM}_{at}(\boldsymbol{e}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi};1) \, | \tau_{\infty} \rangle_{a} \, | \psi \rangle_{d} \\ &= \beta_{\Delta}(\tilde{q} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T} J \boldsymbol{\hat{x}}_{d}) \, \langle \tilde{q} |_{a} \, \mathsf{gSUM}_{at}(\boldsymbol{e}_{1},\boldsymbol{\xi};1) \, | \tau_{\infty} \rangle_{a} \, | \psi \rangle_{d} \\ &= \beta_{\Delta}(\tilde{q} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^{T} J \boldsymbol{\hat{x}}_{d}) \, | \psi \rangle_{d} \,. \end{split}$$
(7.19)

Given a state $|\psi\rangle_d$, the probability to measure outcome \tilde{q} is given by $P(\tilde{q}) =$ $\langle \psi | \beta_{\Lambda}^2 (\tilde{q} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_d) | \psi \rangle$, which is also the factor that needs to be used to normalize the state above. Due to the structure of the state we see that this distribution is again governed by two contributions. For small Δ , the translation invariant part of the wave function β_{Δ} (see eq. (7.15)) dominates and the distribution $P(\tilde{q})$ is centered around the values of $\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_d \mod \sqrt{2\pi}$ with variance Δ^2 . Up to this uncertainty, this is precisely the information content of the modular observable $D(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ that the circuit is supposed to measure (compare to the limit $\Delta \to 0$). The envelope contribution in β_{Δ} weakly biases the distribution $P(\tilde{q})$ towards the non-modular value of $\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_d$, such that the localization of the modular observable dual to $\boldsymbol{\xi}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}_d$ will also be disturbed by Δ^2 . After extracting a a syndrom s, a correction can e.g. be implemented by displacing the state back by the amplitude $\eta = (MJ)^{-1}s$, which takes into account the weakly measured full quadrature value and recenters the state around 0. This strategy was investigated in ref. [183] for a single mode of the GKP code with $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{2\mathbb{Z}^2}$, where this strategy was shown to stabilize the average photon number and a logical post-correction was derived to minimize the logical error probability.

Instead of using the sensor state together with the gSUM gate, the more commonly discussed strategy is to employ logical $|0\rangle$ and $|+\rangle$ states together with the two-mode SUM_{ct} = $e^{-i\hat{q}_c\hat{p}_t}$ gate that displaces a target mode (t) by the position value of the control mode (c). This gate also serves as the logical CNOT in the single-mode square GKP code that encodes a qubit $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{2\mathbb{Z}^2}$. The perfect logical $|0\rangle$ state enjoys a $\sqrt{\pi}$ translation symmetry along the momentum axis as it is stabilized by $S_0 = \langle Z, X^2 \rangle$ with the $\sqrt{\pi}$ -momentum displacement $Z = e^{i\sqrt{\pi}\hat{q}}$ and $\sqrt{\pi}$ -position displacement $X = e^{-i\sqrt{\pi}\hat{p}}$. This state is Fourierdual to the $|+\rangle$ state that is the unique fixpoint of $S_+ = \langle X, Z^2 \rangle$ and has a $\sqrt{\pi}$ translation symmetry along the position axis. The circuit to implement the Steane-style stabilizer measurements is depicted in fig. 7.3. In the real world, the auxiliary states $|0\rangle$, $|+\rangle$ need to be replaced by their finitely squeezed variants, which can be achieved by applying the regularization operator $e^{-\beta\hat{n}}$ as discussed above to implement a smooth cutoff.

7.2.3 Knill error correction circuits

The Knill error correction circuit – also sometimes referred to as *teleportation* based error correction or *tele-correction*– is depicted in panel (b) in figure 7.3. The conceptual idea is to implement quantum teleportation protocol for the logically encoded information in the error correcting code, which can be conducted without teleporting potential errors. This protocol is enabled by the entangling SUM gate, which is given by

$$S_{12} = e^{-i\hat{q}_1\hat{p}_2} : \begin{pmatrix} \hat{q}_1 \\ \hat{q}_2 \\ \hat{p}_1 \\ \hat{p}_2 \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \hat{q}_1 \\ \hat{q}_2 + \hat{q}_1 \\ \hat{p}_1 - \hat{p}_2 \\ \hat{p}_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (7.20)

This gates serves as the entangling gate that prepares a GKP Bell state⁴

$$\left|\Phi^{+}\right\rangle = e^{-i\hat{q}_{1}\hat{p}_{2}}\left|\overline{+}\right\rangle\left|\overline{0}\right\rangle = \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\sqrt{\pi}n\right\rangle_{q}\left|2\sqrt{\pi}m + \sqrt{\pi}n\right\rangle_{q}$$
(7.21)

and also defines the infinitely squeezed EPR state [73],

$$\left|\tau_{\infty}\right\rangle = e^{-i\hat{q}_{1}\hat{p}_{2}}\left|0\right\rangle_{p}\left|0\right\rangle_{q} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\left|n,n\right\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \left|x\right\rangle_{q}\left|x\right\rangle_{q}.$$
 (7.22)

In fact, it can be shown that, conditioned on the measurement outcomes (\tilde{q}, \tilde{p}) , this circuit implements the same physical action as the Steane circuit together with a corrective shift via

$$e^{-i\tilde{q}\hat{p}}e^{i\tilde{p}\hat{q}} = e^{-i\tilde{q}\tilde{p}/2}D\left(\left(-\tilde{q},\ \tilde{p}\right)^T/\sqrt{2\pi}\right)$$
(7.23)

and a π -rotation. This equivalence only assumes a π -rotation symmetry on the auxiliary $|0\rangle$, $|+\rangle$ states and holds when the auxiliary GKP states are finitely squeezed. The key trick in deriving this equivalence is the following circuit identity, that compiles a CV SWAP gate into a sequence of SUM gates and a π -rotation, which can be easily checked by writing out the symplectic matrices that implement these Gaussian unitary gates. Similar to ordinary quantum teleportation, this circuit typically needs to be followed up by a logical Pauli correction.

 $^{^{4}}$ We shall keep in mind that these are not actually *states* in the rigorous sense, but we shall look at these equations nevertheless to develop some intuition about their structure.



Figure 7.4: CV SWAP gate compiled into a sequence of SUM gates and a $\pi\text{-}$ rotation.

Using this result, one can derive the equivalence between the Knill- and the Steane error correction circuit following the steps displayed in fig. 7.5, which shows a proof based on mostly graphical calculus.



Figure 7.5: The derivation of the equivalence between the Knill- and the Steane stabilizer measurement circuit. We find that the Knill error correction circuit is equivalent to the Steane circuit paired with a final corrective shift by $\boldsymbol{\eta} = (-\tilde{q}, \tilde{p})^T / \sqrt{2\pi}$.

The teleportation-based Knill error correction circuit is particularly relevant in photonic quantum computing architectures, where it is difficult to engineer strong non-linear Hamiltonian interaction between photonic modes and nonlinear interactions dominantly need to be inherited from quantum measurement processes. The teleportation-based nature has the upshot that in every step the old quantum state is replaced by a "fresh" one. In the above derivation we see, by comparing the correction implemented by the Knill circuit in its Steane equivalent, that the Knill circuit always returns a state with a well-centered envelope as the displacement imposed on the Steane side is precisely that performs this job. A relevant point is that, as in ordinary quantum teleportation, a logical post correction is generally necessary when one attempts to perform error correction using the Knill circuit. In the equivalence we prove in fig. 7.5 this necessity stems from the fact that (in the limit $\Delta \to 0$) the measurement outcomes (\tilde{q}, \tilde{p}) of the Knill circuit, which feed back as displacements on the equivalent Steane circuit, should contain no logical information and hence implement a random logical Pauli term which needs to be corrected. Strategies to derive a logical post-correction based on the finite squeezing error for the Steane circuit are presented in ref. [183] and can straightforwardly be adapted to the Knill circuit using their equivalence.

7.3 Passive error correction

The oldest dream in quantum error correction is to build a quantum memory - given by a Hamiltonian built from stabilizers - that does not require active monitoring and intervention but stabilizes itself via a natural physical mechanism. The hope is to establish a quantum memory that functions similar to a ferromagnetic hard-drive where the energy to create small errors in the system outweights the entropic fluctuations such that there is a temperature below which it enters a stable phase. This dream is usually termed *passive* quantum error correction, which is to be distinguished from *dissipative* quantum error correction, where one also allows to constrain the system to interact with its environment in a tailored way. In this section we will briefly review the idea of passive quantum error correction tailored to the GKP code and, how the physics of this system behaves like that of a charged particle moving on a torus under a magnetic field or in a 2d crystal. These connections had been pointed out in refs. [95, 165] and we briefly review them here since they point to a fascinating connection between GKP error correction and more conventional physics. Finally, we discuss how a GKP-Hamiltonian suitable for this task can be obtained through Floquet-engineering, i.e. by tailoring a time-dependent periodic driving sequence that effectively gives rise to the target Hamiltonian.

7.3.1 Stabilizer Hamiltonians

The stabilizer Hamiltonian associated with a stabilizer group for qubit systems, generated by a set of generators $\mathcal{G} = \{g_1, \ldots, g_r\} \subseteq \mathcal{P}$, is typically defined as

$$H_{\mathcal{G}} = -U \sum_{i=1}^{r} g_i, \qquad (7.24)$$

where U is some constant. Since all the generators g_i commute, the ground space of this Hamiltonian will be the shared +1 eigenvalued eigenspace of all the stabilizer generators g_i , which is simply the code space C of the associated stabilizer code, and it has a degeneracy given by the dimension of the associated logical Hilbert space. Although it is not strictly necessary, we assume that the generating set used above is minimal, and all the g_i 's are (linearly) independent. This can be relaxed to other generating sets as long as the number of terms needed in the Hamiltonian does not grow exponentially in the system size. For an elementary set of errors $\{E_i\} \in \mathcal{P}$ that satisfy the quantum error correction conditions for this code, excited states are simply provided by elements in the spaces $E_i \mathcal{C}$, which have the same degeneracy of the code space. Let E be an error that yields a syndrome vector

$$\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{Z}_2^r : E^{\dagger} g_i E = (-1)^{s_i(E)}.$$
 (7.25)

The excited state given by the error sector EC then has the energy

$$H(E) = -Ur + 2U\sum_{i=1}^{r} s_i(E), \qquad (7.26)$$

that is the energy required to create an error E grows with the total syndrome $\mathbf{1}^T \mathbf{s}$. The challenge in designing good Hamiltonians for passive quantum error correction is thus mapped to the problem of finding families of quantum error correcting codes where the total syndrome generally grows with the size of any error so that the total energy needed for errors to accumulate to grow to logical errors is extensive in the system size [33, 63]. Even below the thermodynamic limit, stabilizer Hamiltonians defined via stabilizer codes with a finite number of modes n are expected to be useful in that the energy penalty associated with error events dampens their likelihood to grow to logical errors and the system is left with an enhanced lifetime.

Given a generating set $M = (\boldsymbol{\xi}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{\xi}_{2n})^T$ for a GKP code, we define the stabilizer Hamiltonian for the *n*-mode system as

$$H_{\rm GKP}(M) = -\frac{U}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2n} D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i) + \text{h.c.} = -U \sum_{i=1}^{2n} \cos\left(\sqrt{2\pi} \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right).$$
(7.27)

The ground space of this Hamiltonian consists of the associated GKP code space with states translation symmetric under displacements by vectors in \mathcal{L} , the lattice spanned by M. It is interesting to note that this Hamiltonian is *gapless*: By continuity of the cosines, small displacements of the Hamiltonian can change its eigenvalues by arbitrarily small amounts

$$D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{e})H_{\mathrm{GKP}}(M)D(\boldsymbol{e}) = -U\sum_{i=1}^{2n}\cos\left(\sqrt{2\pi}\boldsymbol{\xi}_{i}^{T}J\boldsymbol{\hat{x}} + 2\pi\boldsymbol{\xi}_{i}^{T}J\boldsymbol{e}\right),$$
(7.28)

such that displaced ground states of the Hamiltonian $D(e) |\overline{\psi}\rangle$ acquire an energy

$$-U\sum_{i=1}^{2n}\cos\left(2\pi\boldsymbol{\xi}_{i}^{T}J\boldsymbol{e}\right)$$
(7.29)

relative to the ground state. To construct a slightly more realistic scenario, it is reasonable to add a small perturbation $H_0(\epsilon) = \epsilon \sum_{i=1}^n \hat{n}_i \propto \epsilon \hat{x}^{\dagger} \hat{x}$ to the stabilizer Hamiltonian to obtain the total Hamiltonian (up to an irrelevant constant)

$$H = H_0(\epsilon) + H_{\rm GKP}(M) = \sum_i \epsilon \frac{\hat{p}_i^2 + \hat{q}_i^2}{2} - U \sum_{i=1}^{2n} \cos\left(\sqrt{2\pi} \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right).$$
(7.30)

In general, this perturbation breaks the translational symmetry of the GKP stabilizer Hamiltonian, and the resulting eigenstates are not to be expected to be exact code states anymore (which were not really physical in the first place anyhow). Importantly, the perturbation may imply a gap in the energy land-scape. If the GKP code had some rotational symmetries, those would remain preserved so that one can find a basis for the perturbed ground space in terms of rotation symmetric states.

We can analyse this perturbed Hamiltonian with some crude physical intuition. For small ϵ , the terms $\frac{\hat{p}_i^2}{2\epsilon^{-1}} + \frac{\epsilon}{2}\hat{q}_i^2$ in the the perturbation describe a particle in a very flat harmonic potential with a very large mass, where the flat potential approximatively preserves the translation symmetry of the GKP Hamiltonian and the large mass motivates that the inert particle, sitting in the minima of the cosine landscape, behaves as if each well of the cosine landscape was a quantum Harmonic oscillator. This motivates a perturbative treatment of the GKP Hamiltonian by expanding the cosine terms and manually adding the translational invariant structure implicit in the cosines via

$$H_{\rm GKP}(M) \approx H_{\rm LE} = -\pi U \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}} D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}) \big[\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\dagger} V_M \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} \big] D(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}),$$
(7.31)

where

$$V_M = J^T \left[\sum_{i=1}^{2n} \boldsymbol{\xi}_i \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^T \right] J.$$
(7.32)

Using the fact that every basis M for a GKP code with type D can be understood as a symplectic transform of a canonical basis (see chap. 4, an equivalent statement can also be made using Williamsons theorem [193])

$$M = \left(\sqrt{D} \oplus \sqrt{D}\right) S^T, \tag{7.33}$$

we find that

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\dagger} V_M \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} = \left(S^{-1} \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right)^{\dagger} (D \oplus D) \left(S^{-1} \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right)$$
(7.34)

$$= U_{S^{-1}}^{\dagger} \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\dagger} (D \oplus D) \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} U_{S^{-1}}.$$

$$(7.35)$$

The terms $\hat{x}^{\dagger}(D \oplus D)\hat{x}$ simply describe the direct sum of n quantum harmonic oscillators with energy gaps d_i . The total Hamiltonian can be approximatively viewed as a particle moving in the wells of a an infinite sum of squeezed quantum Harmonic oscillators.

For large $U \to \infty$ in the absence of a perturbation, the distance Δ of the GKP code is understood as the distance a particle needs to tunnel through the bulk of the cosines to realize a logical error while the presence of a perturbation $H_0(\epsilon)$ realizes a coupling between the different degenerate ground states. To analyze this situation, we define a projector onto the ground space

$$\Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty} = \sum_{s \in \mathcal{S}} s = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L}} e^{i\phi_M(\boldsymbol{\xi})} D(\boldsymbol{\xi}).$$
(7.36)

This projector is such that it takes a unit value on the code space, i.e. the ground space of $H_{\text{GKP}}(M)$ and vanishes elsewhere. Its Wigner-function can be computed as

$$W_{\Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}}}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L}} e^{i\phi_M(\boldsymbol{\xi})} e^{i2\pi \boldsymbol{x}^T J \boldsymbol{\xi}}, \qquad (7.37)$$

which evaluates for symplectically even lattices with $A \in 2\mathbb{Z}^{2n \times 2n}$ to

$$W_{\Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty}}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{1}{\det(\mathcal{L})} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}} \delta(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}).$$
(7.38)

per lemma 5 (see also ref. [53]).

Note that due to the infinite size of the GKP stabilizer group, this projector is ill-defined⁵, in particular we have $(\Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty})^2 = (\infty)\Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty}$ and a more rigorous treatment would consider this as the limit of a regularized approximate projector

$$\Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{G}^n|} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{G}^n} s, \qquad (7.39)$$

where \mathcal{G}^n is the approximate group built from an *n*-step random walk over a generating set \mathcal{G} for the group $\mathcal{S} = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle$.

The coupling between the ground space degeneracy sectors realized by the perturbation is, with $\hat{N} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \hat{n}_i$,

$$\Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}}\epsilon\hat{N}(\epsilon)\Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}}\approx\Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}}\left(1-e^{-\epsilon\hat{N}}\right)\Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}}$$
(7.40)

$$=\Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty} - \frac{1}{\left(1 - e^{-\epsilon}\right)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} \, e^{-\frac{\pi \|\boldsymbol{x}\|^2}{\sigma^2}} \Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty} D(\boldsymbol{x}) \Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty} \tag{7.41}$$

where we used the expansion from eq. (7.13) with $\sigma^2 = 2 \tanh(\epsilon/2)$. We have that $\Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}} D(\boldsymbol{x}) \Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}} \neq 0$ only if $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$, such that we obtain the effective ground space coupling

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} \, e^{-\frac{\pi \|\boldsymbol{x}\|^2}{\sigma^2}} \Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}} D(\boldsymbol{x}) \Pi^{\infty}_{\mathcal{L}} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}/\mathcal{L}} \Theta_{\boldsymbol{x}+\mathcal{L}} \left(\frac{i}{2\sigma^2}\right) D(\boldsymbol{x}), \quad (7.42)$$

with the Θ functions defined in chap. 4. In this model the coupling between logical states in the ground space is exponentially suppressed with the GKP code distance Δ and it is interesting to observe that the coupling constants for projections onto different sectors $D(\eta)\Pi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\infty}D(\eta)^{\dagger}$ reproduce the MLD probabilities that we have derived for decoding the GKP code in sec. 6.2.

7.3.2 GKP Hamiltonians and the Hall effect

Particles on the torus

There is an alternative representation of the approximate GKP Hamiltonian using the so-called Zak basis [200], which allows for a more illusive interpretation. The following derivation presents a simplified version of a discussion in ref. [83].

Consider the approximate GKP Hamiltonian

$$H = \epsilon \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\dagger} \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}}{2} - U \sum_{k=1}^{2n} \cos\left(\sqrt{2\pi} \boldsymbol{\xi}_k^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right).$$
(7.43)

We use the trick that every basis for a GKP code can be written as $M = (D \oplus I_n)S_1^T$ with a symplectic matrix S_1 , and apply a Gaussian unitary with symplectic transformation $S = S_1^T S_0$ where $S_0 = \left(\sqrt{2\pi}^{-1}I_n \oplus \sqrt{2\pi}I_n\right)$ and $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$, we can compute

$$U_S^{\dagger} H U_S = \epsilon \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\dagger} S^T S \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}}{2} - U \sum_{k=1}^n \cos(d_k \hat{p}_k) + \cos(2\pi \hat{q}_k)$$
(7.44)

⁵Which is nothing that scares a physicist.

The periodic part of this Hamiltonian naturally commutes with displacement operators in $\mathbb{Z}^n \oplus 2\pi D^{-1}\mathbb{Z}^n$, and it becomes convenient to use of version of the co-called Zak-basis [200] with $\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi} \in [0, 2\pi)^n$

$$|\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi}\rangle = \frac{1}{\left(2\pi\right)^{n/2}} \sum_{\boldsymbol{j} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} e^{\boldsymbol{i}\boldsymbol{j}^T\boldsymbol{\theta}} \left|\boldsymbol{j} + \boldsymbol{\phi}/2\pi\right\rangle_{\boldsymbol{q}}, \qquad (7.45)$$

where $|\mathbf{x}\rangle_{\mathbf{q}} = \bigotimes_{i=1}^{n} |q_i\rangle_{q}$ denotes the *n*-dimensional position eigenstate.

These states are eigenstates of the commuting operators $e^{i\hat{p}_k}$, $e^{i2\pi\hat{q}_l}$, $\forall k, l = 1 \dots n$ with

$$e^{i\hat{p}_{k}} \left| \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi} \right\rangle = e^{i\theta_{k}} \left| \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi} \right\rangle, \tag{7.46}$$

$$e^{i2\pi\hat{q}_l} \left| \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi} \right\rangle = e^{i\phi_l} \left| \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi} \right\rangle, \tag{7.47}$$

and simple displacements act as

$$e^{i\boldsymbol{a}^{T}\hat{\boldsymbol{q}}}\left|\boldsymbol{\theta},\boldsymbol{\phi}\right\rangle = e^{i\boldsymbol{a}^{T}\boldsymbol{\phi}/2\pi}\left|\boldsymbol{\theta}+\boldsymbol{a},\boldsymbol{\phi}\right\rangle \tag{7.48}$$

$$e^{i\boldsymbol{b}^T\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}} \left| \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi} \right\rangle = \left| \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi} - 2\pi \boldsymbol{b} \right\rangle.$$
(7.49)

The states $|\theta, \phi\rangle$ form a complete basis, as can be checked by computing

$$\int_{[0,2\pi)^{2n}} d\theta d\phi |\theta,\varphi\rangle \langle\theta,\varphi| = \sum_{\boldsymbol{j},\boldsymbol{j}'\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \int_{[0,2\pi)^n} d\varphi \left[\frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \int_{[0,2\pi)^n} d\theta e^{\boldsymbol{i}(\boldsymbol{j}-\boldsymbol{j}')^T\theta}\right] \\ |\boldsymbol{j}+\varphi/2\pi\rangle_{\boldsymbol{q}} \langle \boldsymbol{j}'+\varphi/2\pi|_{\boldsymbol{q}} \\ = \sum_{\boldsymbol{j}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \int_{[0,2\pi)^n} |\boldsymbol{j}+\varphi/2\pi\rangle_{\boldsymbol{q}} \langle \boldsymbol{j}+\varphi/2\pi|_{\boldsymbol{q}} \\ = \hat{I}, \qquad (7.50)$$

where the expression in the square brackets evaluates to $\delta_{j,j'}$, and in this basis the quadrature variables become represented by

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} -\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{\boldsymbol{\theta}} + \hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}/2\pi \\ 2\pi\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} \end{pmatrix} = \hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{\boldsymbol{\theta},\boldsymbol{\phi}} + \boldsymbol{A}(\hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}), \tag{7.51}$$

where the momenta of the compact variables are represented by $\hat{p}_{\theta_k} \equiv -i\partial_{\theta_k}$ and $\hat{p}_{\varphi_k} \equiv -i\partial_{\varphi_k}$ such that (when exponentiated) they behave as if $\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\theta}_k, \hat{p}_{\theta_l} \end{bmatrix} = [\hat{\varphi}_k, \hat{p}_{\varphi_l}] = i\delta_{kl}$. In the Zak representation, it holds that

$$e^{i2\pi\hat{p}_{\theta_k}} = \hat{I}, \qquad e^{i2\pi\hat{p}_{\varphi_k}} = e^{i\hat{\theta}_k}, \tag{7.52}$$

which is verified using eq. (7.49), such that also

$$e^{i2\pi\hat{q}_k} = e^{i\hat{\phi}_k}, \qquad e^{id_k\hat{p}_k} = e^{id_k\hat{\theta}_k}.$$
 (7.53)

Combining all of these points, the Hamiltonian in eq. (7.44) becomes

$$H' = \frac{\epsilon}{2} (\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{\boldsymbol{\theta},\boldsymbol{\phi}} + \boldsymbol{A}(\hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}))^{\dagger} S^{T} S(\hat{\boldsymbol{p}}_{\boldsymbol{\theta},\boldsymbol{\varphi}} + \boldsymbol{A}(\hat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}})) - U \sum_{k=1}^{n} \cos\left(d_{k}\hat{\theta}_{k}\right) + \cos(\hat{\varphi}_{k}).$$
(7.54)

This Hamiltonian describes the motion of n particles with generalized total quadrature $\hat{\Theta} = \hat{\theta} \oplus \hat{\varphi}$ in the cosine potential on the *n*-torus $[0, 2\pi)^{2n}$. In the simple case of diagonal $C = S^T S$, we recognize that $A(\hat{\varphi})$ takes the role of a vector potential which can be interpreted to describe the presence of a magnetic field driving these particles, while for non-diagonal matrix C the dynamical momenta $\hat{\pi} = \hat{p}_{\theta,\phi} + A(\hat{\varphi})$ couple non-trivially.

An electron in a crystal

It has already been recognized early in ref. [95] that the system of a single electron moving on a torus with a normal magnetic field can give rise to states resembling GKP states. Unfortunately, the geometry of a torus is relatively rare in nature and hard to build in the lab. An electron moving in the plane under a crystal potential, however, is a more realistic scenario and one would expect it to behave as if it was on a torus when the electron is of low energy and only "sees" one potential valley at a time.

An electron moving in the plane with a perpendicular magnetic field is forced by the Lorenz force into a deflected trajectory, which leads to the physics of the Quantum Hall effect. This is a physical setting with a long history, and the connection to the GKP code has been explained in refs. [83, 165]. We review this connection following the presentation in ref. [165] and ref. [186], as this is a likely gateway to a deeper exploration of interesting physics related to the GKP code. This discussion focuses only on the dynamics of a single electron on the plane in a first-quantized language to avoid dealing with statistical properties of the system. A discussion focused on incorporating statistical properties and the inclusion of an edge⁶ are likely to imply further interesting insights.

Let's consider an electron moving in a crystal potential in the plane. The crystal is parametrized by a 2*d*-lattice $\mathcal{L}_{crys} = a\mathcal{L}_0$ with basis $M^T = a(\mathbf{v_1} \ \mathbf{v_2}) = aS$ such that the unit cell has area $A = a^2$ and can be obtained by a symplectic transformation $S \in \text{Sp}_2(\mathbb{R})$ from the square lattice with $M = aI_2$.

The associated crystal potential with $\hat{\boldsymbol{q}} = (\hat{q}_1, \hat{q}_2)^T$ is

$$V_{\text{crystal}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{q}}) = -V \left\{ \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{a} \boldsymbol{v}_1^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{q}}\right) + \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{a} \boldsymbol{v}_2^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{q}}\right) \right\}$$
(7.55)

$$= -\frac{V}{2} \Big\{ e^{i\frac{2\pi}{a} \left(\boldsymbol{v}_{1}^{T} J \hat{\boldsymbol{q}} \right)} + e^{i\frac{2\pi}{a} \left(\boldsymbol{v}_{2}^{T} J \hat{\boldsymbol{q}} \right)} + \text{h.c.} \Big\},$$
(7.56)

such that the Hamiltonian of the electron with mass m and charge -e moving in the magnetic field becomes

$$H = \frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{\pi}}^2}{2m} + V_{\text{crystal}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{q}}), \qquad (7.57)$$

with the dynamical momenta $\hat{\pi} = \hat{p} + eA(\hat{q})$. The vector potential A(q) is such that it gives rise to the magnetic field pointing perpendicular to the plane, $\nabla \times A(q) = Be_3$, which could be realized by different choices of gauge, such as the Landau gauge with $A(q) = q_1 \hat{e}_2$ which we describe here. The dynamical momenta $\hat{\pi}$ are gauge invariant. Physically, an electron moving in the magnetic field is pushed into a direction perpendicular to its direction of movement by the Lorenz force $F = -e/mp \times B$ and its trajectories become circular in the

⁶See also refs. [83, 84].

 (q_1, q_2) plane – similar to that of a harmonic oscillator in the (q, p) plane. The trajectories rotate around the guiding center variables

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{R}} = \hat{\boldsymbol{q}} - \frac{1}{m\omega_c} J\hat{\boldsymbol{\pi}}$$
(7.58)

with cyclotron frequency $\omega_c = eB/m$, where $\hat{\pi}$ also describe the relative coordinates of the electron. These operators fulfil the commutation relations

$$\left[\hat{R}_{i},\hat{R}_{j}\right] = il_{B}^{2}J_{ij}, \quad \left[\hat{\pi}_{i},\hat{\pi}_{j}\right] = -i\frac{\hbar^{2}}{l_{B}^{2}}J_{ij}, \quad \left[\hat{\pi}_{i},\hat{R}_{j}\right] = 0$$
(7.59)

with magnetic length $l_B^2 = \hbar/eB$. By introducing the annihilation operator $\hat{a} = \frac{l_B}{\sqrt{2\hbar}}(\hat{\pi}_2 + i\hat{\pi}_1), \quad [\hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger}] = 1,$ the kinetic part of the Hamiltonian can be rewritten as

$$\frac{\hat{\boldsymbol{\pi}}^2}{2m} = \hbar\omega_c \left(\hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} + \frac{1}{2} \right), \tag{7.60}$$

which is the familiar Hamiltonian of the quantum harmonic oscillator. The (Fock) eigenspaces $|n\rangle$ of this Hamiltonian are called *Landau levels*, and quantize the rotational movement of the electron around its guiding center.

We can also introduce the displacement operators

$$T(\boldsymbol{v}) = e^{-i\boldsymbol{v}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{R}}/l_B^2} : T^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{v}) \hat{\boldsymbol{R}} T(\boldsymbol{v}) = \hat{\boldsymbol{R}} + \boldsymbol{v},$$

$$D_{\pi}(\boldsymbol{v}) = e^{-i\frac{l_B^2}{\hbar^2} \boldsymbol{v}^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{\pi}}} : D_{\pi}^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{v}) \hat{\boldsymbol{\pi}} D_{\pi}(\boldsymbol{v}) = \hat{\boldsymbol{\pi}} + \boldsymbol{v}.$$
 (7.61)

With these definitions, and inserting eq. (7.58), the Hamiltonian in eq. (7.57)becomes

$$H = \hbar\omega_c \left(\hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} + \frac{1}{2} \right) - \frac{V}{2} \left\{ T \left(\frac{\Phi_0 a}{\Phi} \boldsymbol{v}_1 \right) D_{\pi} \left(\frac{h}{a} \boldsymbol{v}_1 \right) + T \left(\frac{\Phi_0 a}{\Phi} \boldsymbol{v}_2 \right) D_{\pi} \left(\frac{h}{a} \boldsymbol{v}_2 \right) + \text{h.c.} \right\}, \quad (7.62)$$

where we also inserted the flux quantum $\Phi_0 = h/e$ and Flux $\Phi = a^2 B$ that pierces the individual unit cell.

This Hamiltonian has a nice interpretation. The terms $D_{\pi}(\cdot)$ couple between the different Landau levels, which are separated by an energy gap of $\Delta E =$ $\hbar\omega_c \propto B$. When the magnetic field is very strong, the energy gap becomes large, and we can restrict the system to an effective theory on the lowest landau level (LLL) at $|n = 0\rangle$. Projecting onto the LLL, the effective theory is now given by

$$H_{LLL} = -\frac{V'}{2} \left\{ T\left(\frac{\Phi_0 a}{\Phi} \boldsymbol{v}_1\right) + T\left(\frac{\Phi_0 a}{\Phi} \boldsymbol{v}_2\right) + \text{h.c.} \right\},\tag{7.63}$$

with $V' \propto V$ [165], which is close to the kind of GKP Hamiltonian we were after. The operators $T(\cdot)$ commute as

$$T(\boldsymbol{x})T(\boldsymbol{y}) = e^{i2\pi \frac{\Phi(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{y})}{\Phi_0}}T(\boldsymbol{y})T(\boldsymbol{x}),$$
(7.64)

where $\Phi(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}) = B\boldsymbol{x}^T J \boldsymbol{y}$ is the magnetic flux enclosed in the parallelogram spanned by the vectors $\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}$. The displacements appearing in the Hamiltonian thus commute to

$$T\left(\frac{\Phi_0 a}{\Phi}\boldsymbol{v}_1\right)T\left(\frac{\Phi_0 a}{\Phi}\boldsymbol{v}_2\right) = e^{i2\pi\Phi_0/\Phi}T\left(\frac{\Phi_0 a}{\Phi}\boldsymbol{v}_2\right)T\left(\frac{\Phi_0 a}{\Phi}\boldsymbol{v}_1\right).$$
(7.65)

Choosing $\Phi = \frac{p}{q} \Phi_0$, the operators hence commute if $q/p \in \mathbb{Z}$ and the Hamiltonian in eq. (7.63) becomes a GKP Hamiltonian. We define the variables $\hat{x} = \hat{R}/l_B$, which are dimension less and commute like the usual position- and momentum operators $[\hat{x}_i, \hat{x}_j] = iJ_{ij}$. With $2\pi l_B/a = \sqrt{2\pi\Phi_0/\Phi}$ the LLL Hamiltonian becomes

$$H_{LLL} = -V' \left\{ \cos\left(\sqrt{2\pi \frac{\Phi_0}{\Phi}} \boldsymbol{v}_1^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right) + \cos\left(\sqrt{2\pi \frac{\Phi_0}{\Phi}} \boldsymbol{v}_2^T J \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}\right) \right\}.$$
(7.66)

This is the stabilizer Hamiltonian of a scaled GKP code with stabilizer lattice $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{q/p}\mathcal{L}_0$ which encodes $d = \frac{\Phi_0}{\Phi} = q/p$ logical dimensions. From this correspondence again we see that we need $q/p \in \mathbb{Z}$ for the terms in the Hamiltonian (the stabilizers) to commute. When q and p are chosen to be coprime integers, as is usually assumed in quantum Hall physics, it becomes necessary that p = 1 and the Hamiltonian describes the simple scaled GKP code with $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{q}\mathcal{L}_0, \ \mathcal{L}_0^\perp = \mathcal{L}_0$. From our earlier discussions we know that this Hamiltonian encodes the q-dimensional code space as its degenerate ground space.

The presence of the magnetic field that controls how the variables $\hat{R}_{1,2}$ commute, such that now it is not merely the unit cell volume a^2 of the underlying lattice $\mathcal{L}_{crys} = a\mathcal{L}_0$ that defines the dimension of the code space (the ground space degeneracy of this Hamiltonian) but the strength of the magnetic field provides an extra handle on the commutation phase between operators. Compared to the phase-space picture in the q, p plane, this system – in the R_1, R_2 plane – behaves as if one could scale the value of the canonical commutation phase $\hbar \mapsto q\hbar$, which manifests equivalent to the mechanism underlying the class of scaled GKP codes.

7.3.3 Floquet engineering via dynamical decoupling

Now to something more practical. Consider the stabilizer Hamiltonian for a single mode square GKP code, scaled to encode a single qubit. The Hamiltonian is given by (set U = 1 for simplicity)

$$H_{\rm GKP} = -\cos(2\sqrt{\pi}\hat{p}) - \cos(2\sqrt{\pi}\hat{q}). \tag{7.67}$$

How does one engineer such a Hamiltonian? From the previous discussion on superconducting circuits – identifying $\hat{q} \propto \hat{\Phi}$ and $\hat{p} \propto \hat{Q}$ we see that one of the cosine terms can be produced by a Josephson junction but none of the physical mechanisms discussed above seem to allow the engineering of a complementary $-\cos\left(2\sqrt{\pi}\hat{Q}\right)$ term. In the typical process of circuit quantization all the variables that enter the potential terms need to commute, such that obtaining the complementary cosine is very difficult [183]. One proposal that states such a device uses a Josephson junction together with the exotic phase-slip junction,

which simply have the correct Hamiltonian terms [122]. The understanding of such devices is however still subject of ongoing research (see ref. [119]) and beyond the scope of our discussion. Ref. [165] showed that one can engineer the GKP Hamiltonian effectively using a non-reciprocal Gyrator element to mimic the GKP Hamiltonian, which is an approach motivated by the previous discussion on the quantum Hall effect realization of the GKP Hamiltonian, where the magnetic field non-trivially couples the guiding center variables. In this proposal the gyrator allows to implement a comparable coupling. The gyrator element, however, is also a non-standard element in the toolbox of superconducting circuits and awaits realizations in the necessary parameter regimes.

What is... a group projector?

Given a finite group G with linear action on a vector space $V~(g,v)\mapsto g.v\in V$ a group projector is defined as

$$\Pi_G(x) = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} g.x.$$
(7.68)

Using closure of the group multiplication and the definition of the action g.(h.x) = (gh).x it quickly follows that $\Pi_G \circ \Pi_G(x) = \Pi_G(x)$ and that it projects the input onto the g-symmetric elements $g.x = x \forall g \in G$ in V.

We have already seen a group projector before, given by the code space projector associated with a stabilizer code $\mathcal{S}\subset\mathcal{U}$

$$\Pi_S = \frac{1}{|\mathcal{S}|} \sum_{s \in \mathcal{S}} s,\tag{7.69}$$

that, via the usual action on states in the physical Hilbert space takes any input state to a code state.

A group projector can also be defined to act on operators on a Hilbert spaces under adjoint action. We stick to groups of unitary operators $G \subset \mathcal{U}$, the group projector is defined as

$$\Pi_G(X) = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} gXg^{\dagger}$$
(7.70)

and now projects onto the *commutant* of G, i.e. operators that commute with all elements in G. This idea is useful in state preparation relative to a quantum error correcting code: let S be a stabilizer group, the projector $\Pi_{\mathcal{S}}(\rho)$ projects any input state onto a state supported only on operators in the centralizer $\mathcal{C}(S)$ of the stabilizer group: it projects onto a *logical* Bloch vector.

One can go even a step further, the set of channels acting on a quantum system also constitute a vector space and one can define for a group of unitary operators $G \in \mathcal{U}$ the action

$$(g, \mathcal{N}(\cdot)) \mapsto g^{\dagger} \mathcal{N} \left(g \cdot g^{\dagger} \right) g,$$
 (7.71)

which can also be understood as an adjoint action of the group $\{g \otimes \overline{g}, g \in G\}$ on the natural representation of the channel (i.e. the representation where states are written as vectors). The use of group projectors in quantum information is colloquially referred to as *twirling* and some applications are summarized in fig. 7.6.



Figure 7.6: Different applications of the group projector in quantum information, colloquially referred to as *twirling*.



Figure 7.7: Quantum harmonic oscillator comprising a cavity and a (super-) inductance coupled to a Josephson Junction. In gray a circuit element is indicated to implement displacements on the oscillator via inductive coupling.

To propose an implementation of a GKP Hamiltonian using superconducting circuits, we follow a different approach using only textbook circuit elements but time-dependent periodic driving of the Hamiltonian; the circuit is shown in fig. 7.7.

The broad idea of this approach is to take advantage of a technique called dynamical decoupling, where we periodically interlace the natural time evolution of a Hamiltonian H_0 with instantaneous unitary pulses P_k after time periods $\Delta t_k = \tau_k T$, where T_C is the periodicity of the periodic control sequence $U_C(t + nT_C) = U_C(t) \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$. The pulses are set to satisfy $P_0 = I$ and $\prod_{k=1}^M P_k = I$ so that they have a net-zero effect when the natural Hamiltonian evolution is trivial. When the periodic window is chosen sufficiently short, the time evolution of the system over each window is given by

$$U(T_C) = P_M e^{-i\tau_{M-1}T_C H_0} P_{M-1} \dots P_1 e^{-i\tau_1 T_C H_0} P_0$$
(7.72)

and can be described by the average Hamiltonian

$$\overline{H}^{(0)} = \sum_{k=1}^{M} \tau_k Q_k^{\dagger} H_0 Q_k, \qquad (7.73)$$

with the accumulated control pulse $Q_k = P_{k-1}P_{k-2}...P_1$, with $P_k = Q_{k+1}Q_k^{\dagger}$.

Equation (7.73) reflects the structure of a group projector. Assume we have a group G that contains the cumulative pulses Q_k of the driving sequence, then the average Hamiltonian

$$\overline{H}^{(0)} = |G|^{-1} \sum_{g \in G} g H_0 g^{\dagger} = \Pi_G(H_0)$$
(7.74)

is given by the projection of the Hamiltonian H_0 onto the commutant of the unitary group G. A common use of such driving sequence is given by $\tau_1 = 1/2$, $P_1 = P_2 = X$ so to get rid of an unwanted Hamiltonian evolution $H_0 = \epsilon Z$. This trick is called *spin echo* [124] and realizes the periodic evolution via

$$U(T_C) = X e^{-i\frac{T_C}{2}\epsilon Z} X e^{-i\frac{T_C}{2}\epsilon Z} I = e^{-iT_C \frac{\epsilon}{2}(XZX+Z)} = I, \qquad (7.75)$$

which becomes trivial due to the fact that the Z operator is not in the commutant of the group $\langle X \rangle$, i.e. $\Pi_{\langle X \rangle}(Z)$. In the exponent of eq. (7.75) we can also recognize that the average Hamiltonian that describes the time evolution over the interval T_C is indeed given by the group-projected Hamiltonian $\Pi_{\langle X \rangle}(H_0)$.

Dynamical decoupling is a powerful tool when combined with quantum error correction. When one designs the pulse sequence such that the cumulative pulses in eq. (7.73) reflect the stabilizers of a stabilizer group, the effective Hamiltonian obtained will commute with the stabilizer group which allows to implement logical unitary evolutions where the dynamical decoupling sequence filters out unwanted errors from spurious couplings. From a Hamiltonian engineering perspective, this trick allows the engineering of target Hamiltonians that are potentially hard to realize via a direct physical implementation by building a *substrate* Hamiltonian that is perhaps easier to build but has potential support on many terms that are unwanted in the target and then filter out these



Figure 7.8: The characteristic function $h_{\rm JJ}(\boldsymbol{x};t)$ with $\varphi = \sqrt{2\pi}$ traverses the indicated circle with time. For $\omega t \geq 2\pi$ the rotating points are smeared out over the circle which represents the first order RWA $\overline{h}_{JJ}^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{x};t)$. The delta peaks of the characteristic function $h_{GKP}(\boldsymbol{x})$ are indicated in red.

unwanted terms by an appropriate dynamical decoupling sequence. When targeting a stabilizer Hamiltonian, the pulses will constitute precisely of elements in the centralizer of the stabilizer group.

This is the strategy we follow to find an implementation for the GKP stabilizer Hamiltonian. First we show how one can find a suitable substrate Hamiltonians by means of a Josephson junction coupled to a high-frequency LC oscillator, and then we show how a dynamical decoupling sequence with displacement pulses in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} can be designed that filters out the unwanted terms in that substrate Hamiltonian. To analyse Hamiltonians, it is convenient to decompose them into displacement operators and study the structure of their characteristic function

$$H = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} h(\boldsymbol{x}) D(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (7.76)$$

where $h(\boldsymbol{x}) = \operatorname{Tr}[D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{x})H].$

The targeted stabilizer Hamiltonian in eq. (7.67) simply has a characteristic function proportional to

$$h_{\text{GKP}}(\boldsymbol{x}) = -\delta(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}_1) - \delta(\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{\xi}_1) - \delta(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}_2) - \delta(\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{\xi}_2), \quad (7.77)$$

with $\xi_i = \sqrt{2}e_i$. That is, it is simply given by 4 Dirac-delta peaks distributed on the phase space points corresponding to the generating set and its inverse, which are depicted in fig. 7.8.

The substrate Hamiltonian

To obtain a suitable substrate Hamiltonian, consider a Josephson junction coupled to an LC oscillator as in fig. 7.7. Using standard circuit quantization [48, 92] the Hamiltonian can be expressed in terms of flux Φ and charge Q with $[\Phi,Q]=i\hbar$ as

$$H = \frac{Q^2}{2C} + \frac{\Phi^2}{2L} - E_J \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{\Phi_0}\Phi\right),\tag{7.78}$$

where $\Phi_0 = \frac{h}{2e} = 2eR_Q$ is the flux quantum. Expressing the Hamiltonian in terms of the cavity frequency $\omega = \sqrt{LC}^{-1}$ and creation and annihilation operators

$$a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L\hbar\omega}}\Phi + \frac{i}{\sqrt{2C\hbar\omega}}Q,\tag{7.79}$$

$$a^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2L\hbar\omega}} \Phi - \frac{i}{\sqrt{2C\hbar\omega}} Q, \qquad (7.80)$$

which obey the commutation relation $[a, a^{\dagger}] = 1$, the flux and charge operators can be expressed as

$$\Phi = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar Z}{2}} (a + a^{\dagger}) \tag{7.81}$$

$$Q = -i\sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2Z}}(a - a^{\dagger}), \qquad (7.82)$$

where $Z = \sqrt{\frac{L}{C}}$ is the impedance of the cavity mode. In this representation the Hamiltonian becomes

$$H = \underbrace{\hbar\omega\left(a^{\dagger}a + \frac{1}{2}\right)}_{H_0} - E_J \cos\left(\underbrace{\frac{2\pi}{\Phi_0}\sqrt{\frac{\hbar Z}{2}}}_{\varphi}(a + a^{\dagger})\right). \tag{7.83}$$

The constant factor inside the $cos(\cdot)$ term can be simplified to

$$\varphi = \sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^2}{\frac{\hbar^2}{(2e)^2}}} \frac{\hbar Z}{2} = \sqrt{\frac{\pi Z}{R_Q}}.$$
(7.84)

In the frame rotating with H_0 the Hamiltonian reads

$$H = -E_J \cos\left(\varphi(e^{-i\omega t}a + e^{i\omega t}a^{\dagger})\right)$$
(7.85)

$$= -\frac{E_J}{2} \left\{ \exp(i\varphi e^{i\omega t}a^{\dagger} + i\varphi e^{-i\omega t}a) + \exp(-i\varphi e^{i\omega t}a^{\dagger} - i\varphi e^{-i\omega t}a) \right\}$$
(7.86)

$$= -\frac{E_J}{2} \left\{ D\left(\frac{\varphi}{\sqrt{\pi}} R^{\omega t} \boldsymbol{e}_2\right) + D\left(-\frac{\varphi}{\sqrt{\pi}} R^{\omega t} \boldsymbol{e}_2\right) \right\},\tag{7.87}$$

where we have expressed $\hat{a} = (\hat{q} + i\hat{p})/\sqrt{2}$ and defined the rotation

$$R^{\omega t} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \omega t & -\sin \omega t \\ \cos \omega t & \sin \omega t \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.88)

such that the Hamiltonian characteristic function in the rotating frame becomes

$$h_{\rm JJ}(\boldsymbol{x};t) = -\frac{E_J}{2} \left\{ \delta \left(\boldsymbol{x} - \frac{\varphi}{\sqrt{\pi}} R^{\omega t} \boldsymbol{e}_2 \right) + \delta \left(\boldsymbol{x} + \frac{\varphi}{\sqrt{\pi}} R^{\omega t} \boldsymbol{e}_2 \right) \right\}.$$
(7.89)

For the characteristic function to define support on the targeted stabilizer and overlap with the characteristic function in eq. (7.77), we hence see that one needs to tune the impedance such that $\varphi = \sqrt{2\pi}$, which corresponds to a value $Z = 2R_Q$.

Under time evolution, in the frame co-rotating with H_0 , the Hamiltonian of the Josephson junction traces out a path that reproduces the GKP stabilizer Hamiltonian at every quarter cycle $T_{\text{GKP}} = \frac{\pi}{2\omega}$. If one assumes the possibility to selectively turn the coupling between the Josephson junction on and off via some time-dependent function $E_J \mapsto f(t)E_J$ that effectively modulates the Josephson energy, one could simply reproduce the GKP Hamiltonian by "blinking" the JJ up at those selected points. This is in fact a simplified version of the strategy to design a GKP Hamiltonian proposed in refs. [118, 144], where ref. [118] proposes the use of either a flux modulated squid loop and to facilitate this drive and ref. [144] assumes the existence of a fast switching mechanism.

With $\frac{d}{dt}U_0(t) = -iH_0U_0(t)$, the full rotating frame Hamiltonian is given by $H_{rot}(t) = U_0^{\dagger}HU_0 + i\frac{dU_0^{\dagger}}{dt}U_0$. The unitary evolution of the system in this frame is given by the Magnus expansion

$$U(t) = \mathcal{T} \exp\left(-i \int_0^t H_{rot}(t') dt\right) = \exp\left(-i\overline{H}(t)\right),\tag{7.90}$$

for which the first order characteristic functions of $\overline{H}(t) = \sum_k \overline{H}^{(k)}(t)$ can be evaluated to

$$\overline{h}^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{x};t) = \int_0^t h_{\mathrm{JJ}}(\boldsymbol{x};t) dt', \qquad (7.91)$$

and higher orders vanish as $\hbar\omega \ll E_J$ [23, 183]. Hence, for sufficiently large frequency ω , the path traced out by the rotating frame evolution of eq. (7.89) *smears out* to become a solid circle which has the support we were looking for. This process of replacing the effective rotating frame Hamiltonian with its timeaverage is also called the *rotating wave approximation*. We can also consider the effective Hamiltonian in the Fock basis, by computing

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' \left\langle n | D\left(R^{\omega t'} \boldsymbol{x}\right) | m \right\rangle \xrightarrow{\omega t \ge 2\pi} \delta_{m,n} L_{n}\left(\pi \|\boldsymbol{x}\|^{2}\right) e^{-\frac{\pi \|\boldsymbol{x}\|^{2}}{2}t},$$
(7.92)

where $L_n(\cdot)$ are the Laguerre polynomials. As the resulting Hamiltonian now is diagonal in the Fock basis, it has also become rotation invariant.

The decoupling sequence

To distil a GKP Hamiltonian from the substrate we need to derive a time- and pulse sequence such that the operation applied to H_0 in eq. (7.73) looks like a group projector onto the centralizer of the GKP stabilizer group, that is, we are trying to construct the projector

$$\Pi_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}}(\cdot) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}} D(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}) \cdot D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{\perp}).$$
(7.93)

As already discussed above this projector is unphysical, so that the best we can do is to approximate it via a distribution $\mu_{M^{\perp}}(\boldsymbol{x})$ that converges against an invariant measure on \mathcal{L}^{\perp} in some limit.

Equipped with such a formulation, an approximate Hamiltonian twirl is implemented via

$$\widetilde{\Pi}_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}}(H_0) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} \, h(\boldsymbol{x}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\mu(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \, D(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) D(\boldsymbol{x}) D^{\dagger}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \\ = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} \, h(\boldsymbol{x}) \underbrace{\left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\mu(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \, e^{-i2\pi\boldsymbol{\gamma}^T J \boldsymbol{x}} \right]}_{\nu(\boldsymbol{x})} D(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad (7.94)$$

that is, it implements a simple multiplication of the characteristic function of the Hamiltonian with a kernel $\nu(\mathbf{x})$, which is given by the symplectic Fourier transform of the measure. As a Fourier transform, it is easy to convince ourselves that convolution measures $\mu_1 * \mu_1$ yield the product of the kernels $\nu_1\nu_2$, such that any non-trivial initial measure μ^1 with ν^1 is approximatively compactly supported on \mathcal{L}^{\perp} can be amplified to sharpen its support by considering the *N*-fold convolution μ^{*N} with Fourier transform ν^N .

Specifically, we define a random walk from the joint distribution of N' = 2N half-steps $\pm \boldsymbol{\xi}_i/2$, each of which are selected with 1/2 probability at each step. Define for $i = 1 \dots 2n$ the associated (discrete) measure

$$\mu_i'(\boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{1}{2}\delta\left(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^{\perp}/2\right) + \frac{1}{2}\delta\left(\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{\xi}_i^{\perp}/2\right),\tag{7.95}$$

so that we obtain the measure corresponding to N steps of the random walk as $\mu_i^{(*N)} := \mu_i^{\prime(*2N)}$. The corresponding kernel function is for a single step is

$$\nu_{i}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} d\mu_{i}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) e^{-i2\pi\boldsymbol{\gamma}^{T} J \boldsymbol{x}}$$
$$= \cos^{2} \left(\pi \left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_{i}^{\perp} \right)^{T} J \boldsymbol{x} \right), \qquad (7.96)$$

such that, in the limit $N \to \infty$, $\nu_i^N(\boldsymbol{x})$ suppresses all contributions $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ except for those in the symplectic dual of $\boldsymbol{\xi}_i^{\perp}$. We define the joint measure over all generators in M^{\perp} to be the joint random walk given by the 2*n*-fold convolution

$$\mu_{M^{\perp}} = \mu_1 * \mu_2 * \dots * \mu_{2n} \tag{7.97}$$

which has Fourier transform

$$\nu_{M^{\perp}}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \prod_{i=1}^{2n} \cos^2\left(\pi \left(\boldsymbol{\xi}_i^{\perp}\right)^T J \boldsymbol{x}\right).$$
(7.98)

For the square GKP code with $M^{\perp} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}I_2$, one can rewrite

$$\mu_{M^{\perp}}^{N}(\boldsymbol{\gamma}) = \mu_{M^{\perp}}^{*N} = \sum_{n,m=-N}^{N} P^{N}(n,m) \delta\left(n\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}^{\perp} + m\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}^{\perp} - \boldsymbol{\gamma}\right)$$
(7.99)

with

$$P^{N}(n,m) = 2^{-4N} \binom{2N}{n+N} \binom{2N}{m+N}.$$
(7.100)



Figure 7.9: (left) probability distribution for n = 1 step of the random walk and (right) the kernel functions $\nu_{M^{\perp}}$ for square and hexagonal GKP codes.

The kernel functions for the square and hexagonal GKP codes are depicted in fig. 7.9. Using this probability measure, the expression for the approximately twirled Hamiltonian becomes

$$\widetilde{\Pi}_{\mathcal{L}^{\perp}}^{N}(H_{0}) = \sum_{n,m=-N}^{N} P^{N}(n,m) D\left(n\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}^{\perp} + m\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}^{\perp}\right) H_{0} D^{\dagger}\left(n\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}^{\perp} + m\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}^{\perp}\right)$$
(7.101)

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} d\boldsymbol{x} h(\boldsymbol{x}) \nu_{M^{\perp}}^{N}(\boldsymbol{x}) D(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
(7.102)

While the last line, eq. (7.102), shows exactly the approximate projection of the Hamiltonian onto one whose characteristic function shares support with $\nu_{M^{\perp}}^{N}(\boldsymbol{x})$, which is confined to $\boldsymbol{x} \in \mathcal{L}$ for large N, the expression in eq. (7.101) looks oddly like the expression for the effective Hamiltonian under dynamical decoupling from eq. (7.73)! These expressions become exactly the same when we equate

$$\tau_{k} = \tau_{k(n,m)} = P^{N}(n,m),$$

$$Q_{k} = Q_{k(n,m)} = D(n\boldsymbol{\xi}_{1}^{\perp} + m\boldsymbol{\xi}_{2}^{\perp}).$$
(7.103)

What is left is hence to find the function k(n,m) that assigns a time step to the corresponding displacement label.

Control path ordering

To minimize the experimental effort of implementing the control pulses $P_k = Q_{k+1}Q_k^{\dagger}$ and to maintain $\prod_k P_k = I$, we construct a *control graph*: the vertices (n,m) of the control graph label the (accumulated) displacement amplitudes $\{Q_k\}$ and edges represent the allowed transitions, that is choices of $\{P_k = Q_{k+1}Q_k^{\dagger}\}$ to map between different accumulated control pulses. To minimize the necessary displacement amplitude at each instance we choose the edge connectivity as in a kings graph $C = (V = \{(n,m)\}, E_{king})$, which is known to have Hamiltonian cycles for each N. The ordering $k(\cdot, \cdot)$ is then given by a Hamiltonian cycle on the vertices of C starting at k(0,0) = 1. This construction ensures that each instantaneous control pulse displacement amplitude is bounded by a constant $\|\boldsymbol{\xi}\| \leq 1$. For an example of a possible control sequence


Figure 7.10: One possible ordering of the control path as given by a Hamiltonian cycle on the control graph. Each vertex is associated with the accumulated control pulse Q_k at time-index k = k(n, m) and each edge with the instantaneous control pulses P_k applied at the respective time step k as indicated by the time labels on the edges.

for N = 1 see fig. 7.10. The N - step Hamiltonian twirl is mapped to an open-loop control sequence consisting of $M = (2N + 1)^2$ displacement pulses.

Numerical results

Tuning $Z = 2R_Q$, the substrate Hamiltonian is given by

$$H_{sub}/E_J = -e^{-\pi} \sum_n L_n(2\pi) \left| n \right\rangle \left\langle n \right|, \qquad (7.104)$$

to which the decoupling sequence is applied. The resulting average time Hamiltonian can then be numerically diagonalized; the Wigner functions for the lowest two eigenstates of the effective average Hamiltonian under N - level logical Twirl $H_{av}^{(0)}$ for N = 1, 5, 10, 15 and $E_J = 1$ as well as the spectrum are shown in fig. 7.11.

The lowest eigenstates are found to approximate the GKP magic states

$$|H_{\Delta}^{+}\rangle = \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{8}\right)|0_{\Delta}\rangle + \sin\left(\frac{\pi}{8}\right)|1_{\Delta}\rangle, \qquad (7.105)$$

$$|H_{\Delta}^{-}\rangle = -\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{8}\right)|0_{\Delta}\rangle + \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{8}\right)|1_{\Delta}\rangle, \qquad (7.106)$$

with approximation parameter $\Delta_{q/p} \propto N^{-0.185}$, which can be understood from the fact that the substrate Hamiltonian had a rotational symmetry, of which the $\pi/2$ rotation symmetry survives the twirl as this is the symmetry shared with the lattice \mathcal{L}^{\perp} .

In the above description, the approximate GKP computational basis states are parametrized as



Figure 7.11: (a) Wigner functions of the two lowest eigenstates of $H_{av}^{(0)}$ for twirling level N = 1, ..., 15 together with their effective squeezing parameter are shown. (b) Finite squeezing parameters for N = 1..30 and (c) the ten lowest eigenenergies of $H_{av}^{(0)}$ are plotted. The two lowest (degenerate for large $N \geq 4$) eigenenergies approximating the GKP $|\overline{H_{\pm}}\rangle$ states are colored red and are separated by a gap that shrinks with N from the higher levels. The effective squeezing of the two lowest eigenstates becomes symmetric in q, p for $N \ge 8$ and approximately scales with the twirling-level $\Delta_{q/p} \propto N^{-0.185}$. Code that was used to produce this figure can be found in ref. [52].

$$|0_{\Delta}\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dq \, \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-2\Delta^2 \pi n^2} e^{-\frac{1}{2\Delta^2}(q-2n\sqrt{\pi})^2} |q\rangle,$$
 (7.107)

$$|1_{\Delta}\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dq \, \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-2\Delta^2 \pi n^2} e^{-\frac{1}{2\Delta^2}(q - (2n+1)\sqrt{\pi})^2} |q\rangle, \qquad (7.108)$$

while the finite squeezing parameter is measured via [196]

$$\Delta_q = \sqrt{\frac{-1}{\pi} \ln(|\operatorname{Tr}(\rho D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_1))|)}, \qquad \Delta_p = \sqrt{\frac{-1}{\pi} \ln(|\operatorname{Tr}(\rho D(\boldsymbol{\xi}_2))|)}. \quad (7.109)$$

We find that already for a low level of the twirl, the low energy spectrum of the average time Hamiltonian reproduces the desired behavior of an approximate GKP stabilizer Hamiltonian.

Parameter regimes & related work

The RWA for $h_{JJ}^{(1)}$ is generally valid for sufficiently large cavity frequencies $\hbar\omega \gg E_J$ which could be considered smeared out in the limit $\omega t_{min} \geq 2\pi$, where $t_{min} = 2^{-4N}T_C$ corresponds to the smallest timescale where this approximation needs to be valid. The latter inequality sets the lower bound for the period length of the stroboscopic evolution as $T_C \geq \frac{2\pi}{\omega} 2^{4N}$. For the average Hamiltonian to remain valid, it would be desirable to have a cavity with large ω to minimize this bound for some finite N.

The final limitation of this scheme is given by the speed limit for displacement operations. For the assumption of using instantaneous pulses (which is also sometimes called *bang-bang dynamical decoupling*) to hold, it is necessary that displacements of amplitude $\sqrt{2\pi} \| \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1/2}^{\perp} \| = \sqrt{\pi}$ can be realized in a time $t_{disp} \ll 2^{-4N}T_C$. This necessitates that $\sqrt{2}T_X \ll 2^{-4N}T_C$ where T_X is the minimal time it takes to realize a (elementary) displacement by $\sqrt{2\pi} \| \boldsymbol{\xi}_{1/2}^{\perp} \| = \pi$. Altogether, this imposes a bound of $T_X \ll \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{2\pi}{\omega}$ on the speed to implement displacements. As a generic example, assuming a cavity frequency of $\frac{\omega}{2\pi} = 5.26GHz$ [42],

As a generic example, assuming a cavity frequency of $\frac{2}{2\pi} = 5.26 GHz$ [42], elementary displacements must be realizable in a time $T_X \ll 0.13ns$, which is a demanding assumption but appears within experimental reach.

While we have been motivating this discussion from the point of view of dynamical decoupling, this pathway to engineer GKP Hamiltonians can be more broadly understood as a version of *Floquet engineering* [139, 164] and a rigorous connection can be established by comparing *Floquet-Magnus* expansion to the expression for the average Hamiltonian given earlier. Extending this work, there have been proposals by Kolesnikow and Grimsmo [118], Sellem et al. [172], as well as Nathan et al.[144], who proposed protocols where the effective Josephson energy is modulated by inclusion of a rapid switch. Ref. [118] proposed the use of such protocol to prepare GKP states by an adiabatic ramp on the effective Josephson energy and ref. [144] investigated its self-correcting behavior in an open quantum system, with coherence time estimates growing exponentially with the loss rate up to O(1ms - 1s) in their estimates. While this seems highly promising, the results rely on the existence of the rapid switching process, which as yet appears difficult to engineer [144].

Finally, note that the scheme discussed here is not restricted to the engineering of GKP stabilizer Hamiltonians. By simply adapting the pulses to stabilizer shifts (corresponding to an impedance $Z = R_Q$ in the rotating JJ), the decoupling sequence preserves Hamiltonian elements corresponding to *logical* GKP displacement. This strategy can be used to remove spurious couplings in the implementation of logical gates for the GKP code, which is closer in spirit to the original intention of dynamical decoupling.

7.4 The Dream

In this chapter we have developed a high-level understanding of some experimental approaches to realize the GKP code. As the GKP code bears large promise in providing a quantum memory with good protection against displacements or photonlosses (see refs. [5, 147, 183]), many research groups from academia and industry are developing implementation strategies and contribute to the development of this kind of "quantum engineering theory" [26, 121, 160, 162]. I refer to ref. [28] for a more extensive overview over experimental approaches. This chapter comes with two final dreams.

The first dream, of course, is that it works.

Successful implementation of the GKP code so to facilitate fault-tolerant quantum computing with the demonstration of advantages in using quantum algorithms for real-world problems is a desirable technological milestone. The cumulative developments in the field at the time of writing show hope that we are moving closer to this goal. But this would not be a thesis on the theory of GKP quantum error correction if that was all we dared to dream about.

This chapter has also shown that the GKP code connects to many interesting topics in physics. Notably, the discussion on the GKP Hamiltonians presented here is vastly extended by work presented in refs. [83, 84], where a connection between Hamiltonians of the GKP code and Abelian topological phases has been pointed out. The understanding of the GKP code Hamiltonian in relation with the physics of the quantum Hall effect provides an interesting gateway to future investigations and it would be desirable to understand how the GKP code appears in a many-particle treatment of the quantum Hall physics discussed in this chapter to understand how topological properties, such as the existence of chiral edge modes and Chern numbers manifest in relation to coding theoretic properties. Furthermore, the formulation of this connection provided here left the choice of lattice as a variable parameter. It would be interesting to investigate whether phenomena such as Hall viscosity [80, 103, 156] manifest when the crystal lattice undergoes a lattice automorphism through an adiabatic deformation process and how the related Berry phase manifests in comparison to the understanding developed in chapter 4. Further beyond, as the quantum Hall effect has been subject to field-theoretic treatments in the literature, this connection is likely to provide a gateway to develop a field-theoretic generalization of the GKP code, which I expect to necessitate the development of a coding theoretic machinery in the language of vertex operator algebras [108] and may point to yet another bridge between interesting topics from mathematics and physics. The final dream of this thesis is thus to pursue a deeper understanding how exactly the GKP code and existing⁷ physical systems with topological properties relate, and how exactly the coding theoretic properties manifest in physics and vice versa.

⁷Either on paper or in the lab.

Chapter 8

An open door

In this thesis, we have developed a coding theory of GKP codes, vastly extending previous work by Gottesman et al. in ref. [95] and Harrington and Preskill in refs. [106, 107] and built a lattice theoretic-, as well as algebraic geometric understanding of the structure of GKP codes where the latter lead to a classification of fault-tolerance for GKP Clifford gates within the fiber bundle fault-tolerance framework proposed in ref. [96]. Equipped with the lattice theoretic understanding, we have shown how a lattice-based cryptographic scheme can be used to derive families of GKP codes with good parameters and, by quantifying the hardness to decode these codes, proposed a novel quantum cryptosystem that builds entirely on decoding hardness for generic GKP codes. Finally, we discussed possible routes to implement the GKP code, with the key result proposal of a Floquet-implementation of the GKP stabilizer Hamiltonian.

The focus of this thesis has generally not been on deriving results, but on the development of theoretical methods and tools. In this quest, we have seen how GKP error correction connects to a vast number of fields of active mathematical and physical research and pointed towards many possible routes for future research, of which selected highlights were phrased as *Dreams* at the end of each chapter.

My hope for this work is that it conveys the exciting richness of the theory of quantum error correction with the GKP code and motivates the reader to simply

dream on.

For the curious: the title of this thesis is a hommage to the 2001 movie "*The fabulous destiny of Amélie Poulain*", which carries the german title, verbatim translated, "The fabulous world of Amelie". Amélie's character and life story I found to nicely mirror that of the GKP code, which coincidentally was also published in the same year.

Appendix

A Complex theta functions

We have seen in chap. 4 that every GKP code can be described by a type Dand a complex matrix $\Omega \in \mathfrak{H}_n$, summarized in the period matrix $\Pi = \begin{pmatrix} D & \Omega \end{pmatrix}$. Similar to the Jacobi theta function defined in the introduction, there is a quasiperiodic holomorphic multivalued function $\mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}$. This is the the theta function well defined for $\Omega \in \mathfrak{H}_n$ [142]

$$\vartheta(\boldsymbol{z},\Omega) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{n}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} e^{i\pi\boldsymbol{n}^T\Omega\boldsymbol{n} + i2\pi\boldsymbol{n}^T\boldsymbol{z}}.$$
(8.1)

Similar to the n = 1 case, this theta function is quasi-periodic with respect to the complex lattice $\Lambda_{\Omega} = \mathbb{Z}^n + \Omega \mathbb{Z}^n$, such that

$$\vartheta(\boldsymbol{z} + \boldsymbol{m}, \Omega) = \vartheta(\boldsymbol{z}, \Omega), \ \boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n,$$
(8.2)

$$\vartheta(\boldsymbol{z} + \Omega \boldsymbol{m}, \Omega) = e^{-i\pi \boldsymbol{m}^T \Omega \boldsymbol{m} - i2\pi \boldsymbol{m}^T \boldsymbol{z}} \vartheta(\boldsymbol{z}, \Omega), \ \boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n,$$
(8.3)

and we can also define the modification for type $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$

$$\vartheta_D(\boldsymbol{z},\Omega) := \vartheta \left(D^{-1} \boldsymbol{z}, D^{-1} \Omega D^{-1} \right)$$
(8.4)

$$=\sum_{\boldsymbol{n}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}e^{i\boldsymbol{\pi}\boldsymbol{n}^{T}D^{-1}\Omega D^{-1}\boldsymbol{n}+i2\boldsymbol{\pi}\boldsymbol{n}^{T}D^{-1}\boldsymbol{z}},$$
(8.5)

which is quasi-periodic over the lattice $\Lambda_{D,\Omega} = D\mathbb{Z}^n + \Omega\mathbb{Z}^n$ with

$$\vartheta_D(\boldsymbol{z} + D\boldsymbol{m}, \Omega) = \vartheta_D(\boldsymbol{z}, \Omega), \ \boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n, \vartheta_D(\boldsymbol{z} + \Omega\boldsymbol{m}, \Omega) = e^{-i\pi\boldsymbol{m}^T \Omega\boldsymbol{m} - i2\pi\boldsymbol{m}^T \boldsymbol{z}} \vartheta(\boldsymbol{z}, \Omega), \ \boldsymbol{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n,$$
(8.6)

where eq. (8.6) is easily checked by completing the square. Consequentially, the roots of the theta function

$$\Theta_{D,\Omega} = \{ \boldsymbol{z} \in \mathbb{C}^n : \vartheta_D(\boldsymbol{z},\Omega) = 0 \} \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n / \Lambda_{D,\Omega}$$
(8.7)

are a translation symmetric space under the lattice $\Lambda_{D,\Omega}$ and behave as if they lived on a complex torus.

B Magic states

The symplectic orthogonal automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}^{SO}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp})$ of GKP codes have a special application in that they give rise to magic states. Let $|0\rangle^{\otimes n}$ be the *n*-mode vacuum state. The vacuum state is rotation symmetric and arguably the simplest state to prepare. Further let

$$\Pi_M = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \mathcal{L}(M)} e^{i\phi_M(\boldsymbol{\xi})} D(\boldsymbol{\xi})$$
(8.8)

be the code space projector of a GKP code with generator M. In the case of a scaled GKP code where the symplectic Gram matrix A has only even entries we further have that the phases appearing in the group elements are trivial $\phi_M(\boldsymbol{\xi}) = 0 \mod 2\pi$, such that we simply write $\Pi_{\mathcal{L}}$ and for \hat{U}_S the Gaussian unitary associated to a symplectic automorphism $S \in \operatorname{Aut}^{SO}(\mathcal{L}^{\perp}) = \operatorname{Aut}^{SO}(\mathcal{L})$, we have

$$\left[\hat{U}_S, \Pi_{\mathcal{L}}\right] = 0. \tag{8.9}$$

This implies that

$$M\rangle = \Pi_{\mathcal{L}} \left| 0 \right\rangle^{\otimes n} \tag{8.10}$$

is a +1 eigenvalued eigenstate of \hat{U}_S . $|M\rangle$ lives in the codespace of the GKP code and is the +1 eigenstate of the logical Clifford gate associated to S. Using a logical CNOT gate and the ability to perform computational basis measurements states of this type can be consumed to implement non-Clifford gates to lift the previously discussed Clifford gates to a universal gate set [31]. Ref. [31] distinguished between T- and H-types of magic states given by the single qubit Clifford orbit of the states [31]

$$|H\rangle\langle H| = \frac{I}{2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(\hat{X} + \hat{Z} \Big), \tag{8.11}$$

$$|T\rangle\langle T| = \frac{I}{2}I + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(\hat{X} + \hat{Y} + \hat{Z}),$$
 (8.12)

Example: $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{2}\mathbb{Z}^2$ For the square GKP code we have already identified the logical Hadamard gate realized by $e^{-i\pi/2\hat{n}}$ as the only Clifford gate realizable using passive Gaussian unitary. Furthermore (in codespace) the +1 Eigenstate of the Hadamard gate is unique such that we obtain $|M\rangle = |H+\rangle$ the +1 eigenvalued eigenstate of the logical Hadamard gate. This fact was observed in ref. [11], where it was also shown that performing quantum error correction allows for the production of those magic states.

Example: $\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{2}A_2$ It was realized in ref. [99] that the hexagonal GKP code has a symplectic orthogonal automorphism that realizes the $\hat{H}\hat{P}^{\dagger}$ gate given by $\hat{U}_{HP^{\dagger}} = e^{-i\frac{2\pi}{3}\hat{n}}$. The logical HP^{\dagger} gate is a symmetry of the $|T\rangle$ -type magic state defined in ref. [31], such that the state $|M\rangle$ obtained by projecting the vacuum onto code space again yields a magic state.

This section is also found in the appendix ref. [55], from where it was taken. I include it here to provide a more comprehensive reference on all things GKP.

For one mode the lattices \mathcal{L} denoted above can be uniquely described by a single parameter τ that transforms via $\tau \mapsto S^{-1} \cdot \tau$ for $S \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ when the associated code space projector transforms with $\Pi_{\mathcal{L}} \mapsto U_S \Pi_{\mathcal{L}} U_S^{\dagger}$. Similarly, every Gaussian state can also be labeled by an element $z \in \mathfrak{h}$ by considering the unique state annihilated by $\hat{a}_z = \hat{p} - z\hat{q}$. This labeling is such that for a Gaussian unitary $U_S \ \hat{a}_{z'} = U_S \hat{a}_z U_S^{\dagger}$ satisfies $z'^{-1} = S.z^{-1}$. This allows us to compactly describe the evolution of a state of type $|M\rangle$ under Gaussian unitary evolution

$$|M\rangle \mapsto U_S |M\rangle \tag{8.13}$$

$$(\tau, z^{-1}) \mapsto (S^{-1}.\tau, S.z^{-1}).$$
 (8.14)

In ref. [163] some non-Clifford logical gates implementable via non-Gaussian unitary gates are identified such as $\sqrt{\hat{H}}$ and a version of a controlled Hadamard gate. It would be interesting to extend the geometric classification discussed in the main text to such gates, which is left for future work.

References

- [1] S. Aaronson. www.complexityzoo.net.
- [2] S. Aaronson, A. Cojocaru, A. Gheorghiu, and E. Kashefi. Complexity-theoretic limitations on blind delegated quantum computation, 2019.
- [3] S. Aaronson and D. Gottesman. Improved simulation of stabilizer circuits. *Phys. Rev.* A, 70:052328, Nov 2004.
- [4] M. Ajtai. Generating hard instances of lattice problems (extended abstract). In Proceedings of the Twenty-Eighth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing, STOC '96, page 99–108, New York, NY, USA, 1996. Association for Computing Machinery.
- [5] V. V. Albert, K. Noh, K. Duivenvoorden, D. J. Young, R. T. Brierley, P. Reinhold, C. Vuillot, L. Li, C. Shen, S. M. Girvin, B. M. Terhal, and L. Jiang. Performance and structure of single-mode bosonic codes. *Phys. Rev. A*, 97:032346, Mar 2018.
- [6] A. Ambainis, M. Mosca, A. Tapp, and R. de Wolf. Private quantum channels. IEEE Symp. Found. Comp. Sc., page 547–553, 2000.
- [7] Y. Aono, T. Espitau, and P. Ngyuen. Random lattices: Theory and practice. https://espitau.github.io/bin/random_lattice.pdf.
- [8] D. Arapura. Notes on low dimensional modular varieties, 2019.
- [9] V. I. Arnol'd. Mathematische Methoden der klassischen Mechanik. Birkhäuser Basel, 1988.
- [10] W. Banaszczyk. New bounds in some transference theorems in the geometry of numbers. *Mathematische Annalen*, 296(1):625–635, December 1993.
- [11] B. Q. Baragiola, G. Pantaleoni, R. N. Alexander, A. Karanjai, and N. C. Menicucci. All-gaussian universality and fault tolerance with the gottesman-kitaev-preskill code. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 123:200502, Nov 2019.
- [12] V. Bargmann. On a hilbert space of analytic functions and an associated integral transform part i. Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 14(3):187–214, August 1961.
- [13] A. Beauville. Theta functions, old and new. In Open Problems and Surveys of Contemporary Mathematics, volume 6 of Surveys of Modern Mathematics, pages 99–131. Higher Education Press et International Press, 2013.
- [14] P. Benioff. The computer as a physical system: A microscopic quantum mechanical Hamiltonian model of computers as represented by turing machines. *Journal of Statistical Physics*, 22(5):563–591, 1980.
- [15] C. H. Bennett, G. Brassard, S. Popescu, B. Schumacher, J. A. Smolin, and W. K. Wootters. Purification of noisy entanglement and faithful teleportation via noisy channels. *Physical Review Letters*, 76(5):722–725, jan 1996.
- [16] A. M. Berge. Symplectic lattices. 1999.

- [17] E. Berlekamp, R. McEliece, and H. van Tilborg. On the inherent intractability of certain coding problems (corresp.). *IEEE Trans. Inf. Th.*, 24(3):384–386, 1978.
- [18] D. J. Bernstein, N. Heninger, and T. Lange. LatticeHacks. https://latticehacks.cr.yp.to/ntru.html.
- [19] D.J. Bernstein, J. Buchmann, and Dahmen E. Post-Quantum Cryptography. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2009.
- [20] J. Bi and Q. Chen. Lower bounds of shortest vector lengths in random NTRU lattices. *Th. Comp. Sc.*, 560:121–130, 2014. Networks, Algorithms and complexity: articles from the Turing centenary in Beijing, China.
- [21] J. Bi and Q. Cheng. Lower bounds of shortest vector lengths in random knapsack lattices and random NTRU lattices. Cryptology ePrint Archive, Paper 2011/153, 2011. https://eprint.iacr.org/2011/153.
- [22] C. Birkenhake and H. Lange. Complex Abelian Varieties. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2004.
- [23] S. Blanes, F. Casas, J. A. Oteo, and J. Ros. A pedagogical approach to the magnus expansion. *European Journal of Physics*, 31(4):907–918, jun 2010.
- [24] M. Blau. Symplectic geometry and geometric quantization. https://ncatlab.org/nlab/files/BlauGeometricQuantization.pdf.
- [25] Alexander I. Bobenko. Introduction to Compact Riemann Surfaces, pages 3–64. Number Bd. 2013 in Computational Approach to Riemann Surfaces. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [26] J. E. Bourassa, R. N. Alexander, M. Vasmer, A. Patil, I. Tzitrin, T. Matsuura, D. Su, B. Q. Baragiola, S. Guha, G. Dauphinais, and et al. Blueprint for a scalable photonic fault-tolerant quantum computer. *Quantum*, 5:392, 2021.
- [27] Bourbaki. Algébre. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007.
- [28] A. J. Brady, A. Eickbusch, S. Singh, J. Wu, and Q. Zhuang. Advances in bosonic quantum error correction with gottesman-kitaev-preskill codes: Theory, engineering and applications. *Progress in Quantum Electronics*, 93:100496, January 2024.
- [29] S. L. Braunstein. Squeezing as an irreducible resource. Phys. Rev. A, 71:055801, 2005.
- [30] S. Bravyi and M. B. Hastings. Homological product codes. In Proceedings of the Forty-Sixth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing, STOC '14, page 273–282, New York, NY, USA, 2014. Association for Computing Machinery.
- [31] S. Bravyi and A. Kitaev. Universal quantum computation with ideal clifford gates and noisy ancillas. *Physical Review A*, 71(2), feb 2005.
- [32] S. Bravyi, M. Suchara, and A. Vargo. Efficient algorithms for maximum likelihood decoding in the surface code. *Physical Review A*, 90(3), September 2014.
- [33] S. Bravyi and B. M. Terhal. A no-go theorem for a two-dimensional self-correcting quantum memory based on stabilizer codes. *New Journal of Physics*, 11(4):043029, April 2009.
- [34] N. P. Breuckmann. Homological quantum codes beyond the toric code. PhD thesis, RWTH Aachen University, 2017.
- [35] N. P. Breuckmann and J. N. Eberhardt. Balanced product quantum codes. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 67(10):6653–6674, oct 2021.
- [36] N. P. Breuckmann and J. N. Eberhardt. Quantum low-density parity-check codes. *PRX Quantum*, 2(4), October 2021.

- [37] N. P. Breuckmann and B. M. Terhal. Constructions and noise threshold of hyperbolic surface codes. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 62(6):3731–3744, June 2016.
- [38] P. Buser and P. Sarnak. On the period matrix of a riemann surface of large genus (with an appendix by j.h. conway and n.j.a. sloane). *Inventiones Mathematicae*, 117(1):27–56, dec 1994.
- [39] F. C. Caramello Jr. Introduction to orbifolds, 2022.
- [40] K. E. Cahill and R. J. Glauber. Density operators and quasiprobability distributions. *Phys. Rev.*, 177:1882–1902, Jan 1969.
- [41] K. E. Cahill and R. J. Glauber. Ordered expansions in boson amplitude operators. *Phys. Rev.*, 177:1857–1881, Jan 1969.
- [42] P. Campagne-Ibarcq, A. Eickbusch, S. Touzard, E. Zalys-Geller, N. E. Frattini, V. V. Sivak, P. Reinhold, S. Puri, S. Shankar, R. J. Schoelkopf, L. Frunzio, M. Mirrahimi, and M. H. Devoret. Quantum error correction of a qubit encoded in grid states of an oscillator. *Nature*, 584(7821):368–372, August 2020.
- [43] U. Chabaud and S. Mehraban. Holomorphic representation of quantum computations. *Quantum*, 6:831, October 2022.
- [44] W. L. Chow. On compact complex analytic varieties. American Journal of Mathematics, 71(4):893–914, 1949.
- [45] I. L. Chuang and M. A. Nielsen. Prescription for experimental determination of the dynamics of a quantum black box. *Journal of Modern Optics*, 44(11–12):2455–2467, November 1997.
- [46] C. T. Chubb. General tensor network decoding of 2d pauli codes, 2021.
- [47] C. T. Chubb and S. T. Flammia. Statistical mechanical models for quantum codes with correlated noise. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré D, Combinatorics, Physics and their Interactions, 8(2):269–321, May 2021.
- [48] A. Ciani. Engineering the coupling of superconducting qubits. Dissertation, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, 2019. Veröffentlicht auf dem Publikationsserver der RWTH Aachen University; Dissertation, RWTH Aachen University, 2019.
- [49] A. Ciani, D. P. DiVincenzo, and B. M. Terhal. Lecture Notes on Quantum Electrical Circuits. TU Delft OPEN Publishing, January 2024.
- [50] J. I. Cirac and P. Zoller. Quantum computations with cold trapped ions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 74:4091–4094, May 1995.
- [51] J. Conrad. https://github.com/JonCYeh/NTRUGKP.git.
- [52] J. Conrad. https://github.com/JonCYeh/GKP_DD.
- [53] J. Conrad. Twirling and Hamiltonian engineering via dynamical decoupling for Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill quantum computing. *Phys. Rev. A*, 103, 2021.
- [54] J. Conrad, A. Burchards, J. Eisert, and S.T. Flammia. in preparation: Chasing shadows with the gottesman-kitaev-preskill code. 2024.
- [55] J. Conrad, A. Burchards, and S.T. Flammia. Gottesman-kitaev-preskill codes: A rosetta stone. 2024.
- [56] J. Conrad, C. Chamberland, N. P. Breuckmann, and B. M. Terhal. The small stellated dodecahedron code and friends. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 376(2123):20170323, May 2018.
- [57] J. Conrad, J. Eisert, and F. Arzani. Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill codes: A lattice perspective. *Quantum*, 6:648, February 2022.

- [58] J. Conrad, J. Eisert, and J. P. Seifert. Good Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill codes from the NTRU cryptosystem. *Quantum*, 8:1398, July 2024.
- [59] K. Conrad. Lecture notes. https://kconrad.math.uconn.edu/blurbs/, 2024. [Online; accessed 06-May-2024].
- [60] J. Conway and N. Sloane. On the Voronoi regions of certain lattices. SIAM J. Alg. Dis. Meth., 5, 09 1984.
- [61] J. Conway and N. Sloane. Sphere packings, lattices and groups, volume 290. Springer, New York, NY, 1988.
- [62] D. Coppersmith and A. Shamir. Lattice attacks on ntru. In Advances in Cryptology -EUROCRYPT '97, International Conference on the Theory and Application of Cryptographic Techniques, Konstanz, Germany, May 11-15, 1997, Proceeding, volume 1233 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 52-61. Springer, 1997.
- [63] E. Dennis, A. Kitaev, A. Landahl, and J. Preskill. Topological quantum memory. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 43(9):4452–4505, September 2002.
- [64] D. Deutsch and R. Josza. Rapid solution of problems by quantum computation. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 439(1907):553–558, December 1992.
- [65] The Sage Developers, W. Stein, D. Joyner, D. Kohel, J. Cremona, and B. Eröcal. Sagemath, version 9.6. http://www.sagemath.org, 2022.
- [66] M. H. Devoret. Quantum Fluctuations in Electrical Circuits. In S. Reynaud, E. Giacobino, and J. Zinn-Justin, editors, *Fluctuations Quantiques/Quantum Fluctuations*, page 351, January 1997.
- [67] I. Dinur, G. Kindler, and S. Safra. Approximating-cvp to within almost-polynomial factors is np-hard. In *Proceedings 39th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science (Cat. No.98CB36280)*, pages 99–109, 1998.
- [68] P. A. M. Dirac. The Principles of Quantum Mechanics. Clarendon, Oxford, 1958.
- [69] F. M. Dopico and C. R. Johnson. Parametrization of the matrix symplectic group and applications. SIAM Journal on Matrix Analysis and Applications, 31(2):650–673, 2009.
- [70] K. Duivenvoorden, B. M. Terhal, and D. Weigand. Single-mode displacement sensor. *Phys. Rev. A*, 95:012305, 2017.
- [71] K. Duivenvoorden, B.M. Terhal, and D. Weigand. Single-mode displacement sensor. *Phys. Rev. A*, 95:012305, 2017.
- [72] W. Duke, Ö Imamoğlu, and Á. Tóth. Modular cocycles and linking numbers. Duke Mathematical Journal, 166(6):1179 – 1210, 2017.
- [73] A. Einstein, B. Podolsky, and N. Rosen. Can quantum-mechanical description of physical reality be considered complete? *Phys. Rev.*, 47:777–780, May 1935.
- [74] A. K. Ekert. Quantum cryptography based on bell's theorem. Phys. Rev. Lett., 67:661–663, Aug 1991.
- [75] N. D. Elkies. Rational lattices and their theta functions, 2019.
- [76] B. Farb and D. Margalit. A Primer on Mapping Class Groups (PMS-49). Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2012.
- [77] R. P Feynman. Simulating physics with computers. International Journal of Theoretical Physics, 21:467–488, 1981.
- [78] C. Flühmann, T. L. Nguyen, M. Marinelli, V. Negnevitsky, K. Mehta, and J. P. Home. Encoding a qubit in a trapped-ion mechanical oscillator. *Nature*, 566:513–517, 2019.

- [79] E. Freitag. Siegel modular forms, pages 8–37. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1991.
- [80] M. Fremling. Quantum hall wave functions on the torus, 2015.
- [81] N. Gama, N. Howgrave-Graham, and P. Q. Nguyen. Symplectic lattice reduction and ntru. In Serge Vaudenay, editor, Advances in Cryptology - EUROCRYPT 2006, pages 233–253, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [82] S. Ganeshan and M. Levin. Formalism for the solution of quadratic hamiltonians with large cosine terms. *Physical Review B*, 93(7), February 2016.
- [83] S. Ganeshan and M. Levin. Formalism for the solution of quadratic hamiltonians with large cosine terms. *Phys. Rev. B*, 93:075118, Feb 2016.
- [84] S. Ganeshan and M. Levin. Ungappable edge theories with finite-dimensional hilbert spaces. *Phys. Rev. B*, 105:155137, Apr 2022.
- [85] T. Gannon. Lattices and theta functions. PhD thesis, McGill University (Canada), 1991.
- [86] T. Gannon. Moonshine beyond the Monster: The Bridge Connecting Algebra, Modular Forms and Physics. Cambridge University Press, July 2023.
- [87] S. Garibaldi. e₈, the most exceptional group. Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, 53(4):643–671, June 2016.
- [88] Christopher Gerry and Peter Knight. Introductory Quantum Optics. Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- [89] É Ghys. Knots and dynamics. Proceedings on the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2006-01-01, ISBN 978-3-03719-022-7, pags. 247-277, 1, 01 2006.
- [90] E. Ghys. Lorenz and modular flows: A visual introduction, 2006.
- [91] S. M. Girvin. Circuit QED: superconducting qubits coupled to microwave photons, page 113–256. Oxford University PressOxford, jun 2014.
- [92] S. M. Girvin. Circuit qed: superconducting qubits coupled to microwave photons. In Quantum Machines: Measurement and Control of Engineered Quantum Systems: Lecture Notes of the Les Houches Summer School. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2014.
- [93] S. Glancy and E. Knill. Error analysis for encoding a qubit in an oscillator. *Physical Review A*, 73(1), January 2006.
- [94] D. Gottesman. Stabilizer codes and quantum error correction, 1997.
- [95] D. Gottesman, A. Kitaev, and J. Preskill. Encoding a qubit in an oscillator. Phys. Rev. A, 64:012310, 2001.
- [96] D. Gottesman and L. L. Zhang. Fibre bundle framework for unitary quantum fault tolerance. 2017.
- [97] D. E. Gottesman. Stabilizer codes and quantum error correction. PhD thesis, California Institute of Technology, 1997.
- [98] P. Griffiths. Introduction to Algebraic Curves. American Mathematical Society, December 1989.
- [99] A. L. Grimsmo, J. Combes, and B. Q. Baragiola. Quantum computing with rotation-symmetric bosonic codes. *Phys. Rev. X*, 10:011058, Mar 2020.

- [100] L. K. Grover. A fast quantum mechanical algorithm for database search. In Proceedings of the Twenty-Eighth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing, STOC '96, page 212–219, New York, NY, USA, 1996. Association for Computing Machinery.
- [101] S. Grushevsky. The schottky problem, 2010.
- [102] R. Hain. Lectures on moduli spaces of elliptic curves, 2014.
- [103] F. D. M. Haldane. "hall viscosity" and intrinsic metric of incompressible fractional hall fluids, 2009.
- [104] S. Halevi and T. Malkin. Lecture Notes: Lattices and homomorphic encryption, Spring 2013. https://www.cs.columbia.edu/~tal/6261/SP13/. Online; accessed 04 December 2022.
- [105] L. Hänggli, M. Heinze, and R. König. Enhanced noise resilience of the surface–gottesman-kitaev-preskill code via designed bias. *Phys. Rev. A*, 102, 2020.
- [106] J. Harrington and J. Preskill. Achievable rates for the Gaussian quantum channel. *Phys. Rev. A*, 64:062301, 2001.
- [107] J. W. Harrington. Analysis of quantum error-correcting codes: Symplectic lattice codes and toric codes. PhD thesis, California Institute of Technology, 2004.
- [108] M. Hermanns, J. Suorsa, E. J. Bergholtz, T. H. Hansson, and A. Karlhede. Quantum hall wave functions on the torus. *Physical Review B*, 77(12), March 2008.
- [109] J. Hoffstein, J. Pipher, and J. H. Silverman. Ntru: A ring-based public key cryptosystem. In Joe P. Buhler, editor, *Algorithmic Number Theory*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, page 267–288, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1998. Springer.
- [110] M.-H. Hsieh and F. Le Gall. NP-hardness of decoding quantum error-correction codes. *Phys. Rev. A*, 83(5):052331, 2011.
- [111] L. Hänggli and R. König. Oscillator-to-oscillator codes do not have a threshold. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory, 68(2):1068–1084, 2022.
- [112] P. Iyer and D. Poulin. Hardness of decoding quantum stabilizer codes. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Theor.*, 61(9):5209–5223, sep 2015.
- [113] M. Kliesch, R. Kueng, J. Eisert, and D. Gross. Guaranteed recovery of quantum processes from few measurements. *Quantum*, 3:171, August 2019.
- [114] E. Knill. Fault-tolerant postselected quantum computation: Schemes, 2004.
- [115] E. Knill. Quantum computing with realistically noisy devices. Nature, 434(7029):39–44, March 2005.
- [116] E. Knill, R. Laflamme, and L. Viola. Theory of quantum error correction for general noise. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 84:2525–2528, 2000.
- [117] J. Koch, T. M. Yu, J. Gambetta, A. A. Houck, D. I. Schuster, J. Majer, A. Blais, M. H. Devoret, S. M. Girvin, and R. J. Schoelkopf. Charge-insensitive qubit design derived from the cooper pair box. *Phys. Rev. A*, 76:042319, Oct 2007.
- [118] X. C. Kolesnikow, R. W. Bomantara, A. C. Doherty, and A. L. Grimsmo. Gottesman-kitaev-preskill state preparation using periodic driving. *Physical Review Letters*, 132(13), March 2024.
- [119] C. Koliofoti and R. Riwar. Compact description of quantum phase slip junctions. npj Quantum Information, 9(1), December 2023.
- [120] S. Konno, W. Asavanant, F. Hanamura, H. Nagayoshi, K. Fukui, A. Sakaguchi, R. Ide, F. China, M. Yabuno, S. Miki, H. Terai, K. Takase, M. Endo, P. Marek, R. Filip, P. van Loock, and A. Furusawa. Logical states for fault-tolerant quantum computation with propagating light. *Science*, 383(6680):289–293, January 2024.

- [121] D. Lachance-Quirion, M.N. Lemonde, Simoneau J.O., L. St-Jean, P. Lemieux, S. Turcotte, W. Wright, A. Lacroix, J. Fréchette-Viens, R. Shillito, F. Hopfmueller, M. Tremblay, N. E. Frattini, J.C. Lemyre, and P. St-Jean. Autonomous quantum error correction of gottesman-kitaev-preskill states, 2023.
- [122] D. T. Le, A. Grimsmo, C. Müller, and T. M. Stace. Doubly nonlinear superconducting qubit. *Physical Review A*, 100(6), December 2019.
- [123] A. Lenstra, H. Lenstra, and L. Lovász. Factoring polynomials with rational coefficients. *Mathematische Annalen*, 261:515–534, 1982.
- [124] M.H. Levitt and R. Freeman. Nmr population inversion using a composite pulse. Journal of Magnetic Resonance (1969), 33(2):473–476, 1979.
- [125] S. Lloyd. A potentially realizable quantum computer. Science, 261(5128):1569–1571, 1993.
- [126] D. Loss and D. P. DiVincenzo. Quantum computation with quantum dots. *Physical Review A*, 57(1):120–126, January 1998.
- [127] V. Lyubashevsky and D. Micciancio. Generalized compact knapsacks are collision resistant. In Proceedings of the 33rd International Conference on Automata, Languages and Programming - Volume Part II, ICALP'06, page 144–155, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006. Springer-Verlag.
- [128] A. M. Macbeath and C. A. Rogers. A modified form of Siegel's mean value theorem. II. Math. Proc. Cambr. Phil. Soc., 54(3):322–326, 1958.
- [129] Y. Manin. Computable and Uncomputable. Sovetskoye Radio, Moscow, 128, 1980.
- [130] J. Martinet. Perfect Lattices in Euclidean Spaces. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2003.
- [131] T. Matsusaka and J. Ueki. Modular knots, automorphic forms, and the rademacher symbols for triangle groups. *Research in the Mathematical Sciences*, 10(1), December 2022.
- [132] A. May. Cryptanalysis of ntru. preprint.
- [133] A. May. Auf polynomgleichungen basierende public-key-kryptosysteme, 1999.
- [134] Robert J McEliece. A public-key cryptosystem based on algebraic. Coding Thv, 4244:114–116, 1978.
- [135] N. C. Menicucci, S. T. Flammia, and P. van Loock. Graphical calculus for gaussian pure states. *Physical Review A*, 83(4), apr 2011.
- [136] L. J. Mensen, B. Q. Baragiola, and N. C. Menicucci. Phase-space methods for representing, manipulating, and correcting Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill qubits. *Phys. Rev. A*, 104:022408, 2021.
- [137] D. Micciancio. Cse 206a: Lattice algorithms and applications, 2014.
- [138] J. Milnor. Introduction to Algebraic K-Theory. (AM-72), Volume 72. Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1972.
- [139] T. Mori. Floquet prethermalization in periodically driven classical spin systems. *Physical Review B*, 98(10), Sep 2018.
- [140] D. W. Morris. Introduction to arithmetic groups, 2015.
- [141] M. Mosca, A. Tapp, and R. de Wolf. Private quantum channels and the cost of randomizing quantum information, 2000.
- [142] D. Mumford. Tata lectures on Theta I. Birkhäuser Boston, 2007.
- [143] M. Nakahara. Geometry, topology and physics. IOP 2003, 2003. Bristol, UK: Hilger (1990) 505 p. (Graduate student series in physics).

- [144] F. Nathan, L. O'Brien, K. Noh, M. H. Matheny, A. L. Grimsmo, L. Jiang, and G. Refael. Self-correcting gkp qubit and gates in a driven-dissipative circuit, 2024.
- [145] E. Nelson. A proof of liouville's theorem. Proc. Am. Math. Soc., 12(6):995, 1961.
- [146] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [147] K. Noh, V. V. Albert, and L. Jiang. Quantum capacity bounds of Gaussian thermal loss channels and achievable rates with Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill codes. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Th.*, 65:2563–2582, 2019.
- [148] K. Noh and C. Chamberland. Fault-tolerant bosonic quantum error correction with the surface–Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill code. Phys. Rev. A, 101:012316, 2020.
- [149] K. Noh, S. M. Girvin, and L. Jiang. Encoding an oscillator into many oscillators. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 125:080503, 2020.
- [150] O.T. O'Meara. Symplectic Groups. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. American Mathematical Society, 1978.
- [151] P. Panteleev and G. Kalachev. Asymptotically good quantum and locally testable classical ldpc codes, 2022.
- [152] Ketan N. Patel, Igor L. Markov, and John P. Hayes. Optimal synthesis of linear reversible circuits. Quantum Info. Comput., 8(3):282–294, mar 2008.
- [153] J. Preskill. Quantum computing 40 years later, 2023.
- [154] E. M. Rains. Quantum weight enumerators. IEEE Trans. Inf. Th., 44:1388–1394, 1998.
- [155] F. K. C. Rankin and H. P. F. Swinnerton-Dyer. On the zeros of eisenstein series. Bulletin of the London Mathematical Society, 2(2):169–170, July 1970.
- [156] N. Read. Non-abelian adiabatic statistics and hall viscosity in quantum hall states and $p_x + ip_y$ paired superfluids. *Physical Review B*, 79(4), January 2009.
- [157] O. Regev. Lecture Notes: Lattices in Computer Science. https://cims.nyu.edu/~regev/teaching/lattices_fall_2009/. Online; accessed 05 December 2022.
- [158] O. Regev. On lattices, learning with errors, random linear codes, and cryptography. In Proceedings of the Thirty-Seventh Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing, STOC '05, page 84–93, New York, NY, USA, 2005. Association for Computing Machinery.
- [159] O. Regev. On the Complexity of Lattice Problems with Polynomial Approximation Factors, pages 475–496. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010.
- [160] I. Rojkov, P. M. Röggla, M. Wagener, M. Fontboté-Schmidt, S. Welte, J. Home, and F. Reiter. Two-qubit operations for finite-energy gottesman-kitaev-preskill encodings, 2023.
- [161] J. Rosenberg. A selective history of the stone-von neumann theorem. Contemp. Math., 365, 01 2004.
- [162] B. Royer, S. Singh, and S. M. Girvin. Stabilization of finite-energy gottesman-kitaev-preskill states. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 125:260509, Dec 2020.
- [163] B. Royer, S. Singh, and S. M. Girvin. Encoding qubits in multimode grid states. PRX Quantum, 3:010335, Mar 2022.
- [164] A. Rubio-Abadal, M. Ippoliti, S. Hollerith, D. Wei, J. Rui, S. L. Sondhi, V. Khemani, C. Gross, and I. Bloch. Floquet prethermalization in a bose-hubbard system. *Phys. Rev. X*, 10:021044, May 2020.

- [165] M. Rymarz, S. Bosco, A. Ciani, and D. P. DiVincenzo. Hardware-encoding grid states in a nonreciprocal superconducting circuit. *Phys. Rev. X*, 11:011032, Feb 2021.
- [166] P. Sarnak and P. Buser. On the period matrix of a Riemann surface of large genus (with an Appendix by J. H. Conway and N. J. A. Sloane). *Inventiones mathematicae*, 117:27–56, 1994.
- [167] F. Schmidt and P. van Loock. Quantum error correction with higher Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill codes: Minimal measurements and linear optics. *Phys. Rev. A*, 105:042427, Apr 2022.
- [168] C. P. Schnorr. A hierarchy of polynomial time lattice basis reduction algorithms. *Theor. Comput. Sci.*, 53:201–224, 1987.
- [169] B. Schumacher and M. D. Westmoreland. Approximate quantum error correction. Quantum Information Processing, 1(1/2):5–12, 2002.
- [170] I.E. Segal. Mathematical Problems of Relativistic Physics: With an Appendix on Group Representations in Hilbert Space. Lectures in applied mathematics; proceedings of the Summer seminar, Boulder, Colorado, 1960, 2. American Mathematical Society, 1967.
- [171] H. Seifert. Topologie Dreidimensionaler Gefaserter Räume. Acta Mathematica, 60(none):147 – 238, 1933.
- [172] L. Sellem, A. Sarlette, Z. Leghtas, M. Mirrahimi, P. Rouchon, and P. Campagne-Ibarcq. A gkp qubit protected by dissipation in a high-impedance superconducting circuit driven by a microwave frequency comb, 2023.
- [173] P. Shor and R. Laflamme. Quantum analog of the macwilliams identities for classical coding theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 78:1600–1602, 1997.
- [174] P. W. Shor. Scheme for reducing decoherence in quantum computer memory. Phys. Rev. A, 52:R2493–R2496, Oct 1995.
- [175] P. W. Shor. Polynomial-time algorithms for prime factorization and discrete logarithms on a quantum computer. SIAM Journal on Computing, 26(5):1484–1509, 1997.
- [176] Peter W. Shor. Introduction to quantum algorithms, 2001.
- [177] J. Silverman. Lecture notes: An introduction to lattices, lattice reduction, and lattice-based cryptography. https://www.ias.edu/sites/default/files/Silverman_ PCMI_Note_DistributionVersion_220705.pdf. Online; accessed 05 December 2022.
- [178] J. H. Silverman. The Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves. Springer New York, 2009.
- [179] V. V. Sivak, A. Eickbusch, B. Royer, S. Singh, I. Tsioutsios, S. Ganjam, A. Miano, B. L. Brock, A. Z. Ding, L. Frunzio, S. M. Girvin, R. J. Schoelkopf, and M. H. Devoret. Real-time quantum error correction beyond break-even. *Nature*, 616(7955):50–55, mar 2023.
- [180] A. M. Steane. Active stabilization, quantum computation, and quantum state synthesis. *Physical Review Letters*, 78(11):2252–2255, March 1997.
- [181] D. Stehlé and R. Steinfeld. Making ntru as secure as worst-case problems over ideal lattices. In K. G. Paterson, editor, Advances in Cryptology – EUROCRYPT 2011, pages 27–47, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [182] B. M. Terhal. Quantum error correction for quantum memories. Reviews of Modern Physics, 87(2):307–346, apr 2015.
- [183] B. M. Terhal, J. Conrad, and C. Vuillot. Towards scalable bosonic quantum error correction. Quantum Science and Technology, 5:043001, 2020.

- [184] B. M. Terhal and D. J. Weigand. Encoding a qubit into a cavity mode in circuit QED using phase estimation. *Physical Review A*, 93(1), jan 2016.
- [185] J.-P. Tillich and G. Zemor. Quantum LDPC codes with positive rate and minimum distance proportional to the square root of the block length. *IEEE Trans. Inf. Th.*, 60:1193–1202, 2014.
- [186] D. Tong. Lectures on the quantum hall effect, 2016.
- [187] I. Tzitrin, J. E. Bourassa, N. C. Menicucci, and K. K. Sabapathy. Progress towards practical qubit computation using approximate Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill codes. *Phys. Rev. A*, 101:032315, 2020.
- [188] A. Vardy. The intractability of computing the minimum distance of a code. IEEE Trans. Inf. Th., 43(6):1757–1766, 1997.
- [189] M. Viazovska. The sphere packing problem in dimension 8. Annals of Mathematics, 185(3), May 2017.
- [190] J. von Neumann. Uber einen satz von herrn m. h. stone. Annals of Mathematics, 33(3):567–573, 1932.
- [191] C. Vuillot, H. Asasi, Y. Wang, L. P. Pryadko, and B. M. Terhal. Quantum error correction with the toric gottesman-kitaev-preskill code. *Physical Review A*, 99(3), mar 2019.
- [192] C. Vuillot, H. Asasi, Y. Wang, L. P. Pryadko, and B. M. Terhal. Quantum error correction with the toric Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill code. *Phys. Rev. A*, 99:032344, 2019.
- [193] C. Weedbrook, S. Pirandola, R. García-Patrón, N. J. Cerf, T.C. Ralph, J.H. Shapiro, and S. Lloyd. Gaussian quantum information. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 84(2):621–669, May 2012.
- [194] D. J. Weigand. https://github.com/dweigand/qubit-oscillator.
- [195] D. J. Weigand and B. M. Terhal. Generating grid states from schrödinger-cat states without postselection. *Physical Review A*, 97(2), feb 2018.
- [196] D. J. Weigand and B. M. Terhal. Realizing modular quadrature measurements via a tunable photon-pressure coupling in circuit qed. *Physical Review A*, 101(5), May 2020.
- [197] A. Weil. Oeuvres scientifiques collected papers I. Springer Collected Works in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, Germany, November 2014.
- [198] What is... "https://www.ams.org/cgi-bin/notices/nxgnotices.pl?fm=gen&cnt=whatis".
- [199] Don Zagier. Elliptic Modular Forms and Their Applications, pages 1–103. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008.
- [200] J. Zak. Finite translations in solid-state physics. Phys. Rev. Lett., 19:1385–1387, Dec 1967.

Declaration of authorship

- Name: Conrad
- First name: Jonathan

I declare to the Freie Universität Berlin that I have completed the submitted dissertation independently and without the use of sources and aids other than those indicated. The present thesis is free of plagiarism. I have marked as such all statements that are taken literally or in content from other writings. This dissertation has not been submitted in the same or similar form in any previous doctoral procedure.

I agree to have my thesis examined by a plagiarism examination software.

Date:_____

Signature:_____